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Professional level
Advanced Audit and Assurance

Syllabus

PROFESSIONAL LEVEL
ADVANCED AUDIT AND ASSURANCE

The candidate is expected to understand the critical aspects of managing audit and
assurance engagements: acceptance; planning; concluding; and reporting.

Linkage with other subjects

This diagram depicts the relationship between this subject and other subjects.

Advanced Audit and Assurance Corporate Reporting

Public Sector Corporate . . .
Accounting Strategic Financial Reporting

and Finance Management
and Ethics

Audit and Assurance Business Law
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Advanced Audit and Assurance

On successful completion of this Study Text, candidates should be able to:

o | Explain and advise on professional, ethical and legal issues arising during assurance
engagements;

e | Advise on various planning procedures involved in carrying out assurance
engagements;

e | Advise on risks associated with assurance engagements and various types of
business and relevant control measures to mitigate those risks; and

o | Identify features of assurance engagement reports and also be able to write relevant
reports after concluding the assignment on assurance engagements.
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Syllabus and study guide

Linkage of the main competencies

This diagram illustrates the linkage between the main competencies of this subject and is to
assist candidates in studying for the examination.

Apply laws and Consider
regulatory professional
frameworks to and ethical
audit and issues in audit
assurance and assurance

Plan audit and
assurance

Evaluate risk and
institute quality control

Advise on selected
assurance services

Prepare reporting to
appropriate clients
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Advanced Audit and Assurance

Syllabus overview

Grid

Weighting

A | Laws and regulations on audit and assurance engagements 20
B | Accepting professional engagements and managing 15
assignments

C | Planning and undertaking audit work 30

D | Drawing conclusions and reporting 25

E |Application of information technology in auditing 10
Total 100

viii The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria
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Syllabus and study guide

Contents and competencies

Chapter

A | Laws and regulations on audit and assurance engagements

Laws, regulations and ethical issues

1 Advise on technical, professional and ethical issues that may arise
during assurance engagements in the public and private sectors
including evaluation and communication with any party to the
engagement.

2-4

2 Identify and make judgements on when it may be appropriate to
refer a matter to a senior colleague or for third party advice or
consultation.

5,8

3 Identify and explain the nature and purposes of laws, regulations,
standards and codes in the context of assurance engagements.

2-4

4 Evaluate, explain and communicate the process and issues
involved in standards setting process at national and international
levels.

5 Evaluate and communicate the interactions between national laws
and regulations and the requirements of an assurance
engagement.

6 Evaluate and communicate the differences between various
jurisdictions and how they deal with audit issues including national
and international approaches such as the US Sarbanes-Oxley and
related requirements for audit.

2,15

7 Evaluate and explain how audits may fail to meet users’
expectations.

8 Evaluate and explain the extent of legal liabilities including criminal
and civil law liabilities and professional negligence and how they
can be mitigated.

B | Accepting professional engagements and managing assignments

1 Accepting engagements

(a) | Discuss the processes that must be followed before
acceptance of audit engagements.

(b) | Analyse and evaluate the issues that may arise during the
process of obtaining audit work.

(c) | Identify and explain the legal, professional and ethical
issues that may arise during the acceptance of assurance or
audit assignments.

3,5

(d) | Analyse and evaluate the potential issues that determine
the nature, scope and extent of an assurance or audit
engagement.

6-7

(e) | Discuss the basic elements of an engagement letter,
including those agreed with the client and those imposed
by laws and regulations

© Emile Woolf International ix The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

2 Practice management

(&) | Evaluate and apply appropriate procedures and policies for 5
management of an assurance or audit engagement.

(b) | Evaluate and apply appropriate quality control measures 5
that may be used by a firm during the course of an
assurance or audit engagement.

(c) | Identify and evaluate the extent to which assurance and 8
audit functions within an entity can be used or relied upon.

(d) | Evaluate and apply appropriate monitoring and review 5
procedures to effectively manage an audit or assurance
engagement.

(e) | Identify and explain the purposes of external monitoring of 5

audit and assurance assignments and how this might
ensure engagement or firm’s quality.

® Identify and evaluate the considerations by an auditor of risk 5
issues identified prior to accepting an engagement.

C | Planning and undertaking audit work

1 Overall audit strategy

(a) | Analyse, evaluate and explain the key areas of a business 6-7
that are important to understand in developing an effective
strategy or plan based on a business scenario. (ISA 300 -
Planning an audit of financial statements)

(b) | Analyse and evaluate the relevant techniques needed for an 6-7
effective understanding of the audit work.

(c) | Analyse and evaluate the situations when third party 8
expertise may be required (ISA 620 - Using the Work of an
Auditor’s Expert)

(d) | Evaluate and advise on elements of audit risks, including 7
inherent and control (risk of material misstatement),
sampling and non-sampling (detection risk) and their
relationships with audit planning procedures (ISA 315 —
Identifying and Assessing the Risk of Material
Misstatement through Understanding the Entity and its
Environment).

(e) | Identify and evaluate the components of risk for any 7
assurance engagement.

(U] Evaluate and explain how business process effectiveness 7
may affect an audit assignment.
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Syllabus and study guide

(g) | Identify and evaluate the risks arising from accounting 7
manipulation, error, fraud or other irregularities in a
business scenario.

(h) | Identify and evaluate the risks arising from business and 7
financial issues in a business scenario.

(i) Evaluate and apply judgements and measures of materiality 7
in carrying out an audit or assurance engagement (ISA 320
— Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit).

()] Evaluate and apply analytical procedures that may be used 8
to plan an audit or assurance engagement, including data
analytics

(k) | Analyse and evaluate how risk and materiality judgements 6-7

affect the planning of an assurance or audit engagement,
including the nature, timing and extent of work.

(0] Develop an audit plan, justifying judgements made on an
audit or assurance engagement based on a business
scenario including considerations relating to:

] Materiality decisions; 7

] Internal control assessments including information 6-7
technology (IT);

] Reliance on internal audit, specialists and the work of 8,10, 13
other auditors;

] Use of client’s generated data, information and 8
reports;
] Tests of control, substantive and analytical 8
procedures; and
] Visits to locations, branches and departments. 8, 10
(m) | Describe the appropriate procedures for assurance 15

engagements in respect of corporate social responsibility
and sustainability reports.

(n) | Describe the differences between assurance engagements 7
and audit engagements for profit and not-for-profit entities,
including those in the public sector.

(o) | Explain local and international frameworks for auditing and 6,7
assurance work in private and public sectors.

2 Assessment of risks, internal controls, internal financial
controls

(a) | Identify and assess reporting and compliance risks in the 7,14
context of an assurance or audit engagement in the public
or private sector based on a given business scenario.
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Advanced Audit and Assurance

(b) | Give an advice based on the assessment above. 14
(c) | Analyse the role of information technology control 6
framework in internal control.
(d) | Analyse technology risk management and cyber 6
security.
3 Evaluation of accounting treatments
Evaluate and draw conclusions on the appropriateness of stated 8,9,14

accounting treatments in the context of a given scenario for public
or private sector based on national and international standards on
auditing and international financial reporting standards (IFRS).

4 Specialised audits and investigations
(a) | Understanding special features of certain types of audit and 12
investigation situations.
(i) | Forensic investigation and reporting 12
B | Describe the major applications of forensic 12

auditing e.g. fraud, negligence, insurance claims
and analyse the role of a forensic auditor as an
expert witness.

B | Distinguish among forensic accounting, forensic 12
investigation and forensic audit.

B | |dentify the various government agencies 12
associated with forensic auditing.

B | Apply the fundamental ethical principles to 12
forensic auditor's engagement.

B | Describe the procedures to be adopted in forensic 12
audit.

B | Select investigative procedures and evaluate the 12

evidence appropriate to determine the amount of
loss in specific circumstances.

(i) | Not-for-profit organisations — charities, non- 7
governmental organisations (NGOs).

B | |dentify and explain various types and objectives 7
of not-for-profit organisations.

B | Explain how the audit of a not-for-profit 7
organisation differs from the audit of a profit
oriented organisation.

B | Assess the audit risks associated with not-for- 7
profit organisations.

B | Develop plans and procedures for the audit of 7
not-for-profit organisations.
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B | Suggest various control measures that can be 7
applied by a not-for-profit organisation in its
operations.
B | Determine the form and contents of audit report 7
for a not-for-profit organisation.
(b) | Joint audits 10
(i) | Explain the term joint audit. 10
(i) | Develop a plan for a joint audit. 10
(iii) | Identify circumstances under which a joint audit 10
occurs.
(iv) | Describe the factors to consider in sharing audit work 10
in joint audits.
(v) | Advise management on the merits and demerits of 10
joint audits.
(vi) | Advise on matters to consider by firms engaging in 10
joint audits.
(c) | Investigations 11
(i) | Identify and discuss various circumstances under 11
which an investigation may be conducted.
(ii) | Differentiate between investigation and statutory audit. 11
(iii) | Analyse and evaluate various stages involved in 11
conducting investigations.
(iv) | Write an appropriate report on each investigation. 11
(v) | Discuss the nature and methods of investigation 11
relating to liquidation and bankruptcy.
(d) | Due diligence reviews for mergers, acquisitions and 11
business combinations
(i) | Differentiate between due diligence and external audit. 11
(ii) | Describe the procedures involved in carrying out due 11
diligence.
(iii) | Write a report on the outcome of a due diligence 11
assignment.
(e) | Discuss the duties and responsibilities of a reporting 12

accountant in raising capital.

Syllabus and study guide
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Advanced Audit and Assurance

D | Drawing conclusions and reporting

1 Drawing conclusions

(@) | Analyse, evaluate and propose how issues identified during 9,14
the course of an assignment may be raised and dealt with in
communication with management, directors and those
charged with governance, including actions taken when
issues cannot be agreed.

(b) | Identify, explain and apply procedures that may be used 9
and considerations relating to the identification of
subsequent events that may require adjustments or
disclosures.

(c) | Identify, explain and apply procedures that may be used 9,14
and considerations relating to the identification of risk issues
that require disclosures.

(d) | Evaluate and apply quantitative and qualitative judgements 9,14
based on the results of tests and evidence obtained.

2 Audit report

(a) | Discuss the concept of key audit matters (KAM) and justify 14
the basis for reporting same.

(b) | Explain the responsibilities of an auditor with respect to 14
KAM.
(c) | Explain the audit documentation requirements of ISA 701 14

with respect to KAM.

(d) | Identify the additional national requirements beyond those 14
of ISA 701 for entities that should be within the scope of ISA
701 per the requirements of the Financial Reporting Council
of Nigeria.

(e) | Appraise the form and contents of the audit report under 14
ISA 700 (revised), given a specific situation.

® Explain the responsibilities of auditors in respect of other 14
information in line with the requirements of ISA 710.

(9) | Explain circumstances under which emphasis of matters or 14
other matters paragraph may be appropriate to an audit
report.

(h) | Draft extracts of suitable audit, assurance and management | 11, 12, 14
reports based on a given scenario in accordance with
Nigerian laws and international standards on auditing.
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Syllabus and study guide

0] Evaluate and apply suitable judgments on when it may be
appropriate to refer to a specialist in giving an opinion or
preparing a report.

14

0] Evaluate and apply suitable judgments on when it may be
appropriate to withhold an opinion, withdraw an opinion or
take other such appropriate actions on an audit or
assurance engagement.

11,12, 14

(k) | Identify and explain the issues that may be relevant and the
nature of report that may be given relating to risk
management, internal controls and governance.

14

E | Appli

cation of information technology in auditing

1

Discuss the impact of IT in an audit environment.

7,15

Analyse the benefits of IT control frameworks in internal controls
(example COBIT Framework).

Discuss cyber security in relation to audit and investigation

Discuss application and web trust assurance

Evaluate application of algorithm reviews in business

Discuss application of digital forensics

Discuss data protection regulation audit

@ N o O M| W

Discuss utilisation of robotic process automation in audit

Discuss audit in a blockchain environment
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Examinable documents
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200 Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct Y Y
of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing

210 Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements Y
220 Quality Control for an Audit of Financial Statements Y
230AuditDocumentation Y
240 The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of Y
Financial Statements

250 Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Y
Statements

260 Communication with Those Charged with Governance Y
265 Communicating Deficiencies in Internal Control to Those Y
Charged with Governance and Management

300 Planning an Audit of Financial Statements Y Y
315 Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement Y Y
Through Understanding the Entity and its Environment

320 Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit Y Y
330 The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks Y
402 Audit Considerations Relating to an Entity Using a Service Y
Organisation

450 Evaluations of Misstatements Identified during the Audit Y Y
500 Audit Evidence Y Y
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520 Analytical Procedures Y Y

© Emile Woolf International Xvii The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

Examinable document
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701 Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Y Y
Report
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706 Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in Y
the Independent Auditor’s Report

710 Comparative Information — Corresponding Figures and Y
Comparative Financial Statements

720 The Auditor’s Responsibility Relating to Other Information in Y
Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements

800 Special Considerations — Audits of Financial Statements Y

prepared in Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks

805 Special Considerations — Audits of Single Financial Statements Y

and Specific Elements, Accounts or items of a Financial Statement

810 Engagements to Report on Summary Financial Statements Y

International Standards on Review Engagements (ISREs)

2400 Engagements to Review Financial Statements Y

2410 Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Y

Independent Auditor of the Entity

International Standards on Assurance Engagements (ISAESs)

3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Y

Historical Financial Information

3400 The Examination of Prospective Financial Information. Y

3402 Assurance Reports on Controls at a Service Organisation. Y
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Examinable document

International Standards on Related Services (ISRSs)

4400 Engagements to Perform Agreed-upon Procedures Regarding Y
Financial Information.
4410CompilationEngagements. Y

IFAC Statements

ISQC1 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Y
Financial Statements, and Other Assurance and Related Services.
IFAC IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. Y Y

Other relevant laws and pronouncements including:

Insurance Act Y
BOFIA, including prudential guidelines and other circulars issued by Y
CBN from time to time

Money (Prohibition) LaunderingAct2011 Y
Corporate Governance Codes Y
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International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Y
Companies and Allied Matters Act (CAMA 2020) Y Y

Note: All the approved and released standards may be examined after six months from date
of issue.
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Foreword

The business environment has been undergoing rapid changes caused, by globalisation and
advancement in Information Technology. The impact of these changes on the finance function
and the skills set needed by professional accountants to perform their various tasks have been
profound. These developments have made it inevitable for the Institute’s syllabus and training
curriculum to be reviewed to align its contents with current trends and future needs of users of
accounting services.

The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria (ICAN) reviews its syllabus and training
curriculum every three years, however, the syllabus is updated annually to take cognisance of
new developments in the national environment and global accountancy profession. The
Syllabus Review, Professional Examination and Students’ Affairs Committees worked
assiduously to produce a 3-level, 15-subject ICAN syllabus. As approved by the Council,
examinations under the new syllabus will commence with the November 2021 diet.

It is instructive to note that the last four syllabus review exercises were accompanied with the
publication of Study Texts. Indeed, when the first four editions of Study Texts were produced,
the performances of professional examination candidates significantly improved. In an effort to
consolidate on these gains and to further enhance the success rates of students in its qualifying
examinations, the Council approved that a new set of learning materials (Study Texts) be
developed for each of the subjects. Although, these learning materials may be regarded as the
fifth edition, they have been updated to include IT and soft skills in relevant subjects, thereby
improving the contents, innovation, and quality.

Ten of the new learning materials were originally contracted to Emile Woolf International (EWI),
UK. However, these materials were reviewed and updated to take care of new developments
and introduced IT and soft skills in relevant subjects. Also, renowned writers and reviewers
which comprised eminent scholars and practitioners with tremendous experiences in their
areas of specialisation, were sourced locally to develop learning materials for five of the
subjects because of their local contents. The 15 subjects are as follows:

1 Business, Management and Finance EWI/ICAN
2 Financial Accounting EWI/ICAN
3. Management Information EWI/ICAN
4 Business Law ICAN
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5 Financial Reporting EWI/IICAN
6 Audit and Assurance EWI/IICAN
7. Taxation ICAN
8 Corporate Strategic Management and Ethics EWI/ICAN
9 Performance Management EWI/ICAN
10. Public Sector Accounting and Finance ICAN

11. Corporate Reporting EWI/ICAN
12. Advanced Audit and Assurance EWI/ICAN
13. Strategic Financial Management EWI/ICAN
14. Advanced Taxation ICAN
15. Case Study ICAN

As part of the quality control measures, the output of the writers and reviewers
were subjected to further comprehensive review by the Study Texts Review Committee.

Although the Study Texts were specially produced to assist candidates preparing for the
Institute’s Professional Examination, we are persuaded that students of other professional
bodies and tertiary institutions will find them very useful in the course of their studies.

Haruna Nma Yahaya (Mallam), mni, BSc, MBA, MNIM, FCA
Chairman, Study Texts Review Committee
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CHAPTER

The meaning of audit
and assurance

1 The meaning of assurance

2 The meaning of audit and audit-related services

3 Chapter review
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Advanced Audit and Assurance

INTRODUCTION

Exam context

This short chapter provides a bridge from the skills level Audit and Assurance module to the
professional level paper. This chapter reminds the student of the core concepts underlying
Audit and Assurance.

At the end of this chapter, readers should be able to:
n Explain the basic concepts of assurance, audit and levels of assurance

[ ] Describe examples of audit-related services including reviews, agreed-upon
procedures and compilations
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Chapter 1: The meaning of audit and assurance

1 THE MEANING OFASSURANCE

Section overview

Introduction
Assurance
Examples of non-audit assurance engagements

Elements of an assurance engagement

11

1.2

Introduction

This study text is an advanced text on auditing and assurance services. It
assumes that you have already studied the basics, although some revision of
basic topics is included. The main aims of this text are to build on the knowledge
you gained from your studies of audit and assurance, and:

O extend your basic awareness of professional codes and fundamental
principles, so that you develop a detailed understanding of rules of
professional conduct

a introduce practice management

O  extend the application of procedures involved in planning, conducting and
reporting on audit assignments and non-audit assignments, and deal with
group audits and audit-related services

O provide a critical evaluation of procedures and reports
O outline current issues and developments in assurance.

Assurance

In an assurance engagement a practitioner:

a is engaged by one party

O  to give an opinion

O  on a piece of information that has been prepared by another party.

The opinion is an expression of assurance, or comfort, about the information that
has been reviewed.

A statutory audit is one form of assurance engagement. The shareholders of a
company do not accept without question that the information provided in the
financial statements by the management of the company is sufficiently accurate
and reliable. The statutory audit provides assurance about the quality of the
information. This makes the financial statements more reliable for the user as
credibility is added to the statements by the expressed opinion of the auditor.

Because of the amount of work carried out, a statutory audit provides a high
(reasonable) level of assurance. Other assurance engagements may provide a
lower (limited) level of assurance, or comfort, to the person receiving the opinion.
The level of assurance given by other assurance engagements will depend on
various factors that are discussed in later chapters.
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Advanced Audit and Assurance

1.3 Examples of non-audit assurance engagements

Examples of ‘non-audit’ assurance engagements might include reports on such

matters as:

O  corporate social responsibility

O  environmental policy

O employment policies

O  non-financial performance indicators.

Assurance engagements have become more significant in recent years due to the
increase in the range of information provided by company directors in reports to
the shareholders and other stakeholders on the one hand, and the resultant need
for confidence in the extended information on the other. Auditors can provide
assurance by giving an opinion about the information in these reports.

1.4 Elements of an assurance engagement

An assurance engagement performed by a practitioner will consist of the
following five elements:

a

0000

A three party relationship:

. Practitioner

. Responsible party

. Intended users

Subject matter

Suitable criteria

Sufficient and appropriate evidence
Assurance Report

© Emile Woolf International 4
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Chapter 1: The meaning of audit and assurance

2 THE MEANING OF AUDIT AND AUDIT — RELATEDSERVICES

Section overview

m  Audit
m  Audit-related services

2.1

2.2

Audit

ISA 200 states that the purpose of an audit (a form of assurance engagement) is
to enhance the degree of confidence of intended users in the financial statements.
This is achieved by the auditor expressing an opinion on whether the financial
statements of an entity are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with
an applicable financial reporting framework. A financial reporting framework may
be provided, for example, by country-specific legislation plus international financial
reporting standards.

The audit opinion typically makes reference to whether the financial statements
give a ‘true and fair view’ or ‘present fairly’ the financial position and results of the
reporting entity.

Audits are long-established formalised processes, closely regulated by law and
professional practice. Audits were developed because of the separation between
the ownership of companies (by the shareholders) and stewardship (by the
directors). In order to protect the shareholders from incorrect or misleading
information by the directors, an audit is designed to provide a high level of
assurance to the users of the financial statements.

Audit-related services

Audit-related services are engagements undertaken by an accountant or firm of
accountants, to perform such assignments as:

O reviews of data
O  agreed-upon procedures

O  compilations.

Review

Areview provides a low (moderate) level of assurance that the information under
review is free from any material misstatement. The accountant’s opinion is usually
expressed in the form of negative assurance, which is an opinion that there is
nothing obviously wrong in the information. For example, the opinion might be:
‘Nothing has come to our attention to suggest that the information is materially
misstated’.

The higher level of assurance provided by an audit enhances the credibility
provided by the assurance process. However, an audit is more time-consuming
(and therefore more costly) than a review.

Agreed-upon procedures

Agreed-upon procedures are adopted in an engagement where the party (client)
hiring the accountant specifies the procedures that should be followed by the
accountant in performing the engagement.
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Compilation

With a compilation, the accountant is engaged to prepare information for the
client, rather than audit or check the information prepared by someone else. For
example, a firm of accountants may be asked by a client to prepare a tax
computation. No assurance is provided in a compilation engagement.
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3 CHAPTER REVIEW

Chapter review

Before moving on to the next chapter check that you now know how to:
m  Explain the basic concepts of assurance, audit and levels of assurance

m Describe examples of audit-related services including reviews, agreed-upon
procedures and compilations
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Quick quiz questions

1 Which of the following is NOT an assurance engagement?
A An audit of financial statements
B A review of financial statements
C  An agreed-upon procedures engagement
D

A report on a company's compliance with its environmental policies

2 An audit may never offer absolute assurance. Which one of the following statements
does NOT support this statement?

A Audit evidence is persuasive, not conclusive
B An audit opinion is a matter of judgement

C In a simple audit it should be possible for the auditor to test all the transactions
undertaken

D There are inherent limitations in any accounting systems and internal control
systems

3 What provides the highest level of assurance?
A Limited assurance engagement
B Audit
C Review
D

Compilation

4 A statutory audit is what form of engagement?
A Agreed-upon procedures
B Compilation
C Limited assurance
D Reasonable assurance

5 Which of the following combinations describes are view?
A Reasonable assurance provided. Positive opinion expressed
B Limited assurance provided. Negative opinion expressed
C No assurance provided. Positive opinion expressed
D No assurance provided. Negative opinion expressed
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Quick quiz answers

1

C
Explanation:

No assurance is provided in an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The accountant
carries out the procedures that have been agreed with the client and reports his findings.

C
Explanation:

The testing of all the transactions undertaken removes one source of uncertainty
(sampling risk), but other uncertainties remain (e.g. the use of judgement to assess fair
values, depreciation values, etc.).

B
Explanation:

An audit is a reasonable assurance engagement, offering high but not absolute
assurance. A review is a limited assurance engagement. A compilation engagement
offers no assurance.

D
Explanation:
A statutory audit is an example of a reasonable assurance engagement

B
Explanation:

A review offers limited assurance. The accountant's opinion is expressed in negative
form, i.e. nothing has come to our attention to suggest there are material misstatements.
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INTRODUCTION

Competencies

Laws, regulations and ethical issues

Al

A3

A4

A5

A6

Advise on technical, professional and ethical issues that may arise during assurance
engagements in the public and private sectors including evaluation and communication
with any party to the engagement.

Identify and explain the nature and purpose of laws, regulations, standards and codes
in the context of assurance engagements.

Evaluate, explain and communicate the process and issues involved in standards
setting process at national and international levels.

Evaluate and communicate the interactions between national laws and regulations and
the requirements of an assurance engagement.

Evaluate and communicate the differences between various jurisdictions and how they
deal with audit issues including national and international approaches such as the US
Sarbanes-Oxley and related requirements for audit.

Exam context

It is important that students understand the regulatory environment that surrounds various
industries of a nation’s economy. This chapter provides details of that environment.

Students will learn about the need for regulation of audit and assurance services and also
the background to professional standards including the standards setting process.

Students will learn the concepts of corporate governance in an audit setting and also the
definition of and duties of an auditor with respect to money laundering.

The chapter closes with details of the requirements of ISA 250.

At the end of this chapter, readers should be able to:

Explain the need for regulation of audit and assurance services
Explain the process of appointment, resignation and removal of auditors
Describe the eligibility, rights and duties of an auditor

Describe the role and structure of professional standards including the standard setting
process

Summarise the key features of corporate governance in relation to audit

Explain what money laundering is and summarise the obligations and duties this places
on the auditor

Apply ISA 250 to the audit of financial statements
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1 THE NEED FOR REGULATION OF AUDIT AND ASSURANCE SERVICES

Section overview

The public interest

Ethical regulation

Legal regulation

Appointment of auditors in Nigeria (s401 CAMA 2020)
Removal of auditors in Nigeria (s409 CAMA 2020)
Resignation of auditors in Nigeria (s412, s413 CAMA 2020)
Eligibility to act as an external auditor

Rights and duties of auditors

Professional regulation

Harmonisation of the accountancy and auditing profession

1.1 The public interest

The key reason why audit and assurance services should be regulated is to serve
the public interest. Assurance providers give an impartial, professional view on
issues that matter to users of financial and other information. It is important that
this view can be trusted. Therefore, assurance providers need tooperate:

O within ethical boundaries

0 to consistent standards.

You know from your previous studies that assurance providers are regulated by:
O  the law of the land in which they operate

O the ethical standards of the land and the professional body to which they
belong

O  the professional standards adopted by their country, for example
International Standards on Auditing(ISAs)

1.2 Ethical regulation
Assurance providers are given ethical guidance by:

a Professional bodies, for example The Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Nigeria(ICAN)

a Law
O International Federation of Accountants(IFAC)

You should already be familiar with most of the ethical guidance relevant to this
syllabus from your earlier studies, which is revised in Chapter 3.

1.3 Legal regulation

Most countries have legal requirements associated with some assurance
providers, particularly auditors. Examples of these legal requirements in Nigeria
can be found, for example, in the ICAN Act 1965, Companies and Allied Matters
Act 2020, Bank & Other Financial Institutions Act 1991 and Insurance Act 2003.
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1.4 Appointment of auditors in Nigeria (s401CAMA 2020)

Every company shall at each annual general meeting appoint an auditor or
auditors to audit the financial statements of the company, and to hold office from
the conclusion of that, until the conclusion of the next, annual general meeting.

At any annual general meeting a retiring auditor, however appointed, shall be
re-appointed without any resolution being passed unless:

a he is not qualified for re-appointment; or

O  aspecial resolution has been passed at that meeting appointing some
other person instead of him or providing expressly that he shall not be
re-appointed; or

U he has given the company notice in writing of his unwillingness to be re-
appointed:

Provided that where notice is given of an intended resolution to appoint some
person or persons in place of a retiring auditor, and by reason of the death,
incapacity or disqualification of that person or of all those persons, as the case
may be, the resolution cannot be proceeded with, the retiring auditor shall not be
automatically reappointed.

Where at an annual general meeting, no auditors are appointed or re-appointed,
the directors may appoint a person to fill the vacancy.

The company shall, within one week of the power of the directors becoming
exercisable, give notice of that fact to the Commission; and if a company fails to
give notice as required, the company and every officer of the company who is in
default shall be guilty of an offence and liable to a penalty as the Commission
shall specify in its regulations.

Subject as to as provided [by CAMA 2020], the first auditors of a company may
be appointed by the directors at any time before the company is entitled to
commence business and auditors so appointed shall hold office until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting, provided that:

O  the company may at a general meeting remove any such auditors and
appoint in their place any other person who has been nominated for
appointment by any member of the company and of whose nomination
notice has been given to the members of the company at least 14 days
before the date of the meeting; and

O  if the directors fail to exercise their powers under this subsection; the
company may, in a general meeting convened for that purpose, appoint
the first auditors and thereupon the said powers of the directors shall
cease.

The directors may fill any casual vacancy in the office of auditor but while any
such vacancy continues, the surviving or continuing auditor or auditors, if any,
may act.

In principle, the remuneration of the auditor is set by whoever appoints him.
However, in practice, where the shareholders make the appointment, it is usual
to delegate to the board of directors the power to set the auditor’s remuneration.
The directors are likely to be more familiar than the shareholders with the nature
and scope of the work involved in the audit process, and so the appropriate level
of fees for that work. (The board of directors may delegate the task of
recommending or approving the audit fee to the audit committee.)
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1.5 Removal of auditors in Nigeria (s409CAMA 2020)

As seen above, in certain circumstances the directors are empowered to appoint
auditors. However, it would not be appropriate for the directors to have the power
to remove the auditors from office.

For example, it would be inappropriate for the directors to have the power to
remove the auditors because there may be a disagreement between the directors
and the auditors about an item in the financial statements or about the conduct of
the audit. The directors could silence the auditors by dismissing them. Clearly, it
would be more appropriate for the directors to recommend the appointment of new
auditors to the shareholders, and for the shareholders to decide.

If the auditors resign from office they are required to give their reasons to the
shareholders and notify the authorities of their removal.

In Nigeria it is the ordinary shareholders who are able to dismiss the auditor by
passing an ordinary resolution (with special notice) at a General Meeting.

When this occurs the company shall within 14 days give notice of that fact in the
prescribed form to the Commission and if a company fails to give the notice
required, the company and every officer and liable to a penalty as the
Commission shall specify in its regulations.

1.6 Resignation of auditors in Nigeria (s412, s413 CAMA 2020)

The auditor may choose to resign during his period of office. The reasons for this
might include:

0 Aconsistent lack of integrity is demonstrated by management and/or those
charged with governance;

O  Significant fees remain unpaid,;

O  The audit firm can no longer maintain its independence (e.g. following a
corporate action);

O  The clientis no longer profitable for the audit firm.

However, company law provides certain safeguards to ensure that the
shareholders are made aware of any relevant circumstances relating to the
auditor’s resignation.

The procedures for the resignation of the current auditors are:

O  The resignation should be made to the company (at its registered office) in
writing. The company should submit this resignation letter to the
appropriate regulatory authority.

O  The auditor should prepare a statement of the circumstances. This sets
out the circumstances leading to the resignation, if the auditor believes that
these are relevant to the shareholders or creditors of the company. If no
such circumstances exist, the auditor should make a statement to this effect.

O  The company should send this statement to:
. the Commission within 14 days of receipt;

. all persons entitled to receive a copy of the company’s financial
statements (principally the shareholders) — unless the Court rules
that the Auditor is seeking to defame the company with needless
publicity.
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O  The auditors may require the directors to call a meeting of the shareholders
in order to discuss the circumstances of the auditor’s resignation.

O  If default is made in complying with the above provisions, the company and
every officer of it who is in default shall be and liable to a penalty as the
Commission shall specify in its regulations.

1.7 Eligibility to act as an external auditor

Self-regulation by the audit profession

Eligibility to act as an external auditor is usually determined by membership of an
appropriate ‘regulatory body’, such as ICAN.

The role of such regulatory bodies normally includes the following:

O Offering professional qualifications for auditors, to provide evidence that
auditors possess a minimum level of technical competence.

O  Establishing procedures to ensure that the professional competence of
auditors is maintained. This includes matters such as:

. ensuring that audits are performed only by ‘fit and proper’ persons,
who act with professional integrity.

. requiring that the members carry out their audit work in accordance
with appropriate technical standards (for example, in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing, known as ISAs).

. ensuring that auditors remain technically competent and up to date
with modern auditing practice (for example, by following a programme
of continuing professional development).

o providing procedures for monitoring and enforcing compliance by its
members with the rules of the regulatory body. This includes rules
and procedures for the investigation of complaints against members
and the implementation of disciplinary procedures where appropriate

O Maintaining a list of ‘registered auditors’, which is made available to the
public.

Such a system is referred to as a system of self-regulation. In such a system,
the regulation of auditors is carried out by their own professional bodies.

Regulation by government

The alternative is regulation by government. The government may appoint a public
body with similar responsibilities to a self-regulating professional body. The public
body may therefore establish rules and procedures:

O  for approving/authorising individuals to perform audit work

O for ensuring that authorised auditors have the necessary minimum skills
and knowledge to carry out their audit work to a proper standard

O for handling complaints and taking disciplinary measures against auditors,
where appropriate.

In addition, it is usual for statute law to establish that certain individuals are
ineligible to act as an external auditor in the context of a given company, even if
they are a member of an appropriate regulatory body. These exclusions are
designed to help to establish the independence of the auditor.
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Per section 403 of CAMA 2020 the following individuals are prohibited by
Nigerian law from acting as the auditor of a company:

O  an officer or servant of the company;

O  aperson who is a partner of or in the employment of an officer or servant of
the company; or

O  abody corporate.

A person does not qualify for appointment as an auditor of a company if he is:
O Adebtor to the company or its subsidiaries in an amount exceeding &500,000;
O  Shareholders and their spouses;

O A person who has an interest in the keeping of the register of holders of
debentures of the company;

O Anemployee of or consultant to the company who has been engaged for more
than one year in the maintenance or preparation of any of its financial
statements/records.

1.8 Rights and duties of auditors
Local company law (for example, in Nigeria, CAMA 2020) will usually:
O  impose certain duties on the external auditor, and
U grant him certain rights (or powers) to enable him to carry out his duties.

Duties of the external auditor
The primary duty of the external auditor is to:
a examine the financial statements, and

a issue an auditor’s report on the financial statements, which is then
presented to the shareholders together with the financial statements.

This auditor’s report will set out the auditor’s opinion as to whether (or not) the
financial statements:

O give a true and fair view (or “present fairly”) the financial position and
performance of the company, and

O  have been prepared in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework.

U In Nigeria, s404 CAMA 2020 requires the auditor to also form an opinion on
matters stated in schedule 5 to CAMA 2020 as provided below.

O Whether they have obtained all the information and explanations which to
the best of their knowledge and belief were necessary for the purpose of
their audit.

O  Whether, in their opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the
company, so far as appears from their examination of those books, and
proper returns adequate for the purposes of their audit have been received
from branches not visited by them.

O  Whether the company's statement of financial position and (unless it is
framed as a consolidated profit and loss account) profit and loss account
dealt with by the report agree with the books of account and returns.

O Whether, in their opinion and to the best of their information and according
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to the explanations given them, the said statements give the information
required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view:

. In the case of the statement of financial position, of the state of the
company's affairs as at the end of its year; and

. In the case of the profit and loss account, of the profit and loss for its
year; or as the case may be, give a true and fair view thereof subject
to the non-disclosure of any matters (to be indicated in the report)
which, by virtue of Part | of the First Schedule of the Act, are not
required to be disclosed.

. In the case of a holding company submitting group financial statements
whether, in their opinion, the group financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of this Act so as
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of
the company and its subsidiaries and associates.

The auditor’s report must state if any of the above were not met.

The outcome of the statutory audit is an opinion on the truth and fairness of the
financial statements. The word ‘opinion’ implies that the auditor has applied his
professional judgement in reaching his conclusion.

This point is arguably one of the limitations of the statutory audit. The audit report
expresses an opinion, not a statement of fact. It is therefore open to disagreement.

In carrying out his audit work, the auditor is unlikely to check every transaction
undertaken by the company during the period. There is, therefore, a risk that the
judgement he forms may be inappropriate, because in performing the audit he
has missed an item of significance.

Rights of the external auditor

External auditors have certain statutory rights, to enable them to perform their
statutory duties. The main statutory rights of the auditor per CAMA 2020
(sections 407 and 410) include the following:

O  The right of access to all accounting books and records at all times.

O Theright to all information and explanations (from management) necessary
for the proper conduct of the audit.

O  The right to receive notice of all meetings of the shareholders (such as the
annual general meeting) and to attend those meetings.

O  [The right to speak at shareholders’ meetings on matters affecting the audit
or the auditor. This can be important when the auditors disagree with the
directors of the client entity and are unable to communicate with the
shareholders effectively by any other method.

o If the company uses written resolutions, the auditors should have a right to

receive a copy of all such resolutions.| [Commented [MR1]: |

Responsibility of management and those charged with governance

With respect to the audit and contrary to what many members of the public think
it is management and those charged with governance who are responsible for:

a Prevention and detection of fraud
O Preparation of the financial statements

O  Design and implementation of effective internal controls — for example
authorising payments above a certain amount, monthly bank reconciliation
and a monthly trade payables control account reconciliation.

They are also responsible for:
O  Providing the auditor with:
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. Access to information relevant to the preparation of the financial
statements

. Additional information relevant to the audit

o Unrestricted access to persons whom the auditor needs access to in
order to complete the audit

O  Providing written representations to the auditor at the end of the audit (see
later chapter for details)

1.9 Professional regulation

Auditors are required to carry out audits according to professional standards — ISAs
(previously NSAs in Nigeria). Some assurance work is also covered by
professional standards, although this is a developing area and less guidance is
available. In many cases, guidance given in auditing standards can be adapted for
use in assurance services where there is no specific guidance for that service.

As assurance provision goes increasingly ‘global’ the harmonisation of such
professional guidance has become necessary.

1.10 Harmonisation of the accountancy and auditing profession

The International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) is an international regulatory
body for the profession but each country has its own regulatory regime for
auditing, which may not necessarily apply the same principles of audit behaviour
as those used by IFAC.

The same arguments that have been made in favour of the universal adoption of
international accounting standards can also be made in respect of other
regulatory aspects of the auditing and accounting profession.

O  These include advantages such as the adoption of global auditing
standards, which should improve the efficiency of the audit process for
multinational companies and should improve transparency in audit
reporting.

O Disadvantages include the problems of getting international agreement on
auditing practices, and the need for many countries to change their local law
to bring it in line with the agreed international practice.

A number of initiatives are taking place to harmonise the regulation of the
auditing profession internationally. These include the following:

O Audits of all listed companies in the European Union should now be carried
out in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.

O Moves to establish a more formal, statute-based corporate governance
regime (such as Sarbanes-Oxley in the USA).

U The development of national regulatory models for the profession, headed
by a single unified body. The Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria is
envisaged to play this unifying role in Nigeria.

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in the USA is a long- established
example of a unified body. In the UK, the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) also
has a unified role, and

O sets accounting standards

O  sets auditing standards

O enforces and monitors compliance with those standards
a

oversees the self-regulatory professional bodies, such as ACCA, the
ICAEW and ICAN.
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It has been suggested that stricter regulation from an external authority (such as
the SEC in Nigeria, the SEC in the US, the FRC in Nigeria and the FRC in the
UK) is needed to balance the increasing global power of the ‘Big Four
professional accountancy firms.
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2 PROFESSIONALSTANDARDS

Section overview

The international standard-setting process

Preface to International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Review, Other
Assurance and Related Services

The IAASB’s Clarity Project

ISA 200: Overall objectives of the independent auditor and the conduct of an
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing

2.1 Theinternational standard-setting process

International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) are set by the International Audit and
Assurance Standards Board (IAASB), which is a part of IFAC.

A subcommittee of IAASB is asked to write an exposure draft of the new standard
when IAASB considers that one is required. This draft is then ‘exposed’ to
interested parties, who comment on the exposure draft. Interested parties include
national standard setters (such as the Auditing Practices Board in the UK) and
professional bodies, such as ICAN.

The comments are reviewed within the IAASB and the draft is amended as
required. Finally a new ISA will be issued.

2.2 Preface to International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Review,
Other Assurance and Related Services

The IAASB issues a number of other international standards, in addition to ISAs.
The table below sets out these standards, including ISAs, and when the preface
says they are to be applied.

Type of standard When applied

International Standards on Auditing In the audit of historical financial

(ISAs) information

International Standards on Review In the review of historical financial

Engagements(ISRESs) information

International Standards on Assurance In assurance engagements other

Engagements(ISAEs) than audits or reviews of historical
financial information

International Standards on Related On compilation engagements,

Services (ISRSs) engagements to apply agreed upon

procedures to information and other
related services engagements

International Standards on Quality For all the above services
Control (ISQCs)

In addition to this preface, certain ISREs, ISAEs, ISRSs and ISQC 1 are
examinable in this paper. They are covered in later chapters.

As discussed above, the IAASB’s pronouncements do not override local laws or
regulations. If local laws or regulations differ from, or conflict with, the IAASB’s
standards then a professional accountant should not state that he has complied
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2.3

with the IAASB’s standards unless he has fully complied with all of those
relevant to the engagement.
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs)

ISAs are written in the context of an audit of financial statements by an
independent auditor. They are to be adapted as necessary when applied to
audits of other historical financial statements.

Each ISA contains:

J  Anintroduction

O  objectives

O  definitions (if necessary)
a

requirements which are shown by the word ‘shall’ and are to be applied as
relevant to the audit

a application and other explanatory material which is for guidance only.
This structure arose out of the work carried out as part of the IAASB’s “Clarity
Project” (see below).

International Standards on Quality Control (ISQCs)

ISQCs apply to all services carried out under the IAASB’s engagement
standards (ISAs, ISREs, ISAEs and ISRSSs).

Other International Standards

The other international standards (ISREs, ISAEs and ISRSs) follow the format of
the original ISAs. They contain:

O basic principles and essential procedures (identified in bold type and by the
word ‘should’),and

O related guidance in the form of explanatory and other material, including
appendices.

The basic principles and procedures must be followed. In exceptional
circumstances, a professional accountant may judge it necessary not to follow a
relevant essential procedure in order to achieve their objectives. In these
circumstances, the auditor must be prepared to justify the departure from the
requirements of the standard.

Professional judgement

The nature of the international standards requires the professional accountant to
exercise professional judgment in applying them.

The IAASB’s Clarity Project

IAASB Clarity Project Update

In October 2008 the IAASB issued a final Clarity Project Update — slightly ahead
of the December 2008 date by which the last of the clarified ISAs were to be
approved by the Public Interest Oversight Board. The clarified ISAs came into
effect for audits of financial statements beginning on or after 15 December 2009.
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Key points from this update, which give some background to the project, are as
follows:

a

The Clarity Project was the IAASB’s 18-month program to comprehensively
review all of its ISAs and ISQCs to improve their clarity and therefore the
consistency of their application.

36 clarified ISAs were issued, along with a clarifiedlISQC1.

16 of the ISAs were substantially revised as well as redrafted and one new
ISA (ISA 265) was issued. The other 19 ISAs were redrafted, but not
revised.

All the clarified ISAs contain improvements, including:

. identifying the overall objectives of the auditor when conducting an
audit in accordance with ISAs

. setting an objective in each ISA
. establishing an obligation on the auditor in relation to those objectives

. clarifying the obligations imposed on auditor by the requirements of
the ISAs and the language used (using “shall” instead of “should”)

. eliminating ambiguity about the requirements which an auditor needs
to fulffil.

The ISAs have a new structure with Introductory Material, Objectives,
Definitions, Requirements and Application and Other Explanatory Material
presented in separate sections in the ISA.

Summary of the main changes in the new ISAs

The summary covers only those ISAs which were redrafted and revised, not
those that were redrafted only. The summary does not claim to be a
comprehensive analysis of all the changes but lists those changes that are
expected to impact on required audit procedures.

ISA 200 Overall objectives of the independent auditor and the conduct of an audit
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing

ISA 200 has been revised to:

]
a

set out the overall objectives of the independent auditor

explain the nature and scope of an audit designed to enable the auditor to
meet those objectives.

It also explains the scope, authority and structure of the ISAs and includes
general responsibilities of the independent auditor applicable to all audits,
including the obligation to comply with the ISAs.

New requirements make it clear that the auditor uses the objectives in other
ISAs to:

. decide whether any additional audit procedures are needed, beyond
those required by the ISAs, and

. evaluate whether sufficient appropriate evidence has been obtained.

ISA 200 also includes material explaining important concepts related to an
audit, such as management’s responsibilities, professional scepticism,
professional judgment and the inherent limitations of an audit.
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ISA 210 Agreeing the terms of audit engagements

The auditor is now required to perform specific procedures to establish whether
the preconditions for an audit are present. These include:

O determining whether the financial reporting framework to be used is
acceptable

0 obtaining management’s confirmation that it understands its responsibilities
for:

. preparing financial statements that are in accordance with the
applicable financial reporting framework (including giving a true and
fair view)

. implementing internal controls that will enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement

o providing the auditor with access to all relevant and all additionally
requested information, and unrestricted access to employees.

The revised ISA 580 Written representations requires the auditor to obtain
representations from management in respect of these responsibilities (see
below).

ISA 260 Communication with those charged with governance

The revisions to ISA 260 were intended to reflect significant developments to
regulatory and auditing standards in several jurisdictions and shifts in the
expectations of those charged with governance and other stakeholders.
Additional requirements include:

O  explaining why significant accounting practices, which are acceptable under
the applicable financial reporting framework, are not the most appropriate in
the circumstances

O  documenting matters communicated orally

O  communicating any significant difficulties encountered during the audit

O  communicating any significant matters arising from the audit that were
discussed, or subject to correspondence, with management.

ISA 265 - Communicating deficiencies in internal control to those charged

with governance and management

This is a new ISA which is intended to improve the auditor's communication of
deficiencies in internal control identified by him. The term “deficiency in internal
control” is defined.

Requirements include:

O  determining whether identified deficiencies constitute “significant
deficiencies”

O  communicating in writing all significant deficiencies, including a description
of the deficiency and its possible effects.

ISA 320 Materiality in planning and performing an audit

In revising ISA 320 the IAASB:

O updated the definition of materiality to make it clearer that materiality
depends on the size and nature of an item, judged in the surrounding
circumstances
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O  introduced guidance on the use of benchmarks for the initial setting of
materiality (but did not set formulaic rules)

O  indicated that during the audit the auditor should be alert for possible
management bias — such that when evaluating whether the financial
statements as a whole are free of material misstatement the auditor is
required to consider both uncorrected misstatements and qualitative
aspects of the entity’s accounting practices.

The IAASB concluded that it would be better to address materiality and the
evaluation of misstatements in separate ISAs — which led to the creation of ISA
450 (see below).

New requirements include:

O  determining a lower amount called “performance materiality” for the
purpose of assessing risk and deciding on appropriate audit procedures

O revising materiality during the audit if the auditor becomes aware of
information that would have caused him to initially have set a different
threshold

O specific documentation requirements for thresholds determined and any
changes made during the audit.

ISA 402 - Audit considerations relating to an entity using a service

organisation

ISA 402 - was revised to reflect:

O  the increased use of service organisations

O  the need to bring the ISA into line with the risk assessment ISAs.

Requirements include:

O  specifying matters to be included in the auditor’'s understanding of how the
entity uses the services of a service organisation

O where the auditor has concluded that controls at the service organisation
operate effectively, specifying procedures to be performed in testing the
operating effectiveness of controls, including:

. obtaining a Type 2report
. testing controls at the service organisation
o using another auditor to test controls at the service organisation

U specifying procedures to be performed if the auditor plans to use a report
from another auditor as audit evidence, including:

. being satisfied with the other auditor’s professional competence and
independence and the standards followed

. procedures to determine whether a Type 2 report provides sufficient
evidence about the effectiveness of controls at the service
organisation.

ISA 450 - Evaluation of misstatements identified during an audit

As explained above, ISA 450 is a new ISA which arose from the revision of ISA
320 on audit materiality. There are a number of new requirements which include:

O  accumulating all identified misstatement other than those that are clearly
trivial
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O  prior to evaluating the effect of uncorrected misstatements, reassessing
materiality.

O  determining whether uncorrected misstatements are material, considering
their nature as well as their size.

O  documenting:
. the amount below which misstatements would be regarded as trivial

. all misstatements accumulated during the audit and whether they
have been corrected

. the auditor’s conclusion as to whether uncorrected misstatements are
material, individually or in aggregate, and the basis for that conclusion.
ISA 505 - External confirmations

The revision of ISA 505 was in response to concerns that requirements in this
area needed to be more rigorous. Compared to the previous version of ISA 505
there are more detailed requirements in relation to:

O maintaining control over the confirmation requests

O  obtaining further evidence to resolve doubts over the reliability of responses
O  conditions which must be present if negative confirmations are to be used.
ISA 540 - Auditing accounting estimates, including fair value accounting estimates,
and related disclosures

ISA 540 was revised in order to improve the rigor of the auditing of accounting
estimates, particularly in view of the potential for management bias/earnings
management by manipulation in this area.

O The revised ISA:
O  introduces requirements for greater rigor and scepticism in this area

O provides standards and guidance on what constitutes a misstatement and
on indicators of management bias.

O focuses work on areas of estimation uncertainty and risk
O aligns more closely with the audit risk model.
New requirements include:

O  obtaining an understanding as to how management identify the need for
accounting estimates and how they make those estimates

O  reviewing the outcome of accounting estimates made in prior periods

O evaluating estimation uncertainty and whether high estimation uncertainty
leads to significant risks.

O  for identified significant risks:

. evaluating how management has considered alternative assumptions
or outcomes.

. obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence about whether management
decisions are in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework.

o evaluating the adequacy of disclosure of the estimation uncertainty
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O  reviewing management’s judgment and decisions in order to identify
possible management bias.

ISA 550 - Related parties
ISA 550 was revised in response to:

O  recent major corporate scandals (e.g. Enron and WorldCom in 2002) which
often involved related parties

O  aneed to focus more on a risk-based approach, in line with other ISAs.

a The revised ISA 550 which also seeks to assist auditors with the difficult
task of identifying related parties and undisclosed related party
transactions.

New requirements include:

O  considering the susceptibility of the financial statements to material
misstatements due to fraud or error arising from the entity’s related party
relationships and transactions

O  obtaining an understanding of the controls put in place to identify, account
for and disclose related party relationships and transactions and to approve
significant transactions outside the normal course of business

O treating significant related party transactions as giving rise to “significant
risks”

O  specifying procedures to be performed if the auditor identifies related
parties or significant related party transactions that management has not
previously disclosed to the auditor

O  specifying procedures to be performed for significant related party
transactions outside the normal course of business

O  obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence about a management assertion
that a related party transaction was conducted on normal commercial
terms.

ISA 580 Written representations

ISA 580 was revised to respond to concerns that auditor may be over relying on
written representations. The revised standard introduces a number of significant
changes. The main one is that it is made clearer that, although written
representations provide necessary audit evidence, they do not on their own
provide sufficient appropriate evidence about any of the matters included.

O  New requirements include:

O  obtaining written representations about management’s responsibilities,
including responsibilities for:

. preparing financial statements that are in accordance with the
applicable financial reporting framework (including giving a true and
fair view)

. providing the auditor with access to all relevant information as agreed
in the terms of the engagement

. recording all transactions and reflecting them in the financial
statements
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O  if management does not provide the above, disclaiming an opinion on the
financial statements should be the auditor’s option.

ISA 600: Special considerations — audits of group financial statements (including
the work of component auditors)

The revised ISA introduces a number of new requirements where other auditors
audit group components, increasing the group auditor’s involvement in the work
of component auditors.

New requirements include:

O  in deciding whether to accept or continue an appointment as group auditor,
considering whether the group engagement team will be able to be involved
in the work of component auditors to the extent necessary to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence

O  obtaining an understanding of the group, its components and their
environment and assessing the risk of material misstatement of the group
financial statements (which can be mitigated by strong group-wide controls)

O  obtaining an understanding of component auditors, including their
professional competence and whether they will comply with ethical
requirements which apply to the group audit.

O  determining a materiality level for the group as a whole and for each
component where component auditors will perform an audit or a review for
the purposes of the group audit.

O responding to assessed risks including:

. requiring an audit of the financial information (using component
materiality) of any component which is of individual financial
significance.

o requiring an audit of the financial information, or an audit of specific
areas or specified audit procedures for any component which is
significant because it is likely to include group level significant risks

. requiring analytical procedures at group level for non-significant
components.

. determining the level of involvement of the group engagement team
in the work performed by component auditors (for significant
components, the group engagement team must be involved in the
component auditor’s risk assessment in order to identify the risks of
material misstatement).

ISA 620: Using the work of an auditor’s expert

ISA 620 was revised in response to concerns that:

O  experts could be used, not only in relation to account balances, but also for
other purposes such as risk assessment

O  the increased use of fair value accounting may require more frequent use
of experts in other disciplines by the auditor.

The revised ISA:

O  isrestricted to the use of an expert engaged or employed by the auditor.
Amendments were made to ISA 500 to cover the use of management’s
experts
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O  includes more specification of audit procedures, in particular in respect of
agreeing the work to be performed and evaluating the reasonableness of
the expert’s findings.

2.4 ISA200: Overall objectives of the independent auditor and the conduct of
an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing

The objectives of the auditor, per ISA 200 are:

O  to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. This allows the auditor to give an opinion on whether or not the
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework.

O toreport on the financial statements, and communicate as required by
the ISAs, in accordance with the auditor’s findings.

Where the auditor is unable to obtain reasonable assurance and a qualified
opinion is insufficient, the auditor must disclaim an opinion or resign. The
different types of opinions are covered in a later chapter.

In line with what you should remember from your previous studies, ISA 200
requires the auditor to:

O  comply with all ISAs relevant to the audit
d  comply with relevant ethical requirements

40 plan and perform an audit with professional scepticism

O exercise professional judgement in planning and performing an audit
O  obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to allow him to obtain
reasonable assurance.
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3 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Section overview

The meaning and nature of corporate governance
Directors’ and auditors’ responsibilities

Codes of corporate governance in Nigeria

The audit committee

3.1 The meaning and nature of corporate governance

Corporate governance is the way in which companies are managed and
controlled. In particular, it focuses on the role of directors and their
responsibilities to shareholders and other stakeholders.

As a form of business entity, an important feature of companies is the divorce of
ownership from management.

O One group (the directors) manage the business and make the important
strategic decisions.

O Addifferent group (the shareholders) finance the company and own it.

Directors are seen as ‘agents’ of the shareholders and as agents of the
shareholders:

O  they should take decisions that are in the best interests of their
shareholders, and

O  they should be accountable to the shareholders for the way in which they
have used the company’s resources.
The need for regulation for good corporate governance

There is some regulation of corporate governance in company law. However,
basic legal requirements have proved inadequate for protecting shareholders
from losses, in a number of corporate scandals caused by directors of the
company.

As a result, more specific regulations or guidelines have been introduced to
improve corporate governance.

Regulations and guidelines vary from country to country. In some countries there
are detailed ‘rules’, in others there are none. You are not expected to have a
detailed knowledge of the corporate governance rules for this exam.

3.2 Directors’ and auditors’ responsibilities

In all aspects of corporate reporting there is a basic distinction between the role
of the directors and the role of the auditors:

O  The directors are responsible for:
. Preparation of financial statements
. Internal controls
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. Providing the auditor with:

- Access to information relevant to the preparation of financial
statements

- Additional information relevant to audit
- Unrestricted access to persons

- Written representations

O  The auditors are responsible for reviewing that information and, in some
cases, reporting on the extent to which the directors have complied with
their responsibilities.

It is good practice in accordance with ISA 210 Agreeing the terms of audit
engagements to clarify the relative responsibilities of the directors and auditors in
corporate governance matters.

3.3 Codes of corporate governance in Nigeria

There are two codes that you need to be aware of for this exam. However,
detailed knowledge is only examinable in the B6 Management, Governance and
Ethics paper.

O Code of Corporate Governance for Banks in Nigeria Post Consolidation.

This code is issued by the Central Bank of Nigeria. Compliance with the
provisions of the code by banks is mandatory in Nigeria.

O  Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies in Nigeria.

This code is issued by the Nigerian Securities & Exchange Commission
(which issued codes in both 2003 and 2011) and is applicable to:

. All public companies whose securities are listed on a recognised
securities exchange in Nigeria;

. All companies seeking to raise funds from the capital market through
the issuance of securities or seeking listing by introduction;

. All other public companies

Other companies are encouraged but not required to comply with the
provisions of the code.

The Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria has released the Nigerian Code of
Corporate Governance 2018 which harmonises the various codes that currently
exist. The commencement date of the Code was January 1, 2019.

3.4 The audit committee

Audit committees in Nigeria

In many countries, listed companies are required or expected to have an audit
committee. In Nigeria, CAMA 2020 (section 404) requires every public company
to establish an audit committee.

The audit committee is a ‘sub-committee’ of the board of directors, and it reports
to the main board. All members of the audit committee shall be financially literate,
and at least one member shall be a member of a professional accounting body in
Nigeria established by an Act of the National Assembly.
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A key purpose of an audit committee is to establish a ‘buffer’ between the auditors
and the executive directors, in order to minimise the risk that the auditors might
come under undue pressure from the executive members of the board. (For
example, the auditors may be influenced by the threat that the company will take
away their audit work or non-audit work, and so may be more inclined to agree with
the opinions and arguments of the management.)

The audit committee should therefore help to ensure the independence of the
external auditors.

The Companies and Allied Matters Act stipulates that:

O  the audit committee shall consist of five members comprising of three
members and two non-executive directors;

O  the audit committee member presenting to the members shall not be
entitled to remuneration and shall be subject to re-election annually; and

O  any member may nominate a shareholder as a member of the audit
committee by giving notice in writing of such nomination to the secretary of
the company at least 21 days before the annual general meeting.

Duties and responsibilities

Both the Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies in Nigeria issued
by the SEC and the Companies and Allied Matters Act provide guidance as to the
duties and responsibilities of the audit committee.

The Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies in Nigeria requires the
duties and responsibilities of the audit committee to be set out in written terms.
The duties and responsibilities should be to:

O assist in the oversight of the integrity of the company’s financial statements,
compliance with legal and other regulatory requirements, assessment of
qualifications and independence of external auditor, and performance of the
company’s internal audit function as well as that of external auditors;

O establish an internal audit function and ensure there are other means of
obtaining sufficient assurance of regular review or appraisal of the system
of internal controls in the company;

O  ensure the development of a comprehensive internal control framework for
the company, obtain assurance and report annually in the financial report,
on the operating effectiveness of the company’s internal control framework;

O  oversee management’s process for the identification of significant fraud
risks across the company and ensure that adequate prevention, detection
and reporting mechanisms are in place;

O  atleast on an annual basis, obtain and review a report by the internal auditor
describing the strength and quality of internal controls including any issues
or recommendations for improvement, raised by the most recent internal
control review of the company;

O  discuss the annual audited financial statements and half yearly unaudited
statements with management and external auditors;

O discuss policies and strategies with respect to risk assessment and
management;
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a

meet separately and periodically with management, internal auditors and
external auditors;

review and ensure that adequate whistle-blowing procedures are in place
and that a summary of issues reported are highlighted to the chairman;

review, with the external auditor, any audit scope limitations or problems
encountered and management’s responses to same;

review the independence of the external auditors and ensure that where
non-audit services are provided by the external auditors, there is no conflict
of interest;

preserve auditor independence, by setting clear hiring policies for
employees or former employees of independent auditors;

consider any related party transactions that may arise within the company
or group;

invoke its authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference for
which purpose the company must make available the resources to the
internal auditors with which to carry out this function, including access to
external advice where necessary; and

report regularly to the board.

The Companies and Allied Matters Act states that subject to such other additional
functions and powers that the company's articles of association may stipulate, the
objectives and functions of the audit committee shall be to:

a

a

ascertain whether the accounting and reporting policies of the company are
in accordance with legal requirements and agreed ethical practices;

review the scope and planning of audit requirements;

review the findings on management matters in conjunction with the external
auditor and departmental responses thereon;

keep under review the effectiveness of the company's system of accounting
and internal control;

make recommendations to the Board in regard to the appointment, removal
and remuneration of the external auditors of the company; and

authorise the internal auditor to carry out investigations into any activities of
the company which may be of interest or concern to the committee.

© Emile Woolf International 33 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

4  MONEY LAUNDERING

Section overview

Definition of money laundering

Regulation

Obligations placed on professional firms
Duty of confidentiality and money laundering

4.1 Definition of money laundering

Money laundering can be defined as the process by which criminals attempt to
conceal the true origin and ownership of the proceeds from their criminal
activities.

Criminal activities include drug trafficking, terrorism, theft, tax evasion and other
types of fraud.

Money laundering is a process by which money earned from criminal activities
(‘dirty money’) is transferred and transformed so that it appears to have come
from a legitimate source (‘clean money’).

If it is undertaken successfully, money laundering allows criminals to maintain
control over the proceeds of their criminal activity and to provide a legitimate
cover for their sources of income.

There are various criminal offences connected with money laundering. Examples
include:

O possessing, in any way dealing with, or concealing, the proceeds of any
crime. Examples of the proceeds of crime might include the following:

. Tax evasion.

. Offences that involve saved costs (as these could result from
environmental offences or failure to follow health and safety
regulations).

. Retaining overpayments from customers.

. Payments made overseas that are deemed to be bribes and would be
illegal in Nigeria.
U attempting, conspiracy or incitement to commit the above offence

O  aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring the commission of such an
offence

O  an act which would constitute any of these offences if done in Nigeria

O  failure by a person in the regulated sector to inform the appropriate party of
a knowledge or suspicion that another person is engaged in money
laundering

O failure to make a disclosure which is likely to prejudice an investigation into
money laundering (tipping off)

The last two offences are the ones that accountants may find themselves
affected by even inadvertently, as accountants operate in the regulated sector
and are therefore required to report suspicions of money laundering.
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It is made more complicated by the fact that ‘suspicion’ is not defined in the law.
However, it appears to be somewhere between mere speculation and actual
proof.

There are various defences to charges of money laundering:
O  areport had been made to the appropriate party

O  there was an intention to make a report and a reasonable excuse (likely to
include fear of physical violence or other menaces) for not having done so

O  acquiring or using property for adequate consideration in good faith.

4.2 Regulation

Due to the work of inter-governmental bodies such as the Financial Action Task
Force on Money Laundering (FATF), many countries now have legal provisions
in place designed to detect, report and ultimately prevent money-laundering
activities. These provisions vary from country to country and include the US
Patriot Act 2001 in the USA and the Money Laundering Regulations 2007 in the
UK.

In Nigeria the Money Laundering (Prohibition) Act, 2011 implements the
recommendations of FATF in relation to customer due diligence, record-keeping,
reporting of suspicious transactions and compliance.

4.3 Obligations placed on professional firms

Money laundering may be of particular relevance to accountants, and in
particular auditors, in cases where criminals establish companies and use
transactions between their companies to ‘launder’ their dirty money.

Specific obligations for detecting and reporting suspicions of money laundering
are placed on professional firms (for example, lawyers and accountants) and
financial institutions. These requirements include the following.

a Putting into place systems, controls and procedures to ensure that the firm
is not used for money laundering purposes.

O  Appointing a Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO), whose
responsibility is to receive reports on suspected money laundering activities
from other employees and report them to the appropriate authorities.

O  Establishing and enhancing the record-keeping systems (1) for all
transactions (which must be kept for at least five years, with controls to
ensure that they are not inadvertently destroyed) and (2) for verifying the
identity of clients (by obtaining official documents, such as — for an
individual — passport or driving license, supported by recent utilities bills,
and — for a company — certificate of incorporation).

O  Establishing procedures within the firm for reporting any suspicion of
money laundering by client companies.

O  Training and educating staff in procedures for detecting and reporting
suspicions of money laundering activities.

These obligations are wide-ranging and auditors and other professionals need to
be fully aware of the extent of their responsibilities in taking care of them.
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O

4.4

Example:

An international case involved a solicitor who was imprisoned for six months
for failing to report his suspicion in relation to money paid to his firm by a
client who was later convicted of drug trafficking. The solicitor misunderstood
his obligation to report the suspicion, thus unintentionally committing an
offence.

Guidance from professional bodies

To ensure that practitioners are aware of their responsibilities, ICAN’s Monitoring
Unit — as part of its monitoring process — checks to see if practitioners have
understood their obligations by asking a series of questions during their visits.

In addition to any disciplinary action that may be taken by ICAN for breaches of
the regulations, penalties for non-compliance with money laundering obligations
can:

O  make a firm liable (under criminal law) to unlimited fines, and
a make its principals (usually its partners) liable to possible imprisonment.

In response to the increased expectations of legislators and regulators in many
countries with respect to the accounting profession’s role in detecting money
laundering, IFAC has published a second paper on this topic.

This paper highlights:
U the causes and possible means of preventing money laundering
O the signs of money laundering activity

a the vulnerability of banks, non-bank financial institutions and other entities
to money laundering

O governance-related issues (the relative responsibilities of directors and
auditors for monitoring and reporting suspicions of money laundering).

Duty of confidentiality and money laundering

The accountant’s normal professional duty of confidentiality to clients is not an
adequate defence where money laundering is concerned.

In the case of reporting suspicions of money laundering, practitioners in most
countries are afforded statutory protection against claims for breach of confidence
where reports are made in good faith and to the appropriate authority. This will be
SO even in cases where the suspicions later prove to be unfounded and wrong.

An accountant may in fact find it hard not to commit the offence of ‘tipping off’
bearing in mind all the reporting requirements that an auditor has to fulfil. For
example, bear in mind that if an auditor had a strong suspicion or knowledge of
money laundering, he might want to resign his position. However, doing so would
mean that he was required to report to the shareholders on his reasons (in a
statement of circumstances) and also report any professional matters arising to
his successor in a professional clearance letter. In such a circumstance, the
auditor might be better placed not to resign at that time and should certainly take
legal advice before doing so (remember that taking advice from a solicitor would
not constitute tipping off because it is protected by legal privilege).

Accountants may find themselves in a position where they are prevented from
making a report of a suspicion of money laundering because they have received
information under a legal privilege. This will be rare.
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5 CONSIDERATION OF LAWS AND REGULATIONS IN AN AUDIT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: ISA 250

Section overview

m  The legal environment and non-compliance by a client company

m Action by the auditor in the event of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance by a client company

5.1 The legal environment and non-compliance by a client company

ISA 250 Consideration of laws and regulations in an audit of financial statements
requires the auditor to:

a

obtain a general understanding of the applicable legal and regulatory
framework and how the entity is complying with that framework. This is part
of obtaining an understanding of the entity and its environment — here, the
legal environment — as required by ISA315

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence in respect of compliance
with those laws and regulations which might be expected to have a direct
effect on material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

perform the following audit procedures to help identify such instances of
non-compliance:

. make enquiries of management as to whether or not the entity is
complying with the relevant laws and regulations

. inspect any correspondence with the relevant authorities

during the audit, remain alert to the possibility that other audit procedures
might bring instances of non-compliance to the auditor’s attention

obtain written representations from management that all known
instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance have been
disclosed to the auditor

document all identified or suspected instances of non-compliance and the
results of discussions with management and/or other parties.

5.2 Action by the auditor in the event of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance by a client company

If the auditor identifies or suspects material areas of non-compliance by the
company, the following procedures are required:

a

a

Obtain an understanding of the nature of the act and the circumstances
under which it has occurred.

Evaluate the possible effect of the non-compliance on the financial
statements.

For suspected non-compliance, discuss the matter with management. If
compliance is not demonstrated, take legal advice.

If there is insufficient evidence of a suspected non-compliance, consider
the impact on the audit report (this would constitute a “limitation on scope”
which is considered in a later chapter).
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O  Consider whether or not the non-compliance impacts on other areas of the
audit (for example, on the overall risk assessment).

O  Consider how to report the non-compliance — to those charged with
governance and/or to shareholders and/or to the authorities.
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6 CHAPTERREVIEW

Chapter review

Before moving on to the next chapter check that you now know how to:

m  Explain the need for regulation of audit and assurance services

m  Explain the process of appointment, resignation and removal of auditors
m Describe the eligibility, rights and duties of an auditor

m Describe the role and structure of professional standards including the standard
setting process

m  Summarise the key features of corporate governance in relation to audit

m  Explain what money laundering is and summarise the obligations and duties this
places on the auditor

m  Apply ISA 250 to the audit of financial statements

© Emile Woolf International 39 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

Quick quiz questions

1 Which one of the following statements is INCORRECT?

A

If an ISA conflicts with national auditing regulations, auditors should follow the
national regulations.

ISAEs apply to engagements dealing with matters other than historical financial
information.

The guidance given in ISAs may be used in providing non-audit assurance services
ISQCs apply to audits but not to other types of assurance engagement.

2 Which of the following may be an effective defence for an accountant accused of money
laundering?

1

O 0O ™ >» & 0N

An accountant owes a duty of confidentiality to his client

The accountant has reported the issue to the appropriate police authority
The accountant had reasonable grounds for fearing that his life was in danger
The accountant acted in good faith at all times

1, 2 and 3 only

1, 3 and 4 only

2,3 and 4 only

1,2,3and 4

3 Which of the following should be responsibilities of the audit committee?

O 0O @ >» & 0N P

Reviewing the independence of the external auditor

Making a recommendation on the re-appointment of the auditors
Reviewing the work of internal audit

Report to shareholders on the accuracy of the financial statements
1, 2 and 3 only

1, 3 and 4 only

2,3 and 4 only

1,2,3and 4

4 If the head of the audit team discovers evidence of money laundering in a client company,
he or she should report the matter in the first instance to:

A

B
C
D

the criminal investigation authorities for money laundering
the firm’s Money Laundering Reporting Officer

the company’s board of directors

the company’s shareholders
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5 Are the following statements true or false about auditors’ responsibilities with regard to
money laundering in a client company?

1 If an audit firm reports reasonable suspicions of money laundering by a company’s
senior management to the criminal investigation authorities but these suspicions
prove to be unfounded, the audit firm may be liable in law to the client company.

2 If an auditor discovers evidence of money laundering in a client company, the audit
firm must resign immediately from the audit.

A Statement 1 is correct but statement 2 is incorrect. B
Statement 2 is correct but statement 1 is incorrect. C
Both statements are correct.

D Both statements are incorrect.

Quick quiz answers

1 D
Standards on quality control apply to all services provided under IAASB’s engagement
standards.

2 C

Money laundering regulations override the accountant's duty of confidentiality so that any
suspicion of money laundering must be reported to the authorities.

3 A

The external auditors report on whether the financial statements give a true and fair view
and the board as a whole, state their responsibility for the financial statements. The audit
committee is not responsible for the accuracy of the financial statements and does not
include this matter in its annual report to shareholders.

4 B

Reporting to the board of directors of the client company would put the auditor at risk of
‘tipping off’ the suspects, which is a criminal offence. In the first instance the matter
should be reported to the firm’s MLRO.

5 D

It would be a criminal offence for the audit firm not to report reasonable suspicions of
money laundering to the authorities. The firm should not resign immediately from the
audit if it discovers money laundering activity, because this would ‘tip off the criminal
suspects.
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INTRODUCTION

Competencies
Laws, regulations and ethical issues

Al Advise on technical, professional and ethical issues that may arise during
assurance engagements in the public and private sectors including evaluation
and communication with any party to the engagement.

A3 Identify and explain the nature and purpose of laws, regulations, standards
and codes in the context of assurance engagements.

Accepting professional engagements and managing assignments

B1 (b) Identify and explain the legal, professional and ethical issues that may arise
during the acceptance of assurance or audit assignments.

Exam context

Ethics is a fundamental component of every accountant’s life. You therefore need to be
familiar with the underlying guidance and principles of ethics and be able to apply those
principles in a given scenario.

This chapter is a continuation of the ethics you studied in the earlier Audit and Assurance
paper. However, the ethical dilemmas encountered in this exam will be more complex and
involve a greater degree of judgement. Furthermore the ethical dilemma may not be as
obvious to spot as in previous exams.

At the end of this chapter, readers should be able to:
] Describe the fundamental principles of the IESBA Code of Ethics

[ ] Apply the conceptual framework to identify threats to the fundamental principles and
suggest appropriate safeguards across a range of common scenarios.
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1 THE FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES

Section overview

Introduction: rules of conduct for professional accountants

m  The fundamental principles of the IESBA Code

11

1.2

Introduction: rules of conduct for professional accountants

The professional bodies that regulate the auditing profession set high standards
of behaviour for their members (including student members). Their codes of
practice apply to all members, whether in public practice or not. The detailed rules
of conduct vary between the professional bodies, but all the major bodies have
codes that are broadly similar.

In setting a code of practice, each professional body is complying with one of its
regulatory functions, which is to ensure that statutory audits are performed only
by ‘fit and proper’ persons who act with professional integrity.

This chapter describes IFAC’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
published by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA)
(hereafter referred to as ‘The Code’).

You also need to be aware that ICAN adopted the IESBA Code into their own
localised code called ‘The Professional Code of Conduct and Guide for
Members’. Note that the substance remains largely unchanged.

The ICAN Code must be followed by all members (including student members)
whether they are operating as external auditors or assurance providers or internal
auditors. The ICAN Code also applies to the staff of an ICAN practice, regardless
of whether they are members of ICAN, or any other professional body.

Although the guidance applies to all members, the examination is primarily
concerned with how the rules apply to an external auditor or assurance provider.

The fundamental principles of the IESBA Code

The five fundamental principles of the Code are set out below:

Principle Explanation

Integrity A professional accountant shall be straightforward and
honest in all professional and business relationships.
Objectivity A professional accountant shall not compromise

professional or business judgements because of bias,
conflict of interest or undue influence of others.

Professional A professional accountant has a continuing duty to attain
competence and and maintain professional knowledge and skill at the level
due care required to ensure that a client or employer receives a

competent professional service, based on current technical
and professional standards and relevant legislation. A
professional accountant shall act diligently and in
accordance with applicable technical and professional
standards.
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Principle Explanation

Confidentiality A professional accountant shall respect the confidentiality
of information acquired as a result of professional or
business relationships and shall not disclose any such
information to third parties without proper and specific
authority unless there is a legal or professional right or duty
to disclose. Confidential information must not be used for
the personal advantage of the professional accountant or
third parties.

Professional A professional accountant shall comply with relevant laws

behaviour and regulations and avoid any conduct that the
professional accountant knows or should know might
discredit the profession.

You need to know these five fundamental principles and what each of them
means. An exam question may require you to discuss the relevance of the five
fundamental principles to a particular situation in a case study.
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2 INTEGRITY, OBJECTIVITY AND INDEPENDENCE

Section overview

The requirement for independence

Threats to independence

Safeguarding independence

The provision by auditors of non-audit services
Making referrals

lllustration

2.1 Therequirement for independence

For an auditor's report to be of value, the auditor:
O must be independent, and also
O  must be seen to be independent.

The opinion of an auditor must be an independent opinion given by a professional
person with appropriate skills in audit work, and the opinion must not be influenced
by anyone else, and in particular must not be influenced by the opinions and views
of the management of the company whose financial statements have been
audited.

In order that a member’s auditor's report is of value auditors must have
‘independence of mind’ and be ‘independent in appearance’. These principles
of both being and being seen to be independent are at the centre of the role
played by independence in auditing.

Illustration: Independence of mind and independence in appearance

Independence of mind describes a state of mind that permits the auditor to express
a conclusion without being affected by influences that compromise their
professional judgement. This allows the auditor to act with integrity and exercise
objectivity and professional scepticism.

Independence of appearance means the avoidance of facts and circumstances that
are so significant that a reasonable and informed third party would be likely to
conclude that a firm’s, or a member of the auditor assurance team’s, integrity,
objectivity or professional skepticism has been compromised. For example, if an
auditor owned shares in an audit client then a reasonably informed third party could
safely assume that the auditor will not be truly objective as they would not want to
see the value of their investment in the client reduced.

The presumption is that if an auditor is not independent in appearance then they
cannot possibly think with objectivity (i.e. be independent of mind). Even if this may
not technically be true it is a presumption that must be held in order to protect the
reputation of auditors.

Independence of the auditor is a matter of public confidence in the audit process.

U Auditors need to be fully aware of situations that may damage their
independence and objectivity. Such situations are referred to as threats to
auditor independence.

O  Any threats to independence may be reduced by safeguards that are
taken by an audit practice (audit firm).
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It is a matter of public confidence in the audit process.

The Code takes the form of guidance on independence, rather than specific
rules. It is left to the individual member to apply judgement about how the
guidance should be applied in practice.

The guidance sets out a number of general categories of threat to independence,
and then goes on to list specific threats and associated guidance.

2.2 Threats to independence

General categories of threat

Threats to the fundamental principles are matters that could result in the
accountant or audit firm acting without integrity, without sufficient competence,
without ensuring confidentiality or in a way that discredits the profession.
However, threats to the fundamental principles are largely threats to the
independence and objectivity of the accountant or the audit firm.

The Code recognises the following general sources of threat to the fundamental
principles:

O Self-interest threat. This arises when the accountant or the audit firm has
a financial interest or other interest in a matter. Typically, this means that
the accountant’s decisions might be influenced by self-interest and the
accountant will therefore not act with objectivity and independence.

Examples of this type of threat include:
. owning shares in a client company;

. accepting goods, services or hospitality from an audit client that are
neither trivial nor inconsequential.

Self-review threat. This occurs when an accountant is required to review
or re-evaluate (for a different purpose) a previous judgement he has made
or action that he has taken. Self-review threats can also apply to audit firms,
for example:

. if an audit firm prepared the financial statements for a client company
and then acted as auditor it would be reviewing its own work and would
be reluctant to criticise or question it. This would be a threat to
objectivity and independence.

O Advocacy threat. This occurs when the accountant is in a position where
he is expected to defend or justify the position of the client, and act as an
‘advocate’ for the client’s position or point of view. This would be a threat to
objectivity and independence.

Examples of this type of threat include:

. defending the client in court on material matters that are relevant to
the financial statements; and

. promoting and/or underwriting a share issue for an audit client.

O Intimidation threat. This occurs when the accountant is deterred from
acting with objectivity due to threats against him or his firm. For example:

. the client may threaten that it will take work away from the firm unless
it agrees with the point of view of the client management.
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O  Familiarity threat. This occurs when the accountant becomes too
sympathetic with the client’s position due to close relationships.

Examples of this type of threat include:

o long association — when a practitioner or audit firm is engaged over
many years in carrying out the annual audit and becomes overly
trusting of the client;

. when a member of the engagement team has a family or personal
relationship with someone at the client office who can exercise
significant influence on the financial statements; and

. where there is an interchange of employee between the firm and
client.

The Code goes on to give guidance about a number of specific threats which an
accountant might be faced with.

Financial interests

A financial interest in a client might constitute a self-interest threat, although the
role of the individual holding the interest, the materiality of the interest and the
degree of control the accountant has over it will affect the level of the risk.

The guidance recommends that a member of the assurance team or an
immediate family member of that team shall not hold a direct financial interest or
an indirect material interest in a client. The interest should either be disposed of,
or the team member removed from the engagement.

Loans and guarantees

A loan from a client which is a bank or similar institution, made on normal
commercial terms would not constitute a threat to independence. However, loans
or guarantees made to or by assurance clients in other circumstances constitute
a self-interest threat and shall be avoided.

Close business relationships

Close business relationships with assurance clients, such as having a material joint
venture, represent a self-interest threat or an intimidation threat. They must be
avoided. Purchasing goods and services from an assurance client would not
generally cause a threat to independence provided that it was at arm's length and
in the normal course of business.

Example: Financial interest

Q Pear Company is developing a new product which is expected to be very
profitable, but it needs additional finance to complete the product development
workandforthemarketlaunch.lthasinviteditsauditfirm,Push&Pull,tomake
aninvestmentintheproduct. Thefinancingarrangementwouldtaketheformof either
convertible debentures in Pear Company or a separate joint venture
company.lfajointventurecompanyisestablished,PearCompanyandPush& Pull
would share control of the business. The joint venture company would
develop,manufactureandmarketthenewproduct.

What are the ethical issues to consider in this situation?
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A Answer
If Push & Pull retain Pear Company as an audit client, the ethical situation is
as follows:

The audit firm must not provide a loan to a client. Buying debentures in the
company would be a form of loan. It would create a major self-interest threat
for which there could be no suitable safeguards.

A further problem is that convertible debentures could eventually be converted
into equity shares in Pear Company, which would also create a major self-
interest threat for Push &Pull.

Joint venture company

A joint venture arrangement would also be unacceptable on ethical grounds,
because of the significant mutual financial interests that Pear Company and
Push & Pull would share.

A financial interest by an audit firm in an audit client is permissible only if the
interest is not material, the relationship with the client is insignificant and the
audit firm does not exercise significant influence. These conditions do not
apply here.

If the audit firm resigns from the audit

If Push & Pull resigns from the audit of Pear Company, a different situation would
arise. The audit firm would be allowed to invest in its former audit client, since
the ethical threats would no longer exist. However, it is questionable whether
an audit firm would want to diversify its business interests into the manufacture
and marketing of a new product — an area of business in which the firm’s partners
would have no direct experience or expertise.

Commercial transactions between an audit client and a member of the audit
team

The Code does not prohibit commercial transactions between an audit client and
a member of the audit team, provided that:

O they are made in the normal course of the client’s business,

O  they are at an arm’s length (in other words, they are made on normal
commercial terms), and

O  the value of the transaction is not material to either party.

Q Example: commercial transaction with an audit team member

An audit firm has a client company, Zoomco, which operates a motor racing
circuit. The audit firm has discovered that the audit manager for the Zoomco
audit keeps a racing car at Zoomco'’s circuit and uses the race track regularly.
Because he is the audit manager, Zoomco allow him 50% off normal charges
for garaging the car and for use of the race track.

What is the ethical position and what measures should the audit firm take to
deal with this situation?
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A Answer
The transaction between Zoomco and the audit manager is a normal commercial
transaction for Zoomco, but it is not at arm’s length because the audit manager gets
50% off normal prices. The transaction may not be material for Zoomco, but it is
likely to be material for the audit manager.

Consequently, there has been a breach of the ethical code by the audit manager.
The audit manager has created a self-interest threat (and possibly a familiarity
threat) by entering into the transaction with Zoomco.

U The ethics partner of the audit firm should be consulted and asked to
assess the materiality of the transaction between Zoomco and the audit
manager and to consider whether disciplinary action is appropriate.

U The audit manager should be removed immediately from the Zoomco audit
team and replaced by someone else.

U Those charged with governance of Zoomco (the board of directors) or the
audit committee should be told about the action that the audit firm has
taken, and the reasons why the action was necessary.

a In view of the threat to the objectivity and independence of the former audit
manager, the audit plan for the Zoomco audit should be reviewed and
amended if this is considered necessary.

The ethics partner may also wish to check whether the former audit manager has
entered into commercial arrangements on favourable terms with any other audit
client.

Family and personal relationships

Family and personal relationships between assurance staff and clients might
cause self-interest, familiarity or intimidation threats. It is impracticable to outline
every relationship that might cause such a risk and each situation should be
considered individually, bearing in mind the role of the assurance staff and the
closeness of the relationship.

However, when an immediate family member of a member of the assurance team
is a director, officer or employee in a position to exert significant influence over the
subject matter of the engagement, then the threat to independence is great and
can only be avoided by removing the individual from the assurance team.

Employment with assurance clients

The assurance team’s independence might be threatened if a director or other
senior employee at the client has recently been employed by the assurance firm.
There might be self-interest, familiarity and intimidation threats, particularly if close
connections remain between the individual and the assurance firm.

However, it may be possible to reduce the threat with safeguards, such as
involving an independent third party to review the audit file.

In respect of audit clients, when a former key audit partner joins a public interest
entity audit client, independence would be deemed to be compromised unless,
subsequent to the partner ceasing to be a key audit partner, the public interest
entity had issued audited financial statements covering a period of not less than
twelve months and the partner was not a member of the audit team with respect
to the audit of those financial statements.
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Self-interest threats might also arise if a member of the assurance team has
reason to believe that they might soon be employed by the assurance client, for
example, if they have applied for a job there. This threat can be avoided by
having disclosure policies within the firm for if an employee is entering into
employment negotiations with an assurance client, removing such an individual
from the engagement team and reviewing any significant judgements made by
the individual whilst on the team.

Recent service with assurance clients

If an employee of the assurance client transfers to the assurance firm, then self-
interest, self-review and familiarity threats might arise. Therefore, individuals who
have served as a director or officer of an assurance client in the period under
review shall not be assigned to the assurance team.

In other situations, it may be sufficient to apply safeguards to independence.

Serving as an officer or director of an assurance client

Assurance providers should not serve as an officer or director of assurance
clients. However, providing routine administrative services, perhaps such as those
provided by a company secretary may be appropriate. It is important not to be
involved in making management decisions.

Long association of senior personnel with assurance clients

Using the same staff on an assurance engagement over a long period of time
might cause a familiarity threat. The firm should consider factors such as the
nature of the person’s role and the length of time that he has been doing it when
deciding which staff members to involve in assurance work.

Safeguards might include:

O  rotating senior staff of the assurance team; for example, changing the audit
engagement partner;

O  arranging for an additional professional accountant to review the work done
by the senior staff;

O  carrying out independent quality control reviews.

For the audit of public interest entities, the Code states:

O Akey audit partner (e.g. the engagement partner, a quality review partner
or an engagement partner of a significant component) should be rotated
after no more than seven years. The time after which an individual can
return to the audit is known as the 'cooling off' period and this varies as

follows.
Individual's role Cooling off period
(for seven consecutive years)
Engagement partner Five consecutive years
Engagement quality control reviewer Three consecutive years
Key audit partner in any other capacity Two consecutive years

When an audit client becomes a listed entity the length of time an individual has
served that client as a key audit partner should be considered when deciding when
the individual should be rotated (i.e. seven years minus time already served as a
key audit partner).
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Fees

Where fees from a particular client represent a large proportion of a firm'’s total
fees, there is a significant self-interest or intimidation threat. This will depend on
factors such as the structure of the firm and whether it is established or emerging.

The IESBA Code of Ethics states that, for public interest entities, when recurring
fees paid by one client or a related group of clients exceed 15% of the total fee
income of the audit practice for two consecutive years, the firm shall:

O  Disclose the fact to those charged with governance

a Conduct a review (either by an external professional accountant or a
regulatory body).

If total fees significantly exceed 15% then a pre-issuance review is likely to be
necessary rather than a post-issuance review.

The ICAN code of Ethics applies a higher threshold of 25%.

Definition: Pre-issuance review
[ B

A pre-issuance review is a review of the audit work performed by a party who
is not a member of the audit team (typically another partner) before the
auditor's report is issued.

Definition: Post-issuance review
[ B

A post-issuance review is a review of the audit work performed by a party who
is not a member of the audit team (typically another partner) after the auditor's
report has been issued.

Larger firms may find that the proportion of an individual office’s income is higher
than these figures, but not firm income as a whole. Where an individual office has
fee income in excess of these figures from a single client, responsibility for signing
off the audit file should be passed to a different office.

Overdue fees from an assurance client might become in effect a loan to that client
and should therefore be avoided.

Inducements, including gifts and hospitality

Assurance team members/firms shall not accept inducements (such as goods or
hospitality) from an assurance client unless the value of that gift is trivial and
inconsequential (to all parties).

If members of an audit team accept inducements from an audit client, the
following issues might need consideration.

O Materiality. Was the value of the inducement sufficiently large that it could
affect the objectivity and independence of the audit team member(s)?

O In the case of hospitality, was the hospitality accepted during normal
working hours? If so, this would raise questions about the professional
conduct of the auditors. The auditors should be carrying out their
professional duties in normal working time — this is what the audit client
pays them to do. It might also raise questions about the adequacy of
supervision of the audit: with proper supervision, audit team members
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should not have been allowed to accept hospitality during working hours.
This would raise a broader question about quality control in the audit firm.

O  Did the individuals receiving inducements check first with a senior person
whether this would be acceptable? If not, there may be a disciplinary matter
to deal with.

Actual and threatened litigation

Threatened or actual litigation between the client and the firm might cause self-
interest or intimidation threats to independence. Safeguards can be applied, but
the only appropriate response, particularly in the case of actual litigation, may be
resignation from the engagement.

Provision of other services (non-audit work)

The independence of an audit firm might be threatened when the firm carries out
a large amount of non-audit work for a company that is also its audit client.

O The non-audit work may provide a large amount of income that makes the
audit firm economically dependent on the company (self-interest threat).

O  In addition, employees of the audit firm who carry out the audit may be
required to audit the work that has been done for the company by
colleagues in the audit firm. It might be difficult for them to find faults with
the work that has been done by other employees of the firm (self-review
threat).

Prohibition on assuming management responsibilities

Providing non-audit services may result in the firm assuming management
responsibility. The Code prohibits the firm from acting in a managerial capacity
for a client and explains that this creates self-review, self-interest, familiarity and
advocacy threats. Examples of activities that are considered as management
responsibility include:

O setting policies and strategic direction;

hiring or dismissing employees;

directing and taking responsibility for the actions of employees;
authorising transactions;

controlling or managing bank accounts or investments;
deciding which recommendations of the firm to implement;

reporting to those charged with governance on behalf of management; and

Iy A Y S

taking responsibility for the preparation of financial statements or designing,
monitoring and maintaining internal controls.

To avoid assuming management responsibility, a firm must ensure that the client
designates an individual to be responsible for all client decisions and overseeing
services.

Preparing accounting records and financial statements

Accounting or bookkeeping services, including payroll services and the
preparation of financial statements, must not be undertaken for a client that is a
public interest entity. For clients that are not public interest entities, the auditor
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may provide accounting or book-keeping services, including payroll services, of a
routine or mechanical nature with appropriate safeguards, such as:

O the service not being performed by a member of the audit team;

O the firm having policies and procedures such that an individual is prevented
from making any management decision on behalf of the client;

O requiring the source data for accounting entries to be originated by the client;

O requiring the underlying assumptions to be originated and approved by the
client; and

O obtaining the client’s approval for any changes to the financial statements.

Temporary staff assignments

An audit client may ask an audit firm to ‘lend’ it one or more of its staff to work in
the audit client’'s accounts department on a temporary basis. This creates several
ethical threats:

O  Self review threat. There is a risk that the individual, having worked for the
audit client for a time, will be assigned to the audit team on returning to the
audit firm. This would create a self-review threat, because the individual
would not want to be critical of any work that he has done for the client;

O Familiarity threat. There is also the risk that the individual will become
familiar with the audit client’s staff during the temporary assignment, and so
might be reluctant to challenge them properly if he subsequently returns as
a member of the audit team; and

O  Advocacy threat: There is a risk that the views of the firm or individual on
loan become too closely aligned to the views and interests of management.

It is permissible for an audit firm to provide staff on a temporary basis to an audit
client, but it must be on the strict understanding that:

O  such assistance is only for a short period of time;

O the individual is not performing non-assurance services that are prohibited
under the Code

O the individual who is assigned to the client must not be involved in any
management decisions; and

O  the audit client is responsible for directing and supervising the activities of
the loaned staff.

This may be difficult if the person who is assigned has been a senior person in
the audit team: such an individual would have status as a senior auditor and
would have extensive knowledge of the client’s business. It might therefore be
difficult to avoid involvement in management decisions.

To deal with the ethical threat, a person who has been on temporary assignment
is not allowed to work again as a member of the audit team. However, there is a
practical problem for the audit team in this arrangement, since it would be unable
to use members of its staff on an audit, even though they have extensive
knowledge of the client and may be experienced and senior auditors.

Small and medium-sized audit firms will therefore be reluctant to allow their staff
to work on temporary assignment with a client, even though the practice is not
prohibited.
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Second opinions

Second opinions are opinions that are provided when a company approaches an
ICAN member (who is not that company’s auditor) for a second opinion on the
treatment of items in the financial statements.

The member should obtain the company’s permission to contact the company’s
auditor. If permission is not given, then the member should refuse to act.
Specialist valuations

An accountant may be asked by a client to carry out a specialist valuation.
Specialist valuations include:

O actuarial valuations;
valuations of intellectual property and brands;
valuations of other intangible assets;

valuations of property; and

000D

valuations of unquoted investments.

Specialist valuations do not include valuations of shares prior to a stock
exchange listing.

The threat to independence is that an audit firm may be required, when
performing an audit, to review a valuation that it has made for the client. The audit
would therefore involve a review of the audit firm’s own work (a self-review threat
to independence). An advocacy threat might also be created where the views of
the audit firm are aligned too closely with those of the audit client.

For audit clients that are not public interest entities, audit firms should not
provide valuation services where:

O the matter is material to the financial statements, and
O itinvolves a significant degree of subjectivity.

Where the audit client is a public interest entity, audit firms shall not provide
valuation services where the matter is material to the financial statements.

2.3 Safeguarding independence
The responsibility for safeguarding independence is shared between:
O  the individual auditor (or audit practice)and

O  the profession as a whole.

The responsibilities of individual auditors and audit practices

There should be a culture of independence, and a belief in auditors’
independence, that is shared by all partners and employees in an audit firm. It
has been suggested by some commentators that detailed rules and regulations
to preserve independence can be avoided if all auditors accept the concept that
‘a good auditor is an independent auditor’.

Where possible, there should be rotation of the engagement partner (the partner
in charge of the audit) and of senior staff. Rotation means that an individual should
not be involved in the annual audit of the same client company for more than a
maximum number of years.

In addition, an audit firm shall have the following procedures in place:
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O  Appropriate training, including training in how to maintain an independent
opinion during audit work.

O Quality control procedures. A firm shall have procedures for quality
control to ensure that independence is considered in respect of all work
undertaken by the audit firm.

U Consultation procedures. A firm shall have internal procedures for
consultation, whereby questions arising in relation to independence can be
discussed.

If an auditor becomes aware of a situation that may be seen to threaten his

independence, appropriate action shall be taken to resolve the issue. The action

to be taken will depend on the circumstances, but might include any of the

following:

O It might be possible to remove the threat to independence by a simple
action, such as not accepting an offered gift, or for an audit partner to
dispose of shares that he holds in a client company, and soon.

O  Sometimes, it might be necessary to reject a proposed appointment as
auditor. For example, an audit firm may have to reject its appointment as
auditor of a new client company where the guidance on fee income level
would be breached (because the fee income from the client would exceed
the maximum limits established by the professional guidelines).

O  With an existing client, if an independence issue cannot be resolved, the
ultimate action is to resign from the audit of the client.

The responsibilities of the profession

Professional bodies expect their members to comply with codes of conduct
relating to independence and will take disciplinary action as appropriate. Such
action might lead to a fine, reprimand or exclusion from membership.

The profession and other interested parties regularly suggest new practices and
procedures designed to improve auditor independence. Suggestions have
included:

O  the regular rotation of audit firms, to avoid too close a relationship
developing between the audit firm and the client over a long period of time

a the use of audit committees.

The responsibility for safeguarding independence is seen as shared between the
individual auditor (or audit practice) and the profession as a whole.

2.4 The provision by auditors of non-audit services

In addition to the provision of accounting or valuation services considered above,
the Code recognises that there may be (or there may appear to be) a threat to
objectivity and independence where the auditor provides additional, non-audit,
services to the client.

Such non-audit services might include:

O  accounting and bookkeeping services (see earlier);

taxation work;

the ‘outsourcing’ of internal audit services (to the external audit firm);
IT work; and

Consultancy assignments.

0Oo0o00o
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The provision of non-audit services is now common among audit firms of all
sizes. Most auditors recognise the potential threat to their independence, and
they try to deal with the problem through their internal organisational structure.

a

Larger firms will operate in a number of separate departments, each with its
own partners and members of staff. By dividing the work of the audit firm into
different functions, employees involved in audit work will not be the same as
those involved in providing, say, consultancy advice to the same client.

In some of the largest practices, the consultancy department has been
legally separated from the accounting/auditing arm of the firm as a further
step towards preserving auditor objectivity and independence.

A similar approach is often taken by smaller audit firms. Although these
firms may not be large enough to be organised in separate departments,
efforts are usually made to ensure that different members of staff and
partners are responsible for different services provided to clients.

Example: non-audit work and safeguards

An audit firm has completed the annual audit for a client company and the audit
team has identified a number of weaknesses in internal controls that have been
notified to the client's management. As a result, the client has asked the firm to
carry out are view of its financial IT systems.

What are the ethical issues to consider in this situation and how might the
problems be dealt with?

Q

Answer

The engagement would involve non-audit work. If the client is not a public c interest
entity, the audit firm ¢ an accept this engagement subject to certain conditions:

The management of the client company must recognize that they have the
responsibility for internal controls in the company. This responsibility cannot
be passed on to the auditors.

The engagement team will not be required to act in a management capacity
in any way. For example, they must not be given any responsibility for the
design or implementation of any improvements in internal control that they
recommend. In addition, management must designate a competent
employee to be responsible for management decisions.

There must be sufficient controls against a self-review threat. For example,
the individuals assigned to the engagement team to do the work should not
include anyone who will also be a member of the audit team.

If the client is a public interest entity, the engagement is not permitted by the Code.

ICAN Code of Ethics guidance on providing non-audit services

The Code recognises the value to both client and auditor of the provision of non-
audit services but requires the auditor to evaluate the significance of any threat to
independence created by the provision of such services.
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In some cases, it may be possible to eliminate or reduce the threat by applying
safeguards. However, ICAN considers that safeguards are not possible for the
following activities:

O  authorising or executing a transaction, or otherwise exercising authority on
behalf of the assurance client, or having the authority to do so

O  determining which recommendation of the firm should be implemented
O reporting, in a management role, to those charged with governance.

All the above activities involve the auditor or audit firm in assuming a
management role.

ICAN considers several specific areas of non-audit service provision. Most of
these activities are considered permissible, provided that:

O management decisions are not taken; and
O  appropriate safeguards are put in place.
Some of these areas are set out below:

O  Taxation services. Routine compliance, planning and advisory work on
taxation is generally permissible, subject to the condition that the auditor
must not make management decisions.

O  Internal audit services. Internal audit services may be provided by an
external audit firm, if there are appropriate safeguards (e.g. use different
teams for internal audit services and the audit), on condition that the auditor
does not act in a management capacity, and that the client acknowledges its
responsibilities for internal controls.

a IT systems services. IT systems services are permissible with appropriate
safeguards. (The client must acknowledge its responsibilities and make all
management decisions.)

Litigation support services

Such services may include:

O  acting as an expert witness

a calculating estimated damages

O  assistance with document management and retrieval

and could create a self-interest threat, depending on the materiality of the
amounts involved and the subjectivity of the matter concerned.

Safeguards might include:
O the service not being performed by a member of the assurance team

O  the firm having policies and procedures such that an individual is prevented
from making any management decision on behalf of the client

O  the involvement of independent experts.

Legal services

The threat will depend on the nature of the service, whether the provider is also a
member of the assurance team and the materiality of the matter. Safeguards are
likely to include those listed under general non-assurance services above.

However, the Code states that acting for an audit client in the resolution of a
dispute or litigation where the amounts involved are material to the financial
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statements creates such significant advocacy and self-review threats that the
work should not be taken on.

Recruitment of senior management

The recruitment of senior management for an assurance client may create current
or future self-interest, familiarity and intimidation threats. The level of the
threat will depend on the role of the person to be recruited and the type of
assistance sought.

The firm may review CVs and draw up a short-list of candidates for interview but
the decision as to who is hired must be made by the client.

2.5 Making referrals

An audit firm may enter into an arrangement with another entity, whereby the other
entity agrees to pay a fee to the audit firm for referring clients. For example, a
software company may specialise in selling accounting software packages or
writing bespoke accounting software. It may enter an arrangement with an audit
firm whereby the audit firm will receive a fee every time that it refers a client to the
software firm with a view to buying a software package or software services.

This type of arrangement will create a self-interest threat for the audit firm.
However, it is permissible, provided that suitable safeguards are in place. Suitable
safeguards would include the following:

O When making a referral, the audit firm should notify the client that it will
receive a fee for the referral. This means that the client will be made fully
aware of the financial benefit for the audit firm;

O  The audit firm should monitor the quality of the products or services
provided. In the case of referrals to a software company, this means having
to keep the quality of the software packages and services under review, to
make sure that they meet appropriate standards. (It is important that audit
clients should not be referred to someone who provides poor-quality goods
or services.)

O  The firm should also obtain verification from all staff involved with the audit
of a client who is referred, that they do not personally have any financial
interest in the company or other entity to which the referrals aremade.

Furthermore, a Chartered Accountant in public practice may purchase all or part
of another firm on the basis that payments will be made to individuals formerly
owning the firm or to their heirs or estates. Such payments are not regarded as
commissions or referral fees.

With respect to obtaining new clients, paragraph 7.1.5 of ICAN’s code of ethics
states that in Nigeria:

O A Chartered Accountant in public practice shall not pay or receive a referral
fee to obtain a client, for example, where the client continues as a client of
another Chartered Accountant in public practice but requires specialist
services not offered by the existing Chartered Accountant. The payment of
such a referral fee may also create a self-interest threat to objectivity and
professional competence and due care.
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2.6 lllustration

Further examples: threats to independence
Q A Nigerian audit firm, Tyre and Sleep, is faced with the following situations:

Situationl

Mr Tyre is one of the audit firm’s partners. He and his wife have been invited by
the managing director of Entity X to a weekend of celebrations in Cape Town to
mark the 20" anniversary of the incorporation of Entity X . Mr Tyre has been the
engagement partner throughout this time

Situation 2

The firm has been approached by the directors of Entity Y, with a view to being
appointed as auditors. One of the firm’s audit managers, Mr Knapp, is company
secretary of Entity Y, although, he takes no part in its management. His parents
are the sole directors and shareholders of Entity Y.

Situation 3

The finance director of Entity Z, a private limited company, has requested that
only certain staff are to be included on the audit team to prevent unnecessary
interruption to the entity’s accounting department during the audit. In particular,
he has requested that David, who has been the accountant in charge of the audit
for the last two years, be assigned to the audit and that the team contain no new
trainees.

Required

What threats to objectivity are present in each of these situations and how should
the audit firm deal with them?

A Answer
Situation 1
The fact that Mr Tyre and his wife have been invited to a ‘free’ weekend in Cape

Town represents a threat to the firm’'s independence, because it would be
perceived that they are too close to Entity X and therefore not truly independent.

The offer should be refused as goods, services or hospitality should only be
accepted when the value is trivial and inconsequential, which it is not to MrTyre
and his wife.

Even if the invitation is declined, there is a potential problem regarding the length of
time that Mr Tyre has been the engagement partner — 20 years. He is by now likely
to be over-familiar with the client and may be too trusting and/or sympathetic. The
firm should strongly consider safeguards to independence in this situation such as
rotating Mr Tyre away from this engagement.

Situation 2

Mr Knapp takes no part in the management of Entity Y. However, if he is involved
with the audit there may be actual or perceived threats to his objectivity as his
immediate family members, his parents, are the directors of Entity Y.

The firm must ensure that Mr Knapp is not part of the audit team and is notable to
influence any members of the audit team. If this cannot be demonstrated, then the
firm should not accept the audit engagement.
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Situation 3

The key ethical issues that arise in this situation are familiarity and possible
intimidation.

There is a risk that if David is assigned to the audit over too long a period, he
might become unduly familiar with the client and its staff and lose his objectivity in
relation to the assignment.

The finance director’s request could amount to intimidation if there is any question
that the audit would be withdrawn if there quest was not complied with. Best
practice is that audit firms should not allow clients to dictate staffing issues as it is
important that audit firms staff their teams in the most appropriate way in terms of
safeguarding against ethical threats, quality control on the audit and technical
expertise.

If the firm considers it not appropriate to comply with the finance director’s
request, they should not do so, while assuring him that if different staff are
assigned, they are required by professional standards to have obtained a good
knowledge of the business and to be directed, supervised and reviewed well,
hopefully therefore causing minimum disruption to operations.
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3  CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Section overview

The basic principle

Recognised exceptions to the duty of confidentiality
Improper use of information

Confidentiality of working papers

Conflicts of interest

3.1 The basic principle

The ICAN Code of Conduct applies IESBA’'s Code of Ethics regarding
confidentiality. In both codes the duty of confidentiality is a fundamental principle
of professional behaviour that information obtained in the course of professional
work should not be disclosed to others or used unless:

O disclosure is permitted by law and consent has been obtained from the
party to whom the duty of confidentiality is owed; or

O  disclosure is required by law; or
O there is a professional duty or right to disclose, when not prohibited by law.

Part of the rationale behind this requirement is that auditors need full and frank
disclosure of information from a client in order to carry out their duties. If the client
is not assured of confidentiality of this information, he may be unwilling to provide
all relevant information to the auditor.

Each of these three situations is discussed in more detail below.

3.2 Recognised exceptions to the duty of confidentiality

Disclosure permitted by law and authorised by the client or employer
For example:

O when an auditor is asked to report to a bank in relation to compliance with a
loan covenant the auditor will seek the client’s authorisation before disclosing
confidential information to the bank;

O when an auditor is asked to report to a listing authority (stock exchange) in
relation to listing rules, again the auditor will seek the client’s authorisation
before disclosing confidential information to the listing authority.

Disclosure required by law

An ICAN member may be required by law to disclose confidential information to
an appropriate legal authority. In such circumstances the requirements of the law
override the duty of confidentiality.

The ICAN Code of Conduct provides the following illustrations of when disclosure

is required:

O Producing documents or other evidence in the course of legal proceedings;
or

O  Disclosure to the appropriate public authorities of infringements of the law
that come to light.
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One specific example is money laundering, where an ICAN member is required
by law to make disclosure to the relevant legal authorities if he knows, or has
reason to suspect that a client has committed

O terrorism
O  drug trafficking, or
O  any other money laundering activity.

Note that the Money Laundering Act requires an accountant to report mere
suspicion of money laundering, even if those suspicions ultimately turn out to be
false. The accountant remains protected by law from being sued by the client.

Professional duty or right to disclose, when not prohibited by law

Disclosure of confidential information is also permitted when an accountant has a
professional duty or right to disclose, when not prohibited by law.

The ICAN Code of Conduct gives a number of illustrations of when this applies:
O  To comply with the quality review of a member body or professional body;

O  Torespond to an inquiry or investigation by a member body or regulatory
body;

O  To protect the professional interests of a Chartered Accountant in legal
proceedings (for example when it is reasonably necessary to protect the
interests of the member in making a defence against an official accusation
of professional negligence);

O To comply with technical standards and ethics requirements, or
O  Other similar situations not covered above.

Other considerations

In deciding whether or not to disclose confidential information, Chartered
Accountants should consider the following points:

0 Whether the interests of all parties, including third parties whose interests
may be affected, could be harmed if the client or employer consents to the
disclosure of information by the Chartered Accountant;

d  Whether all the relevant information is known and substantiated, to the
extent that it is practicable; when the situation involves unsubstantiated
facts, incomplete information or unsubstantiated conclusions, professional
judgment should be used in determining the type of disclosure to be made,
if any; and

O  The type of communication that is expected and to whom it is addressed; in
particular, Chartered Accountants should be satisfied that the parties to
whom the communication is addressed are appropriate recipients.

It is possible that a member may be in doubt as to whether he has a right or duty
to disclose information. Under such a circumstance they should seek legal advice
or consult with ICAN for advice.

3.3 Improper use of information

An ICAN member should not use, or appear to use, confidential information
gained in the course of professional work for his personal advantage or for the
advantage of a third party.

© Emile Woolf International 64 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Chapter 3: Rules of professional conduct

For example:

0 A member should not deal in the shares of a client company in such a way
that it might seem that information obtained in a professional capacity has
been used for his personal advantage (so-called ‘insider dealing’).

d  Where a member has confidential information from Client 1, which affects
an assurance report on Client 2, he cannot provide an opinion on Client 2
that he already knows, from this other source, to be untrue. If the member
is to continue as auditor to Client 2, he must carry out normal audit
procedures to enable the same information to be obtained from another
source. Under no circumstances should there be any disclosure of
confidential information outside the firm. Ultimately the auditor may have to
resign.

3.4 Confidentiality of working papers

An accountant’s working papers, which contain confidential client information, are
the property of the accountant and should not normally be made available to
outside parties.

However, situations may arise where government agencies (for example, tax
authorities) ask to see the accountant’s working papers relating to a particular
client. In such situations, the accountant should act in the best interests of his
client. If he feels that releasing the papers is in the best interests of his client, and
the client has no objections, then the papers should be made available.

Ultimately the tax authorities are likely to have legislative powers to obtain the
papers. Any lack of co-operation on behalf of the auditor or his client may add to
any existing suspicions.

Occasionally, the authorities may ask to see a sample of working papers from a
firm of accountants, but not in relation to any particular client. This may occur
when the authorities have doubts about the quality of the work performed by that
practice. Again, a ‘best interest’ approach should be adopted, allowing the
authorities to review the papers if the accountant judges that this is in the best
interests of the practice and its clients.

An appropriate practical compromise may be achieved in this situation by
arranging for an independent accountant to review the work and issue a report to
the authorities.

3.5 Conflicts of interest
Conflicts of interest can arise under two situations:
O  Conflicts between members and clients; and
O  Conflicts between competing clients.

Conflicts between members and clients

ICAN members or firms should not accept or continue an engagement where there
is a conflict of interest between the member or firm and its client. The test is
whether or not a “reasonable and informed third party” would consider the conflict
of interest as likely to affect the judgement of the member or the firm.

Examples of this might be:
0 when members compete directly with a client
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O  the receipt of commission from a third party for the introduction of a client
(for example, an accounting firm may be paid a commission by another
entity, such as a firm of brokers, for introducing the entity to its client
companies).

Safeguards

Accountant should have procedures in place to:

O  identify possible conflict of interest situations;

O  evaluate the possible problem; and

O  where necessary, act to manage or avoid the conflict.
Possible procedures include the following:

O  Review relationships with all clients on a regular basis.

U Take care to consider potential conflicts of interest when deciding whether
or not to take on new clients.

O  If a potential conflict is identified, decide on an appropriate course of action.
An appropriate course of action may be any of the following:

. Notify the clients involved and discuss the matter with them.

. Set up ‘Chinese walls’ to manage the problem. A Chinese wall is set
up by using different members of staff on the assignments for each of
the clients and locating them in different offices. The two groups of
staff act independently of each other, and do not communicate with
each other except in an official capacity.

. Consider resigning (or declining the new engagement offered) in
respect of one of the two competing clients.

Conflicts between competing clients

A firm might act for two clients that are in direct competition with each other.

The firm has a professional duty of confidentiality, and so will not disclose
confidential information about one client company to its competitor. Again, the test
is whether a “reasonable and informed third party” would consider the conflict of
interest as likely to affect the judgement of the firm.

The approach that the accounting firm should take will be a matter of judgement
and should reflect the circumstances of the case. Where the acceptance or
continuance of an engagement would materially prejudice the interests of any
client, the appointment should not be accepted or continued.

In other cases, possible safeguards might include the following:

O  Giving careful consideration to whether or not it is appropriate to accept an
assurance engagement from a new client that is in direct competition with
an existing client, it may be appropriate to decline the offer from the potential
new client.

O  Careful management of the clients, for example by ensuring that different
members of staff are used on the two engagements.

O  Full and frank disclosure to the clients of the potential conflict, together with
suitable steps by the firm to manage the potential conflict of interest.

a Procedures to prevent access to information (such as physical separation
of the teams and confidential and secure data filing). Such an approach is
known as creating “Chinese walls”.
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O  Establishing clear guidelines on security and confidentiality and the use of
confidentiality agreements.

O Regular review of safeguards in place.
O Advising one or both clients to seek additional independent advice.
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4  CORPORATE FINANCIAL ADVICE

Section overview

= Introduction
m  Advising clients involved in take-over bids or share issues

4.1 Introduction

Certain types of corporate finance services might create such significant
advocacy and self-review threats that the work should not be taken on. Audit
firms shall not:

a promote, deal in or underwrite an audit client’s shares

O provide corporate finance advice to an audit client where the effectiveness
of such advice is dependent on a particular accounting treatment or
presentation in the financial statements being audited.

In other cases, safeguards such as not making management decisions, an
independent review of the audit or corporate finance work and using individuals
who are not members of the audit team should be considered.

4.2 Advising clients involved intake - overbids or share issues

Auditors are often asked to give advice. However, where clients are involved in a
contested take-over bid, the auditors could find themselves in a position where
they are potentially acting for both parties.

In this situation:

O there is a danger that the firm cannot give objective professional advice in
the best interests of both parties (a possible lack of independence)

O  the firm may be in possession of confidential information relating to each
party, with a risk that the information may inadvertently become available to
the other party (a possible breach of confidentiality).

Guidelines in this area are as follows:

O  There is no reason, in principle, why firms should not act for both parties
when a contested takeover bid occurs. However, a firm should not be the
sole or main advisor to both parties.

O If the accountants are in possession of material confidential information and
feel that their position in this respect is questionable, they should take advice
from the appropriate financial regulatory authority (for example, the stock
exchange involved in the take-over or the national regulator of the financial
markets).

Similar conflicts of interest may arise in connection with issues of shares to the
public, because the accountants may be advising both the company issuing the
shares and potential investors (such as companies interested in buying an
investment in the shares, or investment institutions).
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5 CHAPTER REVIEW

Chapter review

Before moving on to the next chapter check that you now know how to:
m Describe the fundamental principles of the IESBA Code of Ethics

m  Apply the conceptual framework to identify threats to the fundamental principles
and suggest appropriate safeguards across a range of common scenarios
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Quick quiz questions

1 In which of the following situations would an auditor be required to disclose confidential
information about a client to the authorities?

1

OO0 m>» &> w0

Suspicion of terrorism
Suspicion of tax evasion
Suspicion of money laundering
Suspicion of drug trafficking

1, 2 and 3 only

1, 3and 4 only

2,3 and 4 only

1, 2 and 4 only

2 Which of the following statements is INCORRECT?

A Internal audit services may be provided by an audit firm for an audit client provided
that the audit firm can take on the responsibility for internal controls.

B To protect its independence, an audit firm should have internal consultation
procedures in place.

C Temporary staff assignments by an audit firm to an audit client are permissible.

D An audit firm must not perform a professional valuation of an asset for an audit
client if the asset is material to the financial statements.

3 If a member of the audit team owns shares in a client company, what sort of threat to

independence arises?

A Self-interest

B Self-review

C Advocacy

D Familiarity

4 Which of the following are fundamental ethical principles for professional accountants?

O 0O @™ > & W N

Competence
Compliance
Integrity
Objectivity

1, 2 and 3 only
1, 3and 4 only
2,3 and 4 only
1, 2 and 4 only
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5 Which of the following are threats to the independence of an auditor?
Loans between the auditor and the client

The provision of non-audit services by the auditor

Long association between the audit firm and the client

Using the work of the client's internal audit department

1, 2 and 3 only

1, 3and 4 only

2,3 and 4 only

1, 2 and 4 only

O 0O W@ >» & 0N PP
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Quick quiz answers

1

B
For certain suspected crimes, the requirements of law override the duty of confidentiality.

A

Responsibility for internal controls must remain with management of the audit client and
management of internal controls must not become the responsibility of the audit firm.

A

The auditor might be motivated for the company to report high profits so that the value
of his shareholding will increase. He therefore has a self-interest in the audited results of
the company.

B

The five fundamental principles are integrity, objectivity, professional competence and
due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour.

A

As long as the external auditor believes that internal audit is technically competent and
operates with due professional care, the external audit can use internal audit's work. No
threat arises to the external auditor's independence.
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INTRODUCTION

Competencies
Laws, regulations and ethical issues

Al Advise on technical, professional and ethical issues that may arise during assurance
engagements in the public and private sectors including evaluation and communication
with any party to the engagement.

A3 Identify and explain the nature and purposes of laws, regulations, standards and codes
in the context of assurance engagements.

A7 Evaluate and explain how audits may fail to meet users' expectations.
A8 Evaluate and explain the extent of legal liabilities including criminal and civil law
liabilities and professional negligence and how they can be mitigated.

Exam context

This chapter relates to practice management. Students need to understand where an
auditor’s liability may arise (both criminal and civil) and how to manage that liability.

Students will re-visit the expectations gap in the concept of liability and also learn the
application of ISA 240 in depth.

At the end of this chapter, readers should be able to:
L] Explain what the expectation gap is and how it arises
[ ] Apply the provisions of ISA240

] Describe how an auditor’s liability may arise (both criminal and civil) and explain how it
can be managed.
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1 AUDITORS’ LIABILITY AND THE EXPECTATIONS GAP

Section overview

Introduction

Audit expectations gap

Closing the expectations gap

IAASB Q&A: Professional scepticism in an audit of financial statements

1.1 Introduction

This chapter deals with a number of aspects of law and regulation under which
auditors:

O may have penalties imposed on them for a criminal offence, or
O  may have legal claims made against them (for ‘damages’) for negligence.

The potential liability of auditors has become an important topic in recent years,
due to the growing complexity of the business and legal environment and an
increase in legal actions against auditors.

One explanation put forward to explain the high number of legal actions against
auditors is the ‘expectations gap’.

1.2 Audit expectations gap
The expectations gap is the difference (or ‘gap’) between:

O  what the users of financial statements and other members of the public
think that the auditors should do, and

O  what the auditors are actually required by the law and the profession to do.
There are three main elements in the expectations gap:

O A standards gap. This occurs because of a perception that auditing
standards are more prescriptive than they actually are, and that auditors
have wide-ranging rules that they must follow:

O  Aperformance gap. This occurs because of a perception that audit work
has fallen below the required standards.

O Aliability gap. This arises from a lack of understanding about the auditor’s
liability and who the auditor may be liable to.

In addition, there is a perception that auditors have a responsibility for detecting
all fraud, whenever this occurs.

Consequences of the expectation gap include:

O higher rates of litigation due to the perceived negligence of auditors (high
levels of expectation about what auditors should do may lead to legal action
against auditors if this level of expectation is not met);

O incorrect decisions by users of audit reports who base such decision on
incorrect premises; and

a an increase in mutual distrust between the auditing profession and users of
audit reports.
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1.3 Closing the expectations gap

To reduce the frequency and cost of legal action, and to maintain the image of
the audit profession in the mind of the public, it is in the interests of the profession
to take steps to close the expectations gap. A number of strategies exist that
could assist in closing the expectation gap and are discussed below.

O The profession should attempt to improve the general level of knowledge
and understanding about the audit process. One such attempt has been
made with updates to the auditing standards on auditor’s reports published
by IFAC in 2015. These updates enhanced the auditor's report to make it
more relevant and transparent to users, for example, by introducing a new
section on key audit matters, more requirements with regards to reporting
going concern and improved descriptions of the responsibilities of the
auditor.

O  Controls over the auditing profession are important in enhancing public
confidence. For example:

. The European Union requires the audit of companies whose shares
are quoted on a stock market in the EU to be conducted in
accordance with international auditing standards(ISAs);

. National oversight bodies such as PCAOB (Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board) in USA and FRCs (Financial Reporting
Councils) in the UK and Nigeria monitor the compliance of audit firms
in their conduct of audits by performing audit inspections;

O Significant guidance for auditors and management aimed at increasing
quality and addressing issues such as going concern has been issued by
standard setters, professional bodies and regulators. There has been an
increased focus on corporate governance and the role that audit
committees play in companies, reducing inconsistencies and enhancing
quality.

O Open and candid communication between internal and external auditors,
financial management and the audit committee is increasingly being seen
as critical in helping reduce the expectation gap. Such communication
helps the audit committee to perform their governance role with the
necessary transparency and realistic expectations that will help achieve
effective risk management.

O  Enhanced communication between the parties and confirmation of their
respective roles and responsibilities should be presented in the audit
committee and directors’ reports to the shareholders. This will ensure that
users become much more aware of the various parties’ roles and
responsibilities beyond the understanding they gain just from the audit
report.

O  The expectation gap will hopefully narrow further as financial reporting
participants work together even more effectively to improve the deterrence
and detection of financial reporting fraud.

The level of success in narrowing the expectation gap is likely to vary
considerably between territories depending on factors such as culture, ethics, the
level of incidence of governance mechanisms beyond the minimum required by
law and regulation and the quality, availability and transparency of corporate
reporting.

One thing that is certain is that audit committees are well positioned to play a vital
role in reducing the expectation gap given their open and direct relationship
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with all the key parties including shareholders, board of directors, internal audit
and external audit.

1.4 1AASB Q & A: Professional scepticism in an audit of financial
statements

Foreword

The public places value on the independent financial statement audit because it
enhances the degree of confidence of intended users in the financial statements.
A high-quality audit features the exercise of professional judgment by the auditor
and, importantly, a mind-set that includes professional scepticism throughout the
planning and performance of the audit.

The need for professional scepticism in an audit cannot be overemphasized.
Professional scepticism is an essential attitude that enhances the auditor’s ability
to identify and respond to conditions that may indicate possible misstatement. It
includes a critical assessment of audit evidence. It also means being alert for audit
evidence that contradicts other audit evidence or that brings into question the
reliability of information obtained from management and those charged with
governance (TCWG). This critical assessment is necessary in order for the auditor
to draw appropriate conclusions.

The IAASB’s International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) explicitly recognize the
fundamental importance of professional scepticism. Nevertheless, adopting and
applying a sceptical mind-set is ultimately a personal and professional
responsibility to be embraced by every auditor. It is an integral part of the auditor’s
skill set and is closely interrelated to the fundamental concepts of auditor
independence and professional judgment and contributes to audit quality.

Professional scepticism is also influenced by personal behavioural traits, including
motivation, and competencies. Thus auditor education, training and experience
are important. Audit firms themselves therefore have an important role to play in
cultivating a sceptical mind-set in auditors. This includes designing and
implementing policies and procedures that promote an internal culture recognizing
that scepticism is essential in performing audit engagements.

Today'’s financial reporting seeks to address information that is more relevant to
users. As a result, more judgment and increased subjectivity is involved in
management’s accounting and reporting decisions (for example in relation to some
fair value measurements). Also, many entities today face difficult economic
conditions that give rise to unique financial reporting and auditing challenges.
These developments heighten the importance of professional scepticism by
auditors, especially in areas of financial reporting that are complex or highly
judgmental.

In the aftermath of the 2008—2009 global financial crisis, recent audit inspection
reports in various jurisdictions have noted areas, such as fair values, related
party transactions, and going concern assessments, where regulators and
oversight bodies believe that auditors should have more clearly demonstrated
professional scepticism. It is therefore in the public interest to re-emphasize to
both auditors and others the important role that professional scepticism has to
play in audits of financial statements. The IAASB’s Staff Questions & Answers
(Q&A) publication was developed for this purpose.

The Q&A focuses on considerations in the ISAs and the IAASB’s quality control
standard that are of particular relevance to the proper understanding and
application of professional scepticism during an audit of financial statements.
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Q&A

Question

1. What is
professional
scepticism?

2. Why is
professional
scepticism
important in audits
of financial
statements?

Answer

The ISAs define professional scepticism as “an attitude
that includes a questioning mind, being alert to
conditions which may indicate possible misstatement
due to error or fraud, and a critical assessment of audit
evidence.” They explicitly require the auditor to plan and
perform an audit with professional scepticism
recognizing that circumstances may exist that cause
the financial statements to be materially misstated.

i.e. An inquisitive mind.

important role in the audit and forms an integral part of
the auditor’s skill set. Professional scepticism is closely
interrelated with professional judgment. Both are
essential to the proper conduct of the audit and are key
inputs to audit quality. Professional scepticism
facilitates the appropriate exercise of professional
judgment by the auditor, particularly regarding
decisions about, for example:

The nature, timing and extent of audit procedures to
be performed.

Whether or not sufficient appropriate audit evidence
has been obtained and whether or not more needs
to be done to achieve the objectives of the ISAs.

The evaluation of management’s judgments in
applying the entity’s applicable financial reporting
framework.

The drawing of conclusions based on the audit
evidence obtained, for example, assessing the
reasonableness of the estimates made by
management in preparing the financial statements.
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Question Answer

3. What can be done Professional scepticism within the engagement team is
by audit firms and also influenced both by the actions of the firm’s
auditors to enhance leadership and the engagement partner, and by the

the awareness of culture and business environment of the firm. The ISAs

the importance of and I1SQC 1 include requirements and guidance

professional designed to help create an environment at both the firm

scepticism and its and engagement levels in which the auditor can

application? cultivate appropriate professional scepticism. For
example:

- Auditors must consider the integrity of the principal
owners and management during engagement
acceptance (ISQC1)

- The auditor must consider the reasonableness of
significant assumptions used by management for
accounting estimates giving rise to significant risks
(ISA540)

- ISA 240 (relating to fraud) notes that the auditor
must maintain an ongoing questioning mind and be
alert to the possibility of fraud

- When considering going concern (ISA 570) the
auditor must consider the reasonableness of
assumptions and whether management’s plans are
feasible in the circumstances

- Another area where professional scepticism is
particularly important is in relation to auditing
significant unusual or highly complex transactions
(ISA330)

- The auditor is required to document how they have
applied professional scepticism (ISA230)

4. At what stage in Professional scepticism is relevant and necessary
the audit process is  throughout the audit, even though reference to it is not
professional repeated within each ISA, including:

scepticism

- Engagement acceptance — integrity of owners and
necessary? 9ag P grity

management

- ldentifying and assessing risks of material
misstatements

- Designing nature, timing and extent of further audit
procedures that are responsive to assessed risks of
material misstatement, and evaluating audit
evidence

- Forming the audit opinion
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Question

Answer

5. How does
professional
scepticism relate to
the auditor’s
responsibilities with
respect to fraud?

Due to the characteristics of fraud, including the fact
that fraud may include sophisticated and carefully
organized schemes designed to conceal it or may
involve collusion, the auditor’s professional scepticism
is particularly important when considering the risks of
material misstatement due to fraud.

ISA 240 places special emphasis on professional
scepticism

6. In addition to
fraud, are there
other aspects of an
audit where
professional
scepticism may be
particularly
important?

Professional scepticism is important and necessary
throughout the entire audit process. The auditor's
professional scepticism becomes particularly important
when addressing areas of the audit that are more
complex, significant or highly judgmental such as:

Accounting estimates e.g. fair value

Going concern — e.g. management’s plans for
future actions

Related party relationships and transactions — e.g.
business rationale

Consideration of laws and regulations

When auditing significant unusual or highly complex
transactions

7. How can the
application of
professional
scepticism be
evidenced?

Professional scepticism is often demonstrated in the
various discussions held by the auditor during the
course of an audit. For example, the auditor's
communication with TCWG includes, where applicable,
why the auditor considers a significant accounting
practice that is acceptable under the applicable
financial reporting framework not to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the entity.

Documentation remains critical. The ISAs require
auditors to document discussions of significant matters
with management, TCWG, and others, including the
nature of the significant matters discussed and when
and with whom the discussions took place. Such
documentation helps the auditor demonstrate how
significant judgments and key audit issues were
addressed and how the auditor has evaluated whether
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence has been
obtained.

Examples of circumstances where it is particularly
important to prepare documentation:

Significant decisions from engagement team
discussions regarding fraud

Identified or suspected non-compliance with laws
and regulations
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Question Answer
- Basis of auditor’s conclusions about estimates

- Identifying information that is inconsistent with the
auditor’s final conclusions on a significant matter

- Reasonableness of areas of subjective judgments

8. Do regulators and The ISAs do not set forth requirements for regulators
oversight bodies of  and oversight bodies of the audit firms, nor for TCWG.
audit firms and However because of the critical role that those
those charged with  stakeholders serve in achieving audit quality, they are
governance havea in a position to further challenge auditors

role to play in

supporting

sceptical behaviour

among auditors?
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2 FRAUD AND ERROR: ISA240

Section overview

The distinction between fraud and error

Responsibilities of management and auditors for fraud and error
The auditor's procedures where fraud or error is suspected
Professional scepticism and fraud

2.1 The distinction between fraud and error

ISA 240 The auditor’s responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial
statements regulates this area. It makes the following distinction between fraud
and error:

Fraud: may be defined as intentional acts which may involve:

O  fraudulent financial reporting (falsification of records or documents, a
deliberately incorrect application of accounting policies)

O misappropriation of assets.

Both types of fraud can result in material misstatements in the financial
statements.

Error may be defined as:

O unintentional misapplication of accounting policies
O  oversights

O unintentional clerical mistakes, or

O  unintentional misinterpretation of facts.

The key distinction between fraud and error is therefore whether the effect on the
financial statements is deliberate (fraud) or unintentional (error). However, there
may be little or no difference between fraud and error as far as the impact on the
audit is concerned. In both cases the auditor will be concerned about the impact
on the ‘true and fair view’ presented by the financial statements.

The main difference between fraud and error may arise in relation to any national
reporting requirements. There may be requirements to report suspicions of fraud,
but not error.

2.2 Responsibilities of management and auditors for fraud and error

Responsibilities of management

Management is responsible for preparing financial statements that show a ‘true
and fair view’. This role is reinforced by principles of good corporate governance,
which require management to set up appropriate internal control systems and
corporate governance systems.

Management is therefore responsible for the prevention and detection of fraud
and error.
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Responsibilities of the auditor

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements show
a ‘true and fair view’ of the financial position and performance of the client. He is
therefore only concerned with fraud and error that has a material effect on the
true and fair view.

The auditor’s responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial
statements, taken as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error.

It is not the primary responsibility of the auditor to prevent or detect fraud or
error, although the audit may act as a deterrent to fraud. Auditors may also
discover error or fraud during the course of their audit work, but they are by no
means certain to do so whenever error or fraud has occurred.

It must be recognised that some material misstatements caused by fraud or error
may go undetected, because of the inherent limitations in any audit and the fact
that deliberate attempts may be made to conceal fraud from the auditor.

ISA240 states the responsibilities of management and the auditor as follows:

a ‘The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests
with both those charged with governance of the entity and management.’

O  ‘An auditor conducting an audit in accordance with ISAs is responsible for
obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.’

2.3 The auditor’s procedures where fraud or error is suspected
The auditor should take the following steps when fraud or error is suspected:

O  Identify the extent and possible impact on the financial statements of the
fraud or error. Document the facts fully in the audit files. Additional testing
may be required to establish the likely extent of any misstatement.

O  Consider the possible impact on other areas of the audit and on the overall
assessment of audit risk. This may result in a revision to the original audit
plan.

O  The findings should be discussed with management, regardless of the
extent of the problem, and management should be kept informed of
developments.

O The auditor should determine the action that management should take.
This should include the possibility of seeking legal advice if fraud is
suspected.

O The auditor should normally communicate on a formal basis to management
at an appropriate level. In the case of a company, the auditor communicates
formally with the board of directors or the audit committee. However, if
management themselves are involved in a suspected fraud, the auditor
should consider taking legal advice to decide the best course of action. In
extreme cases, the auditor may feel it is appropriate to resign.

O  The auditor should consider the impact on his audit report to the
shareholders, in terms of any impact on the true and fair view presented by
the financial statements.
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O  The auditor should consider whether there is any requirement to report to
appropriate authorities. This must be considered in the context of the
auditor’s duty of confidentiality to his client.

2.4 Professional scepticism and fraud

The auditor should perform the audit with a suitable degree of professional
scepticism.

0 The audit team should discuss the possibility of fraud in the context of the
specific characteristics of the audit engagement.

O  Discussions should be held with management on the procedures (controls)
in place to detect or prevent fraud.

O  The risks of possible fraud should be identified and its possible impact on
the financial statements should be evaluated.

O Audit procedures should be designed to obtain evidence that fraud, which
may impair the financial statements, has not occurred, or has been
detected and corrected (or disclosed in the financial statements).
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3 THE AUDITOR’S LIABILITY

Section overview

m Introduction
m  Criminal liability
= Civil liability

3.1 Introduction

Legal claims made against auditors fall within one of two legal strands:

O The auditor may be prosecuted by the authorities for a criminal act and be
criminally liable if found guilty. (The penalty may be a fine, or possibly
imprisonment for a guilty individual.)

O  The auditor may be liable under civil law. A ‘civil’ legal action may be brought
against an auditor by another person who has suffered loss or damage
because of the auditor’s actions. The person bringing the legal action usually
seeks a money payment (‘damages’) from the auditor, to recover their losses
they have suffered.

The precise details about an auditor’s criminal and civil liabilities vary from one
country to another, depending on national legislation. Whilst students will study
Nigerian law relevant to accountants in full in module A5 Business Law, this section
addresses the areas of Nigerian law most directly relevant to Nigerian auditors, in
particular liability arising through auditor negligence.

Note that the legal system relating to Nigerian auditors is based on the English
legal system with its two main strands:

O Criminal law (e.g. fraudulent trading or insider dealing);and

O Civil law (e.g. contract law and the law of tort)

and laws being established by:

O Statute (e.g. Companies and Allied Matters Act);and

a Common law (i.e. precedents set by rulings in previous legal cases).

Whilst the common law cases described below are not necessarily Nigerian
cases, they still remain the reference point in today’s Nigerian legal system
relevant to auditors.

3.2 Criminal liability
Examples of when the auditor may be criminally liable include:

O Where he accepts appointment as auditor under a statutory provision
without being qualified to act.

O  Where he is involved in fraud, such as falsifying accounting documents or
records.

O Where he is guilty of ‘insider dealing’. The criminal law of many countries
makes it an offence for a person with inside knowledge of price-sensitive
information to use or pass on that information. Insider dealing is also
prohibited under the IFAC and ICAN rules of professional conduct.
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Auditing practices should take suitable steps to reduce the risk of insider
dealing. For example, it is normal practice for audit firms to impose
restrictions on the amount of shares that their staff may hold in client
companies and to require staff to declare all their shareholdings.

Criminal liability may also arise for certain offences relating to:

a
]
]

a

the winding up of a company
tax law

financial services legislation, in areas such as dealing in investments or
giving investment advice

Money laundering (as discussed in Chapter 2)

3.3 Civil liability

A major threat faced by the auditing profession is the possibility of legal claims
against auditors as a result of negligent (or ‘careless’) auditing.

Contract law and the law of tort

An auditor may face legal claims for losses suffered as a result of negligent
auditing under two separate branches of law: contract law and the law of tort. A
summary of the position is as follows:

Clients Others
Law of tort:
Law of contract negligence
The company Banks, creditors,
under audit shareholders
SUED BY
Auditors

Contract law

A company has a contract with its external auditor for the provision of audit
services. It can therefore sue the auditor for breach of contract if the auditor is
negligent in carrying out the terms of the contract.

Note that only the company can sue the auditor for a breach of contract. Other
persons (third parties) who might want to sue an auditor, such as banks, creditors
and shareholders, do not have a contract with the auditor; therefore they cannot
bring a legal action under the law of contract.
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When a legal action is brought against an auditor by a company for breach of
contract (negligence), the action is usually initiated by the board of directors of
the company.

The auditor’s duty of care

During the course of the twentieth century, views changed as to the responsibility
of the auditor to detect fraud and other problems in the client’s affairs. Early on the
judge in the famous English case Re Kingston Cotton Mill No 2 (1896) declared
that it was the role of the auditor to act ‘as a watchdog, not a bloodhound’. This
implies that the auditor should be on their guard for fraud and error within the
company'’s activities, but does not have an active duty to go searching for them.
The same view was expressed in another English case of the same period, Re
London and General Bank (1895), in which the judge said that the auditor's
responsibility was to convey information rather than arouse enquiry.

However by the time of the case Re Thomas Gerrard (1967) views had changed.
In this English case the auditors were held liable by the judge as they had failed to
detect over several years that the managing director of the company had been
falsifying invoices. Although it was not the auditor’s prime responsibility to detect
fraud by the client there was a greater expectation that they would detect material
or significant problems.

Standards of skill and care

When carrying out their duties for a client, the auditors must exercise reasonable
care and skill. IFAC and ICAN’s code of ethics require that members should carry
out their professional work with professional competence and due care and with
proper regard for the technical and professional standards expected of them as
members.

The degree of skill and care expected of an auditor in a particular situation
depends on the circumstances. There is no general standard of skill and care;
the auditor is expected to react to the situation and the particular circumstances
that he is facing.

The Companies and Allied Matters Act makes specific reference to negligence as
follows:

@ Illustration: Companies and Allied Matters Act 2020 [section 415]

(1) A company's auditor shall in the performance of his duties, exercise all such
care, diligence and skill as is reasonably necessary in each particular
circumstance.

(2)  Where a company suffers loss or damage as a result of the failure of its
auditor to discharge the fiduciary duty imposed on him by subsection (1) of
this section, the auditor shall be liable for negligence and the directors may
institute an action for negligence against him in the court.

(3)  Ifthe directors fail to institute an action against the auditor under subsection
(2) of this section, any member may do so after the expiration of 30 days'
notice to the company of his intention to institute such action.

In general, if the auditor has followed auditing standards and can demonstrate
this in his working papers, he will not usually be found guilty of negligence. This
is why it is so important for the auditor to ensure that he maintains adequate
working papers and obtains sufficient, relevant and reliable evidence to support
his audit opinion.
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Liability in tort

Only the client company can sue the auditor in the law of contract, because only
the company has a contract with the auditor. Third parties who feel they may have
suffered as a result of negligent auditing have to rely on a different branch of law
— the law of tort. An important question is: ‘To what extent can others rely on the
civil law, and bring an action for negligence against the auditors of a company?’

Atort can be defined as a ‘civil wrong’ other than that arising under contract law,
giving rise to a claim for damages. (A civil wrong is wrongdoing that is not a
criminal offence, but which allows the injured person to bring an action in civil law
against the wrongdoer.) Negligence is just one of many branches of tort.

Examples of other persons who may suffer loss because of an auditor's
negligence and relying on financial statements that do not give a true and fair
view are:

a

A bank that lends money to a company, and the company subsequently
defaults and fails to make payments of interest or repayments of the loan
principal

A supplier who has given credit to the company, whose debts have to be
written off as ‘bad’

Another company who relies on the financial statements when deciding to
make a takeover bid for the audited company

An investor who relies on the financial statements to buy shares in the
company, and the share price falls when the true state of the company later
becomes apparent

Making a successful claim for auditor negligence (law of tort)

If a person is to make a successful claim against the auditor in the tort of
negligence, three conditions must be satisfied.

Negligence
requires

l Y l

(1) @ (3)
A duty of care That duty is Loss or damage
exists broken results

Condition (1) — The auditor must owe a duty of care to the person who has
suffered a loss due to the auditor’s negligence. The existence of a duty of
care has proved the most troublesome of the three conditions to establish,
in cases brought before the courts. This is considered in more detail below.

Condition (2) — The duty of care must have been broken. The party bringing
the claim against the auditor has to show that the auditor did not exercise a
reasonable degree of care in the circumstances, so that the duty of care was
broken. A typical method used in court cases to prove that a duty has been
broken is to call another firm of auditors as expert witness. The expert
witnesses are asked to give their view on whether the audit was performed
correctly.
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O  Condition (3) — A loss or damage must result from breach of the duty of
care. Proving that this condition has been met is usually a question of
demonstrating that the person making the claim suffered a financial loss as
a result of the negligent auditing. For example, if a bank lent money to a
company on the basis of audited accounts that were subsequently found to
contain material errors or omissions, and the company subsequently
defaulted on its loan, the bank can demonstrate a measurable financial loss.

Establishing the existence of a duty of care (law of tort)

Most of the major court cases on auditor negligence have been concerned with
the question of whether the auditor owes a duty of care to the ‘plaintiff. (The
plaintiff is the person making the claim for damages.) The cases summarised
below, taken from UK law, show how the view of the courts on this question has
developed over time, since the 1950s. As mentioned earlier, these cases also
form the common law precedent in Nigeria today.

You should concentrate on the principles involved, rather than the details of the
cases. Whilst some of the cases do not deal specifically with auditors, the
principle established by the court is however applied by the courts to auditors in
similar situations.

In this case, Candler sued the accountants Crane Christmas when he lost money
he had invested in a company. Crane Christmas had prepared the accounts, and
it was alleged that they had been negligent in doing so. But were the accountants
liable to Candler?

The court ruling was that although the accounts were negligently prepared,
Candler could not recover his losses from the accountants because he did not
have a contract with them.

Therefore, in the 1950s, the legal view was that an auditor did not owe a duty of
care to third parties who were not in a contractual relationship with the auditor.

@ Illustration: Candler v Crane Christmas (1951)

This is a case dealing with banks, but it was seen as relevant to all professionals,
including auditors and accountants. The plaintiff, Hedley Byrne, lost money when
a bank reference from the defendant (Heller & Partners, a bank) turned out to have
been negligently produced. The bank indicated in its reference that a mutual client
was a good credit risk when this was not the case.

The court ruled that although Hedley Byrne did not have a contract with the bank,
Heller & Partners, they could recover their losses due to the negligence and loss
involved, because the bank knew the plaintiff by name. However, the bank did not
have to pay any damages due to a general disclaimer in its letter (that gave the
reference) absolving it from any liability.

@ Illustration: Hedley Byrne v Heller & Partners (1964)

This legal decision affected auditors, because the court has decided that if a third
party (with whom the auditor did not have a contract) could show that it relied on the
work of an auditor which later turned out to be wrong, the auditor might be liable for
damages for negligence. However, this principle was only extended to plaintiffs that
the auditor actually knew by name. Unidentified third parties were notable to claim
against the auditor for negligence.

© Emile Woolf International 89 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

@ Illustration: JEB Fasteners v Marks Bloom (1980)

In this case, the plaintiff acquired the share capital of a company. The audited
accounts, due to the negligence of the auditors, did not show a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the company. It was accepted that, at the time of the
audit, the defendant auditors did know of the plaintiffs, but did not know that they
were contemplating a take-overbid.

Whilst recognising that the auditors owed a duty of care in this situation, the court
decided that the auditors were not liable because the plaintiff had not actually
suffered any loss. It was proved that the plaintiffs would have bought the share
capital of the company at the agreed price, no matter what the accounts of the
company had shown.

@ Illustration: Caparo Industries v Dickman and Touche Ross & Co (1989)

This is seen as a leading case in English law in the area of ‘tow hom does the
audit or owe a duty of care’.

Fidelity plc was taken over by Caparo Industries. Fidelity’s accounts had been
audited by Touche Ross. Caparo alleged that the accounts overstated the profits
of Fidelity plc and that they had relied on the audited accounts of Fidelity when
deciding to purchase shares in the company and make a takeover bid.

The court held that a duty of care was not owed to potential investors in

a company, or persons making a takeover bid, because of:

U Alack of proximity (a lack of* closeness of relationship’) between the
auditor and a potential investor, and

a The fact that it would not be just and reasonable to impose a duty on the
auditor to such investors.

In the above case, the court identified the auditor’s functions as being:

4 to protect the company itself from errors and wrongdoing - not to protect
the shareholders of the company from error; and

U to provide shareholders with information such that they can scrutinise the
conduct of a company’s affairs and remove or reward those responsible (the
directors).

The auditor does not exist to aid investment decisions.

Out-of-court settlements

Large claims against auditors in high-profile cases (such as Enron) receive a high
level of publicity. Many other cases are not widely publicised, often because they
are settled ‘out of court’. This involves the parties who are in dispute reaching a
negotiated settlement, rather than taking their case to court.

The advantages of out-of-court settlements are that:
a it avoids the cost and time involved in a court case
O it may avoid adverse publicity for the auditor

O the final settlement may be lower (because both sides save legal costs, and
the plaintiff might agree to a lower settlement to avoid the cost and the risk
of losing the case)
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The disadvantages of out-of-court settlements are that:

O the final responsibility may be left undecided, so the legal position remains
unclear

O it may encourage others to act against auditors

O  insurance premiums may rise

Example:
Q An audit firm has been the auditor of Entity AZ for a number of years.

Its audit team has recently discovered that during that time, the managing
director of AZ has been consistently over valuing inventories.

Entity B has recently purchased a major stake in Entity AZ, relying on the audited
financial statements to do so.

Required

What possible defence might the audit firm use if it issued by Entity B after a
successful takeover?

A Answer
The audit firm can claim that it did not owe a duty of care to Entity B.

If the audit work has been performed to expected standards, the firm should be
able to claim that the audit work was performed with diligence and care, and in
accordance with ISAs. The audit work could not reasonably have detected the

fraud given its nature and the seniority of the individual committing the fraud.

The firm might also be able to claim that Entity B has not suffered any financial
loss as a result of its reliance on the audited financial statements.

Use of disclaimers in audit reports

A disclaimer is not a requirement of an audit report, but some audit reports
include one. A disclaimer states that:

O  the auditor’s report is intended for use of the company and the company’s
shareholders as a body, and

O noresponsibility is accepted by the auditor to anyone except the company
or the shareholders as a body for the content of the report.

The purpose of a disclaimer is to reduce the risk of legal claims by ‘third parties’
against the auditor for negligence.

The main problem with a disclaimer however is that in spite of the ruling in the
Bannerman case, a disclaimer cannot guarantee protection for an auditor against
third party claims, because the circumstances of each individual claim may be
different.

© Emile Woolf International 91 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

4 MANAGING THE AUDITOR’S LIABILITY

Section overview

m  Avoiding liability
m  Meeting claims: professional indemnity insurance
= Limiting liability

4.1 Avoiding liability

Clearly, it is preferable to avoid claims arising for negligent auditing. Firms can
minimise the risks of being sued by ensuring that their staff perform high-quality
audit work. Auditors should therefore:

O  follow appropriate auditing standards

O  use effective quality control procedures

O train staff to an appropriate level of knowledge and skill

O ensure that the firm is up-to-date with modern auditing methods.

4.2 Meeting claims: professional indemnity insurance

If successful legal claims are made (or if out-of-court settlements are reached,
where the audit firm agrees to make a payment to settle the dispute) the auditor
will have to pay damages. If the damages are so large that they are more than
the firm can afford, the law in some countries may also allow claims to be made
against the personal assets of partners of the audit firm.

The threat of very high claims for damages, beyond the financial means of the
audit firm, applies to the major audit firms as well as smaller firms.

The professional accountancy bodies take the view that the image of the
profession would be seriously damaged if claims awarded against auditors and
accountants are not met because of a lack of financial resources. As a result,
professional bodies often require members in practice to carry professional
indemnity insurance (PII).

PIl is an insurance policy that provides cover against all civil liabilities that are
incurred as a result of the conduct of the firm’s business. Money is paid out by
the insurance firm on these policies if the firm itself is unable to pay.

However, the requirement for compulsory PII has the following disadvantages:

O It may increase the frequency and size of claims made against firms, which
are seen to have large amounts of funds at their disposal to meet claims.

O It may encourage more careless auditing.

O  Itimposes a high cost on audit firms. These costs of insurance are likely to
increase as the general level of legal claims rises.
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4.3 Limiting liability

Because of the high costs of legal claims and professional indemnity insurance, a
number of suggestions have been made for finding other ways of limiting claims
against auditors.

a

a

One suggestion is that there should be a statutory limit on claims, either a
maximum percentage of the audit fee or a maximum fixed amount.

Another suggestion is that auditors should be permitted to agree a ‘cap’
(limit) on their liability with their clients, so that a company cannot make a
claim against its auditors for more than the agreed amount (cap). This is
now permissible in the UK, where a company and its auditors can agree to
a specified monetary sum as a ceiling or use a formula.

The use of ‘limited liability partnerships’ whereby an audit firm that is
structured as a limited liability partnership cannot lose more than its total
fixed capital. This is similar to limited liability for companies.

The use of the equivalent of Pl for directors of client companies. This may
expose the directors of companies to legal actions by other parties, rather
than the audit firm, because the plaintiffs will know that the directors can
afford to pay any successful claims for negligence.

Including disclaimers of liability to parties other than the company and its
shareholders in the auditors’ report.
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5 CHAPTERREVIEW

Chapter review

Before moving on to the next chapter check that you now know how to:
m  Explain what the expectation gap is and how itarises
m  Apply the provisions of ISA240

m Describe how an auditor’s liability may arise (both criminal and civil) andexplain
how it can bemanaged
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Quick quiz questions

1 Which one of the following statements is correct?
A An auditor has no responsibility at all for detecting fraud in an audit client.
B An auditor has the main responsibility for detecting fraud in an audit client.

C An auditor has a responsibility for detecting fraud in a client company if it might
cause a material misstatement in the financial statements

D An auditor has a responsibility for fraud in an audit client only if the audit procedures
discover fraud.

2 Directors of a company may assign one or more of their responsibilities with regard to
the financial statements, internal control and risk management to:

A Audit committee, internal audit, legal department, risk committee
B Audit committee, external specialist, internal audit

C Internal audit, external specialist, risk committee
D

Internal audit, external audit, audit committee

3 Which of the following statements are correct?
1 Error and fraud may both be deliberate.
2 Fraud is deliberate, but error is unintentional.
3 Both error and fraud may be criminal activities.
4 Fraud is a criminal activity, but error is not.
A Statements 1 and 3 are correct
B Statements 1 and 4 are correct C
Statements 2 and 3 are correct D
Statements 2 and 4 are correct

4 Which of the following actions by an auditor would be a criminal offence, if they were to
occur?

Negligence in conducting an audit

Insider dealing in shares of a client company

Acting as auditor without an appropriate professional qualification
1 and 2 only

1 and 3 only

2 and 3 only

1,2and 3

O 0O m>» w N e

© Emile Woolf International 95 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

5 Which of the following measures might be taken by an audit firm in Nigeria to reduce the
exposure to potential liability for negligence arising from a legal claim by the client

company?
1 Pl
2 Including disclaimers of liability to parties other than the company and its

O 0O W >» w

shareholders in the auditors’ report

Resigning from the audit when any legal action is taken
1 only

2 only

3only

1,2and 3
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Quick quiz answers

1

C

Management has the main responsibility for preventing and detecting fraud in their
company. However the auditor has a responsibility to give an opinion on the financial
statements, and if undiscovered fraud would lead to a material misstatement, the auditor
therefore has a responsibility to discover the fraud.

A

Directors may assign responsibilities to particular departments within their company.
They may not assign their responsibilities to external parties such as external experts or
external auditors.

D

Errors might give rise to legal action in the civil courts but is not deliberate (by definition)
and it is not a criminal activity.

C

Negligence by an auditor can lead to litigation and a claim from the injured party (e.g. the
audit client); however negligence is not criminal. Insider dealing and acting as an auditor
without the proper qualification are criminal activities.

A

Whilst some countries allow disclaimers in the audit report (e.g. the UK) this is not yet
the case in Nigeria. Resigning from the audit after negligence has occurred does not
reduce the potential liability as the breach of duty of care would already have occurred.
Whilst Pl does not reduce the total claim liability, it would reduce the exposure to the
auditor since the insurance company would bear a portion of any damages awarded and
the cost of defending a claim.
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INTRODUCTION

Competencies
Laws and regulations on audit and assurance engagements

A2 Identify and make judgements on when it may be appropriate to refer a matter
to a senior colleague or for third party advice or consultation.

Accepting professional engagements and managing assignments

B1 (a) Analyse and evaluate the issues that may arise during the process of
obtaining audit work.

B1 (b) Identify and explain the legal, professional and ethical issues that may arise
during the acceptance of assurance or audit assignments.

B1 (d) Discuss how engagement terms can be agreed and recorded by an auditor
including those agreed with a client and those imposed by laws or regulations.

B2 (a) Evaluate and apply appropriate procedures and policies for management of
an assurance or audit engagement.

B2 (b) Evaluate and apply appropriate quality control measures that may be used by
a firm during the course of an assurance or audit engagement.

B2 (d) Evaluate and apply appropriate monitoring and review procedures to
effectively manage an audit or assurance engagement.

B2 (e) Identify and explain the purposes of external monitoring of audit and
assurance assignments and how this might ensure engagement or firm’s
quality.

B2 (f) Identify and evaluate the considerations by an auditor of risk issues identified

prior to accepting an engagement.

Exam context

This chapter continues the theme of practice management introduced in the previous
chapter.

You need to fully understand the system of quality control used in an accountancy firm
incorporating both ISQC1 and ISA 220.

You also need to understand the commercial, legal and ethical parameters around changes
in professional appointment and the process of obtaining and charging for professional work.

At the end of this chapter, readers should be able to:

] Describe the components of a system of quality control applied to a firm of accountants
performing audit and assurance engagements

[ ] Explain the process around changes in professional appointment including the legal,
commercial and ethical considerations

L] Apply ISA 210 in agreeing the terms of an engagement
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1 QUALITY CONTROL: ISA 220 AND ISQC 1

Section overview

The need for a quality control system in accountancy firms

Quality control procedures

Quality control arrangements for individual engagements: ISA 220
Quality control arrangements at the overall firm level: ISQC 1

Quality control procedures specific to individual engagements

Quality control in large accountancy firms and small accountancy firms

It is important to remember that a firm of external auditors is a business, whose objective
is to make a profit. This business is subject to regulation, such as the regulation of quality
control and fees regulations, and the nature of the regulations may influence the way
the business is managed.

This chapter looks at ‘business’ aspects of running an audit practice that are
sometimes referred to as ‘managing the client-auditor relationship’.

1.1 The need for a quality control system in accountancy firms

The IFAC and ICAN codes of conduct both require that members should perform
their professional work with due skill and care and with a proper degree of
technical competence.

Audit work may be performed by members of a large team of auditors (the
‘engagement team’). If so, the members may have different levels of knowledge
and experience. To satisfy the professional requirements for due skill and care
and technical competence, audit firms need to have a strong system of quality
control.

Good procedures for quality control should reduce the risk for the audit firm that it
will:

a issue an incorrect audit opinion, and
O be sued for negligence.

The consequences of poor audit work and legal action by the client could be any
(or all) of the following:

a legal damages and legal costs

O  theloss of the client

O adverse publicity and damage to the reputation of the audit firm
O  disciplinary proceedings by a professional body such as ICAN

It is also important for the audit profession as a whole that all audit firms should
have good procedures for quality control. If the profession as a whole gained a
reputation for poor quality audits, its public image would be damaged.
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1.2 Quality control procedures
Quality control procedures can be considered at two levels:
O the audit firm as a whole
O  each individual audit engagement.

1.3 Quality control arrangements for individual engagements: ISA 220

The objective of the auditor as set out in ISA 220 Quality control for an audit of
financial statements is to implement quality control procedures at the
engagement level to provide reasonable assurance that:

O  the audit complies with professional standards and applicable legal and
regulatory regulations, and

O  the audit report issued is appropriate.

This means that quality control procedures should be implemented that are
applicable to the individual audit engagement.

ISA 220 places the responsibility for key quality control matters on the
engagement partner. The engagement partner has responsibility for the overall
quality of the audit and is required to put procedures in place to ensure that:

O  ethical standards are complied with and appropriate action taken if there is
evidence to the contrary

O independence requirements are met, including:

. identifying circumstances and relationships that might give rise to
threats to independence

. assessing the impact of breaches of the firm’s independence policies
and procedures and whether such breaches create a threat to
independence

. taking suitable action to eliminate identified threats or to withdraw
from the engagement if appropriate

a procedures are in place to deal with the acceptance of new engagements
and the continuance of existing engagements

O  the audit is carried out by an audit team with the appropriate competence
and capabilities

O  appropriate management of the engagement is in place, including the
direction and supervision of staff and the review of audit work. On or before
the date of the audit report the engagement partner must, through a review
of audit documentation and discussion with the audit team be satisfied that
sufficient, appropriate evidence has been obtained to support the
conclusions reached

O  adequate consultation has taken place on difficult or contentious matters
and the conclusions from such consultation implemented

O an appropriate monitoring system is in place
O the following matters are documented:

. issues in respect of compliance with ethical requirements and how
they were resolved

. conclusions on compliance with independence requirements
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14

a

. conclusions in respect of new and continuing engagements
. the nature and scope of conclusions from consultations undertaken.

For audits of listed companies, and any other audits where the firm has
determined that an engagement quality control review is required, the
engagement partner is also required to appoint an engagement quality
control reviewer, who:

performs an objective evaluation of the significant judgements made by the
audit team and the conclusions reached, including:

. discussion of significant matters with the engagement partner
o review of the financial statements and the proposed audit report

o review of selected audit documentation relating to significant
judgments

. an evaluation of the conclusions reached and whether the proposed
audit report is appropriate

considers the engagement team’s evaluation of the firm’s independence in
relation to the audit engagement

considers whether appropriate consultation has taken place on difficult or
contentious matters

considers whether audit documentation selected for review reflects the
work performed and the conclusions reached.

The engagement quality control reviewer is required to document confirmation

that:
a

a
a

the firm’s procedures in respect of engagement quality control reviews were
followed

the review was completed on or before the date of the audit report

he is not aware of any unresolved matters that would cause him to believe
that the significant judgements made by the audit team and the conclusions
they reached were inappropriate.

More detail on many of the above procedures is given in a later section.

Quality control arrangements at the overall firm level: ISQC 1

Quality control policies and procedures at a firm level are set out in ISQC 1
Quality control for firms that perform audits and reviews of financial statements,
and other assurance and related services engagements.

The objective of the firm as set out in ISQC 1 mirrors that of the auditor in ISA
220. The objective of the firm is to establish and maintain a system of quality
control to provide it with reasonable assurance that:

a

a

the firm and its personnel comply with professional standards and
applicable legal and regulatory regulations, and

reports issued by the firm are appropriate.
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The quality control procedures that are applied within an audit firm will reflect the
nature and size of the audit practice. However, personnel within the firm who are
responsible for establishing and maintaining quality control procedures must have
an understanding of the entire text of ISCQ 1. As the firm must meet the
requirements of ISQC 1, it should have a system in place which addresses each
of the following elements:

Leadership responsibilities for quality

Ethical requirements

Acceptance and continuance of engagements
Human resources

Engagement performance

0O00D0CD D

Monitoring

a Documentation

The requirements of ISQC 1 in each of these areas are considered in turn
below.

Leadership responsibilities for quality

ISQC 1 requires the firm to establish policies and procedures designed to promote
an internal culture recognising that quality is essential. Ultimate responsibility for
quality control policies and procedures should rest with the firm’s CEO (or
equivalent) or managing board of partners (or equivalent).

Any person who has operational responsibility for quality control should have
appropriate experience and ability and the necessary authority.
Ethical requirements

ISQC 1 requires the firm to establish policies and procedures to provide it with
reasonable assurance that the firm and its staff:

O  comply with relevant ethical requirements, and

O maintain independence where required to do so by those requirements.
The firm should:

O communicate its independence requirements to staff, and

O  identify and evaluate circumstances and relationships that create threats to
independence, assessing the impact of such threats and applying
safeguards or withdrawing from the engagement if appropriate.

The policies and procedures should include requiring:

O staff to notify the firm of circumstances and relationships that might create a
threat to independence

O  staff to notify the firm of any breaches of independence of which they have
become aware

O  the firm to communicate such breaches to the engagement partner and
other relevant staff

U the engagement partner to advise the firm of action to be taken.

At least annually, the firm should obtain written confirmation from all staff of
compliance with the firm’s policies and procedures on independence.

© Emile Woolf International 104 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Chapter 5: Practice management

The firm should also establish criteria for determining the use of safeguards to
reduce the familiarity threat to an acceptable level when the same senior
personnel have been used on an assurance engagement for a long time. For
listed entity clients, there must be rotation of the engagement partner after a
specified period, in compliance with relevant ethical requirements.
Acceptance and continuance of engagements

ISQC 1 requires the firm to establish policies and procedures to provide it with
reasonable assurance that the firm will only take on or continue work where the
firm:

O  is competent to perform the engagement

O has the capabilities (including the necessary resources) to do so
O  can comply with the relevant ethical requirements, and
a

has considered the integrity of the client and does not have information
which would lead it to conclude that the client lacks integrity.

The policies and procedures should include requiring the firm to:

O obtain sufficient information to make such decisions (for new or existing
engagements)

O  consider potential conflicts of interest (and therefore whether it should
accept the engagement)

O  document all identified issues and how they were resolved.

These requirements mean that there should be a review of proposed new clients
and (at regular intervals) of existing clients, to make sure that the firm will be
independent, that there are no conflicts of interest and the firm has the technical
competence to do the audit work.

When an audit firm accepts an audit engagement from a new client, suitable
procedures should therefore be carried out to ensure that:

O  the firm will be independent and there are no conflicts of interest
O  the firm has the technical competence to do the work

O  professional clearance has been obtained from the previous auditors of the
new client

O  appropriate anti-money laundering (client identification) procedures are
performed.

Before the start of the audit each year, the engagement partner for the audit
should:

O  ensure that all members of the audit team are independent of the client and
there are no conflicts of interest; and

O  be satisfied with the ethical integrity of the client entity and its management.

Human resources
ISQC 1 requires the firm to ensure:

O it has sufficient personnel with the competence, capabilities and
commitment to ethical principles to meet its overall quality control
objectives, and
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O  that for each engagement an appropriate engagement partner and team
are assigned.

Policies should therefore exist for the recruitment, training and development of
staff. The firm should ensure compliance with ISAs and audit staff should have a
good knowledge of accounting standards and local/national statutory accounting
regulations.

The firm’s technical auditing procedures should be set out in a manual and
reinforced by training. Newsletters and/or meetings could be used as a means of
ensuring that professional staff are kept up-to-date on current developments.

Work should be assigned to staff that are competent to perform that work. There
should be procedures for ensuring that an audit team collectively has the
appropriate level of technical knowledge for the audit engagement and includes
individuals with:

O  experience of audits of a similar complexity, and

O  an ability to apply professional judgement.

Engagement performance

Policies and procedures are required to include:

O  those to promote consistent quality engagement performance
O supervision responsibilities

O  review responsibilities (on the basis that more experienced team members
review the work of less experienced team members)

O  guidance on consultation to ensure that:

. appropriate consultation takes place on difficult or contentious
matters

. sufficient resources are available for such consultation

. the nature, scope and conclusions of the consultation are
documented (by both parties)

. conclusions arising from the consultation are implemented.
O guidance on engagement quality control reviews to ensure that:

. an engagement quality control review is required for audits of all listed
entity clients

. criteria are established to determine which other engagements should
be subject to an engagement quality control review

. the review covers certain procedures (the same as set out in ISA220
— see above)

. engagement quality control reviewers are eligible to carry out such
reviews via technical qualifications, experience, authority and
objectivity from the engagement

. engagement quality control reviews are properly documented (again,
as also set out in ISA 220)

U procedures for dealing with any differences of opinion between the
engagement team and those consulted or between the engagement partner
and the engagement quality control reviewer
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O  procedures in respect of completion of the final audit files on a timely basis
and the confidentiality and safe custody of such documentation for an
appropriate period.

Monitoring of quality control procedures

The firm is required to establish a monitoring process designed to provide it with
reasonable assurance that its quality control system is relevant, adequate and
operating effectively. This process should include inspecting, on a cyclical
basis, at least one completed engagement for each engagement partner.

Responsibility for the monitoring process should be given to a partner or other
appropriate person with sufficient experience and authority. When monitoring
reviews (also referred to as ‘cold reviews’) are carried out they should not be
performed by those involved with the engagement or the engagement quality
control review.

The firm should:

O  evaluate the effect of any deficiencies found to determine if they do
indicate a failing in the firm’s quality control system

O  communicate such deficiencies to relevant personnel, together with
appropriate remedial action.

Appropriate remedial action might include:
O  action in relation to individual engagements or employees

0 communication of findings to those responsible for training and professional
development

O  changes to the firm’s quality control system

O disciplinary action, especially against repeat offenders.
If the results of monitoring procedures indicate that:

O aninappropriate report may have been issued, or

O  procedures were omitted during the engagement

O the firm should determine what further action is needed. This might include
obtaining legal advice.

The firm should produce an annual report for partners setting out:

O  the monitoring procedures performed

O the conclusions drawn

O any systematic deficiencies found and remedial action taken.

The monitoring system should include procedures for dealing with complaints
and allegations against the firm. These should include establishing channels
through which employees can come forward without fear of reprisals.
Documentation of quality control procedures

The following matters are required to be documented.

O  Evidence of the operation of each element of the system of quality control.

O  Complaints and allegations made against the firm and how these were
resolved.
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Documentation must be retained for a sufficient period of time, as a minimum to
comply with relevant laws and regulations.

Quality control procedures specific to individual engagements

The quality control procedures applied to the conduct of each individual audit
engagement will be based around the effective management of the audit team
working on that engagement. This will involve:

O the direction and supervision of staff, and

a review of their work.

Direction of audit staff

The direction of audit staff is the responsibility of the engagement partner for the
audit. Direction is achieved by the following methods:

O  The audit team members should be informed of the work they are expected
to carry out and the objectives that the work is intended to achieve.

O  There should be a well-prepared audit work programme and staff should be
familiar with the overall audit plan.

In addition, the members of the audit team should understand:
O Their responsibilities

O  the nature of the business of the client company

O risk-related issues
[}

problems that may arise with the audit and how these problems should be
dealt with if they do occur

O  the detailed approach to the performance of the audit work.
The members of the audit team should:
O maintain an objective state of mind and retain their independence
U perform their work with due care, and
O raise any questions they might have with more experienced members of
the audit team.
Supervision of audit staff
Supervision should continue throughout the audit. It includes the following:
O  Tracking the progress of the audit.
O  Monitoring the competence of team members, including:
. whether they have sufficient time to carry out their work
o whether they understand their instructions

. whether they are carrying out their work in accordance with the audit
plan.

U Addressing significant issues that arise during the audit, assessing how
significant they are and modifying the audit approach accordingly.

O Identifying where there is a need for an audit team member to consult more
experienced members of the team.
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O  Monitoring the behaviour of team members (particularly inexperienced
junior members of the team), to ensure that they maintain ethical
standards.

Review of audit work

Review of audit work is a key aspect of quality control. All audit work should be
reviewed, ideally by an auditor with a higher level of competence and experience
than the audit team members who performed the audit work. The review process
may take any of the following forms:

O  Peer review: This is a review carried out by another partner in the
assurance firm.

O  Engagement quality control review (EQCR): a peer review performed
before the audit report is signed as required by ISQC1 during the audit of a
listed or public interest entity. An EQCR forms part of the quality control
procedures specific to an individual assignment.

O  Hot review: Similar in substance to an EQCR except that the hot review is
not performed as a direct requirement of ISQC1. E.g. when an engagement
partner on a non-listed / public interest entity audit wants a second opinion
or to monitor the work of a new partner during probation.

O  Monitoring review (also called a ‘cold review’): This is a peer review
performed after the audit report is signed. A cold review forms part of the
monitoring of quality control procedures.

The purpose of audit review is to check whether:
O  the audit work was carried out to proper professional standards
O  the objectives of the audit have been achieved

O the work carried out during the audit and the audit evidence are suitably
documented, and that the audit evidence supports the conclusions that
have been reached.

The review of the audit work should cover:
O  the audit planning process
O  audit procedures, including:
o documentation (the audit working papers)
. the audit tests performed and the audit evidence gathered
. compliance with the audit work programme
. the resolution of problems encountered on the audit

a whether the conclusion reached is consistent with the audit evidence
obtained and documented.

The review process itself should also be documented.
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Review by the engagement partner (and audit manager)

As discussed above, before the audit report is issued, the engagement partner
needs to be satisfied that sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been
obtained to support the conclusions reached and for the audit report to be issued.
He should therefore:

a review the audit documentation, and
a hold discussions with the audit team.

This process is usually referred to as the partner’s review. It should be
scheduled into the audit plan, towards the completion of the audit.

Before the partner’s review, the audit senior should try to ensure that every file is
complete and cross-referenced, in order to cut down the number of points that
might be raised by the partner’s review.

The partner’s review will usually be preceded by a manager review, in the hope
that the audit manager will identify some matters that can be resolved before they
come to the attention of the engagement partner.

Assessing the adequacy of quality control

An examination question that asks you to discuss the adequacy of quality control
in an audit will probably expect you to identify weaknesses in the conduct of the
audit, such as:

O poor or inadequate planning of the audit, such as a failure to identify the
key audit risks

O  giving complex audit work to relatively inexperienced members of the audit
team

O  inadequate supervision
O  inadequate review of the audit working papers by the audit manager.

Example: quality control issues
Q An audit firm has just carried out the annual audit for a client company. The audit
manager has just learned that during the audit planning process, a junior member
of the audit team, who is an IT graduate from a major university, gave advice to the
client about improvements that could be made in the client’s finance and accounting
IT systems.

What professional and ethical issues exist in this situation?
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A Answer
The situation raises some questions about quality control in the audit.

a Junior members of an audit team must be given suitable directions about their
responsibilities, and their activities should also be properly supervised. In this
situation, a junior member considered that he was allowed to offer advice to
the client, which clearly should not be the case. This suggests poor direction
and supervision in the audit.

U The junior member obviously believed that he could offer advice directly to
the client. In practice, if any member of the audit team identifies weaknesses
in the client’s internal controls their findings should be reported to a senior
member of the audit team, who should then decide the appropriate action to
take. Failure by the junior team member to report his findings to a senior
auditor also raises a concern about quality control. The firm may require
much better training of staff about audit responsibilities and procedures.

a Itis important to establish the details of the advice that the junior team member
has given to the client, and to find out whether the client has acted on that
advice yet. The audit partner should discuss the situation with the client’s
management in order to find out whether the advice has been acted upon. If
the client has acted on the advice and this advice was poor, the audit firm may
be liable.

1.6 Quality control in large accountancy firms and small accountancy firms

Quality control in large firms

Large international practices operate in several countries, with local partnerships
and offices further down the chain of control. Local partnerships and offices within
a large practice will have access to:

a regional and national training programmes
O the firm’s comprehensive audit manual

O  acentral technical department, available to answer technical questions
from any office or local partnership

O  in-house technical publications
O the firm’s standardised audit documentation
O  aformal system of inter-office reviews.

Quality control in small firms

The need for quality control in a small firm is just as important as for large firms.
However, many of the facilities listed above are not available to small firms,
because they cannot afford them. Alternative arrangements for quality control
might include:

O  reciprocal arrangements for review and consultation with other audit firms

O  the use of audit manuals and standardised documentation from third parties
or professional bodies

a external training and sending staff on courses provided by third parties or
professional bodies.
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2 CHANGES IN A PROFESSIONAL APPOINTMENT

Section overview

Why a change might arise

Procedures before accepting a new audit appointment
Deciding whether to accept a new audit appointment
Books, documents and records

2.1

2.2

Why a change might arise

An ICAN member may be asked to accept a new audit appointment in a situation
where the previous auditor (‘old’ auditor) will not be reappointed.

This may be for any of the following reasons:

O The current firm is too small to cope with the demands of an expanding
client (who now operates from multiple locations, in different towns or
countries).

O  There may be a change in the composition of the company’s board of
directors, and the new directors wish to appoint an auditor of their own
choice.

O  There may be a perceived lack of independence, possibly one that has just
arisen.

O  There may have been a disagreement between the directors and the ‘old’
audit firm (for example, over the accounting treatment of an item in the
financial statements).

O There may have been a loss of confidence in the ‘old’ audit firm.

In theory, the auditor is appointed by the shareholders. However, in practice
recommendations are made by the directors to the shareholders when they
consider that there should be a change of auditors.

If the outgoing auditor feels that the change is for a reason that should be brought
to the attention of the shareholders (for example, in the case of a dispute) then
national legislation will allow him to make representations to the shareholders. In
Nigeria, Section 409, 412 and 413 of the Companies and Allied Matters Act 2020
deal with the removal of Auditors, resignation of auditors and the right of resigning
auditor to requisition a company meeting respectively.

Procedures before accepting a new audit appointment
Before accepting an appointment, the audit firm should take the following steps:

O It should assess whether there are any professional problems attached to
accepting the engagement. These might include, for example, problems of
lack of independence, or a lack of technical expertise, or a conflict of
interest.

O It should ensure that resources are available to complete the audit
assignment; in particular it must ensure that there will be sufficient staff (of
the right level of expertise) available at the right time.
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O It should take up references on the proposed client company and its
directors, if they are not already known to the auditors. This is usually
referred to as client screening.

O It should communicate with the incumbent (existing) auditors, if there are
any, to discuss the appointment, the client and the audit work. The method
of communication is referred to in ICAN’s Code of Conduct as professional
enquiry (see below).

Client identification

In order to comply with anti-money laundering regulations, the audit firm should
carry out client identification procedures. The purpose of these procedures is to
confirm that the client ‘is who he says he is’, and that there are no grounds for
suspicion that the client may be involved in money laundering activities.

O  Ifthe client is a company or other business entity, documentary evidence of
the identity of the entity should be obtained — for example a certificate of
incorporation in the case of a company.

O  Evidence should also be obtained to confirm the address of the entity, such
as headed letter paper.

O  If the client is an individual, evidence of identity can be obtained from a
passport or driving licence, and evidence of address (possibly) from a recent
utility bill.

O The audit firm should consider whether the business of the potential new
client ‘makes commercial sense’. For example, it would not make sense for
a very large company to be engaged in operating a number of dry-cleaning
shops, because the size of the company would be too large for the nature
of its business operations. When this happens, the client's declared
business may simply be a front or cover for hidden illegal activities.

In most cases, the client identification procedures should be a formality, and the
client may be surprised that they are necessary. The audit firm should explain the
regulatory purpose of client identification, to remove any doubts or concerns that
the new client may have.

Professional enquiry

The firm should communicate with the current auditors (if there are any) to
establish if there are any matters that it should be aware of when deciding
whether or not to accept the appointment. Although this is partly a matter of
courtesy between professionals, this will involve discussion of the appointment,
the client and the audit work. Such discussion will allow the firm to decide if the
client is someone for whom it would wish to act.

The following points should be noted in connection with communicating with the
current auditors:

O  When a member is first approached by a prospective client to act or be
nominated, he should explain that he has a professional duty to
communicate with the existing auditor or advisor.

O  Client permission is required for any such communication. If the client
refuses to give its permission, the appointment as auditor should not be
accepted.
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If the client does not give the current auditor permission to reply to any
relevant questions, the current auditor should communicate this fact to the
prospective auditor who should subsequently not accept appointment.

If the current auditor does not provide any information relevant to the
appointment, the new auditor should accept or reject the engagement
based on other available knowledge.

The existing auditor or adviser should answer without delay the
communication from the prospective auditor. If there are no matters of
which the latter should be aware, the existing auditor or adviser should
write to say that this is the case.

If, however, there are such matters (see paragraph 4.3.16 below) he should
inform the prospective auditor of those facts within his knowledge of which,
in his opinion, the prospective auditor should be aware. It is not sufficient to
state that unspecified facts exist.

The existing auditor or adviser might prefer to explain these facts orally and
the prospective auditor or adviser should be prepared to confer with the
existing auditor or adviser if the latter so desires, and each should make his
own record of such a discussion.

If an issue of conflicting viewpoints between the client and himself has been
raised by the existing auditor in his reply, the prospective successor should
discuss the conflict with the client and satisfy himself either that the client’s
view is one which he can accept as reasonable or that the client will accept
that the incoming auditor or adviser might have to express a contrary opinion.

Where the existing auditor or adviser does not respond within a reasonable
time, the prospective successor should endeavour to contact the existing
auditor by some other means, for instance, by telephone, facsimile or e-
mail.

Should this fail, and where the prospective successor has no reason to
believe that there are untoward circumstances surrounding the change, he
should send a final letter by recorded delivery service stating that unless he
receives a reply within a specified time he will assume that there are no
matters of which the existing auditor is aware that should be brought to his
attention. A member who accepts nomination in such circumstances is not
precluded from complaining to the Institute that the existing auditor did not
respond to his enquiry letter.

If the prospective auditor is satisfied that he can properly act, and is
prepared to accept nomination/appointment, he should so inform the client
in writing.

Unpaid Fees

A member in public practice should not accept an audit assignment previously
carried out by another member, without first ensuring that the other member has
been properly removed from office as auditor and that all outstanding fees due to
the other member have been fully paid.
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Confidentiality

The prospective auditor should ordinarily treat in confidence any information
provided by the existing auditor. However, it may be essential to the fulfiiment of
a prospective auditor's obligations that he should disclose such information. It
may, for example, be unavoidable for the prospective auditor to disclose to
officers or employees of the client matters brought to his attention by the
predecessor firm, which needs to be properly investigated. Such disclosure
should be no wider than is necessary.

Defamation

It is likely that an existing auditor who communicates to a prospective auditor,
matters damaging to the client or to any individual concerned with the client’s
business, will have a strong measure of protection were any action for defamation
to be brought against him, in that the communication will be protected by qualified
privilege.

This means that he should not be liable to pay damages for defamatory statements
even if they turn out to be untrue, provided that they are made without malice.

Joint auditor

A member whose firm is nominated as a joint auditor should communicate with all
existing auditors and be guided by similar principles to those set out in relation to
nomination as an auditor. Where it is proposed that a joint audit appointment
becomes a sole appointment, the surviving auditor should communicate formally
with the outgoing joint auditor.

Vacancy

A member whose firm is invited to accept nomination on the death of a sole
practitioner auditor should endeavour to obtain such information as he may need
from the late practitioner’s alternative (where appropriate), the administrators of
the estate or other relevant sources.

Additional work

A member invited to undertake recurring or non-recurring work, which is
additional to and related to continuing work carried out by another Chartered
Accountant or adviser should normally notify that other Chartered Accountant of
the work he has been asked to undertake.

O  Itis generally in the interest of the client that the existing auditor be aware
of the nature of the additional work being undertaken. The existing
Chartered Accountant will be provided with the opportunity to communicate
with the member to provide information, lack of which might otherwise
prevent the additional work from being carried out effectively. Additionally,
such notification could affect the way an existing Chartered Accountant
discharges his continuing responsibilities to his client.

O Notification should always be given to the existing Chartered Accountant.

a Provision of all opinions on the application of accounting standards or
principles clearly requires particular sensitivity to avoid adversarial positions
between an auditor and other Chartered Accountants wherever possible.
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2.3 Deciding whether to accept a new audit appointment

An accountancy firm may occasionally decide that to accept a new audit
appointment would threaten the firm’s reputation and might also raise serious
ethical issues.

Backle Company is an owner — managed company. It has asked your firm to

Q Example: accepting a new audit appointment

@)

2

®3)
4)

(5)

become its auditors. The following information has been obtained about the
company, mainly from the company’s current auditors.

The current auditors have just resigned from the audit because they no longer
have sufficient resources to carry out the audit work for Backle. They had
taken on the audit two years earlier, after the previous auditors had resigned
due to a dispute about fees. The current auditors commented that the
company’s management liked to keep a close control over costs, and they
had agreed to do the audit for a lower fee.

The current auditors had discovered a number of internal control weaknesses
in Backle and had reported them to management, but nothing appeared to
have been done by management to improve the control system.

There were ongoing disputes with the tax authorities about the amount of
tax payable by Backle on profits for the previous three years.

Backle Company has a poor public relations image. It is currently under
investigation by both the police authorities and the regulatory authorities for
alleged breaches of regulations, and some of these had been widely reported.
The company is ambitious and plans to expand its business in the next year
or so. It expected to obtain bank loans to finance most of the expansion.

What is sues should the audit firm consider when deciding whether or not to
accept the new audit appointment?

© Emile Woolf International 116 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria




Chapter 5: Practice management

A Answer
The following matters may be considered.

a Reputation. The audit firm may decide that it does not wish to be associated
with a client company whose public relations image is poor. The bad
reputation of the company may transfer to its auditors.

O Advocacy threat. The criminal or regulatory investigation may lead to legal
action, and the audit firm may be faced with an advocacy threat, and be
expected to defend the company against the allegations that have been
made against it.

a Aggressive management. Backle Company has aggressive managers who are
willing to argue with auditors and who want to keep costs as low as possible.
There is a high risk of continuing disputes over audit fees.

U Audit risk. If the company applies for new bank loans, it will probably be
required to submit audited financial statements to the bank as part of the loan
application. The management of Backle have a strong interest in presenting
financial statements that show strong profits and a healthy statement of
financial position. The risk that the financial statements may be misstated
could therefore be high. (The audit firm would probably wish to consider
including a disclaimer in their audit report, to reduce the risk of liability to a
bank for ‘negligent’ auditing in the event that the financial statements turn out
to be misstated and the errors are not identified by the auditors.)

a High audit risk is also suggested by the weak internal controls and failure by
management to improve controls.

U The high audit risk means that a new auditor would want to conduct a very
careful audit of the opening balances: this would add to the cost and time
required for the audit, which Backle management may refuse to accept.

However there is no evidence of fraud (or suggestion of fraud) by anyone in the
company, and the audit firm may decide to accept the audit appointment, subject to
agreement about fees. Acceptance of a new audit client is a matter of judgement.

24 Books, documents andrecords

Client books and records: right of lien

Once a new auditor has been appointed, the outgoing auditor should arrange for
the transfer of any books and records belonging to the client that are in his
possession.

However, where fees remain unpaid, the outgoing auditor may wish to exercise a
legal right of lien over those client books andrecords.

O Alienis aright to retain possession of property belonging to another until
amounts due arepaid.

O  Auditors have a ‘particular’ (as opposed to a ‘general’) lien. This means that
the right of lien is only in respect of those books and records on which the
auditor has performed auditwork.
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In order for the lien to be applied:
0 the documents must have come into the auditor’s possession lawfully,and

O  aninvoice must have been sent to the client company for the fees owing,
and there must be no dispute overfees.

Unfortunately, in some countries, legal decisions have been taken that mean a
lien cannot be exercised over books and records which the client is required to
keep by law. In many cases, this legal requirement applies to most of the client’s
books and records. Consequently, these legal decisions may significantly reduce
the effectiveness of the right of lien.

Auditor working papers

Audit working papers are documents prepared by the auditors for the purpose of
carrying out their audit work. In general, these belong to the auditors, unless there
is a provision to the contrary in the engagement letter or in national law.

However, the outgoing auditor will be expected to provide the proposed new
auditor with information that is sufficient for a reasonable handover of audit
responsibilities. The precise nature of this information will depend on the stage
that the audit has reached when the responsibility for the audit passes from the
‘old’ audit firm to the new one.
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3 OBTAINING AND CHARGING FOR PROFESSIONAL WORK

Section overview

Obtaining professional work
Advertising and publicity

Fees

Tendering

Credit control within an audit firm

3.1 Obtaining professionalwork

Audit practices will want to increase the size of their client base as a means of
increasing the profits of the practice. This can be achieved by:

O promoting their (good) reputation in the businesscommunity
O  recommendations from existingclients

O advertising

O publicity and promotion (such as sponsorshipactivities).

3.2 Advertising andpublicity

When a professional accountant in public practice solicits new work through
advertising or other forms of marketing, there may be a threat to compliance with
the fundamental ethical principles. For example, a self-interest threat to
compliance with the principle of professional behaviour is created if services,
achievements, or products are marketed in a way that is inconsistent with that
principle.

Advertising and publicity activities by accountancy firms are therefore regulated
by IFAC and ICAN through their codes of ethics and conduct respectively. Note
that ICAN has adopted all of IFAC’s guidance in this matter.

The main requirements for marketing professional services are that the
advertising and publicity material used by any firm:

a must not bring into disrepute the professional body, the firm or the
profession as awhole

O should not make exaggerated claims for services offered, qualifications
possessed or experience gained — it should be honest and truthful and not
mislead

O  must not discredit the services provided by other firms or make disparaging
references to unsubstantiated comparisons to the work of another
CharteredAccountant

O must not break any locally-recognised codes of advertisingpractice.

In addition, it is recommended that advertising and publicity material should avoid
any reference to fees. If fees are mentioned, there should be a statement of the
basis on which the fees are to be charged. Comments about fees:

O must not bemisleading

a must not offer discounts,and
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3.3

O  must not make comparison with the fees of other service providers.

ICAN’s Professional Code of Conduct and Guide for Members states that if a
Chartered Accountant in public practice is in doubt whether a proposed form of
advertising or marketing is appropriate, they should consult through the
Registrar/Chief Executive of ICAN.

Fees

General approach

The question of setting a ‘price’ for the provision of a service is always a sensitive
matter, because of disputes that may arise if the fees are unreasonable.

In establishing the fee for professional work, the accountant should follow
professional guidance. In any case they must ensure they do not breach any of
the fundamental ethical principles.

For example, a self-interest threat to professional competence and due care may
be created if the fee quoted is so low that it may be difficult to perform the
engagement in accordance with applicable technical and professional standards
for that price. Safeguards against threats may include:

a making the client aware of the terms of the engagement and, in particular,
the basis on which fees are charged and which services are covered by the
quoted fee (through the engagement letter);and

O  assigning appropriate time and qualified staff to thetask.

ICAN’s Code of Conduct states that a member is entitled to charge for his
services. Where the basis of a fee has not specifically been agreed then a
member should charge a fee which is fair and reasonable taking into account:

O  the seniority and professional expertise of the persons necessarily engaged
in thework;

O the time expended byeach;
O  the degree of risk and responsibility which the workentails;

O the priority and importance of the work to the client together with any
expenses properlyincurred.

Firms should then charge the client the fee that they have quoted or the tender
that the client has accepted, unless extra work is required. If extra work is
required that was not expected when the original fee was agreed, the firm must
provide an explanation to justify the higher fee.

Other ICAN code of conduct guidelines

ICAN’s code of conduct provides further specific guidance regarding fees as
follows:

O  ICAN advises minimum charge-out rates in respect of fees for professional
services which are intended to set a benchmark below which members are
not ordinarily expected tocharge

O A member should inform a client in writing prior to commencement of any
engagement the basis upon which any fee he proposes to charge for his
services will be calculated and, on request and where practicable, the level
of fees likely to be charged for anyassignment
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O  The member should discuss and explain the basis on which fees will be
calculated, including the estimated initial fee, at the earliest opportunity.
This discussion should be confirmed in writing, normally in an engagement
letter.

O Firms should not quote a level of fees for new audit work which is lower
than that charged by an existing auditor. Firms should also not quote by
tender a level of fees which they have reason to believe is significantly
lower than those quoted by other tendering firms. In both instances the
firm’s objectivity could bethreatened.

O  When performing audit work firms should ensure that their work complies
with auditing standards and guidelines and, in particular, quality control
procedures. In the event of a complaint being made to the Institute (which
might have arisen as a result of a Professional Practice Monitoring
Committee’s inspection), where fees were a feature in obtaining or retaining
the work, firms should be prepared to demonstratethat:

. the work done was in accordance with Auditing Standards;and

. the client was not misled as to the basis on which fees for the current
and subsequent years were to bedetermined.

O A member whose fees have not been paid may be entitled to retain certain
books and papers of a client upon which he has been working by exercising
a lien and may refuse to pass on information to the client or his successor
Chartered Accountant, until those fees are paid. However, a member who so
acts should be prepared to take reasonable steps to resolve any dispute
relating to the amount of that fee. The incoming auditor has a duty to assist
in the recovery of such fees within a reasonabletime.

O  Fees should generally not be based on a percentage or on contingency
calculations for audit work, reporting assignments and similar non-audit
roles.

Companies and allied matters act (CAMA)

Section 408 of CAMA provides that the remuneration of auditors may be fixed by
the directors, if the auditors are appointed by the directors. However, in other
cases, the auditors’ remuneration shall be fixed by the company at the annual
general meeting or in such manner as the company in general meeting may
determine. Remuneration in this context consists of the auditors’ fees and
expenses.

34 Tendering

Introduction

Tendering is a commercial process widely-used by companies (especially larger
companies) when they wish to change auditors. Tendering involves two or more
audit firms being invited by a company to submit a proposal for its audit work.
The invitation may or may not include the existing auditor.

This section describes the commercial tender process used by companies to
select new auditors. Section 2 above addresses the specific legal and ethical
mechanism associated with actually changing the auditor in Nigeria.
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Initial considerations

Tendering should commence only when a firm has been approached by a
prospective client. In any case, a firm should not submit a tender for the work
unless it can give satisfactory answers to the following questions:

O  Does the firm have the expertise to carry out thisaudit?

O  Does the firm have (or could it have) sufficient staff available at the
appropriatetime?

O  Are there any ethical reasons why the firm could not act (for example, a
problem with independence, or a conflict ofinterest)?

O  Are there any problems, of which the firm is aware, with the current audit or
auditors?

Specifically in relation to a tender, the firm should also ask itself:
O  Why has it been asked totender?

O  Could it (and should it?) offer to do the audit for a lower fee than other firms
are likely toquote?

O Are there any reasons why this audit is particularly attractive to the firm?
For example, will the work be carried out at a quiet time of year, or is the
company in an industry area where the firm wishes to develop its audit
experience andexpertise?

O What audit risks might arise with this particularclient?

The tendering process

The principal benefit to the client of a tendering process should be lower audit
fees, because several firms are competing for the work.

In response to the pressure to reduce their fees, audit firms have become more
efficient and lowered their costs. Even so, the tendering process can still be ‘high
risk’ for a firm. For example:

O  The firm needs to be confident that the client is one that it can deal with
professionally and economically if the tender isaccepted.

O  If the tender is not accepted, the time and cost involved in the tendering
process (which may be considerable) has been wasted. The firm needs to
be sure that a sufficiently high proportion of its tenders will be successful, to
justify thecosts.

The tendering process should be broken down into the following stages
(assuming that a firm is submitting a tender for the audit of a new client):

O  Collect background information about the possible new client. (This is
necessary when evaluating any new client, whether the fee is to be set by
tender or by any othermethod.)

O  Establish the precise scope of the work to be performed and the specific
requirements of the prospectiveclient.

U Carry out a preliminary audit risk assessment and prepare a preliminary
plan for the audit. The plan must cover the staffing requirements and the
time requirements for thework.

a Estimate afee.
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O  Prepare a submission document for the potential client. The contents of
this document will typicallyinclude:

. an outline of the key characteristics of thefirm

. clarification of the nature of the audit work or other non-audit work to
beperformed

. a statement of the requirements of the client and how the firm will
comply with them

. an outline of how the work will beperformed

. the proposed fee and the basis of itscalculation

. the range of other services which the firm could offer to theclient.
O Ifrequired, prepare and give a presentation to the potentialclient.

Evaluating the tender

In evaluating the tender, the client (company) is likely to consider the following
issues:

a Fees

The services that the firm is able toprovide
Geographical locations and coverage of the firm’soffices
Expertise of the firm and itsstaff

Reputation of thefirm

0O000O0

Whether the senior management of the company think that they will be able
to work well (on a personal level) with the potential engagement partner and
key auditstaff

O

The formal presentation itself by the auditfirm

O The extent to which the company wants to change its audit firm, and its
dissatisfaction with the current auditfirm.

Lowballing

Lowballing is the practice of tendering for the audit work at a very low fee, with the
objective of winning the audit. If it is successful in obtaining the audit, the firm will
hope that:

O it will be able to raise the audit fee in future years,or

O it will be able to recover losses on the audit fee by providing other, more
lucrative non-auditservices.

Although there is no evidence that lowballing leads to a poor-quality audit, the fact
that it exists does nothing to improve the reputation of the auditing profession. The
existence of low fees may suggest to the business community and to the general
public that audit work is of a low quality. All fees should be sufficiently adequate to
compensate a firm for the work that it carries out.

3.5 Credit control within an audit firm

An audit firm does not just charge fees. It has to collect the fees that it charges. A
failure to invoice clients promptly or a failure to collect payment within a reasonable
time after the invoice date would be an indication of poor credit
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management. Any such management weaknesses should be corrected if they
occur.

Occasionally, non-payment of fees may be due to the fact that the audit client is
in financial difficulties and cannot pay.

O Overdue fees are a threat to the independence and objectivity of the auditor,
because it might be argued that audit work has been provided free of
charge. If the unpaid amount has been overdue for a long time, it could be
regarded as a form of loan by the audit firm to the client.

O  The risk to auditor independence could be significant if the unpaid amount
is material.

O  When a client is in temporary financial difficulties it is permissible for an
auditor to make commercial arrangements for staged payments of the fees
due. The client should be made aware, however, of the ethical problems
that non-payment or late payment create for the audit firm.

O For future audits, if the audit engagement is retained, the auditor should
pay particular attention to the going concern assumption. If the client still
has continuing cash flow problems, the going concern assumption may be
challenged.

When unpaid fees are owed by a client, and the period of late payment is in excess
of what might be regarded as commercially acceptable, the audit firm should
consider whether it would be ethically appropriate to resign as auditors.

O  The ethics partner of the firm should be asked to assess the ethical threat
to the firm’s independence and integrity.

a If the decision is to continue as auditor of the client, the reason should be
documented.

O  The most recent audit papers should be checked to ensure that sufficient
appropriate evidence was obtained to support the going concern
assumption in the financial statements.
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4 AGREEING THE TERMS OF AUDIT ENGAGEMENTS: ISA 210

Section overview

The objective of the engagement letter

The content of the engagement letter

Annual review of the engagement letter

Acceptance of a change in the terms of the engagement

4.1 The objective of the engagement letter

The objective of the auditor, per ISA 210 Agreeing the terms of audit
engagements is accept or continue an audit engagement only when the basis
upon which it is to be performed has been agreed. This is done by:

O  establishing whether the preconditions for an audit are present;and

U confirming that there is a common understanding between the auditor and
management.

To establish if the preconditions for an audit are present ISA 210 requires the
auditor to:

O establish if the financial reporting framework to be used in the preparation
of the financial statements is acceptable

O  obtain the agreement of management that it acknowledges and
understands its responsibility:

. for the preparation of the financialstatements

. for internal controls to ensure that the financial statements are not
materially misstated

. to provide the auditor with all relevant and requested information and
unrestricted access to all personnel.

The auditor is required to refuse the engagement where:

O  alimitation on scope is imposed by management such that he auditor
would be unable to express an opinion on the financial statements, or

O the financial reporting framework to be used in the preparation of the
financial statements is unacceptable, or

O  management do not agree to the above responsibilities.

4.2 The content of the engagement letter
The engagement letter must include reference to the following:
O  The objective and scope of the audit.

The responsibilities of the auditor.

The responsibilities of management.

Identification of the underlying financial reporting framework.

0O00DO

Reference to the expected form and content of any reports to be issued.
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Because it specifies what the auditor will be doing and what the auditor’'s exact
responsibilities will be, the engagement letter is also seen to be an important way
of reducing the ‘expectation gap’. This is the difference between:

O  the view of the role and responsibilities of the auditors that is held by the
users of financial statements, and

O the auditor’s actual (statutory) role and responsibilities.

In addition to the above, the auditor may feel that it is appropriate to include
additional points in the engagement letter, such as:

O  Regulations, ISAs, and ethical pronouncements.

a The fact that because of the inherent limitations of an audit, and the
inherent limitations of internal control, there is an unavoidable risk that
some material misstatements may not be detected even though the audit
was properly planned and performed in accordance with ISAs.

O  Arrangements regarding the planning and performance of the audit,
including the composition of the audit team.

U The expectation that management will provide written representations.
O  The basis on which fees are computed and any billing arrangements.

O  Arequest for management to acknowledge receipt of the engagement letter
and to agree to its terms.

O Arrangements concerning the involvement of other auditors, experts or
internal auditors (or other staff of the entity).

O  Any restriction of the auditor’s liability when such possibility exists.

Best practice also recommends that the engagement letter should include an
explanation of the auditor’s responsibility with regard to anti-money laundering
checks and procedures.

Annual review of the engagement letter

The engagement letter that is issued on the initial appointment of the firm as
auditors may specify that its provisions will apply to all future audits, until it is
revised.

However, ISA 210 requires the auditor, for recurring audits, to assess whether:
O  circumstances mean that the terms of engagement need to be revised
O  management need to be reminded of the existing terms of the engagement.

The ISA suggests that the following factors may indicate that the above is
appropriate:

O  Anyindication that the entity misunderstands the objective and scope of the
audit.

Any revised or special terms of the auditengagement.

A recent change of senior management.

A significant change in ownership.

A significant change in nature or size of the entity’s business.

0O00O0D

A change in legal or regulatory requirements.
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O  Achange in the financial reporting framework adopted in the preparation of
the financial statements.

O  Achange in other reporting requirements.

4.4 Acceptance of a change in the terms of the engagement

The entity might, in certain circumstances, ask the auditor to change the terms of
the audit engagement. This might result from a genuine change in circumstances
or from a misunderstanding as to the nature of an audit as originally requested.
However, it could result from a situation where the auditor is unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding a material item. The entity might
then ask for the audit engagement to be changed to a review engagement to avoid
a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion.

ISA 210 requires the auditor to consider the justification for the request and
whether it is “reasonable”.

O If the auditor considers that it is a reasonable request then revised terms
should be agreed and recorded.

O If the auditor is unable to agree to a change of terms he should withdraw
from the engagement and consider whether there is any obligation to report
the circumstances to those charged with governance, owners or regulators.
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5 CHAPTER REVIEW

Chapter review

Before moving on to the next chapter check that you now know how to:

m  Describe the components of a system of quality control applied to a firm of
accountants performing audit and assurance engagements

m  Explain the process around changes in professional appointment including the
legal, commercial and ethical considerations

m  Apply ISA 210 in agreeing the terms of an engagement
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Quick quiz questions

1 According to ISA 220, who should have the responsibility for key quality control matters
and for the overall quality of the audit?

A

B
C
D

The senior partner of the audit firm

The board of directors of the client company
The engagement partner

The entire audit team

2 Which of the following items does a letter of engagement normally include?

O 0O ©® >» & 0N

Statement of the auditor's duty to prepare the financial statements
Basis of fees

Auditor's unrestricted access to documents and records

Provision of a letter of weakness (management letter)

1, 2 and 3 only

1, 3 and 4 only

2,3 and 4 only

1, 2 and 4 only

3 Quality control procedures for specific audit engagements may be applied by means of:

A

B
C
D

training of audit staff

supervision of audit staff

compliance with IFAC ethical rules
monitoring the independence of audit staff

4 Client screening before accepting a new audit appointment involves:

A
B
C

D

checking whether the firm has sufficient technical expertise to do the work
checking whether a conflict of interests might exist

taking up reference for the company and its directors if these are not known to the
firm

communicating with the previous auditors about the circumstances leading to the
change of auditor

5 A review of an audit by the engagement partner should be carried out:

A

after the audit report is signed and after a similar review by the audit senior’ B
after the audit report is signed and before a similar review by the audit senior’
after a similar review by the audit senior but before the audit report issigned’
before a similar review by the audit senior and before the audit report issigned’
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Quick quiz answers

1 Cc

2 C

It is management's duty to prepare the financial statements, not the auditor's.

3 B

Quality control procedures specific to individual audit engagements involve the direction
and supervision of staff and review of their work.

4 C

Before agreeing to accept a new audit engagement, the audit firm should consider
several issues, including conflicts of interest and technical capacity to do the work.
However, client screening is specifically checking the references provided by the
company and its directors, when these are not known to the audit firm.

5 C

The review by the audit engagement partner takes place towards the end of the audit,
before the audit report is signed. Usually, the audit senior carries out a similar review
before the review by the engagement partner, in an attempt to anticipate issues that the
engagement partner might raise.
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INTRODUCTION

Competencies
Accepting professional engagements and managing assignments

B1(c) Analyse and evaluate the potential issues that determine the nature, scope
and extent of an assurance or audit engagement.

Planning and undertaking audit work

C1 (a) Analyse, evaluate and explain the key areas of a business that are important
to understand in developing an effective strategy or plan based on a business
scenario. (ISA 300 — Planning an audit of financial statements)

C1 (b) Analyse and evaluate the relevant techniques needed for an effective
understanding of the audit work.

C1 (k) Analyse and evaluate how risk and materiality judgements affect the planning
of an assurance or audit engagement, including the nature, timing and extent
of work.

C1(I) Develop an audit plan, justifying judgements made on an audit or assurance
engagement based on a business scenario, including considerations relating
to:

e Internal control assessments including information technology(IT)

C1 (o) Explain local and international frameworks for auditing and assurance work in
private and public sectors.

Assessment of risks, internal controls, internal financial controls

C2(c) Analyse the role of information technology control framework in internal
control.

Application of information technology in auditing

C5 (b) Analyse the benefits of IT control frameworks in internal controls (example
COBIT Framework).

Exam context

It is critical that audit and assurance students appreciate the different strategies that can be
adopted in performing an audit.

In this chapter students will gain a thorough understanding of the modern risk-based
approach to auditing which represents the fundamental approach adopted in ISAs. You will
also study in some depth the system of internal controls, also very relevant to modern audit
strategy. Finally students will study the more traditional ‘balance sheet approach’.

At the end of this chapter, readers should be able to:

] Summarise the different types of audit strategies and factors that impact which strategy
is adopted

[ ] Explain the business risk approach and be able to identify and assess business and
financial risks

[ ] Describe the systems-based approach and articulate the components of a system of
internal control

] Summarise the statement of financial position approach
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1 AUDIT STRATEGIES

Section overview

m A choice of audit strategies
m  Summary of available audit strategies
m  Factors in the choice of audit strategy

11

1.2

A choice of audit strategies

An audit strategy is the overall approach that the auditor decides to take for an
audit, from which a detailed audit plan can be developed.

Several possible audit strategies are available:

O  abusiness risk approach, or risk-based approach

O  asystems-based approach

O a substantive testing approach

O astatement of financial position approach (usually for small entities).

These strategies are not mutually exclusive, and they may be used in
combination. For example, although most of the work on a particular audit might
be ‘systems-based’, the auditor will also carry out some substantive testing on
balances and transactions.

The different approaches describe the emphasis of the audit approach, and where
the auditor expects to find most of the evidence that he needs to reach an audit
opinion about the ‘fair presentation’ or ‘true and fair view’ in the financial
statements.

Summary of available audit strategies

The main audit strategies are summarised in the following table. They will be
described in more detail in the rest of the chapter.

Strategy/approach  Outline of approach

Statement of m This audit approach concentrates on the statement of
financial position financial position figures using substantive testing, on
approach the argument that if the opening and closing

statements of financial position are accurate, then the
profit or loss for the year must also be stated
accurately.
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Strategy/approach  Outline of approach

Substantive testing m This approach focuses on applying substantive tests

approach to a large number of transactions and account
balances recorded in the accounting system of the
client.

m This focus on recorded transactions and balances
means that under-statements may not be detected.
(The auditor may ignore transactions that have not
been recorded.)

m This approach is time-consuming and costly for the
audit of large companies.

m This approach is appropriate where systems and
controls are weak or not operating. Substantive tests
on transactions and balances are therefore
necessary to reach an opinion about the financial
statements.

m |tis widely used for the audit of smaller entities
where controls are likely to be weak.

m There is a danger of spending too much time auditing
transactions or balances that are not material.

m There is a risk that misstatements in the financial
transactions will not be detected unless all
transactions and balances are tested, not just a

sample.
Systems-based control to the systems that produce the figures in
approach the financial statements, rather than on the figures
themselves.

m A systems-based approach is supported by some
degree of substantive testing, because of the
unavoidable limitations or weaknesses in internal
control systems. (The amount of substantive testing
required will depend on the auditor’'s judgement
about the effectiveness of the internal controls.)

m |tis also supported by the use of analytical
procedures.

m |t is more cost-effective than a full substantive testing
approach, but there is still a danger of doing too much
unnecessary auditing of areas where controls are
operating well.
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Strategy/approach  Outline of approach

Risk-based m An assessment is made of the likelihood of material
approach and misstatements existing in each area of the audit.
business risk

m Areas that are assessed as high-risk are audited
extensively (using substantive tests, a systems-
based approach and analytical procedures).

approach

m Areas assessed as low-risk are given a low level of
attention in the audit.

m Auditing methods (applied mainly by large audit
practices) focus on ‘business risk’ rather than overall
‘audit risk’.

1.3 Factors in the choice of audit strategy
The selection of the audit strategy will depend on a number of factors, including:

O the nature and size of the client’s business: a business risk approach is
best-suited for large companies, and a statement of financial position
approach is usually the most suitable for small companies

O the control procedures and control environment in place: a systems-based
approach is most suitable when there is a strong control environment and
internal control system

O  the audit methods and techniques favoured by the audit firm: for example,
larger audit firms may favour a business risk approach.

You may be asked to select and justify an audit strategy for a particular client in
the examination, in which case, students would be considering factors, such as
those mentioned above.
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2 THE BUSINESS RISK APPROACH

Section overview

The development of audit strategy and practices

The meaning of the business risk approach

The nature of the business risk approach

Internal business risks and external business risks

Risk evaluation

Advantages and disadvantages of the business risk approach
Comparison of business risk and financial statement risk

2.1 The development of audit strategy and practices

Auditing practice has developed significantly over recent years. The main
reasons have been:

O  the increasing size and complexity of business units, and the challenges
created for the audit process by size and complexity

O an attempt to improve the efficiency of the audit process.

The first major development in the ‘normal’ audit approach was a switch from an
emphasis on substantive testing to a systems-based approach, that concentrates
much more on internal control systems and the testing of systems and controls,
and normally relies much less on substantive testing.

Then the concept of the ‘risk-based’ audit developed. In a risk-based audit, the
auditor concentrates most of the audit work on areas of high overall audit risk. (As
you know, audit risk is a combination of inherent risk, control risk and detection
risk.)

More recently, larger audit practices in particular have developed a ‘business risk’
approach to audit work.

Business risk is the threat that an event or development may adversely
affect the ability of the entity to achieve its objectives. It is the risk of an
adverse development that could have a major impact on the company’s
business, such as the loss of a major customer, or an increase in the cost of a
key commodity. An adverse business event is likely to affect the company’s
business significantly, and so should be expected to affect its financial
statements.

Business risks are risks faced by management of the client entity, which could
have an impact on the financial statements (including the going concern
assumption).
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2.2 The meaning of the business risk approach

The business risk approach involves the auditor looking at the business as a
whole and carrying out an evaluation of the risks to which it may be exposed.

The auditor identifies the business risks which may have an impact on the
financial statements of the client company. The general approach is to:

O  identify the key business risks
U evaluate their possible impact on the financial statements

O plan the approach to the audit around the key business risks that have
been identified.

This approach cannot work effectively unless the auditor has a good
understanding of the client’s business and the environment in which it operates.
(Understanding the client’s business and business environment is a requirement
for all auditors, in ISA 315 Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement
through understanding the entity and its environment.)

2.3 The nature of the business risk approach

The business risk approach starts at an earlier stage than the ‘conventional’ audit
risk model, which is based on inherent risks and control risks (and detection risks).

By looking at the nature of the client’s business, the auditor should develop an
understanding of the events and circumstances that may affect the entity’s ability
to meet its objectives. By understanding business risks, the auditor should also
develop a better understanding of the inherent risks and the control risks facing
the client.

The business risk approach is sometimes referred to as a ‘top down’ approach
to an audit.

O The approach starts ‘at the top’ with the business, which generates the
financial transactions.

O  The approach ends ‘at the bottom’ with the financial statements which
record the outcome of the business transactions.

The business ‘drives’ the financial statements.

This is a ‘high level’ approach to the audit, and has similarities with business
management and strategy. Using this approach to an audit successfully depends
on having adequate and up-to-date information about the client’s business and
business environment.

For this reason, the larger auditing practices that use the business risk approach
will often organise their audit teams into specialised industry groups, or may have
industry experts available or may construct specialised databases for particular
industries.

When the auditor takes a business risk approach he needs to be aware not only
of the current position of the client's business, but also of possible future
developments that may affect its goals and objectives.

The auditor is interested in business risk not for its own sake, but in the
light of its possible impact on the financial statements.
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2.4 Internal business risks and external business risks

With the business risk approach, the auditor must identify key business risks for
the client company. Business risks may arise from the external environment in
which a company operates, or from within the company itself.

External business risks

Examples of external business risks might include the following:

a

a

a

a

The possible loss of a major contract as a result of a dispute with the
customer.

Long-term decline in demand for the company’s products, and failure to
invest in research and development of new products.

The impact of a new competitor moving into the market.

The impact of proposed changes in laws and regulations: for example where
a company needs a licence to operate (as in financial services) there may
be a risk that the licence will be withdrawn or will not be renewed.

The effect of recently discovered new technology.

The effect of changes in the macro-economy, such as changes in interest
rates or exchange rates, or a downturn in the economy (lower economic
growth, or possibly an economic recession).

The impact of natural hazards (such as storms and flooding that may affect
the company’s ability to maintain operational capacity).

Threats from competitors to a company’s patents or copyrights.

Internal business risks

Examples of internal business risks might include the following:

]
]

a
a

Risks arising from ineffective employees or weak management.

The risks from a lack of customer care and attention to customer needs:
poor customer awareness will eventually have an effect on sales demand.

Poor financial management (such as excessive levels of gearing, poor cash
management and poor working capital control).

Lack of finance for capital expenditure on equipment replacement or
modernisation.

Risks due to systems weaknesses or system failures: internal control
weaknesses.

Risks from over-reliance on one or two key individuals.

The risk of fraud or the misappropriation of assets.

The internal and external risks listed above are examples of risk, not a
comprehensive list of business risks. In an examination question, you may be
expected to identify key business risks (both external and internal) from the
nature of the business and the facts given to you in the question.

For your examination, you need the ability to read a case study or scenario and:

a

identify and explain business risks that are apparent in the information you
are given, and
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O  explain how these risks have an impact on the company’s ability to meet its
objectives, and so have an impact on the audit.

Attempt your own answer to the following example before reading the answer
provided.

Example: Business risks
Q Sting, a limited liability company, was incorporated in Ruritania on 1 June Year 1.
In July, the company exercised an exclusive right that it had been granted by the
government of Sordobia to provide daily flights direct between Zob (the capital city
of Sordobia) and Polletta (the main commercial city of Ruritania).

The service has been widely advertised in the national newspapers of both
countries as ‘prompt, efficient and reliable’. As a result of these flights, it is
expected that the travelling time between Zob and Polletta will be reduced by
about eight to ten hours. This shortened travelling time should increase the volume
of commerce and trade between the two countries.

Sting operates a refurbished 30-year-old aircraft. This is leased from an
international airline and registered with the Sordobian Airways Authority (SAA) The
SAA has a strict requirement that the engines of all aircraft on its register should
be overhauled every two years. The overhaul of an aircraft engine usually puts
the aircraft out of operational activity for up to five weeks.

The air craft can carry 20 First Class, 50 Business Class and 80 Economy Class
passengers. It also has a large hold for transporting cargo, in addition to
passenger luggage.

On-board meals for the three-hour journey are prepared in Zob under a contract
with an airport catering company. Market research by Sting has shown that
passengers are in general dissatisfied with the quality of in-flight food, especially
on the Polletta to Zob flight.

Sting employs 12 full-time cabin crew attendants whose training in air- stewardship
includes first aid training and medical procedures in the event that passengers are
taken ill or injured during a flight. The captain and co-pilots for the aircraft are
provided under contract by the international airline that leases the aircraft to Sting.

Flight tickets are sold by Sting (by telephone and at its offices and airport reception
desks) and by travel agents in Ruritania and Sordobia. On several occasions there
has been over-booking of Economy Class seats. When this happens, customers
are upgraded to Business Class. At the moment there is spare capacity in First
Class and Business Class on all flights. Ticket prices for each class depend on
several factors, such as whether the tickets are refundable (so that customers get
their money back if they cancel their trip), exchangeable (so that customers can
exchange tickets on one flight for tickets on an earlier or later flight). Ticket prices
also vary with the day of the week and time of year.

Sting has extensive insurance cover, including employer’s liability insurance (against
the risk of accidents to employees) and passenger liability insurance (against the risk
of liability to passengers for death, injury, extensive flight delays and other risks).

Required:
Identify and explain the business risks facing Sting.
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A

25

Answer

The business objective of Sting is to make profits from the provision of a daily
air service between the two cities.

Ananalys is of business risks should identify what risks exist with in the
business of Sting that might threaten the successful achievement of this
objective, and in doing so have an impact on the financial statements of Sting.

Key word or phrase in the text of the Business risk indicated
scenario
Exclusive right Sting has a right to operate the flights, but

there are presumably terms and
conditions attached to this right that Sting
must comply with. The risk is a risk of
non-compliance with the terms and
conditions, which might put into doubt the
company’s continued right to operate the
flights.

Exclusiveright Sting is currently operating a monopoly,
but this may not always be the case and
potential  future competition could
significantly —affect the company’s
business.

Widely advertised ...as ‘prompt, Sting
might not live upto its own efficient and
reliable’ advertising and might disappoint
customers, affecting its business.

30 year-old aircraft The age of the aircraft could cause
operating problems if it needs frequent
repair. The relatively old age might also
mean that fuel consumption (and
therefore costs) is higher.

Leased Sting will have no means of operating
its service if it does not keep up the
lease payments.

Overhaul of an engine usually puts the Sting must have the engine overhauled
aircraft out of operational activity for up regularly under the regulations of the
to five weeks. SAA, but this will mean a break in its

services as there is only one plane.

Note that a case study might include information about problems that are not
sufficient to justify the attention of the auditors. There are three examples here:
the quality of in-flight food, over-selling Economy Class tickets and having to
upgrade some passengers to Business Class, and the need to obtain insurance.

Risk evaluation

Not all risks are of equal significance. The significance of a risk to the auditors
depends on two factors:

O The ‘impact’ that it will have on the financial statements if an adverse event
occurs. It is the ‘size’ of the risk. In an auditing context, this could be broadly
interpreted as the ‘materiality’ of the risk.
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O  The likelihood or probability that an adverse event will occur so that the risk
becomes ‘reality’.

Auditors may use a standard model to assist them to rank risks in order of
importance. The model below is widely used in management and strategy areas
— it is not specifically an auditing model.

High impact Category 1 risk Category 2 risk
Low impact Category 3 risk Category 4 risk

Most of the emphasis in an audit will be placed on risks in Category 1, where the
impact of an adverse event and the probability that it will happen are both high.
The least emphasis will be placed on risks in Category 4, because the impact of
an adverse event will be small and the probability of it happening is low. Ranking
risks in categories 2 and 3 in order of seriousness/priority will depend on the
judgement of the auditor.

2.6 Advantages and disadvantages of the business risk approach

The business risk approach has some advantages and also some disadvantages.

Advantages

O  The approach requires the auditors to acquire an in-depth knowledge of the
client’s business. This should make the auditors more knowledgeable, and
able to make a better judgement about the client’s financial statements.

O When the business environment is changing rapidly, a business risk
approach keeps the auditor up-to-date.

O  Evidence suggests that major audit problems are more likely to result from
business-related problems than from internal control weaknesses.

U Abusiness risk approach may allow the auditor to ‘add value’ by making
effective recommendations to improve the performance of the client’s
business.

O Audit costs may be reduced, because there is less audit testing, which
saves time, especially the time of junior audit staff.

O  The approach may benefit the auditor's own business, because its use of a
‘modern’ business risk approach may differentiate the firm’s audit services
from those of its competitors.

Disadvantages

O  The business risk approach requires audit staff with suitable experience,
including partners and managers. The time of these individuals is
expensive. This may offset some of the cost savings (mentioned above)
from a reduced need for junior audit staff.

O  The business risk approach requires a closer involvement by the auditor in
the client’s business. This may raise questions about auditor independence.

O  Some auditors feel uneasy about the ‘broad’ view taken by the business
risk approach, and consider a systems-based view to be more appropriate
for reaching an opinion on the financial statements.

O  The approach may be effective only for the audits of larger companies.
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2.7 Comparison of business risk and financial statement risk

Business risk is a risk that the business entity will fail to meet its objectives.
Financial statement risk is the risk that the financial statements will not give a true
and fair view, due to misstatements and omissions.

There is normally a close connection between these two categories of risk.

O  When there is a significant business risk, failure by management to deal with
the risk could affect items in the financial statements. For example, a risk
from declining sales demand for a product should raise questions about the
obsolescence of product inventories and the realistic useful economic life
and net realisable value of the non-current assets that make the product. The
going concern assumption may be challenged, if the product has been a
major source of income and profit in the past.

a Weaknesses in internal control are a business risk which could result in
misstatements in the financial statements.

Example: Business risk and financial risk
Q An audit team has just completed the audit of an important client. One of the

risks they identified is as follows:

The client’s new research laboratory was threatened with closure due to failure by
the company to obtain official planning permission for its construction. The
laboratory was therefore constructed illegally, and there was the risk that it would
have to be demolished.

a The business risk was the risk that the laboratory would be forced to close,
for regulatory reasons.

a The financial statement risk was that if this were to happen, the value of
the laboratory (and possibly all the equipment within it) would be over-
stated in the accounts and should be written down substantially in value,
possibly to RO0.

Both business risk and financial risk should be assessed by the auditor, in order
to assess the elements of the financial statements where misstatement is most
likely to happen.
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3 THE SYSTEMS-BASED APPROACH

Section overview

The nature of a systems-based approach to an audit
What makes an effective system of internal controls?
The control environment

The entity’s risk assessment process

The information system

Control activities

Monitoring of controls

How the auditor uses internal controls

The auditor’s evaluation of internal controls

Summary of the approach to reliance on internal controls

3.1 The nature of a systems-based approach to an audit

A systems-based approach to an audit focuses on the internal control system of
the client company and the adequacy of its internal controls.

As part of his risk assessment exercise, the auditor is required by ISA 315 to
‘obtain an understanding of the entity and its environment, including its internal
controls.’

It is the responsibility of management to put in place a suitable system of internal
control, to address identified financial statement risks, operational risks and
compliance risks. Effective internal controls, provided that they are implemented
properly, should ensure:

a reliable financial reporting;
O  the effectiveness and efficiency of operations; and
O  compliance with appropriate laws and regulations.

The effectiveness of internal controls: testing the controls for effectiveness

With a systems-based approach, the auditor aims to rely on the accounting
systems and the related internal controls to ensure that transactions are properly
recorded.

U His assumption is that if the systems and the internal controls are adequate,
the transactions should be processed correctly, and the financial statements
should therefore give a true and fair view.

O  The audit emphasis is therefore, as much as possible, on the systems that
process the transactions rather than on the transactions themselves.

Before the auditor can rely on the systems and controls that are in place, he must
establish what those systems and controls are, and carry out an evaluation of the
effectiveness of the controls.
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3.2 What makes an effective system of internal controls?

ISA 315 identifies five components which together make up an internal control
system. These are:

a the control environment;
the entity’s risk assessment process;
the information system;

control activities (internal controls); and

000D

the review and monitoring of controls.

3.3 The control environment

The ‘control environment’ is often referred to as the general ‘attitude’ to internal
control of management and employees in the organisation.

The control environment has been defined by the Institute of Internal Auditors as
follows: “the attitude and actions of the board [of directors] and management
regarding the significance of control within the organisation. The control
environment provides the discipline and structure for the achievement of the
primary objectives of the system of internal control. The control environment
includes the following elements:

O  integrity and ethical values;
management’s philosophy and operating style;
organisational structure;

assignment of authority and responsibility;

000D

human resource policies and practice; and
O competence of personnel.”

A strong control environment is typically one where management shows a high
level of commitment to establishing and operating sound controls.

The existence of a strong control environment cannot guarantee that controls are
operating effectively, but it is seen as a positive factor in the auditor’s risk
assessment process. Without a strong control environment, the control system as
a whole is likely to be weak.

Evaluating the control environment

ISA 315 requires auditors to gain an understanding of the control environment.
Part of this understanding involves the auditor evaluating the control
environment, and assessing its effectiveness.

In evaluating the control environment, the auditor should consider such factors
as:

O  management participation in the control process, including participation by
the board of directors;

O management’s commitment to a control culture;

O  the existence of an appropriate organisation structure with clear divisions of
authority andresponsibility;

O an organisation culture that expects ethically-acceptable behaviour from its
managers andemployees; and
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O  appropriate human resource policies, covering recruitment, training,
development and motivation, which reflect a commitment to quality and
competence in the organisation.

3.4 The entity’s risk assessment process

Within a strong system of internal control, management should identify, assess
and manage business risks, on a continual basis. Significant business risks are
any events or omissions that may prevent the entity from achieving its objectives.

Identifying risks means recognising the existence of risks or potential risks.
Assessing the risks means deciding whether the risks are significant, and possibly
ranking risks in order of significance. Managing risks means developing and
implementing controls and other measures to deal with those risks.

ISA 315 requires the auditor to gain an understanding of these risk assessment
processes used by the client company’s management, to the extent that those
risk assessment processes may affect the financial reporting process.

The quality of the risk assessment and management process within the client
company can be used by the auditor to assess the overall level of audit risk. If
management has no such process in place, the auditor will need to do more work
on this aspect of the audit planning.

3.5 Theinformation system

ISA 315 requires the auditor to gain an understanding of the business information
systems (including the accounting systems) used by management to the extent
that they may affect the financial reporting process.

This aspect of the auditor’s work will involve identifying and understanding the
following:

O  the entity’s principal business transactions;

O  how these transactions and other events relevant to the financial reporting
process are ‘captured’ (identified and recorded) by the entity;

O  the processing methods, both manual and electronic, applied to those
transactions;

O the accounting records used, both manual and electronic, to support the
figures appearing in the financial statements;

O  the processes used in the preparation of the financial statements; and
a The IT risk management processes and how risks to cybersecurity are managed.

The information system therefore consists of:

O  infrastructure (physical and hardware components) — manual accounting
systems may have little infrastructure;

software (in IT-based accounting systems);
people;

00O

procedures; and
a data.

The existence of an accepted framework such as COBIT used for systems
development may provide additional assurance to the auditor in their assessment
of the client’s information system.
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@ lllustration: COBIT

i COBIT is a globally accepted suite of tools that a client might use in order to ensure
IT is working effectively. Collectively they provide a framework for integrating

industry standards and good practice in the development of IT systems. COBIT is

all about doing the right things the right way in order to deliver benefits to the client

including:

e More effective management of IT ensuring that the client's business follows
best practice;

e Ensuring the IT associated with growing or new areas of the business is
effective;

e Enabling the client's business to be compliant with regulations; and

e Increasing the confidence of the client's suppliers and customers with regard to
the security and quality of their data.

The benefits of this include:
e Increased reliability of IT operations and reduction of IT risks (e.g. hacking); and
e Increased efficiency of audit as auditors have assurance over the IT systems.

The auditor should understand the development background of the client's
information system to help the masses how robust it is and how strong the
associated financial controls are. The key question they need to answer is
whether the information system is capable of recording and maintaining
accounting information that will enable a set of financial statements to be extracted
that reflects the underlying transactions recorded in the system.

COBIT is described in more detail in chapter 7.

3.6 Control activities

Control activities are the practices and procedures, other than the control
environment, used to ensure that the entity’s objectives are achieved. They are
the application of internal controls.

Control activities are the specific procedures designed:
O to prevent errors that may arise in processing information, or
O to detect and correct errors that may arise in processinginformation.

Categories of control activities (internal controls)

Internal controls include the following types: (In the examination, if you are asked
to suggest suitable internal controls within a given system the items in this list
should provide a useful checklist.)

O  Authorisation controls. These require that all significant transactions
must be authorised by a manager at an appropriate level in the
organisation.

O  Physical controls over assets. These are controls for safeguarding assets
from unauthorised use, or from theft or damage. An example is limiting
access to inventory areas to a restricted number of authorised personnel.

O Arithmetic controls. These are checks on the arithmetical accuracy of
processing. An example is checking invoices from suppliers, to make sure
that the amount payable has been calculated correctly.
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O  Accounting controls. These are controls that are provided within
accounting procedures to ensure the accuracy or completeness of records.
An example is the use of control account reconciliations to check the
accuracy of total trade receivables or total trade payables.

0  Management controls. These are controls applied by management. They
include supervision by management of the work of subordinates,
management review of performance and control reporting (including
management accounting techniques such as standards setting, variance
analysis, budgeting and budgetary control).

O  Segregation of duties. This type of control is explained below.

Segregation of duties

Segregation of duties means dividing the work to be done between two or more
individuals, so that the work done by one individual acts as a check on the work
of the others. This reduces the risk of error or fraud.

O  If several individuals are involved in the completion of an overall task, this
increases the likelihood that errors will be detected when they are made.
Individuals can often spot mistakes of other people more easily than they
can identify their own mistakes.

O Itis more difficult for a person to commit fraud, because a colleague may
identify suspicious transactions by a colleague who is trying to commit a
fraud.

3.7 Monitoring of controls

It is important within an internal control system that management should review
and monitor the operation of the controls, on a systematic basis, to satisfy
themselves that the controls remain adequate and that they are being applied
properly. ISA 315 requires the auditor to obtain an understanding of this
monitoring process.

3.8 How the auditor uses internal controls

When a client operates an effective system of internal control the most efficient
method of generating audit evidence normally involves the testing of controls
where possible (rather than substantive procedures). ‘Systems-based’ techniques
therefore complement the business risk approach described above in an effort to
maximise audit efficiency and focus testing on the higher risk areas.

The auditor relies on the accounting systems and the related controls to ensure
that transactions are properly recorded. The audit emphasis is therefore, as much
as possible, on the systems processing the transactions rather than on the
transactions themselves.

Understanding the controls

ISA 315 requires the auditor to obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit. Although most controls relevant to the audit are likely to relate to
financial reporting, not all controls that relate to financial reporting are relevant to
the audit. It is a matter of the auditor’s professional judgment whether a control,
individually or in combination with others, is relevant to the audit.

ISA 315 requires the auditor to:
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O  gain an understanding of each of the five components of the client’s internal
control system, and

O  document the relevant features of the controlsystems.

Once this understanding has been gained, the auditor should confirm that his
understanding is correct by performing ‘walk-through’ procedures on each major
type of transaction (for example, sales transactions, purchase transactions,
payroll).

Walk-through testing involves the auditor selecting a small sample of transactions
and following them through the various stages in their processing in order to
establish whether his understanding of the process is correct.

If he understands the controls that are in place, the auditor can go on to assess
their effectiveness, and the extent to which he can rely on those controls for the
purpose of the audit.

Assessing the effectiveness of controls

The degree of effectiveness of an internal control system will depend on the
following two factors:

O  The design of the internal control system and the individual internal
controls. Is the control system able to prevent material misstatements, or is
it able to detect and correct material misstatements if they occur? Do the
internal controls appear to be adequate and effective ‘on paper’?

O  The proper implementation of the controls. Controls are not effective
unless they are implemented properly. So are the controls operated
properly by the client's management and other employees?

The outcome of this evaluation helps the auditor to assess the control risk. This
is the risk that the internal controls will fail to prevent or detect and correct errors
in the financial statements. This evaluation will allow the auditor to decide on the
extent to which he can take a systems-based approach to the audit.

3.9 The auditor’s evaluation of internal controls

The auditor may judge that the control risk is high, or that the control risk is low
because the internal controls are effective.

O If the auditor assesses the control risk as very high, he will probably take
the view that a systems-based audit approach will not be appropriate. He
will therefore move on to detailed testing of transactions and balances (and
take a substantive testing approach to the audit).

a Before he can assess the control risk as low, the auditor must be satisfied
that the controls are well-designed and should be effective (in other words,
they seem effective ‘on paper’). Even if the controls appear to be acceptable
on paper, the auditor cannot rely on them and perform a systems-based audit
unless he is confident that the controls are actually working in practice. In
this situation, the next stage in the audit process is to carry out tests of
controls.

If the outcome of the tests of control indicates that controls are actually operating
effectively, the audit can use a systems-based approach, with a reduced amount
of substantive testing. Even if the internal control system seems to be effective,
the auditor will never rely 100% on his assessment of the controls. He will always
do some substantive testing before reaching his conclusion about the financial
statements.
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This is because of the limitations that are inherent in all control systems. It is
impossible to avoid the risk of control failure that is caused by:

O human error (and a failure to apply a control properly)

O  over-riding of controls by management (which is a deliberate decision to
ignore a control), and

O  the possibility of collusion and fraud.

Auditors will always supplement their work on systems with some substantive
testing. The amount of this testing will depend on the auditor’s evaluation of the
effectiveness of the controls.

3.10 Summary of the approach to reliance on internal controls

The auditor’s use of a systems-based approach to an audit is summarised in the
following flow chart:

_Planning and
risk assessment

l l

Assessment of Assessment of
internal controls internal controls
as weak as strong

I

Tests of controls

wols
or 0"
po Good controls
Extensive Reduced
substantive substantive
testing testing

l

Overall review
of financial
statements

Issue audit
report
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4  THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION APPROACH

Section overview

m  Substantive tests
m  The statement of financial position approach
= Smaller entities

4.1 Substantive tests

When an auditor assesses the control risk as high, he will not be able to adopt a
systems-based approach to the audit. Instead he will carry out extensive
substantive testing.

Substantive tests are audit procedures performed to detect material
misstatements in the figures reported in the financial statements. They are
designed to obtain evidence about the financial statement assertions. They
include:

a tests of detail on transactions, account balances and disclosures, and
O analytical procedures.

4.2 The statement of financial position approach

The statement of financial position approach is also an approach to the audit
based wholly on substantive testing. However, with this approach the auditor
concentrates primarily on:

O  testing balances, as opposed to
O  testing balances andtransactions.

It is an approach that is often well-suited to small companies and to companies
where assets and liabilities are substantial in relation to transactions (e.g.
investment companies).

This approach is based on the following accounting equation:
Opening net assets + Profit for the year = Closing net assets

The theory is that if the opening and closing statements of financial position are
‘correct’ then the profit for the year must also be correct.

4.3 Smaller entities

ISAs apply to the audits of all entities — whatever their size. However, additional
considerations specific to audits of smaller entities are included within the
application and other explanatory material of a ISAs, where appropriate. These
additional considerations assist in the application of the requirements of the ISA
in the audit of such entities. They do not, however, limit or reduce the
responsibility of the auditor to apply and comply with the requirements of the
ISAs.
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&'B

Definition: Small entity

The IAASB’s Glossary of terms defines a smaller entity as one which typically
possesses the following characteristics:

O  Concentration of ownership and management in a small number
of individuals (often a single owner-manager)

0 One or more of the following:
o Uncomplicated transactions
o Simple record-keeping
o Few lines of business/products

o Few internal controls
o Few levels of management with responsibility for abroad range
of controls

. Few personnel, many having a wide range of duties.

Nigerian Auditing Practice Statement (NAPS) 2 defines small entities as an
entity where:

O One or more of the following are also found:
. Few sources of income
. Unsophisticated record keeping

D Limited internal controls together with the potential for management
override of controls

Many of the control activities that would typically be found in a large company
may be inappropriate, too costly or impractical for a small entity. Segregation of
duties is an obvious example of this. Smaller entities do not have enough
employees for an ‘ideal’ segregation of duties.

Often, control systems in smaller entities are based on a high level of involvement
in day-to-day operations by the directors or owners of the company. Authorisation
controls and review controls, with the owner-manager personally authorising
many transactions, might therefore be a key feature of the control systems in
smaller entities.

Although the active involvement of an owner-manager might mitigate risks arising
from a lack of segregation of duties, the auditor will often see the involvement of
an owner-manager in day-to-day operations as only a partial substitute for ‘normal’
control systems. The following problems may arise in such types of businesses:

O  There may be a lack of evidence as to how systems are supposed to
operate. The auditor will need to rely more on inquiry than on review of
documentation.

O There may be a lack of evidence of the application of controls in practice
(for example, authorisations may not be documented).

O  Management may override whatever internal controls are inplace.

O  Management may lack the expertise necessary to control the entity
effectively an defficiently.
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O  There is unlikely to be any independent person within the management
team as there would be within “those charged with governance” in a larger
entity.

The attitudes and actions of the owner-manager will be key to the auditor’s risk
assessment. There is unlikely to be a written code of conduct so a culture of
integrity and ethical behaviour, as demonstrated by management example, will
be important.

The auditor needs to understand and evaluate whatever controls are in place and
plan his audit work accordingly. However, it is likely that a lower level of reliance
will be placed on controls in a smaller entity, which means that a considerable
amount of substantive testing will be needed.
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5 CHAPTER REVIEW

Chapter review

Before moving on to the next chapter check that you can:

m  Summarise the different types of audit strategies and factors that impact which
strategy is adopted

m  Explain the business risk approach and be able to identify and assess business
and financialrisks

m Describe the systems-based approach and articulate the components of a system
of internal control

m  Summarise the statement of financial position approach
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Quick quiz questions

1 If inherent risks and control risks are high, which of the following is MOST likely?

A

B
C
D

A business risk approach to theaudit
A substantive approach to the audit
A modified auditreport

Greater reliance on the work of internal audit.

2 The five components of an internal control system identified by ISA315 are the control
environment, the risk assessment process, internal controls, monitoring of controls and:

A

B
Cc
D

the information system
management responsibility
personnel

the organization structure

3 Which of the following statements are correct?

OO0 wm> N R

Substantive testing is not required provided that internal controls are strong.
Extended substantive testing is required whenever internal controls are weak.
Statement 1 only is correct.

Statement 2 only is correct.

Both statements are correct.

Neither statement is correct.

4 What is the purpose of walk-through tests in an audit?

A

B
Cc
D

They are used for substantive testing of transactions.
They are used to select samples of items for substantive testing.
They are used by the auditor to learn about a process and its controls.

They are used by the auditor to check their understanding of a process and its
controls.

5 Which one of the following is considered to be a key problem with auditing small
entities?

A

B
c
D

Directors may not work as hard in large companies
Management may override internal controls that exist

The organisation may have a poor cash flow forecasting system
The staff may be unhelpful
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Quick quiz answers

1

B

If inherent and control risks are high, then a substantive approach is likely, involving
much detailed testing of transactions and balances. A business risk approach is unlikely
to be appropriate due to the scale of the risks and the need to reduce audit risk to an
acceptable level.

A

ISA 315 identifies five components of internal control: the control environment, the
entity's risk assessment process, the information system, control activities and the
monitoring of controls.

B

Some substantive tests are needed even when internal controls are strong.

D

Walk through tests are used by the auditor to check their understanding of a process and
its controls. This helps them to assess the effectiveness of those controls, and decide on
the extent to which the auditor can rely on those controls (and the amount of substantive
testing that will be required).

B

Regardless of how well-designed internal controls are, they are of limited use if
management can override them, as often occurs in small companies.
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INTRODUCTION

Competencies
Accepting professional engagements and managing assignments

B1 (c) Analyse and evaluate the potential issues that determine the nature, scope
and extent of an assurance or audit engagement.

Planning and undertaking audit work

C1 (a) Analyse, evaluate and explain the key areas of a business that are important
to understand in developing an effective strategy or plan based on a business
scenario. (ISA 300 — Planning an audit of financial statements)

C1 (b) Analyse and evaluate the relevant techniques needed for an effective
understanding of the audit work.

C1 (d) Evaluate and advise on elements of audit risks, including inherent and control
(risk of material misstatement), sampling and non-sampling (detection risk) and
their relationships with audit planning procedures (ISA 315 — Identifying and
Assessing the Risk of Material Misstatement through Understanding the
Entity and its Environment).

Cl (e) Identify and evaluate the components of risk for any assurance engagement.

C1 (f) Evaluate and explain how business process effectiveness may affect an audit
assignment.

C1(9) Identify and evaluate the risks arising from accounting manipulation, error,

fraud or other irregularities in a business scenario.

C1 (h) Identify and evaluate the risks arising from business and financial issues in a
business scenario.

C1 (i) Evaluate and apply judgements and measures of materiality in carrying out an
audit or assurance engagement (ISA 320 — Materiality in Planning and
Performing an Audit).

C1 (k) Analyse and evaluate how risk and materiality judgements affect the planning
of an assurance or audit engagement, including the nature, timing and extent
of work.

C1(l) Develop an audit plan, justifying judgements made on an audit or assurance
engagement based on a business scenario, including considerations relating
to:

e Materialitydecisions

e Internal control assessments including information technology (IT);

C1 (n) Describe the differences between assurance engagements and audit
engagements for profit and not-for profit entities including those in the public
sector.

C1 (o) Explain local and international frameworks for auditing and assurance work in

private and public sectors.
Assessment of risks, internal controls, internal financial controls

C2 (a) Identify and assess reporting and compliance risks in the context of an
assurance or audit engagement in the public or private sector based on a
given business scenario.
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Specialised audits and investigations

C4 (a) Understanding special features of certain types of audit and investigation
situations.

C4(a)ii Not-for-profit organisations — charities, non-governmental organisations
(NGOs)

= |dentify and explain various types and objectives of not-for-profit
organisations

= Explain how the audit of a not-for-profit organisation differs from the audit
of a profit-oriented organisation.

= Assess the audit risks associated with not-for-profit organisations.
= Develop plans and procedures for the audit of not-for-profit organisations.

= Suggest various control measures that can be applied by a not-for-profit
organisation in its operations.

= Determine the form and contents of audit report for a not-for-profit
organisation.

Application of information technology in auditing

C5 (a) Explain the impact of IT in an auditing environment.

Exam context

Planning is a fundamental phase of any audit and assurance engagement in Nigeria and other
jurisdictions. This chapter expands on the basic introduction to planning that students studied
previously and provides comprehensive notes on the audit plan, audit strategy, audit risk and
materiality.

Given the ever-increasing relevance of computers to both practitioners and their clients in
Nigeria and beyond, the chapter closes with a section on computers in auditing.

At the end of this chapter, readers should be able to:

[ Describe how to plan an auditengagement;

[ Explain the various components of audit risk;

] Discuss the principles and application of materiality;
[ Articulate the relevance of computers toauditing;

] Describe and critically assess general and application computer controls.
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1 THE AUDIT PLAN (STRATEGY DOCUMENT)

Section overview

m ISA 200: Overall objectives of the independent auditor and the conduct of an
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing

The need for an audit plan (strategy document)

ISA 300: Planning an audit of financial statements
Audit strategy memorandum

Information required to effectively plan an assignment

1.1 ISA 200: Overall objectives of the independent auditor and the conduct of
an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing

As you saw in your earlier studies, the objectives of the auditor, per ISA 200 are:

O  to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. This allows the auditor to give an opinion on whether the financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework.

O  toreport onthefinancial statements, and communicate as required by the
ISAs, in accordance with the auditor’s findings.

Where the auditor is unable to obtain reasonable assurance and a qualified
opinion is insufficient, the auditor must disclaim an opinion or resign. The
different types of opinions are covered in a later chapter.

ISA 200 requires the auditor to:

O comply with all ISAs relevant to the audit

comply with relevant ethical requirements

plan and perform an audit with professional scepticism

exercise professional judgement in planning and performing anaudit

000D

obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to allow him to obtain
reasonable assurance

1.2 The need for an audit plan (strategy document)

A plan is a course of action, decided in advance, to achieve a stated goal or
objective. A plan is necessary for each audit so that the auditor can decide in
advance what needs to be done so that (by the required date for completion of
the audit) he will be able to express an opinion on the truth and fairness of the
financial statements and achieve the objectives of ISA 200.

The extent and type of audit work performed is determined largely by the
professional judgement of the auditor. The planning process enables the auditor
to apply his judgement to the circumstances of the particular audit to decide how
the audit will be conducted.
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1.3

14

A starting point for the audit plan is deciding which audit strategy to adopt. The
auditor will need to consider, amongst other things:

O audit risk (including control risk)
a materiality

O  the use he might make of computers, and the effect that the client’s
computer-based system might have on his audit approach.

These factors are described in the rest of this chapter.

ISA 300: Planning an audit of financial statements

The auditor’'s work on planning is regulated primarily by ISA 300 Planning an audit
of financial statements, which requires the auditor to plan the audit so that the audit
work will be performed in an effective manner. An overall audit plan should be
developed, detailing the expected scope of the audit and how the audit should be
conducted.

ISA 300 states that:
O  an audit should be planned so that it is performed effectively
O  the auditor should establish an overall audit strategy, and

O  the audit plan should include measures for the direction, supervision and
review of audit work.

Audit strategy memorandum

Most auditors prepare an audit strategy memorandum. This is a document
setting out the main points involved in the planning process and the key planning
decisions that have been taken.

The memorandum will cover the following areas:
O The assignment objectives and reports to beissued.

O  The audit timetable, to meet the required reporting deadlines for the
auditor'sreport.

d  Changes in the client's organisation or business, or external
(‘environmental’) changes affecting the client’s business, since the previous
audit.

O A summary of key financial ratios and other ratios from previousyears.
O Planning decisions for the audit.

O  The use that will be made of the client’s staff in the audit (for example,
internal auditors) and the use that will be made of external experts.

O  Possible problem areas in the audit and the approach to be adopted to deal
with them.

a Staffing requirements for the audit, the planned allocation of the work
between members of the audit team, time budgets and records from
previous audits.

O

Attendance locations (if the client has more than one location).

a Proposed methods of communication with the client (for example,
meeting/reports).
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The memorandum should be reviewed and approved by the audit engagement
partner.

1.5 Information required to effectively plan an assignment

Relevant information

ISA 300 Planning an Audit of Financial Statements requires the auditor to
prepare an audit strategy and an audit plan. ISA 315 Identifying and Assessing
the Risks of Material Misstatement through Understanding the Entity and Its
Environment requires that the auditor has sufficient understanding of the entity
and its environment in order to understand the risks of material misstatement
within the client’s financial statements.

In order to satisfy the requirements of both of these ISAs the auditor will need to
access a wide number of information sources. Remember that every assignment
and client is different so the auditor (and you in the exam!) will need to use initiative
and judgement in assessing relevant and reliable information to assist in the
planning.

Note too that during the ‘planning’ phase we are not yet performing the responses
to the assessed risks of material misstatement — i.e. the detailed audit tests. These
occur at a later stage (as directed by ISA 330 The Auditor's Responses to
Assessed Risks) so the auditor must balance efficiency and sufficiency during the
planning phase to ensure they do not invest time in information and matters that
are not relevant to the planning of an assignment.

A common exam requirement involves a scenario that misses out some
information that would be relevant to the auditor either for planning or executing
the audit. You may be asked to identify any additional information required. For
example:

O  Obtain a copy of a new loan agreement with the bank to ensure that details
of any overdraft limit and debt covenants are understood and whether any
breaches haveoccurred;

O  Review legal correspondence between the client and its legal advisors
regarding an incident that occurred during the year to establish the impact
of the incident on the financialstatements;

O  Review details of any significant new sales contracts agreed with key
clients;

O  Obtain a copy of prior years’ financial statements in order to review the
accounting policies used and any provisions and contingent liabilities
recognised in the accounts relating to financial instruments, pension
obligations and legalcases.

Non-relevant information

Remember that the objective of the audit is to identify whether material
misstatement exists in the financial statements. Therefore information relating to
immaterial matters or operational matters that will not assist in concluding
whether a material misstatement exists in the financial statements may not be
relevant for audit planning.

You will encounter other types of non-audit engagement in this syllabus such as
reviews, assurance engagements, compilations and agreed-upon procedures
where information not relevant to audit planning may still be relevant to other
types of assignment.
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2 AUDIT RISK

Section overview

Risk-based approach to auditing

The audit risk model

Inherent risk

Control risk

Detection risk

Audit risk assessment: a summary

The connection between business risk, financial statement risk and audit risk

2.1

2.2

Risk-based approach to auditing

A key feature of modern auditing is the ‘risk-based’ approach that is taken in most
audits. At the planning stage, as required by ISAs 300 and 315, the auditor will
identify and assess the main risks associated with the business to be audited. The
auditor will then design and implement appropriate responses to those assessed
risks in accordance with ISA 330 The auditor’'s responses to assessed risks
including:

O  Overall responses

O Audit procedures responsive to the assessed risks of material misstatement
at the assertion level (i.e. appropriate mix of tests of controls and/or
substantive procedures)

Irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement, the auditor shall
design and perform substantive procedures for each material class of
transactions, account balance, and disclosure.

The auditor shall also consider whether external confirmation procedures
(covered by ISA 505 External confirmations) are to be performed as substantive
audit procedures.

The risk-based approach to auditing should enable the auditor to then conclude
whether a ‘true and fair view’ is presented by the financial statements.

The audit risk model

A standard audit risk model is available to help auditors to identify and quantify
the main elements making up overall audit risk.

Audit risk is the risk (chance) that the auditor reaches an inappropriate (wrong)
conclusion on the area under audit. For example, if the audit risk is 5%, this
means that the auditor accepts that there will be only a 5% risk that the audited
item will be mis-stated in the financial statements, and a 95% chance that it is
materially correct.

The audit process is designed to give a high level of assurance about the
information that is subject to audit. However, the audit process does not give an
absolute level of assurance, that the information is 100% correct.

The implication of this is that the auditor will seek to reduce the level of audit risk
to an ‘acceptable’ level, but will not attempt to eliminate audit risk entirely.

© Emile Woolf International 163 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

If the auditor is to ‘manage’ risk effectively, he needs to be able to measure the
risk attached to any given audit situation, and establish a maximum acceptable
limit to the audit risk. This led to the development of the audit risk model.

Audit risk = Inherent risk X Control risk X Detection risk
Financialstatementrisk Under the control

of theauditor

This model can be stated as a formula:
AR = IR x CR x DR

where:

AR = audit risk

IR = inherent risk

CR = control risk, and

DR = detection risk.

Risks are expressed as proportions, so a risk of 10% would be included in the
formula as 0.10.

2.3 Inherent risk

Inherent risk is the risk that items may be misstated as a result of their inherent
characteristics. Inherent risk may result from either:

O  the nature of the items themselves: for example, estimated items are
inherently risky because their measurement depends on an estimate rather
than a precise measure; or

O the nature of the entity and the industry in which it operates. For example, a
company in the construction industry operates in a volatile and high-risk
environment, and items in its financial statements are more likely to be
misstated than items in the financial statements of companies in a more low-
risk environment, such as a manufacturer of food and drink.

When inherent risk is high, this means that there is a high risk of misstatement of
an item in the financial statements.

Inherent risk operates independently of controls and therefore cannot be
controlled. The auditor must accept that the risk exists and will not ‘go away’.

The assessment of inherent risk

The auditor’s assessment of inherent risk will be based mainly on:

0 the knowledge gained from previous audits,and

O  an assessment of the current environment within which the entity operates.
It is normal practice to assess inherent risk at two'levels’:

O the financial statement level,and

U the account balances and transactions level.
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At the financial statement level, the auditor will consider the inherent risk in the
client’s business, such as:

O the integrity, skills and abilities of the management

O the nature of the business

O  industry-wide and macroeconomic factors.

At the account balances and transactions level, the auditor will consider:

O  the degree of subjectivity involved in the account balance or the transaction
O  the degree of complexity of a transaction and how it is processed

O the characteristics of the client’s assets and the level of risk that they may
be misappropriated.

Example: Inherentrisk
Q It is difficult to provide a comprehensive list of inherent risks, but you may be
required to identify one or more such risks within a case-study type of
examination question.

For example, suppose that the CEO of an audit client company is also a majority
shareholder of the company, and you are aware that he intends to sell some of his
shares soon after the financial statements are approved and issued. In this
situation there would be an inherent risk at the financial statement level, arising
from the fact that the CEO/majority shareholder has a personal interest in
presenting favourable financial statements — the reported profit for the year or the
reported statement of financial position — and may therefore have deliberately
‘window dressed’ (misstated) the draft financial statements.

2.4 Control risk

Control risk is the risk that a misstatement would not be prevented or detected by
the internal control system that the client has in operation.

In preparing an audit plan, the auditor needs to make an assessment of control
risk for different areas of the audit. Evidence about control risk can be obtained
through ‘tests of control’ for each of the major transaction cycles.

The initial assumption should be that control risk is very high, and that existing
internal controls are insufficient to prevent the risk of material misstatement.
However, tests of control may provide sufficient evidence to justify a reduction in
the estimated control risk, for the purpose of audit planning.

It is unlikely that control risk will be zero because of the inherent limitations of any
internal control system.

(Note: Control risk can be reduced by introducing new controls or better controls.
However, the design and implementation of controls is the responsibility of the
management of the company. Management may introduce better controls to
reduce the control risk in next year’s audit, perhaps on the recommendation of the
auditors, but control risk cannot be reduced for the current year's audit).
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2.5

2.6

Detection risk

Detection risk is the risk that the audit testing procedures will fail to detect a
misstatement in a transaction or in an account balance. For example, if
detection risk is 10%, this means that there is a 10% probability that the audit
tests will fail to detect a material misstatement.

Detection risk can be lowered by carrying out more tests in the audit. For
example, to reduce the detection risk from 10% to 5%, the auditor should carry
out more tests.

In preparing an audit plan, the auditor will usually:

O  set an overall level of audit risk which he judges to be acceptable for the
particular audit

a assess the levels of inherent risk and control risk, and then

O adjust the level of detection risk in order to achieve the overall required
level of risk in the audit.

In other words, the detection risk can be managed by the auditor in order to control
the overall audit risk. As noted above, inherent risk cannot be controlled because
it operates independently of controls. Control risk can be reduced by improving the
quality of internal controls; however, recommendations to the client about
improvements in its internal controls can only affect control risk in the future, not
control risk for the financial period that is subject to audit. Audit risk can be reduced
by increasing testing and reducing detection risk.

Audit risk assessment: a summary

The implications of this approach for the audit work can be summarised as
follows:

To achieve a ‘target’

level of AR

If IR xCR is high If IR xCR is low

DR must be low DR must be high
High level of audit Lower level of

testing is required audit testing

Larger sample sizes Smaller sample sizes
Issue audit
report
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In the left hand column the auditor needs to achieve a low detection risk to
compensate for the high IR x CR. This is likely to require extended testing and
hence larger sample sizes.

In the right hand column the auditor is comfortable to accept high detection risk
because they have assessed IR x CR to be low. In this case they are unlikely to
need to extend testing significantly and hence can adopt smaller sample sizes.

2.7 The connection between business risk, financial statement risk and audit
risk

It is important to understand the connection between business risk, financial
statement risk and audit risk. The connection between business risk and financial
statement risk was mentioned in a previous chapter. The connection is explained
in more detail here.

Business risk

Business risk is any risk that threatens the ability of a business entity to achieve
its objective, which can usually be stated as the objective of maximising profit or
maximising wealth. Anything that threatens this objective is therefore a risk that
profits might be lower. In extreme cases, it could mean a risk that losses will be
very large and the going concern status of the business entity might be called into
question.

Business risks can be divided into two categories.

O  Arisk might have a low probability of happening, or if an adverse event does
occur, the resulting loss might be small. Where the probability of loss is low
and the severity of the loss would be low, the risk can be regarded as
acceptable. The cost of control measures to reduce the risk would not justify
the benefits from the lower risk.

O  Abusiness risk is an applicable risk when the financial impact of the risk
could be high.

For applicable risks, management should decide on a suitable plan or strategy for
managing the risk. The chosen strategy might be any of the following.

O  Reduce the risk by introducing more internal controls.
O  Transfer the risk, for example by insuring against it.

O  Avoid therisk entirely, by withdrawing from the business operations to
which the risk relates.

O  Accept the risk, and take no action to reduce it or transfer it.

Business risk and financial statement risk

For the auditor, the significance of business risk is the impact that it could have
on the financial statements. Most business risks increase the likelihood that the
financial statements could be materially wrong. Some business risks can be
linked to specific financial statement risks such as the risk of:

a an understatement of bad debts or the allowance for doubtful debts

O  over-stating the value of inventory (where net realisable value is less than
cost)

O over-stating the value of a non-current asset (tangible or intangible) due to
a failure to recognize impairment.

© Emile Woolf International 167 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

Some business risks do not create any specific financial statement risk,
although the risk might ultimately lead to going concern problems for the
business entity.

Audit risk and financial statement risk

Business risk is a risk that management must deal with. Audit risk is a risk that
faces the auditor. It is the risk that the auditor will give an inappropriate audit
opinion when the financial statements are materially wrong (mis-stated),

Audit risk follows on from financial statement risk. The auditor should therefore
assess the financial statement risks as a step towards assessing the audit risk.

‘ Business risk ‘

Business risk could lead to financial
statement risk

‘ Financial statement risk ‘

Financial statement risk affects audit risk

| Audit risk |

Audit risk results from:

(1) Inherent risk: risk of a misstatement
where there is no internal control to
prevent it

(2) Control risk: risk that existing internal
controls will fail to detect or prevent a
material misstatement

(3) Detection risk: Risk that substantive
testing will fail to detect a
misstatement.

You may be required in the exam to identify the main audit risks in a case study.
Within the case study, there may be inherent risk, risk from weaknesses in the
internal control system and even detection risk (for example there might be only a
short amount of time and limited resources to perform the audit).

It is probable however that most of the audit risks will be identifiable as financial
statement risks. The types of risk to consider will include the following:

O Risk of over-statement of revenue or other income. There may be some
risk that revenue has not been recognised in accordance with the
requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers, and is
over-stated. This risk will occur when customers make staged payments (for
example staged payments for contract work) or pay deposits in advance (for
example customer bookings for holidays): revenue should not be recognised
until the performance obligation has been met, not when the payment is
received.

O  Risk of over-statement of current assets. For example, there may be
some doubts about whether amounts receivable will actually be recovered.
A company may fail to make a sufficient allowance for irrecoverable
amounts, and when this happens receivables and profit will be over-stated.
Another example may be the risk of over-statement of inventories, due to
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the timing of the physical inventory count or the procedures used in the
inventory counting process.

O  Risk of over-statement of non-current assets. There may be a risk that
some non-current assets are over-stated in value, when there is some
reason to suppose that impairment has occurred (for example impairment
to a building due to fire or flood damage).

O Risk of under-statement of liabilities. There may be a risk that some
liabilities are not fully stated, particularly provisions. There may be no
provision in the financial statements when it would be appropriate to make
one, and so reduce profit and increase liabilities.

O It is also possible that an exam question includes a scenario where the
company makes a provision for the cost of repairs to fire damage, when the
losses were insured, but ignores the amount recoverable through the
insurance claim. In this case profit (and other receivables) would be under-
stated.

O Risk of understatement of operating expenses. As a general rule there is
usually a fairly consistent ratio from one year to the next between elements
of cost and sales revenue. For example the ratio of administrative expenses
to revenue and the ratio of sales and distribution costs to expenses are often
fairly consistent from one year to the next. Some changes may occur, but not
usually large changes. So for example if sales revenue is increasing but the
ratio of administrative costs to sales is falling sharply, this could indicate a
risk of under-statement of operating expenses.

O  Risk from accounting estimates. The auditor should check accounting
estimates carefully. These rely on management judgement and when
estimates are a material amount there will be a significant risk of
misstatement.

O  Failure to comply with the requirements of specific accounting
standards. An exam question may provide details about the accounting
treatment of items that are the subject of specific accounting standards,
such as contingent liabilities, deferred tax, share-based payments and
related party transactions. You may be required to discuss the risks of
misstatement or non-disclosure due to a failure to comply properly with the
requirements of the accounting standard.

Example: Financial statement risks
Q Zarma,alimitedliabilitycompany,manufactures‘high-tech’computer-controlled
equipment for use in other production industries. Its directors and senior
managersarealsothecompany’sshareholders.On1JulyYear7theyaccepted
anofferfromalUScorporationtobuyZarma’sownmanufacturingequipmentand
technology,whichisprotectedbypatentrights.

Managementnotifiedtheemployees,suppliersandcustomersthatZarmawould
cease all manufacturing activities on 31 August Year 7. All the factory workers
andmostoftheemployeesintheaccountsandadministrationdepartmentswere
maderedundant,andthesamewasdulycompletedon31August.

Mostoftheemployeeswhoremainedinemploymentwiththecompanyafter31
August were made redundant from 31 October Year 7. However, the company
retained a small head office operation, consisting of the chief executive officer,
the marketing and sales directors, the chief accountant and a small accounting
andadministrativesupportteam. Thisheadofficeunitwillcontinuetooperatefor
afewmoreyearsuntilthecompany’soperationsarewounddowncompletely.
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Before the sale, Zarma operated from twelve premises. Eight of these were put on
the market on 1 August. Three of the other premises are held on leases that will
expire in the next three to five years. Under the terms of the lease agreements,
none of these premises can be sub-let and the leases cannot be sold. A small
head office building will continue to be occupied and used until the lease expires in
three years’ time. Zarma accounts for all its tangible non-current assets at
depreciated cost.

All the products sold by Zarma carry a one-year warranty. Until 31 August, the
company sold extended two-year and five-year warranties, but extended
warranties were not offered on any products sold from 1 September.

Zarma sold its products through national and international distributors, under three-
year agreements. Zarma also had annual contracts with its majors uppliers for the
purchase of components. So far, none of the distributors or suppliers has initiated
legal proceedings against Zarma for breach of contract. However, some distributors
are withholding payments from Zarma on their account balances, awaiting
settlement of the large penalty payments that they claim are now due to them from
Zarma.

Required:

Using the information provided, identify and explain the financial statement risks to
be taken into account in planning the final audit of Zarma in respect of the year
ended 30 September Year 7.

Answer
Tutorial note

Therearesomepointsthatyoushouldnoteaboutthisquestion,foranswering
examination questions on financial statementrisks.

O  The ‘question’ refers to financial statement risk. Any comments about
generalbusinessriskswillnotgainmarksinanexaminationunlessyoulink them
directly to financial statementrisks.

O The'question’asksaboutfinancialstatementrisksinrelationtothefinal audit
of Zarma. This means that general comments about financial
statementrisks,orcommentsaboutfinancialstatementrisksthatarenot
relevanttoZarma,wouldnotearnyouanymarksinanexamination.

Itisparticularlyimportantwhendiscussingfinancialstatementriskstoensure
thattherisksyouidentifyarespecificallylinkedtothefinancialstatements.

For example, Zarma manufactures ‘high-tech’ products. A business risk
associatedwiththisisthatinventorymightquicklybecomeobsolete. Thismeans
thatthereisafinancialstatementrisk,thatsoinventorymightbeoverstatedin
thefinancialstatements.ltisimportantinansweringanexaminationquestionon
financial statement risk that you should identify the financial statement risk, not
(just) the business risk. The implication for planning the audit is that audit work
should be directed at testing for a possible overvalue of the inventory due to
obsolescence.

Suggested ideas for a solution

The financial statement risks that might be identified are set out in the table
below.Theleft-handcolumnidentifiesthewordsorphrasesinthecasestudythat
should enable you to identify therisks.
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manufactures ‘high-tech’ computer-
controlled equipment

The company operates in a high-tech
environment and inventories might be
subject to obsolescence (business
risk). Therefore inventories in the

financial statements might be
overstated (financial statement
risk).

offer from a US corporationto buy
Zarma’s own manufacturing equipment

This will affect the way thatitems
are presented in thefinancial
statements. Profits or losses on
sales must be disclosed separately,
for example.

cease all manufacturing activities on
31 August Year 7

Financial statements should
therefore not be prepared on a
going concern basis, but on a
different basis, such as a break-up
basis.

made redundant

If redundancy payments have not
been paid at year end, provisions
for redundancy payments will be
needed in the financialstatements.

small accounting ... team

This may increase errors in
processing accounting transactions
towards the end of the year.
Segregation of duties (as an internal
control) might have been affected

Eight [premises] were put on the
market on 1% August

This will affect the way that the
premises are presented in the
financial statements — as assets
held for sale.

leases that will expire in thenextthree
to five years. .... noneof these
premises can be sub-letandthe
leases cannotbesold.

Full provision should be made for
these onerous contracts in the
financial statements. (This does not
apply to the head officebuilding
which is still being used)

...warranty

Provisions will be needed in the
financial statements for these
warranties.

national and international distributors,
under three-year agreements

The financial statements will need to
include a provision for costs
associated with breaching these
agreements
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Example: Business risks and financial statement risks

Fit keeper, a limited liability company, operates twelve fithess centres around
Nigeria. The facilities at each centre are of a standard design and each centre
contains a heated twenty-five metre swimming pool, a sauna, a gymnasium
and a fitness lounge. Each centre also provides supervised child care
facilities. The day-to-day operations of each centre are the responsibility of a
centre manager, who is required however to manage the centre in accordance
with strict company policies. The centre manager is also responsible for
preparing and submitting monthly accounting returns to head office in Abuja.

By law, each centre must have a licence to operate from the local government
authority. Licences are granted for periods of four years and are renewable at
the end of each four-year period subject to satisfactory inspection reports from
the inspecting authority. The average annual cost of a licence is 895,000.

All customers of the centres are enrolled as ‘members’. Members pay a
#]1,500 joining fee, plus 8800 per month for ‘peak’ membership or 8400 per
month for ‘off-peak’ membership. Fees are payable annually in advance. All
fees are stated to be non-refundable.

One of the fitness centres was closed between May and August in the
financial year just ended, after a serious accident in the sauna involving
chemicals. The centre was re-opened at the end of August, but head office
management issued an instruction to all the fithess centre managers that the
sauna facilities should be shut down until further notice.

Head office also is sued the fitness centre managers with revised guidelines
for the minimum levels of supervision for child care. This followed complaints
from some dissatisfied members to the local government authority. Centre
managers have been finding it difficult to provide the additional supervision
specified in the revised guidelines and some of them have recommended
strongly that the childcare facilities should be withdrawn.

Each centre operates early morning fitness sessions for members that run from
07.00 to 08.00 on four days each week. Every centre has had problems with
late arrivals by staff, and many members have complained strongly that they
have turned up for sessions that were shortened in length or did not run at all.

Training staff is costly and time — consuming but staff retention rates in the
fitness centres are poor. In addition, staff turnover rates among the centre
managers are also high. Most leavers complain of excessive directions
imposed on them by head office and by company policy.

Three of the fitness centres are expected to have run at a loss for the year to
31 December (just ended) due to falling membership. Fit keeper has invested
heavily in building a hydrotherapy pool a tone of these centres, with the aim of
attracting members who are past retirement age. Completion of construction is
behind schedule and costs to date are far in excess of the original budget. The
pool is now expected too pen within the next two months.

The company has experienced cashflow difficulties in the current year. As

a consequence, head office management has decided to defer by at least

one year the replacement of gym equipment in most of its centres.

Required:

(a) Identify and explain the business risks that should be assessed by
the management of Fitkeeper.

(b) Identify how each of the business risks identified in (a) may be linked
to a financial statement risk.
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Answer
Tutorial note
You should approach a solution to this question in two stages.

(1) Identify business risks. Note that part (a) refers to business risks relevant
to Fitkeeper, so comments about audit risk will not gain any marks in an
examination.

(2) Having identified a business risk, consider the impact of this risk on the
financial statements. You should comment on the financial statement risk

Suggested ideas for a solution

associated with the business risks you identify in part (a), so introducing
different risks in part (b) will not gain marks in an examination.

The business risks and the financial statement risks that might be identified are set
out in the table below. The left-hand column identifies the words or phrases in the
case study that should enable you to identify the risks.

Standard design

Operational risk is
increased by standard
design of each centre,
because a problem with
one facility at one centre
is likely to be repeated at
all the centres.

Asset values might be affected
— for example, non-current
assets might be overstated if
they have been impaired by
lack of use (e.g. saunas — see
below). Asset impairment has
probably not been recognised.

each centre must
have a licence to
operate

An operational risk exists,
because a centre cannot
operate if its licence is
withdrawn.

Each centre’s licence must be
accounted for properly, i.e.
capitalised.

Fees are payable
annually in
advance

Financial risk is increased
by payments in advance
because cash has to be
available to fund services
later when they aredue.

Deferred income must be
calculated correctly in the
financial statements.

serious accident

Serious accidents may

Provisions should be

meet the new guidelines

in the sauna prompt investigation by recognised for any fines that

involving the local government might be pending. If any

chemicals authority, leading to fines centre’s licence is affected by
or penalties or loss of such events, the licence may
licence. be impaired.

revised Compliance risk that the If failure to comply leads to

guidelines fitness centres cannot punitive action by the local

government authority, it may
be necessary to make
provisions for fines/penalties.
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many members
have complained
strongly

Risk that falling
membership will continue

Fees payable in advance are
said to be non-refundable. This
might be incorrect, and a
provision might be required for
refunds of fees.

Three ... fitness
centres are
expected to have

Risk that more centres
will become loss-making.

Possible need to consider the
going concern status of the
company, or at least to test the

behind schedule
and costs to date
far in excess of
budget

hydrotherapy pool will not
attract the expected new
members

run at a loss fitness centres for impairment
as cash-generating units.
construction Risk that the new The value of the asset should

be considered. There might be
a loss of value due to
impairment even before it has
opened for use.

defer by at least
one year the
replacement of
gym equipment

Risk of more customer
dissatisfaction and loss of
members

Risk that depreciation might be
charged for equipment that is
already fully depreciated.
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3  MATERIALITY

Section overview

m  General principles
m  Materiality thresholds
m [SA 320: Materiality in planning and performing an audit

3.1 General principles

The IASB’s Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial
statements states that “information is material if its omission or misstatement
could influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
financial statements.”

ISA 320 Materiality in planning and performing an audit deals with the auditor’s
responsibility to apply the concept of materiality when planning and performing his
audit. The revised ISA makes it clear that materiality depends on the size and
nature of an item judged in the surrounding circumstances.

It is important to appreciate that the assessment of materiality is always based
on the judgement of the auditor applied to the circumstances of a particular
case. There are guidelines on materiality — but no rules.

Materiality is relative

Materiality is a relative factor. What, and what amount will be material in the
financial statements of one company may not be material in the financial
statements of another.

Example:
Q An unrecorded sales invoice of 810,000 is unlikely to be material to the income
statement/statement of comprehensive income of a multinational company with
revenue of many millions of dollars. However, it would probably be considered
material to a small company with annual revenue of, say, %#300,000.

Despite this, such an error must still be considered carefully even in the context
of a large company as one error could indicate the existence of others which
could, in total, be material.

3.2 Materiality thresholds

In order to deal with materiality on a consistent basis, most audit firms set their
own ‘materiality thresholds’. Their audit staff are trained to use these thresholds
to ‘measure’ whether or not an item is material. Materiality thresholds vary from
one firm to another, but will typically fall within the following ranges:

Revenue 1% — 2% An item of revenue is material if it is at least
1% or 2% of annual sales revenue.

Pre-tax profit 5% — 10% An item is material if it is at least 5% or 10% of
reported pre-tax profit.

Total assets 1% — 2% A balance is material if it represents at least
1% or 2% of total assets.
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The ‘danger’ of materiality thresholds is that they are used simply to ‘measure’
whether an item is material, without considering important other factors as well.
Other factors that the auditor should consider in evaluating materiality may include
the following:

O  The nature of the item involved — The valuations of some items in the
financial statements are more subjective than others, and depend on
estimation. The more subjective the item, the more flexible the auditor should
be in assessing the materiality of possible misstatements. The auditor will
have to take a very different view on materiality when considering a warranty
provision (which is a subjective estimate), compared with the approach taken
when auditing share capital, which is capable of precise measurement.

O  The significance of the item — Some items may be insignificant in terms
of their monetary amount, but may nevertheless be of particular interest to
the users of the financial statements. An example might be bonus
payments to directors.

0  The impact of the item on the view presented by the financial
statements. A small and apparently insignificant error or omission may be
material if, by correcting it:

. a reported profit is converted into a reported loss, or
. the correction significantly alters the trend of profits (growth rate in
profits) over the past few financial years.

3.3 ISA 320: Materiality in planning and performing an audit
ISA 320 requires the auditor to apply the concept of materiality:
O  when planning and performing the audit, and

O  when evaluating the effect of misstatements on the financial statements
and therefore on his audit opinion (covered in a later chapter under ISA 450
Evaluation of misstatements identified during the audit).

At the planning stage, the auditor must determine materiality for the financial
statements as a whole. As discussed above, this is often set as materiality
thresholds. If lower thresholds are required for some areas (for example,
directors’ remuneration) these must also be set at this stage.

The auditor must also set what ISA 320 refers to as performance materiality.
Performance materiality recognises the fact that if all areas of the audit are carried
out to detect all errors/omissions under the (overall) materiality level, that
objective could be achieved, but when all the individual immaterial
errors/omissions are added together, overall materiality could in fact be breached.
Performance materiality is a way of taking this risk into account and will be set at
a lower figure than overall materiality. There may be one or more performance
materiality levels, as the level could vary by area.

As the audit progresses, the auditor must revise materiality (and, if appropriate,
materiality for particular areas and performance materiality) if he becomes aware
of information which would have caused him to have initially set different levels,
had that information been known to him at the time.

Documentation must include details of all materiality levels set and any revision
of these levels as the audit progresses.
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4 COMPUTERS IN AUDITING

Section overview

Introduction
Using computers to perform the audit

Controls in computer-based information systems: general controls and application
controls

COBIT (Control Objectives for Information and Related Technologies)
Microcomputers, on-line systems and EDI
Computer-assisted audit techniques (CAATS)

4.1

4.2

Introduction

Computer systems affect the audit process in two ways.
O The auditor may use computers to perform his auditwork.

O  The client’'s accounting systems may be computer-based. If so, the auditor
will need to consider:
. the controls that are in place for the system (and whether these are
effective), and
. whether to use computer-assisted audit techniques (CAATS) to do
some of the audit work.

Each of these should be considered at the planning stage.

Using computers to perform the audit

It is usual for members of an audit team to take laptop computers with them to
the client's premises, for use with the administration, documentation and
performance of the audit assignment. Laptop computers may be used for tasks
such as:

O  audit administration and control (for example, preparing time sheets and
audit work programmes)

O audit planning work (for example, for risk and materiality assessments)
O preparing audit working papers

O analytical procedures (including holding on file a record of statistics and
financial ratios for the client for previous years)

O sampling software (if appropriate).

Using computers for the audit may also allow managers or partners to review the
audit work that has been done without having to visit the client’s premises.
Members of the audit team can e-mail papers to managers or partners back at
the office. This saves time that would otherwise be wasted by senior managers
and partners in travelling to and from the client’s premises.

Controls over the auditors’ computer systems

When the audit work is performed largely on computers, the auditor must have
suitable controls in place. Essentially, these are the same controls that should
apply in any computer application. Controls should be in place to ensure that:
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4.3

O  client data remains confidential and cannot be accessed by an
unauthorised person

O

audit work held on computer file cannot be lost

a an audit trail is created for the work the auditor has done, to assist the audit
review and control process

O  the programs operate in the way that they are expected to.

Controls in computer-based information systems: general controls and
application controls

In a computer-based system, the internal controls will consist of both manual
procedures (such as physically locking a room) and procedures designed into
computer programs (such as passwords).

Such controls fall into two categories:

O general controls, and

O application controls.

The auditor needs to be satisfied that these controls are effective.

General controls

General controls are controls over the environment in which the computer-
based information system is designed, developed, operated and maintained.

The main categories of general control that an auditor would expect to find in a
computer-based information system are summarised in the table below.

Development of | = Appropriate standards should be established and

computer-based enforced for designing, developing, programming and
information documenting each new system.

systems and | . syitable testing procedures should be carried out on
applications each new system.

= The design of a new system should be approved
formally by the management of the system user.

There should be a segregation of duties between system
designers and system testers (to reduce the risk of error
or fraud)

There should be suitable staff training in the design and
testing of systems.

Documentation = Formal testing procedures should be applied for any

and testing of change to a current program.
program = There should be formal authorisation procedures for
changes program changes.

There should be suitable staff training in making and
testing program changes.
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Prevention or = There should be a segregation of duties between
detection of programmers and computer system operators

unauthorised All program changes must be fully documented.
rogram i .
prog = Access to program files must be restricted

changes

Program logs should be used to record access to
program files and programs.
There should be anti-virus software and back-up copies

of program files should be kept, to prevent or detect or
deal with ‘malicious’ changes to programs.

Prevention of Standard operating procedures should be established,
the use of and operations should be performed bysuitably-trained
incorrect staff

programs or The scheduling of ‘jobs’ for a computer centre should
data files specify the program files and data files to be used.

= There should be effective supervision of computer
centre operations.

= Reviews of operations should be carried out regularly by

management
Prevention of = There must be restricted access to data files, limited to
unauthorised authorised personnel
amendments to | u Transaction logs should be kept of all uses of data files,
data files and these should be reviewed by management
Ensuring = Secure back-up copies should be kept of program files
continuity of and data files

operations Measures should be implemented for the protection of

equipment against fire, power failure and other hazards

= Disaster recovery programmes should be in place, in the
event of a major disaster that puts the main computer
system out of action.

= There should be suitable maintenance and service
agreements for all major externally-acquired software.

These general controls should apply to most or all of the entity’s computer-based
information system applications, not just to computerised accounting systems. If
general controls are weak, it is unlikely that the processing undertaken by the
system will be complete and accurate.

The auditor should review and test the general controls in order to reach a
conclusion about their effectiveness. This will enable him to assess the control
risk attached to the entity’s computer-based information systems as a whole.

Application controls

It is also necessary for the auditor to identify and assess the application controls
in each specific computer-based application, such as the inventory, receivables
and payroll systems. The auditor must be satisfied that the application controls
for a particular system are effective.
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Application controls are specific controls over each specific computerised
accounting application or system. The purpose of application controls is to
provide assurance that:

O  processed transactions have been properly authorised, and
O  the processing of data is complete, accurate and timely.

In a manual processing system, internal controls vary according to the
application. For example, internal controls over inventory are different from the
controls over payroll processing. Similarly, application controls in a computer-
based information system will vary depending on the nature of the application.

However, application controls for different computer applications share a number
of common features, regardless of the particular application involved.

In particular, the auditor will place a high degree of emphasis on controls over
input. For application controls to be effective, it is essential that input must be
complete and accurate. If the input is not correct, the output from the application
cannot be expected to be correct.

A list of application controls that might be found in a computer system is set out

below.
Input Authorisation

= Data for input should be authorised before input.
= Data is input only by authorised personnel.
Completeness

There should be checks to ensure that all data has been
processed. Checks might consist of:

= Document counts (for example, counting the number of
invoices)

= Control totals
= Checking output to input

= Review of output against expected values (for example,
is the total payroll cost broadly in line with expectations)

Accuracy

There should be some checks within the computer
software on the validity of input data items (data validation
checks). These may include:

= Check digits for key code items, such as supplier codes,
customer codes and employee identification numbers

= Range checks (= a check on whether a particular value
or figure is feasible and within a realistic range of
values)

= Existence checks (= a check on whether a
particular code exists)

= Review and reconciliation of output
= Use of control totals
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Processing There should be checks that all input has been processed

and that processing is complete. Checks might include:

= Control totals

= Batch totals (where the computer counts the number of
transactions in a processed batch, and this is checked
against a manual record of the number of items in the
batch)

* Manual review
= On-screen warning that processing is not complete

Master files and | * Management review of master files and standing data
standing data = Regular updates of master files
= Record counts

The auditor should review the application controls for each application, to
establish whether they are effective ‘on paper’. He should then carry out tests of
controls to establish whether the application controls are operating effectively in
practice.

4.4 COBIT (Control Objectives for Information and Related Technologies)

Introduction

The existence of an accepted framework such as COBIT used for systems
development by a client may provide additional assurance to the auditor in their
assessment of the client’s information system.

COBIT is an IT governance tool that has been of tremendous benefits to IT
professionals and has contributed immensely to effective control of information
systems. Linking information technology and control practices, COBIT
consolidates and harmonises standards from prominent global sources into a
critical resource for management control professionals and auditors. As such,
COBIT represents an authoritative, up-to-date control framework, a set of
generally accepted control objectives and a complementary product that enables
the easy application of the Framework and Control Objectives, referred to as the
Audit Guidelines.

COBIT applies to enterprise-wide information systems, including personal
computers, mini-computers, mainframes and distributed processing
environments. It is based on the philosophy that IT resources need to be
managed by a set of naturally grouped processes in order to provide the pertinent
and reliable information which an organisation needs to achieve its objectives.

With the addition of the management guidelines, COBIT now supports self-
assessment of strategic organisational status, identification of actions to improve
IT processes and monitoring of the performance of these IT processes. Since the
first edition of COBIT was released in 1997 it has been sold and implemented in
over 100 countries of the world.

COBIT has been developed as a generally applicable and accepted standard for
good information technology (IT) security and control practices that provides a
reference framework for management, users and information system audit as well
as control and security practitioners.
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The Purpose of COBIT

The purpose of COBIT is to provide management and business process owners
with an information technology (IT) governance model that helps in understanding
and managing the risks associated with IT. COBIT helps to bridge the gaps
between business risks, control needs and technical issues. It is a control model
to meet the needs of IT governance and ensure the integrity of information and
information system.

The Users of COBIT

COBIT is used by those who have the primary responsibilities for business
processes and technology; those who depend on technology for relevant and
reliable information, as well as those providing quality, reliability and control of
information technology.

Application of COBIT in Business process

COBIT is business process oriented and therefore addresses itself in the first place
to the owners of these processes. Generic business model refers to core
processes such as procurement, operations, marketing, sales, etc., as well as
support processes (human resources, administration, information technology). As
a consequence, COBIT is not applied only by the IT department, but also by the
business as a whole.

The above approach stems from the fact that in today’s enterprises, the process
owners are responsible for the performance of their processes of which IT has
become an integral part. In other words, they are empowered, but also
accountable.

As a consequence, the business process owners bear the final responsibility for
the information technology as deployed within the confines of business processes.
Of course, they will make use of services provided by specialised parties like the
traditional IT department or the third party service provider. COBIT provides the
business process owners with a framework which should enable them to control
all the different activities underlying IT deployment. As a result, they can gain
reasonable assurance that IT will contribute to the achievement of their business
objectives. Moreover, COBIT provides the business process owners with a generic
communication framework to facilitate understanding and clarity among the
different parties involved in the delivery of ITservices.

The addition of the Management Guidelines in the third edition of COBIT provides
management with a new set of tools. These allow self-assessment in order to make
choices for control implementation and improvements over IT, measure the
achievement of goals and the proper performance of IT processes. The
Management Guidelines include maturity models, critical success factors, key goal
indicators and key performance indicators to support managerial decision making.

COBIT components

COBIT, issued by the IT Governance Institute and now in its third edition, is
increasingly internationally accepted as good practice for control over information,
IT and related risks. Its guidance enables an enterprise to implement effective
governance over the IT that is pervasive and intrinsic throughout the enterprise. In
particular, COBIT’s Management Guidelines component contains a framework
which responds to management’s need for control and measurability of IT by
providing tools to assess and measure the enterprise’s IT capability for the 34
COBIT IT processes.
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The tools include:

a Performance measurement elements (outcome measures and performance
drivers for all IT processes)

a A list of critical success factors that provides succinct, non-technical best
practices for each IT process;and

O  Maturity models to assist in benchmarking and decision-making for
capability improvements.

COBIT comprises six specific components:
Management guidelines;

Executive summary;

Framework;

Control objectives;

Audit guidelines; and

0000 D0 D

Implementation tool set.

Management guidelines

To ensure a successful enterprise, one has to effectively manage the union
between business processes and information systems. The Management
guidelines are composed of:

O Maturity models, to help determine the stages and expectation levels of
control and compare them against industry norms;

O  Critical success factors, to identify the most important actions for
achieving control over the IT processes; and

a Key goal indicators, to define target levels of performance; and key
performance indicators, to measure whether an IT control process is
meeting its objective.

These Management guidelines will help answer the questions of immediate
concern to all those who have a stake in enterprise success.

Executive summary

Sound business decisions are based on timely, relevant and concise information.
Specifically designed for time pressed senior executives and managers, COBIT
includes an executive overview which provides thorough awareness and
understanding of COBIT’s key concepts and principles. Also included is a synopsis
of the Framework providing a more detailed understanding of the concepts and
principles, while identifying COBIT’'s four domains (Planning & Organisation,
Acquisition & Implementation, Delivery and Support, and Monitoring) and 34 IT
processes.

Framework

A successful organisation is built on a solid framework of data and information.
The Framework explains how IT processes deliver the information that the
business requires to achieve its objectives. This delivery is controlled through 34
high-level control objectives, one for each IT process, contained in the four
domains. The Framework identifies which of the seven information criteria
(effectiveness, efficiency, confidentiality, integrity, availability, compliance and
reliability), as well as which IT resources (people, applications, technology,
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facilities and data) are important for the IT processes to fully support the business
objective.

Control Objectives

The key to maintaining profitability in a technologically changing environment is
how well control is maintained. COBIT’s Control Objectives provide the critical
insight needed to delineate a clear policy and good practice for Information
Technology controls. Included are the statements of desired results or purposes
to be achieved by implementing the specific and detailed control objectives
throughout the 34 Information Technology processes.

Audit Guidelines

To achieve desired goals and objectives one has to constantly and consistently
audit one’s procedures. Audit Guidelines outline and suggest actual activities to
be performed corresponding to each of the 34 high level IT control objectives,
while substantiating the risk of control objectives not being met. Audit Guidelines
are an invaluable tool for information system auditors in providing management
assurance and/ or advice for improvement.

Implementation tool set

Implementation tool set contains:

O  Management awareness and IT control diagnostics;

d  Implementation guide FAQs;

O  Case studies from organisations currently using COBIT; and

O  Slide presentations that can be used to introduce COBIT into organisations.

The tool set is designed to facilitate the implementation of COBIT, relate lessons
learned from organisations that quickly and successfully applied COBIT in their
work environments, and lead management to ask about each COBIT process: Is
this domain important for our business objectives? Is it well performed? Who does
it and who is accountable? Are the processes and control formalised?

4.5 Microcomputers, on-line systems and EDI

Computer systems in many organisations are ‘decentralised’. They are not large
centralised mainframe computer systems, operated in a computer centre by
specialist operating staff. Instead, the entity uses decentralised ‘standalone’
computers or network systems, which are managed and operated by individuals
who are not IT specialists.

The use of decentralised systems is often efficient for the client, but may create
additional problems for the auditor, who needs to be satisfied that the controls
within the system are effective.

The following types of system may require special attention by the auditor:
a Microcomputer systems

a on-line systems

O  electronic data interchange (EDI) systems.
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Microcomputer systems

‘Microcomputer system’ is not a precisely - defined term. It refers to a computer
system in which the entity uses a number of stand-alone ‘desktop’ computers that
are located throughout the organisation.

For the entity, a microcomputer system will often be more efficient and cost-
effective than a centralised mainframe computer system, especially as the
systems can normally be operated (and possibly programmed) by staff with little
technical training in computers and IT.

The auditor may have some difficulty, however, in satisfying himself that the
controls for the system are sufficient and effective. The problems for the auditor
in checking the effectiveness of controls happen for the following reasons:

O The difficulty of ensuring adequate physical security of the equipment.

O  Difficulties with ensuring the security of the data and storage media (disks,
tapes, etc.).

O  These systems may permit access to many individuals, some of whom are
not authorised. It may be easy, for example, for an unauthorised person to
gain access to a computer system when the authorised user is not at his or
her desk. The problem of easy access therefore introduces problems of
authorisation. There is the risk of unauthorised amendments to program or
data files. The risks in this area can be minimised by restricting access to
the computer system and to particular program files and data files through
the use of passwords and usernames.

O  Programs may be written or modified by the user (one of the potential
attractions to the entity of the use of microcomputer systems) but this may
cause control risks with respect to processing and the software. In an
extreme case, the accounting data produced by a microcomputer may not
be usable by the auditor.

O  The auditor should want to see adequate documentation of the software
systems. If this is not provided by the software supplier with the program, it
would need to be written by the computer user.

On-line systems

On-line systems are network computer systems that allow users direct access to
centrally-held data and programs. Access to the central files is through remote
terminals.

On-line systems offer a number of operational advantages to entities that use
them.

O  They permit the immediate entry of transactions from many different
locations, instead of having to submit transactions to a central computer
centre for processing. For example, if a retailing company operates an on-
line system for sales, sales transaction data can be input immediately for
centralised processing through terminals in each retail store.

O In the same way, centralised master files (such as master files for
inventory) are updated immediately. This means that subsequent users of
the system can use the up-to-date versions of master files.

O On-line systems allow users to make inquiries and obtain immediate
responses, by having access to master files or reference files. (For
example, users are able to give immediate answers to customers about
prices of products or the current status of their order).
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Again, although on-line systems are usually efficient and effective for the user,
they create additional problems for the auditor who needs to assess the
effectiveness of the system controls. There should be sufficient general controls
and application controls to minimise the risks that arise from using on-line
systems.

General controls in an on-line system could include the following:

O  There must be effective controls over access to the system and its files.
This is because in on-line systems, transactions are processed as soon as
they are input.

O There should be controls written into the system software to prevent or
detect unauthorised changes to programs.

O Transaction logs should be used to create an ‘audit trail’. An audit trail
refers to the ability of the auditor to trace a transaction through all its
processing stages. An audit trail may not exist in paper form in computer
systems. The computer program should therefore be written in such a way
as to generate the audit trail for any transaction, on request.

a Firewalls should be used for systems that have access to the Internet.
Firewalls are hardware or software devices that prevent unauthorised
access to a system from an Internet user.

Application controls in an on-line system could include the following:

O  Pre-processing authorisation (such as logging on to the system, and the
use of user names and passwords).

O  Data validation checks in the software, to check the completeness and
accuracy of processing (such as checking that a product code has been
entered with the correct number of digits).

O  ‘Balancing’ — checking control totals of data submitted from remote
terminals before and after processing.

Electronic data interchange (EDI) systems

Electronic data interchange (EDI) systems are systems that allow the electronic
transmission of business documents, such as invoices or payroll information,
between different computer systems. The EDI system provides a form of
‘translation’ service, so that the data transmitted from one computer system is
changed into a form that can be read by the other computer system, without any
need for human intervention.

EDI systems may operate:

O within the organisation (for example, the sales department may use EDI to
transfer copies of customer orders electronically to a separate computer
system of the accounting department),or

O  externally (for example, a company may use EDI to submit payroll data for
processing to the computer system of a payroll agency, or may submit
purchase orders for inventory electronically to the computer system of a
supplier).

EDI systems can improve the operational efficiency of an entity, but they may
generate the following problems for the auditor who has to assess the efficiency
of the system controls:

O  The lack of a paper audit trail.
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a

a

a

An increased level of dependency on the computer systems of the
organisation and possibly the computer systems of other entities. Any failure
or control weakness in one computer system may have an impact on the
computer system that is being audited.

There may be a risk of loss or corruption of data in the process of
transmission.

There will be security risks in the transmission of data.

Auditors should expect to find effective controls in place to minimise the risks
inherent in EDI systems. Typically, controls will cover such matters as:

a

a
a
a

controls over the transmission of data (such as the encryption of data
before transmission, acknowledgement systems, and the use of
authentication codes for senders of data);

monitoring and checking of output;
virus protection systems; and
contingency plans and back-up arrangements.

4.6 Computer-assisted audit techniques (CAATS)

CAATSs can be defined as any technique that enables the auditor to use computer
systems as a source of generating audit evidence. They involve the use of
computer techniques by the auditor to obtain audit evidence.

a

a

CAATs are often necessary in the audit of computer-based information
systems because these systems may not provide an adequate audit trail.

In addition, processing is ‘invisible’ because it is electronic. Therefore the
auditor needs to ‘get inside the computer’ to check the completeness and
accuracy of the processing. CAATs allow the auditor to achieve this.

Two commonly-used types of CAATSs are:

a
a

audit software, and
test data.

Audit software

Audit software is computer programs used by the auditor to extract information
from a client’'s computer-based information system, for use in the audit.

The main types of audit software include:

a

a
a

interrogation programs, to access the client’s files and records and extract
data for auditing;

interactive software, for use in interrogation of on-line computer systems

‘resident code’ or ‘embedded software’, to monitor and review transactions
as they are being processed by the client’s programs. This type of software
is called embedded audit facilities.

The main use of audit software is in substantive audit testing.
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e,

Example:

Audit software is used to extract and analyse information in the entity’s computer-
based information systems for use in the audit work. Here are some examples.

O Account analysis: Audit software may be used to interrogate the client’s
data files for the general ledger, and extract from the files all items above
50,000 in the repairs expense account.

a Preparing an aged listing of receivables (an aged debtors list), if these are
not already produced by the client as a matter of operational routine. The
audit software can interrogate the trade receivables file, and produce a list
and analysis in date order of unpaid invoices.

U Calculating ratios and making comparisons: Audit software can be used to
assist the auditor with analytical procedures (which are described in a later
chapter).

Test data

An auditor may use test data to process a sample of transactions through the
client’'s computer-based information system, and compare the results (output)
obtained from the processing with the pre-determined results that the auditor
would expect.

Test data is used primarily for tests of control. The technique provides evidence
that specific application controls are operating effectively in a given system.

One of the problems with using test data is that it can only give audit evidence
about the computer system at the time the test data is processed. The test data
cannot provide assurance that the system and its controls operate effectively at
any other time. This problem can be addressed by the use of embedded audit
facilities.

Embedded audit facilities

Embedded audit facilities may also be called ‘resident audit software’ or an
‘integrated audit module’. It is audit software that is built into the client's computer
system, either temporarily or permanently.

The purpose of embedded audit facilities is to allow the auditor to carry out tests
at the time that transactions are being processed, in ‘real time’.

Procedures are written into the entity’s computer-based information system and
these generate data for audit purposes every time the system is run. In order to
obtain audit data without the risk of corrupting the client’s operational data files
with the test data, it is usual to establish an extra ‘dummy’ department. The test
data results are allocated to this dummy department, and the test data is therefore
kept separate from the client's operational data. Only the auditor should have
access to the data stored in this dummy department.

Embedded audit facilities can be very useful for the auditor of on-line computer
systems where:

O  datais continually processed and master files are being continually
updated; and/or

a it is difficult, if not impossible, for the system to provide a satisfactory audit
trail for following transactions through the system.
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An embedded audit facility may also print out details of the transactions it has
monitored, or copy them to a computer file, so that the auditor can study the
transactions.

Disadvantages of CAATs

CAATSs give the auditor the ability to audit the processing of transactions in a
computer-based information system. However, the value of using CAATSs should
be assessed on a cost-benefit basis. CAATs should only be used if the benefits
from their use exceed the costs.

The costs related to the use of CAATs may include:
O  purchasing or developing the programs
O  keeping the programs up-to-date, for changes in hardware and software

O training audit staff in their use. CAATS are of no value unless auditors are
properly trained in how to use them.

U obtaining time on the client’s computer systems to run the CAATS.

Advantages of CAATs
CAATSs also have many advantages (which is why many audit firms use them).

O They give auditors an ability to test the completeness and accuracy of the
electronic processing itself (the computer software), rather than relying only
on testing the accuracy and completeness of inputs and outputs.

O  They give the auditor an ability to test a larger number of transactions in a
relatively short amount of time: testing larger amounts of data reduces the
overall audit risk.

O They allow the auditor to test the effectiveness of controls that are
programmed into the computer software.
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5 NOT-FOR-PROFIT ORGANISATIONS

Section overview

m  Auditing of not-for-profit organisations
m  NFPOs: the audit approach
m  Public sector audit

5.1 Auditing of not-for-profit organisations

In any audit or review, it is important to understand the entity and its environment.
A key aspect of an audit or review may be the objective that the entity is trying to
achieve.

O In commercial organisations, the objective is to make a profit for the
shareholders.

O In the case of not-for-profit organisations (NFPOs), the objective is very
different. It is usually the provision of a service to society as a whole or to a
group in society. Examples are charities, clubs and societies and publicly-
owned organisations.

O  The service provided by an NFPO will have to be provided within the
constraints of the resources it has at its disposal. In other words, an NFPO
will seek to achieve its objective as far as possible with the money and other
resources available.

Example: Charity and public sector audits
Q A charity or government department is an example of an NFPO:

U They have certain defined beneficiaries, since they were established for the
purpose of providing benefits to them — e.g. starving children (charity) or the
public at large (public hospitals);

a They raise funds from the public — charity donations and government tax
revenues; and

a They seek to spend those funds as effectively as possible to help the
beneficiaries.

NFPOs may be required to have an audit performed under local law, or may choose
to have an audit performed on a voluntary basis in order to add credibility to their
financial statements.

The difference in the objectives of an NFPO, compared with the objectives of a
commercial company, will influence the approach to the audit.

In addition, there may be specific auditing and reporting requirements set out in local
law for certain types of NFPOs. This may also influence the audit work performed
and the form and content of the opinion issued.

If the NFPO requests an audit to be performed on a voluntary basis, or requires a
review to be carried out, the scope of the work and the nature of any report issued
will be agreed in advance between the auditor and the NFPO.
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5.2 NFPOs: the audit approach

The auditor should recognise the specific features of the NFPO. However, it is
important to realise that the auditor is still performing an audit, and the overall
structure of the audit of an NFPO will be similar to the audit of a commercial
organisation. However, the detail of the audit will probably differ.

The main points to bear in mind with the audit of an NFPO are summarised
below. These are general principles. They should be modified as appropriate to
reflect the circumstances of each particular NFPO.

Planning Consider:

the objectives and scope of the audit work;

any local regulations that apply;

the environment in which the organisation operates;

the form and content of the final financial statements and
the audit opinion; and

m  key audit areas, including risk.

Risk Carry out an audit risk analysis under the usual headings of
inherent risk, control risk and detection risk:

m inherent risk (reflecting the nature of the entity’s activities
and the environment);

m control risk (internal controls, and the risk that these may
be inadequate: controls over cash collection and cash
payments may be a key area for an NFPO such as a
charity, because large amounts of cash may be collected
from the public by volunteers); and

m detection risk (the risk that the auditor will fail toidentify
any material error or misstatement in performing the

audit).
Internal Key areas of internal control in an NFPO might include:
control m  segregation of duties (although this may be difficult in a

small NFPO with only a few employees);
authorisation of spending;
cash controls;

controls over income (donations, cash collections,
membership fees, grants); and

the use of funds only for authorized purposes.

Audit m A substantive testing approach (rather than a systems
evidence based approach) is likely to be necessary in a small
NFPO, because of weaknesses in its internal control
system.

m  Key areas may include:

— the completeness of recording transactions, assets
and liabilities; and

— the possibility of misuse of funds.

m  Analytical procedures may be used to ‘make sense’ of the
reported figures.
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m  There should be a review of the final financial statements,
including a review of the appropriateness of the
accounting policies.

Reporting m If areport on an NFPO is required by law, the standard
external auditor's report covered in a later chapter can be
used.

m If the audit is performed on a voluntary basis, the report
needs to reflect the agreed objective of the audit.
However, it is good practice for the report to follow the
general structure laid down by ISA 700:

— Title;

— Addressee;

— the auditor's opinion;

— basis for opinion;

— going concern & KAMs (if appropriate);
— responsibilty for the financial statements;
— auditor's responsibilities;

— other reportingresponsibilities; and

— name, signature, address of auditor and date.

Other factors to consider include:

O  Cash may be significant in small NFPOs and controls are likely to be
limited;

O Income could be arisk area, particularly where money is donated or raised
informally;

O  There may be a limitation on the scope of the audit if obtaining audit
evidence is a problem;

O  There may be a lack of predictable income or identifiable relationship
between expenditure and income which could make analytical review less
appropriate;

0  Restricted funds may exist where the organisation is only allowed to use
certain funds for specific purposes; and

0O  There may be sensitivity to key statistics such as the proportion of revenue
used in administration (particularly for a charity).

5.3 Public sector audit

As you have seen above the principles of an independent audit of a public sector
entity performed in accordance with ISAs are the same as any other audit
performed in accordance with ISAs. The key difference is the nature of the
underlying entity being audited which will impact audit risk and audit approach.

The audit of public sector organisations is carried out by Supreme Audit Institutions
(SAls). The OECD has described a SAl as a government entity whose external
audit role is established by the constitution or supreme law-making body. SAls
follow International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAls) which
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have been developed by INTOSAI (International Organisation of Supreme Audit
Institutions). ISSAIs state the basic prerequisites for the proper functioning and
professional conduct of SAls and the fundamental principles in auditing of public
entities.

Many countries establish quasi-autonomous non-governmental organisations
(QUANGOSs) which are tasked with auditing public sector entities. QUANGOs
may or may not perform their work in accordance with ISAs and may or may not
be independent in the full definition of the term per IFAC’s (or ICAN’s) code of
ethics.

You will study public sector audit in more detail in paper B5 Public Sector
Accounting and Finance.

© Emile Woolf International 193 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

6 CHAPTER REVIEW

Chapter review

Before moving on to the next chapter check that you now know how to:
m  Describe how to plan an audit engagement

m  Explain the various components of audit risk

m Discuss the principles and application of materiality

m Articulate the relevance of computers to auditing

m Describe and critically assess general and application computer controls
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Quick quiz questions

1 Which of the following will be included in an Audit Planning Memorandum?
Job timetable

Last year's management letter

This year's written representation letter

This year's draft financial statements

1, 2 and 3 only

1, 3 and 4 only

2,3 and 4 only

1, 2 and 4 only

O 0O ©® >» & 0N

2 In addition to the traditional benchmarks for materiality, what other issues should be
considered in relation to materiality?

A Degree of approximation, critical points, offset and aggregation, directors'
responsibilities

B Offset and aggregation, critical points, degree of approximation, losses or low
profits

C Directors' responsibilities, critical points, losses or low profits, degree of
approximation

D Degree of approximation, directors' responsibilities, offset and aggregation,
losses or low profits

3 In the context of audit planning, financial statement risk consists of:
A control risk and detection risk
B business risk and audit risk
C inherent risk and controlrisk
D detection risk and business risk

4 Internal controls relating to the way in which IT systems are developed and operated
are known as:

A development controls
B general controls

C embedded controls
D application controls
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5 The two common categories of computer assisted audit techniques are:
Audit data and test solutions

B Bespoke system and test data
C Proprietary control software and check sums
D Audit software and test data
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Chapter 7: Planning

Quick quiz answers

1

D

The Audit Planning Memorandum is prepared before detailed audit testing begins. It
cannot contain this year's letters of representation which will not be prepared until near
the end of the audit process.

B
Directors' responsibilities have little to do with materiality.

C

Financial statement risk consists of inherent risk and control risk. These are the risks of
a material misstatement in the financial statements if not detected by the auditor. Audit
risk is determined by financial statement risk and detection risk.

B

Application controls are specific controls relating to a particular IT system (application)
whereas general controls are applied to the development and operation of all IT systems
within an entity.
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Audit testing
Audit documentation: ISA 230
Related parties: ISA 550

Written representations: ISA 580
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7 The audit of accounting estimates: ISA 540
8 The audit of specific areas of the financial statements
9 Transaction cycles

10 Chapter review
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Advanced Audit and Assurance

INTRODUCTION

Competencies
Laws and regulations on audit and assurance engagements

A2 Identify and make judgements on when it may be appropriate to refer a matter
to a senior colleague or for third party advice or consultation.

Accepting professional engagements and managing assignments

B2 (c) Identify and evaluate the extent to which assurance and audit functions within
an entity can be used or relied upon.

Planning and undertaking audit work

C1(c) Analyse and evaluate the situations when third party expertise may be
required (ISA 620 - Using the Work of an Auditor’s Expert)

C1 (j) Evaluate and apply analytical procedures that may be used to plan an audit or
assurance engagement.

C1(l) Develop an audit plan, justifying judgements made on an audit or assurance
engagement based on a business scenario, including considerations relating
to:

e Reliance on internal audit, specialists and the work of other auditors
e Use of client’s generated data, information and reports

e Tests of control, substantive and analytical procedures

e Visits to locations, branches and departments.

C3 Evaluate and draw conclusions on the appropriateness of stated accounting
treatments in the context of a given scenario for public or private sector based
on national and international standards on auditing and international financial
reporting standards (IFRS).

Exam context

In this comprehensive chapter students will study much of what is required during the
fieldwork stage of an audit. Whilst a number of ISAs are re-visited from earlier studies,
students will now be exposed to the full cross-section of ISAs relevant to performing an audit,
all of which are examinable at this level.

The chapter also incorporates specific guidance on testing the various transaction cycles
such as revenue/receivables and purchases/payables.

At the end of this chapter, readers should be able to:

[ ] Explain the fundamental requirements of audit testing in the context of ISAs 500, 520,
530 and 230

[ ] Describe the requirements of a number of other fieldwork-driven standards including
ISAs 501, 540, 580, 610 and 620

(] Summarise the audit approach relevant to a number of key IASs and IFRSs

n Explain how to audit the various transaction cycles such as revenue/receivables and
purchases/payables
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Chapter 8: Audit evidence

1 AUDIT TESTING

Section overview

Gathering audit evidence

ISA 500 and the financial statement assertions
Directional testing

Sampling: ISA 530

Analytical procedures: ISA 520

11

Gathering audit evidence
The outcome of an audit is a report, which usually expresses an opinion.

The contents of the report and the auditor’s opinion may subsequently be
challenged. If this happens, the auditor must be able to justify what he has
written. In other words, the report and opinion must be supportable by the
auditor, if challenged.

The auditor will therefore collect evidence on which to base the report and
opinion.

Definition: Audit evidence

This is any information used by the auditor to arrive at the opinion on which
his report is based. It includes information in the accounting records and
other information.

The auditor carries out procedures known as ‘audit tests’ in order to create this
evidence. These tests could be:

O tests of controls; and/or
O tests of detail (tests of transactions and balances).

It is unlikely that the auditor’s tests will be applied to all the transactions that have
been undertaken by the entity during the financial period under audit. The audit
evidence will typically be drawn from a sample of transactions.

Definition: Audit sampling

This is the application of audit procedures to less than 100% of the population
of transactions and balances, such that all units have a chance of selection.
Again, this is revised later in this section.

Analytical procedures are also carried out, but not typically on a sample basis.
These are revised later in this section. Analytical procedures together with tests
of detail are referred to as substantive procedures.

The tests, the evidence from the tests, and the conclusions that have been drawn
must all be documented in the audit files.
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1.2

ISA 500 and the financial statement assertions

ISA 500 Audit evidence sets out the objective of the auditor as being to design
and perform audit procedures in such a way as to enable him to:

O  obtain sufficient, appropriate audit evidence;
U inorder to be able to draw reasonable conclusions; and
O on which to base his audit opinion.

Following on from this, the auditor is required by ISA 500 to design and
perform appropriate audit procedures for the purpose of obtaining
sufficient, appropriate audit evidence.

Other requirements of ISA 500 are as follows:

O  Consider the relevance and reliability of the information to be used as
audit evidence.

O  If information to be used as audit evidence has been prepared using the
work of a management’s expert:

o evaluate the competence, capabilities and objectivity of that expert;
. obtain an understanding of the expert’s work; and
o evaluate the appropriateness of his report as audit evidence.

O  When using information produced by the entity evaluate whether the
information is sufficiently reliable (accurate, complete, precise and
detailed).

O  Use effective means of selecting items for testing (covered in detail later
in this chapter under ISA 530 Audit sampling).

a If audit evidence from one source is inconsistent with that obtained from
another source, or the auditor has doubts over the reliability ofevidence
— consider:

. what additional audit procedures are needed; and
. the effects on any other aspects of theaudit.

Use of an expert by management

When assessing the objectivity of an expert employed by management,
issues for the auditor to consider would include whether:

O the expert has a financial interest in the audit client, for example a
shareholding;

O the expert has a personal relationship with a senior manager in the audit
client; and

O  the fee paid for the expert’s services was a fair commercial price.

When assessing whether the work of management’s expert provides
sufficient and appropriate evidence for audit purposes.

O The auditor should review the terms on which the expert was engaged by
the audit client, such as the objective and scope of the expert’s work and
whether the expert was notified that his work may be relied on by the
auditors.
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O The auditor should obviously study the content of the expert’s report and the
conclusions that the expert reached. Any assumptions used by the expert
may be significant (for example in making an asset valuation) and the
auditor should compare those assumptions with his own understanding of
the audit client’s business.

O  The auditor may also need to check the methods used by the expert. For
example for the valuation of investment property, the method of valuation
used should be consistent with the requirements of IAS 40.

O  If the expert has been used to provide a valuation, the date of the valuation
should be close to the end of the financial year of the audit client (so that it
is up-to-date and current).

There may be additional evidence that the auditor could obtain to confirm the
evidence provided by the expert. For example, if a property valuation expert has
been used by the audit client to value a number of properties, the auditor may be
able to obtain some additional evidence of the reliability of the valuations in a
number of ways:

O By inspecting some of the properties to assess their condition;

O By checking the cost of similar assets acquired by the audit client during
the financial year;

O For assets acquired during the year, by comparing their cost with the end-
of-year valuation: unless there has been a large rise or fall in property
values during the year, current valuation should be fairly close to original
cost;

O By checking events after the reporting period: if any of the properties have
been sold since the end of the year, their sale value should be compared
with their end-of-year valuation. They ought to be similar amounts;

O By obtaining representations from management that the key assumptions
used in arriving at estimated values are reasonable; and

a Use of fair value accounting may require more frequent use of experts by
the auditor.

Sufficient and appropriate audit evidence

Definition: Sufficient and appropriate
o)

Sufficient relates to the quantity of evidence. There must be enough audit
evidence to support the auditor’'s conclusion or opinion.

Appropriate relates to the quality (relevance and reliability) of the evidence.

The auditor will need to exercise his professional judgement on both of these
aspects, in deciding whether there is enough evidence to support a conclusion
and assessing the quality of each item of evidence:

O  When is there enough evidence to support a conclusion?

O What is the quality of a given piece of evidence, and is this sufficient to
justify the audit opinion?

The two characteristics of quantity and quality are also inter-related.

O  An auditor may be able to reach a justifiable conclusion based on a smaller
quantity of high-quality evidence,
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O  However, a larger quantity of lower quality evidence may be required to
reach a justifiable conclusion.

Factors that may influence the sufficiency of audit evidence include:
Materiality of the item being tested;

Financial position of the client;

Condition of the accounting and internal control system;
Persuasiveness of the audit evidence obtained;

Population of the item; and

0O00D0D0D

Level of audit risk involved.

The reliability of audit evidence

There are a number of general principles set out in ISA 500 to assist the auditor
in assessing the reliability of audit evidence. These can be summarised as
follows:

O Audit evidence is more reliable when it is obtained from independent
sources outside the entity under audit. As specified above, ISA 500
requires that the auditor should be satisfied as to the accuracy and reliability
of any internal evidence used in reaching a conclusion. (Note that internally
generated audit evidence is more reliable when the related controls are
effective);

O Audit evidence obtained directly by the auditor is more reliable than
audit evidence obtained indirectly or by inference. For example,
observation of the operation of a control by the auditor is more reliable than
inquiry about the operation of that control;

O Audit evidence is more reliable when it exists in documentary form.
This could be paper, electronic or other medium. For example, a written
record of a meeting made at the time is more reliable than a subsequent oral
representation of the matters discussed; and

O  Audit evidence provided by original documents is more reliable than
audit evidence provided by photocopies, or documents that have been
filmed, or otherwise transformed into electronic form. This is because the
reliability of those other forms may depend on the controls over their
preparation andmaintenance.

Procedures for generating audit evidence

A number of audit testing procedures are available to the auditor as a means of
generating audit evidence.

O More than one procedure may be used in collecting evidence in a particular
area.

O  Not all procedures may be appropriate to a given objective of the audit.

The auditor should select the most appropriate procedures in each situation.
There are seven main testing procedures for gathering audit evidence:

O Inspection;
a Observation;

O Inquiry;
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a

External confirmation;
Recalculation;
Reperformance; and
Analytical procedures.

The table below explains the seven main procedures and gives examples of how
they are used and applied.

Inspection (looking at | m Of tangible assets
an item) m Of entries in accounting records
m Of documents (e.g. invoices)
Observation m Watching a procedure (e.g. physical inventory
counts, distribution of wages, opening of mail)
m Limited to the point in time when the observation
takes place
m The person performing the procedure mayact
differently when being observed
Inquiry m Seeking information from knowledgeable persons

inside or outside the entity,
m Evaluating responses to those inquiries,and

m Corroborating those responses with other audit
evidence

External confirmation | ® A specific type of inquiry — seeking confirmation

from a third party (e.g. a bank or trade receivable).
This is specifically covered by ISA 505 External
confirmations.

Recalculation m Checking the mathematical accuracy of documents

or records (e.g. adding up the list of year-end trade
receivables)

Reperformance m Independently carrying out procedures or controls,

which were originally performed by the client (e.g.
reperforming the aging of year-end trade
receivables)

Analytical procedures | m Evaluating and comparing financial and/or non-

financial data for plausible relationships and
investigating unexpected fluctuations

m For example, comparing last year’s gross profit
percentage to this year’s and ensuring any change
is in line with expectations

The financial statement assertions

Modern auditing theory takes the view that the financial statements are made up
of a number of ‘assertions’ or representations. The auditor should therefore
generate evidence designed to reach a conclusion about each of these
assertions.
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These assertions are set out in ISA 315 and fall into two categories:

a

a

Assertions about classes of transactions and events, and related
disclosures for the period under audit (i.e. income statement assertions)

Assertions about account balances and related disclosures at the period
end (i.e. statement of financial position assertions)

Assertions about classes of transactions and events, and related
disclosures, are as follows:

a

a

Occurrence: Transactions and events that have been recorded or disclosed
have occurred, and such transactions and events relate to the entity;

Completeness: All transactions and events that should have been
recorded have been recorded, and all related disclosures that should have
been included in the financial statements have been included;

Accuracy: Amounts and other data relating to recorded transactions and
events have been recorded appropriately, and all related disclosures have
been appropriately measured and described;

Cut-off: Transactions and events have been recorded in the correct
accounting period;

Classification: Transactions and events have been recorded in the proper
accounts; and

Presentation: Transactions and events are appropriately aggregated or
disaggregated and clearly described, and related disclosures are relevant
and understandable in the context of the requirements of the applicable
financial reporting framework.

Assertions about account balances and related disclosures are as follows:

a
a

Existence: Assets, liabilities and equity interests exist;

Rights and obligations: The entity holds or controls the rights to assets,
and liabilities are those of the entity;

Completeness: All assets, liabilities and equity interests that should have
been recorded have been recorded, and all related disclosures that should
have been included in the financial statements have been included;

Accuracy, valuation and allocation: Assets, liabilities and equity interests
have been included in the financial statements at appropriate amounts and
any resulting valuation or allocation adjustments are appropriately recorded,
and related disclosures have been appropriately measured and described;

Classification: Assets, liabilities and equity interests have been recorded
in the proper accounts; and

Presentation: Assets, liabilities and equity interests are appropriately
aggregated or disaggregated and clearly described, and related disclosures
are relevant and understandable in the context of the requirements of the
applicable financial reporting framework.

For each financial statement item being audited, the auditor should therefore
generate evidence designed to reach a conclusion on the reliability of the
appropriate assertions.
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1.3 Directionaltesting

Directional testing is an audit approach, developed in the 1980s, to provide a
framework for the conduct of an audit. Directional testing has a number of
advantages. The main advantages are that:

O it helps the auditor to clarify the auditobjectives.
O it focuses the audit work on areas of high auditrisk.
O it links together the results of audittests.

Directional testing has its foundation in the fundamental principle of double entry
book-keeping whereby for every debit entry there is a credit entry.

If the trial balance balances, but a debit or a credit entry is misstated, there must
be a second misstatement somewhere in the trial balance figures.

Example:
Q If non-current assets are overstated by &2m, but the trial balance balances, then
one of the following errors must have happened to explain how the situation has
arisen.

a Possibility 1. Another asset is understated by &2m.
Possibility 2. Liabilities are overstated by &2m.
Possibility 3. Income is overstated by &2m.
Possibility 4. Expenditure is understated by &2m.

000D

Possibility 5. A combination of any as all Possibilities 1 — 4 has occurred,
amounting to &¥2m.

The nature of directional testing
The following conclusions follow on from the points raised in the above example.

O By testing debit balances (in the client’'s accounting system) directly for
overstatement, total credit balances will also be tested - indirectly - for
overstatement.

O By testing credit balances directly for understatement, total debit
balances will also be tested - indirectly — for understatement.

Directional testing is therefore based on the following approach to the audit.

a If all asset balances and expenses for the year (debits) are tested directly
for overstatement, and

O all liability balances and income for the year (credits) are tested directly for
understatement

O  then misstatement in the opposite directions (overstatement of credit
balances and understatement of debit balances) will be tested indirectly.

The main focus of directional testing is therefore:
a test debits for overstatement and
a test credits for understatement.
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This is because:

O  in the statement of financial position, assets are more likely to be
overstated and liabilities are more likely to be understated

O a misappropriation or fraud will often result in an overstatement of an asset
or expense. For example, the theft of cash may be ‘hidden’ fraudulently by
writing it off, by means of the ledger entry: Cr Cash and Dr Expense.

Testing for overstatement of debit balances

A test for overstatement starts with the monetary amount recorded in the
financial statements. The direction of testing is then ‘backwards’ to its source.
Such tests seek to confirm existence. For example, in testing purchases for
overstatement, balances in the financial statements will be traced back to signed
goods received notes as evidence that the goods were received.

Testing for understatement of credit balances

A test for understatement starts at the source and traces transactions
‘forwards’ to the financial statements. These tests are aimed at ensuring the
completeness (and accuracy) of recorded transactions and balances. For
example, in testing sales for understatement, signed despatch notes are traced
through to sales in the financial statements to check that the sale was recorded.

Example:
Q Testing trade receivables balances for over-statement/existence

A starting point for testing will be the entity’s list of receivables balances (the list of
customers owing money) as at the end of the reporting period. The auditor wants
to check that these receivables do infact exist. One way of doing this is to write
directly to customers on the list asking them to confirm the amount that they owe
the entity.

Alternatively, if the auditor is checking documentation with in the client entity, he
can take a sample of receivables from the list of balances, and trace their existence
back through the accounting records, from receivables ledger to sales day book
(receivables day book) to invoice.

Testing trade payables balances for understatement/completeness

To test payables for completeness, there is no point in taking as a starting point
the entity’s list of payables balances — because this may not be complete, and the
auditor is testing for completeness.

Instead, the auditor may write to regular suppliers who might possibly be year- end
payables, based on the total amount of purchases from the supplier during the year.
If the supplier is not on the list of trade payables or is listed as a payable for only a
small amount, the auditor can ask the supplier to confirm this fact. This is often
referred to as testing the ‘reciprocal population’.

Alternatively, if the auditor is checking documentation within the client entity, he
may take as a starting point a sample of documents indicating that goods have
been purchased or received — such as a sample of goods received notes — and
then trace the purchase through the system from purchase invoice to purchases
day book (payables day book) to payables ledger.
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1.4 Sampling: ISA530

ISA 530 Audit sampling states that the objective of audit sampling is to give the
auditor a reasonable basis for his conclusion about the population from
which the sample is drawn. The auditor is not interested in the result from the
sample itself — he is only interested in it as a basis for reaching a conclusion about
the whole population under test.

However, there is always a risk that the auditor will reach a different conclusion
based on the sample than he would have reached had he tested the entire
population. This is referred to as sampling risk. To reduce this risk (and therefore
detection risk) to a minimum the sample must be designed in such a way as to be
representative of the whole population.

In setting his sample size the auditor will need to consider the expected
misstatement (for tests of details) or rate of deviation (for tests of controls). This
assessment will be based on his experience in this area from previous audits and
on any related areas on the current audit. The results of the sample (projected for
tests of detail) will be compared to tolerable misstatement/rate of deviation.
Factors to consider when selecting sample size

If an audit sampling exercise is to be effective — if sampling risk is to be reduced
and therefore detection risk reduced — the sample must be designed in an
appropriate way.

When designing a sample, the auditor is required by ISA 530 to:

O  consider the purpose of the audit procedure and the population from which
the sample will be drawn;

O determine a sample size sufficient to reduce sampling risk to an acceptably
lowlevel; and

O  select items for the sample in such a way that each sampling unit in the
population has an equal chance ofselection.

The auditor will therefore have to make a number of key decisions:

the sampling approach to be used (statistical ornon-statistical);

the characteristics of the population from which the sample is to be drawn;
the sample selection method;

what constitutes a misstatement or deviation;

the ‘tolerable’ misstatement or rate ofdeviation; and

0O00O0DO0 DO

the ‘expected’ misstatement or rate ofdeviation.

All of the above decisions will influence the sample size required.

Method of audit sampling: statistical sampling and non-statistical sampling
ISA 530 distinguishes between statistical sampling and non-statistical sampling:

a Statistical sampling is any sampling approach that involves random
selection and applies probability theory to the evaluation of the sample
results and the measurement of sampling risk.

O  Non-statistical sampling (also known as judgemental sampling) is any
sampling technique not based on probability theory. Instead, it is based on
a judgemental opinion by the auditor about the results of the sample.
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Specific method of sampling

The population is defined by ISA 530 as the entire set of data from which a
sample is to be selected and about which the auditor wishes to draw
conclusions.

The population from which a sample is to be drawn should be appropriate for the
audit objective to be achieved, and the population should be complete. (In other
words, all relevant items must be included in the population).

Each individual item in the population (trade receivables in the example above) is
referred to as a sampling unit. It is important that all sampling units should be
homogeneous, (have the same characteristics).

ISA 530 requires auditors to select a sample in such a way that each item in the
population (each ‘sampling unit’) has an equal chance of being selected.

A wide range of sample selection methods is available to the auditor:

O Random sampling: All items in the population have an equal chance of
selection. This is typically achieved by the use of random numbers to select
items for testing.

O  Systematic sampling: With systematic sampling, a random starting point is
chosen from the population and then items are selected with a standard gap
between them (for example, every 10th item). For example, suppose that a
sample will be 10% of the items in a population and the items in the
population can be arranged in a sequence, such as listed in invoice number
order, or account number order or date order. A systematic sample would be
to select one of the first 10 items in the list at random, and then to select
every 10th item in the list for testing in order to obtain the 10% sample.

O  Haphazard sampling: The auditor selects the sample on an arbitrary basis,
for example, choosing any 100 invoices from a file. This is not a scientifically
valid method and the resulting sample may contain a degree of bias. It is
therefore not recommended for use with statistical sampling techniques.

Definition: Tolerable misstatement
B

Tolerable misstatement is a monetary amount set by the auditor in order to
address the risk that the total of individually immaterial misstatements may cause
the financial statements to be materially misstated. It is the application of
performance materiality (as discussed in a previous chapter) to a particular
sampling procedure. A misstatement above “tolerable misstatement” would
therefore be considered material.

Definition: Tolerable rate of deviation

.'D Following on from the above, the tolerable rate of deviation is a rate of

deviation from prescribed control procedures which the auditor is prepared to
acceptand still be able to conclude that the financial statements are materially
correct
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1.5 Analytical procedures: ISA520

It is important to remember two key points when dealing with analytical
procedures.

O  The evidence generated is ‘supplementary’ to evidence gained from other
audit testing procedures.

O  The basic objective of analytical procedures is to allow the auditor to assess
whether the reported figures ‘make sense’ in the context of known business
facts. If the analysis indicates that there are some figures or ratios that do
not make sense (there are some ‘anomalies’), these require further
investigation by the auditor.

The nature and purpose of analytical procedures

‘Analytical procedures’ are defined by ISA 520 Analytical procedures as
“evaluations of financial information through analysis of plausible relationships
among both financial and non-financial data.

The analysis usually considers both comparisons and relationships.

Financial information in the draft financial statements is often compared with a
benchmark. For example, ratios, trends and relationships for the current
financial year are compared with:

O prior periods (historical data)
O budgets and forecasts (future — oriented data)

O  predictive estimates (in other words, estimates of the expense or income
that might have been predicted, such as a prediction of the annual
depreciation charge)

O  (more rarely) industry averages (= ratios for business entities in the industry
as a whole).

Typically, relationships are used in analytical procedures to analyse:

O  items of financial information that are expected to adhere to a predicted
pattern (such as gross profit margins: any significant change in this margin
compared with the previous years should be investigated)

O  relationships between financial and non-financial information that might be
predictable (such as payroll costs per employee).

Using analytical procedures in the audit process
Analytical procedures can be used at three stages in the audit process.

O  They must be used in planning the nature, timing and extent of other audit
procedures.

O  They may be used as a substantive procedure when their use is more
effective or efficient than detailed substantive tests of transactions and
balances.

O  They must be used at the overall review stage, to allow the auditor to
conclude whether the financial statements as a whole are consistent with
his knowledge of the business.

Analytical procedures are not concerned only with the analysis of trends. The
auditor must use analytical procedures to reach a conclusion about the financial
statements. It is not sufficient for the auditor to calculate and summarise ratios for
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this year and previous years, and to record the trends over time. Analytical
procedures are also concerned with:

0 theinvestigation of changes away from expected trends,and

O  the corroboration of explanations as to why these changes have
happened when they were not expected to.

Example: Analytical procedures

An auditor has calculated the gross profit percentage for a client company. This
year the gross profit is 25% of sales, but last year it was 20%. The auditor is not
aware of any change in the nature of the client’s business, and he had been
expecting the gross profit percentage to remain constant, at about 20%.

The finance director of the client company gives the explanation that purchase
prices have fallen in the past year or so, relative to sales prices. The auditor
should not accept this explanation as a proper explanation without finding
evidence to corroborate it.

It is possible that purchase prices have fallen in relation to sales prices. However,
a possibility that the auditor needs to eliminate is that purchase prices have not
fallen, but the client company’s management have included an excessively high
figure for closing inventory in the statement of financial position, in order to increase
profits.

A closer investigation of purchase prices should confirm the finance director’s
explanation or leave the auditor with a suspicion that there is something unusual in
the financial statements and that a proper explanation has yet to be found.

The extent of use of analytical procedures

Several factors should determine the extent to which the auditor can use
analytical procedures as a form of audit evidence. ISA 520 requires the auditor
to:

O  Determine the suitability of particular substantive analytical procedures for
given assertions — i.e. how effective they will be in detecting a particular type
of material misstatement. This usually depends on the closeness of
relationships between items of data. Analytical procedures are more
appropriate when relationships are plausible and predictable. For example,
there is normally a close relationship between sales commission and sales
revenue, whereas the relationship between administration costs and sales
revenue is less close and so less predictable.

O  Develop an expectation of recorded amounts or ratios and evaluate
whether that expectation is sufficiently precise to identify a misstatement.
How effectively this can be done depends on factors such as:

. the accuracy with which amounts can be predicted

. the extent to which information can be disaggregated (e.g. sales split
out by product line)

. the availability of information.

O Evaluate the reliability of the data from which the expectation has been
developed. If data is unreliable then it will be of little use. The auditor
should consider such factors as:

. the source of the information
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. comparability of the information available (broad industry datamay
not be suitable for an entity with more specialized products)

. the nature and relevance of the information available (budgets may
not be suitable if they have been prepared as goals rather than
expectations)

. controls over the preparation of the data.

O  Determine what level of difference from expected amounts is acceptable
without further investigation (i.e. link to materiality).

Investigation of fluctuations

Fluctuations are significant changes in a financial ratio or a trend, compared with
previous financial years.

When carrying out analytical procedures, the auditor is primarily concerned with
identifying the unexpected and reasons to explain why anything unexpected has
happened. If the unexpected has occurred and cannot be explained, further
investigation by the auditor will be necessary.

Trends or deviations that do not fit with known business facts should be
discussed with client staff and explanations must be obtained. It is often more
useful to the auditor to discuss matters with several of the client’s staff, who are
responsible for non-financial as well as for financial operations.

Explanations must not be accepted at face value but should be corroborated by:
U other audit evidence,or
O the auditor’'s knowledge of the client and the industry in which it operates.
Therefore, if the auditor finds:

O fluctuations or relationships which are inconsistent with other information,
or

O unacceptable levels of differences from expected amounts
then ISA 520 requires him to:
O  make inquiries of management and verify management'’s responses,and

a perform other audit procedures as necessary.
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2 AUDIT DOCUMENTATION: ISA230

Section overview

Audit documentation (audit working papers)

Reasons for preparing sufficient and appropriate audit documentation
Form, content and extent of audit documentation
Computer-generated audit working papers

Ownership, custody and confidentiality of audit working papers

2.1 Audit documentation (audit working papers)

All audit work must be properly documented and held in the audit file (also known
as audit working papers). This documentation provides a record of:

O  the audit procedures performed

U audit evidence obtained, and

d  the conclusions reached.

The documentation must provide:

a a sufficient and appropriate record of the basis for the audit report,and

O evidence that the audit was planned and performed in accordance with
ISAs and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

ISA 230 requires the auditor to prepare documentation on a timely basis,
sufficient to enable an experienced auditor with no previous connection with
that audit to understand:

O  the nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures performed
O  the results of those procedures and the audit evidence obtained, and

O significant matters which arose during the audit and the conclusions
reached thereon.

The auditor is also required to document:
a discussions of all significant matters

O  how any inconsistencies with the final conclusion on significant matters
were resolved

O and justify any departure from a basic principle or relevant procedure
specified by an ISA.

2.2 Reasons for preparing sufficient and appropriate audit documentation

Preparing sufficient and appropriate audit documentation on a timely basis
helps to:

O  enhance the quality of the audit, and

a facilitate the effective review and evaluation of the audit evidence obtained
and conclusions reached, before the audit report is finalised.

Documentation prepared at the time the work is performed is likely to be
more accurate than documentation prepared later.
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2.3

Other purposes of audit documentation include the following.

O Assisting the audit team to plan and perform the audit.

Assisting supervisors in directing and supervising audit work.
Ensuring members of the audit team are accountable for their work.
Keeping a record of matters of continuing significance to future audits.

0O00DO

Enabling an experienced auditor, with no previous connection with that
audit, to conduct quality control reviews or other inspections i.e. by
understanding the work that has been performed and the conclusions that
have been reached.

Form, content and extent of audit documentation

Audit documentation may be recorded on paper, or on electronic or other media.
The audit documentation for a specific engagement is assembled in an audit file.
The precise contents of the audit working papers varies, depending on the nature
and size of the client and the complexity of the audit processes required to reach
a conclusion but will include:

O Audit programs

analyses

summaries of significant matters

letters of confirmation and representation

checklists, and

0O0O00DO

correspondence.

Traditionally, it has been normal practice to maintain two types of audit files, a
permanent file and a current file.

Permanent file

The permanent file records information that is likely to be of significance to every
annual audit of that client. Examples of such information might include the
following.

O  The legal constitution of the company.
Other important legal documents such as loan agreements.
A summary of the history, development and ownership of the business.

A record of the accounting systems and procedures used by the client.

OO0 0D

Copies of the financial statements for the previous years, with key financial
ratios and trends.

This information is of continuing significance, and it is therefore important that the
auditor should review the contents of the permanent file regularly and update it
asappropriate.

Current file

The current file contains information of relevance to the current year’s audit.
This will be the main evidence on which the conclusion for the current audit will
be based. Examples of the contents of a current audit file include the following.

O  The final financial statements and auditor’s report.

© Emile Woolf International 215 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

O Asummary of audit adjustments, including those not included in the final
reported figures.

O Audit planning documentation.

O  Audit control material (time budgets, review points, points for consideration
by the engagement partner).

O Audit letters.
O For each ‘audit area’ (such as inventory, sales and payroll):
. an audit plan (detailing the work to be done on that area)

. details of items selected for testing, the tests performed, problems
that were encountered (and how these problems were resolved) and
the conclusion reached by the auditor on that area of operations/the
financial statements

. ‘lead schedules’: these give the figures for the audit area that will
appear in the final financial statements.

All audit working papers should clearly show the following (where relevant) and
for each audit area as appropriate:

O the name of the client

the accounting date

a file reference

the name of the person preparing the working paper

the date the paper was prepared

the name of any person reviewing the work and the extent of such review
the date of the review

00000 D Do

a key to/explanation of the audit ticks or symbols used in the working
papers

O alisting of any errors or omissions identified
O the auditor’s conclusion on the area

ISA 230 requires the auditor to assemble the final audit file(s) on a timely basis
after the date of the audit report (ordinarily not more than 60 days). This usually
excludes drafts of working papers or financial statements, or notes that reflect
incomplete or preliminary thinking. After the assembly of the final audit file has
been completed, the auditor must not delete or discard audit documentation
before the end of its retention period (see below).

If it does become necessary to modify existing or add new documentation after
this stage, the auditor must document:

O when and by whom the modifications were made
O  the reasons for making them.

If exceptional circumstances arise after the date of the audit report, such that the
auditor:

O has to perform new or additional procedures, or

a reaches new conclusions

© Emile Woolf International 216 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Chapter 8: Audit evidence

The auditor must document:
a the circumstances

O the new or additional procedures performed, audit evidence obtained,
conclusions reached and their effect on the auditor’s report, and

O when and by whom the resulting changes to audit documentation were
made and who reviewed them.

2.4 Computer-generated audit working papers

Auditors often use computer software (with laptop computers) to improve the
efficiency of preparing audit working papers. These software packages can be
used to help the auditor to prepare:

O analysis schedules (especially where the audit firm uses standardised
working papers)

a lead schedules, and
a draft financial statements.

These schedules and statements can usually be cross-referenced and updated
automatically as the audit proceeds, to allow for adjustments that the auditor
makes.

The advantages of these computer software packages for auditors are as follows.
O The working papers are neat, easy to read and in a standard format.
O Thereis a lower risk of error by the auditor in processing adjustments.

O  The audit review process by senior managers or the audit partner can be
carried out remotely, without the necessity for the manager or partner to
visit the client’s premises to carry out there view.

The automatic processing of adjustments by the auditor, using software, may
result in significant savings in time (and cost).

2.5 Ownership, custody and confidentiality of audit working papers

The audit firm has ownership of the audit working papers. The papers are not a
part of the client’s accounting records and do not belong to the client.

The auditor needs to decide how long to keep the audit files. ISQCL1 requires a
minimum period of five years from the date of the audit report, or group audit
report if later (and relevant).

Auditing standards require the auditor to ensure that working papers are kept safe
and that their contents are kept confidential. Confidential information should only
be made available to third parties in accordance with ethical guidelines.
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3 RELATED PARTIES: ISA 550

Section overview

m Related parties and related party transactions
m  The impact on the audit of related party relationships and transactions
m  The requirements of ISA 550

3.1

3.2

Related parties and related party transactions

Related parties are individuals or organisations that might have, or might be
expected to have, an undue influence on the company that is being audited.
Examples of related parties include:

O the directors and key management of a company
a  their families

O  other companies controlled by directors, key managers and members of
their close family

O  other companies in the same group.

Related party transactions are material transactions between the client company
and a related party of the company.

It is the responsibility of the client company’s management to record and disclose
all material related party transactions, because these transactions may be
carried out on more favourable terms than similar transactions with an independent
third party.

The approach required by IAS 24 Related party disclosures is to disclose the
relevant amounts of related party transactions and the nature of the related party
relationships, so that the users of the financial statements can decide for
themselves whether these transactions might have resulted in a manipulation or
distortion of the financial statements.

ISA 550 Related parties deals with the auditor’s responsibilities in respect of
related party transactions. It was revised (and redrafted) in July 2008 for two main
reasons.

O  The increased public attention given to accounting for related party
relationships, because a number of major corporate scandals (such as
Enron in the US) have involved related parties.

O  The previous version of ISA 550 was mainly procedural in nature and did
not discuss the risks of material misstatement that may arise from the
existence of related party relationships and transactions.

The requirements of ISA 550 are discussed below.

The impact on the audit of related party relationships and transactions

Although many related party transactions are in the normal course of business
and therefore may carry no higher a risk of material misstatement than ordinary
transactions, in some circumstances related party transactions may lead to
higher risks. For example:

a related parties may operate through complex structures and relationships
and the resulting transactions may therefore also be complex
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O  accounting systems may not be effective at identifying and summarising
related party transactions and balances

O  related party transactions may not be conducted on normal market terms —
some may even be conducted with nil consideration.

The objectives of the auditor with regard to ISA 550 are to obtain:

O anunderstanding of the entity’s related party relationships and
transactions, and

O  sufficient appropriate audit evidence about whether related party
relationships and transactions have been appropriately identified,
accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements.

The understanding must be sufficient for the auditor to be able to:

O  recognise fraud risk factors arising from related party relationships and
transactions

O  conclude whether the financial statements achieve fair presentation in
respect of related party relationships and transactions.

There is an increased risk of fraud in this area as related party relationships may
present a greater opportunity for collusion, concealment or manipulation by
management. It is therefore particularly important that the auditor approaches this
area of the audit with professional scepticism.

3.3 Therequirements of ISA 550

Most material misstatements linked to related party transactions arise from failure
by the management of the client company to disclose related party relationships
and transactions to the auditor.

ISA 550 therefore sets out a minimum set of risk assessment procedures
specifically directed towards the identification of related party relationships and
transactions that have not been identified or disclosed by management.

Risk assessment procedures

As part of the risk assessment procedures required by ISAs 240 and 315 the
auditor is required to perform the following procedures in order to understand
the entity’s related party relationships and transactions:

O Consider the risk of material misstatement due to fraud or error arising from
related party relationships and transactions.

O  Make inquiries of management in respect of:
. the identity of related parties
. the nature of relationships with those related parties

. the nature of any transactions entered into with those parties during
the period.

O  Obtain an understanding of the internal controls in operation over:

. the identification of, accounting for and disclosure of related party
relationships and transactions

. the authorisation and approval of significant related party transactions

. the authorisation and approval of significant transactions outside the
normal course of business.
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Identifying related parties and related party transactions

In making inquiries of management in respect of the identity of related parties,
the auditor will obtain a list of related parties from the directors and consider if
this list is complete. Tests for completeness could include the following:

O  Review working papers for previous years, to look for names of known
related parties.

O Review the company’s procedures for identifying related parties.

O  Inquire about the relationships between directors and other entities (for
example, does any director own another company, and have there been
any transactions between that company and the client company?)

O  Review shareholder records for the names of major shareholders.

O  Review minutes of shareholder meetings (general meetings of the
company).

O  Ask any other audit firms involved in the audit about related parties (if the
audit is the audit of a group of companies and more than one firm of
auditors is involved). Or ask previous auditors of the company about their
knowledge of related parties.

The auditor may have difficulty in obtaining a complete list of related parties. This
is because their main source of information about related parties is the client’s
management, who may wish to keep related party relationships hidden. Particular
problem areas where the disclosure of related parties may be incomplete are:

a close family relationships

O  where the related party is another business entity which is owned or
influenced by a director of the client company: however two companies are
not necessarily related parties just because the same individual is a director
or shareholder in both — the key issue is whether the individual is in a position
of influence in both companies.

The auditor may also have difficulty in identifying all related party transactions that
have occurred, unless the client entity has recorded them separately.

Related party transactions may be ‘hidden’ within all the other transactions
recorded in the accounts of the entity.

During the audit the auditor must remain alert, when inspecting records or
documents, for information which might indicate the existence of previously
unidentified or undisclosed related party relationships or related party
transactions. The auditor is also specifically required to inspect the following:

O Any bank and legal confirmations obtained as part of his audit work.
O  Minutes of shareholder and management meetings.

O  Any other records or documents the auditor considers necessary in the
specific circumstances.

If the auditor identifies significant transactions outside the entity’s normal
course of business, he must inquire as to the nature of these transactions and
whether related parties could be involved. This is because these carry a higher risk
of involving related parties who have previously been unidentified or undisclosed.
ISA 550 states that any significant related party transactions outside the entity’s
normal course of business must be treated as giving rise to significant risks of
material misstatement.
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The whole audit team should be made aware of information obtained about the
entity’s related parties so that they can identify any previously undisclosed
transactions with related parties.

If any fraud risk factors are found these must be considered when the auditor
identifies and assesses the risks of material misstatement due to fraud in
accordance with ISA 240. A key fraud risk factor identified by ISA 550 is the
existence of a party who exerts dominant influence over the entity. Any such
party (an individual or a company) is likely to be able to override the views of the
entity’s management and force the entity to enter into a transaction in which the
dominant party has an interest.

Indicators that a person or entity might be a dominant party include:
U the party vetoing significant business decisions of the entity
O  significant transactions being referred to the party for final approval

O little or no debate among management in respect of business proposals
made by the party

O transactions involving the party (or its close family members) are rarely
independently reviewed or approved.

Responses to the risks of material misstatement

As discussed in a previous chapter, the auditor is required by ISA 330 to respond
to assessed risks. In the context of the assessed risks of material misstatement
arising from related party relationships and transactions ISA 550 requires the
following audit procedures.

If the auditor discovers previously unidentified or undisclosed related parties or
(significant) related party transactions he must:

O  Determine whether the underlying circumstances confirm the existence of
those relationships or transactions.

a Communicate the relevant information to the audit team.

O Reguest management to identify all transactions with the newly identified
related parties.

O  Inquire as to why the entity’s system failed to identify or disclose these
related party relationships or transactions.

U Perform appropriate substantive procedures on the newly identified related
parties or significant related party transactions.

O  Reconsider the risk of there being unidentified or undisclosed related
parties or (significant) related party transactions and perform additional
procedures as necessary.

O  If the non-disclosure appears intentional, evaluate the implications for the
audit.
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If the auditor discovers significant related party transactions outside the entity’s
normal course of business, he must:

O  Inspect the underlying contracts or agreements to evaluate whether:

. the contracts etc. were entered into in order to engage in fraudulent
financial reporting or to hide the misappropriation of assets (a lack of
business rationale might indicate this)

. the terms of the contracts etc. are consistent with management’s
explanations, and

o the transactions have been properly accounted for and disclosed.
O  Obtain evidence that the transactions were properly authorised.

If management has made a statement in the notes to the financial statements
that a related party transaction was made on the same terms as an arm’s length
transaction, the auditor must obtain evidence to support this assertion.

Materiality of related party transactions

ISA 450 Evaluation of misstatements identified during the audit, which is covered
in a later chapter, requires the auditor to consider both the size and the nature of
a misstatement, and the particular circumstances of its occurrence, when
evaluating whether a misstatement is material.

In the context of related party transactions, this means that much smaller
transactions in monetary terms may be material as the significance of the
transaction to the users of the financial statements may not depend solely on the
recorded amount of the transaction but also on the nature of the related party
relationship. It may be tempting to assume that materiality means ‘large’, but in
the case of related party transactions, a transaction could be material if it has a
value as low as RO (for example, a transaction involving the sale of the company’s
assets to a related party for a very low price).

Other requirements

Written representations must always be obtained by the auditor from the
directors about related parties and related party transactions. The directors are in
the best position to know the identities of any related parties. The written
representation from the directors must cover:

O the completeness of the information that has been provided about the
identity of related parties and related party relationships and transactions,
and

O  the adequacy of accounting for and disclosure of such related party
relationships and transactions in the financial statements.

Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity,
the auditor must communicate to those charged with governance significant
matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s related parties.

The names of all identified related parties and the nature of the related party
relationships must be documented.
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Q Example: Audit matters and audit evidence

ThedraftstatementoffinancialpositionofABCCompanyincludesanamountof
N30,0000wedbyDECompany.ThetotalassetsofABCCompanyarei0
million.

The auditor has obtained the following audit evidence:

4  DECompanyiscontrolledbythechairmanofABCCompany,whoisits
majorityshareholder.

U ThedraftfinancialstatementsofABCCompanydonotprovideany
disclosuresaboutthe®30,000transaction,onthegroundsthatitis
immaterial.

O  Thereisnoinformationaboutthenatureofthetransaction,butthe
N30,000hadbeenincludedinreceivablesattheendoftheprevious
financialyear.

Required
What further measures should the auditor take?

A Answer
The auditor should first establish whether DE Company is a related party of ABC
Company. From the information available it would seem that it is a related party,
because the chairman of ABC Company, as a majority shareholder in DE
Company, would appear to be in a position of influence in both companies.

Although the amount receivable is not material in terms of value (in relation to the
value of total assets of ABC), the materiality of related party transactions should not
be judged only on the basis of value. The nature of the transaction is also relevant
for judging materiality. The auditor needs to obtain more information. The chairman
should be asked to provide more details. In addition, the auditor should review the
written terms of the transaction (if there are any) and should obtain a written
representation from the chairman about the nature of his influence over DE
Company, whether the amount receivable by ABC Company is likely to be
recoverable and when it is likely to be paid. The auditor should also review board
minutes of ABC Company for any recorded discussions by the board of the
transaction with DE Company.

If the auditor takes the view that the transaction is a related party transaction, he
should notify management of the need for disclosure in the financial statements.
Disclosure is required of the nature and amount of the transaction, the amount of
any balances (and details of any security given) and any allowances that have been
made for an irrecoverable amount. Since the amount was receivable one year ago,
the auditor should also consider the expected date of payment, and whether the
balance is more in the nature of a long-term loan receivable than a current asset.
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4  WRITTEN REPRESENTATIONS: ISA 580

Section overview

Definition and objectives

Written representations as audit evidence

Written representations about management’s responsibilities
Form and contents of the letter of representation

Refusal to provide requested written representations

4.1

4.2

Definition and objectives

ISA 580 defines a written representation as a written statement by management
provided to confirm certain matters or to support other audit evidence.

The objectives of the auditor in this area, per ISA 580, are to:

O obtain written representations from management that it has fulfilled its
responsibilities in respect of the financial statements and the audit

O  obtain written representations as appropriate to support other audit
evidence

O  respond appropriately to written representations provided by management
or if management refuse to provide the written representations requested.

ISA 580 requires the auditor to obtain appropriate written representations from
management (often referred to as “management representations”) in the form
of a letter of representation, addressed to the auditor.

These written representations may be an important source of audit evidence.

Written representations as audit evidence

If the auditor considers that written representations are needed to support other
audit evidence, he must request such other written representations.

During the course of the audit, management will make many representations to
the auditor. Some of these will be unsolicited but some will be given in response
to specific inquiries from the auditor. The auditor will have recorded such verbal
discussions with management in the audit working papers. However, verbal
evidence is not strong audit evidence. In order to improve the quality of this
evidence, the auditor will ask for any significant discussions to be confirmed in
writing.

Such representations are likely to be needed:

0  to support the auditor's understanding of management’s intention or
judgment (for example, in respect of future plans for the business or a
specific matter such as the net realisable value of inventory), or

O in respect of the completeness of a specific item (for example, that all
liabilities have been provided for).

However, although such written representations provide necessary audit
evidence, they do not provide sufficient appropriate evidence on their own.
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If a written representation is contradicted by other audit evidence, the auditor
should:

O  consider whether his risk assessment of that area is still appropriate
O  consider whether additional audit procedures are needed

O  if he has concerns about the integrity of management, document those
concerns and consider withdrawing from the audit.

The auditor is also required by specific other ISAs to request certain other written
representations. These requirements are illustrated in the example letter set out
below.

4.3 Written representations about management’s responsibilities

The auditor is also required by ISA 580 to obtain certain other written
representations from management. In these representations, management
acknowledges that:

O it has fulfilled its responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework

O it has provided the auditor with all relevant information

a all transactions have been recorded and are reflected in the financial
statements.

Again, these points are illustrated in the example letter set out below.

4.4 Form and contents of the letter of representation
The letter of representation is:

O  usually drafted by the auditor (as he knows the areas on which he requires
written representations)

U addressed to the auditor
O  dated as near as practicable (but not after) the date of the audit report.

The following example of a letter of representation shows the minimum contents
of such a letter. However, remember that the auditor may also need to request
management to provide written representations about specific assertions in the
financial statements.

Example of a letter of representation
(Entity Letterhead)
(To Auditor) (Date)

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the
financial statements of ABC Ltd for the year ended 31 December 31 20X1 for
the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements
are presented fairly, in all material respects, (or give a true and fair view) in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

We confirm that (to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such
inquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately
informing ourselves):
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Financial statements

We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation and presentation of
the financial statements as set out in the terms of the audit engagement
dated..... and, in particular, the financial statements are fairly presented (or
give a true and fair view) in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards.

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including
those measured at fair value, are reasonable. (ISA 540).

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards. (ISA 550).

All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which
International Financial Reporting Standards require adjustment or disclosure
have been adjusted or disclosed. (ISA 560).

The effects of uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually
and in the aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole. A list of the
uncorrected misstatements is attached to the representation letter. (ISA 450)

Information provided
We have provided you with:

m all information, such as records and documentation, and other matters that
are relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements

m additional information that you have requested from us; and
m unrestricted access to those within the entity.

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are
reflected in the financial statements.

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud. (ISA
240).

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected
fraud that we are aware of and that affects the entity and involves:

= management
m employees who have significant roles in internal control; or

m others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial
statements. (ISA240)

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or
suspected fraud, affecting the entity’s financial statements communicated by
employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others. (ISA 240)

We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected
non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered
when preparing financial statements. (ISA 250)

We have disclosed to you the identity of the entity’s related parties and all the
related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware. (ISA 550)
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4.5 Refusal to provide requested written representations

If management refuse to provide requested written representations the auditor
must:

O  discuss the matter with management

O  re-evaluate the integrity of management and reconsider the impact on other
representations and audit evidence, and

U take appropriate action, including considering the effect on the audit report.
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5 USING THE WORK OF AN AUDITOR’S EXPERT: ISA 620

Section overview

m Definition of an expert
m  Assessing the need for an expert
m  Assessing the work of an expert

5.1 Definition of an expert

Definition: Auditor’s expert
B

The term ‘expert’ is used herein the sense of an individual or an organisation
that possesses skills, knowledge and experience in fields other than
accounting or auditing

The auditor may use the work of an expert to provide knowledge relevant to the
audit, which the audit firm itself does not possess. ISA 620 Using the work of an
auditor’s expert gives a number of examples where experts may be used by an
auditor. These include:

O  Legal opinions
O specialist valuation areas, such as property or pension liabilities
O the analysis of complex or unusual tax compliance issues.

Note that the ISA covers the work of the auditor’s expert — the expert is employed
by the auditor, not by the entity. The situation where management use the work of
an expert was covered above, under ISA 500.

The objective of ISA 620 is to allow the auditor to:
a decide whether to use the work of an expert, and

O  assess whether that work is adequate.

5.2 Assessing the need for an expert

There is a cost attached to the use of an expert by the auditors. The expert will
charge a fee for the professional service he provides. The use of an expert
should therefore be evaluated on a cost/benefit basis.

When deciding whether he needs to use an expert to assist him in obtaining
sufficient appropriate evidence, the auditor should consider such factors as:

O  the nature, significance and complexity of the matter
O the risk of material misstatement

O  the availability of alternative sources of audit evidence.
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5.3 Assessing the work of an expert

ISA 620 requires the auditor to apply the procedures set out below when using
the work of an expert. The auditor shall:

O  obtain an understanding of the expert’s field of expertise, sufficient to allow
the auditor to determine the nature, scope and objectives of the expert’s
work and evaluate the adequacy of that work

a agree terms of engagement with the expert, including:
. the nature, scope and objectives of the expert’'s work
. the respective responsibilities of the expert and the auditor
. the form of the expert’s report
. confidentiality requirements
O evaluate the adequacy of the expert’s work, including the:
. reasonableness of the expert’s conclusions
. consistency of those conclusions with other audit evidence
. reasonableness of significant assumptions and methods used
. relevance, completeness and accuracy of source data.

Generally, the auditor is assessing whether the expert’'s work constitutes
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence.

If the auditor decides that the work of the expert is not adequate, he is required
to:

O  agree additional work with the expert, or
O perform other appropriate additional audit procedures.

The auditor has sole responsibility for the audit opinion issued and this is not
reduced in any way by his use of an expert. Therefore he should not refer in his
report to the use of an expert, unless that is required by law or regulation. Even
then, or if the auditor refers to the expert’s work in his report because it is relevant
to an understanding of a modified opinion, then he must make it clear that such a
reference does not reduce his responsibility for that opinion in any way.

This approach reinforces the point made earlier, that the auditor remains fully
responsible for the report produced, even if evidence on which it is based was
produced by others. The auditor therefore cannot simply accept work performed
by experts. That work must be evaluated in the same way as other audit evidence
is evaluated.

The competence, capabilities and objectivity of an expert may be assessed in
one or more of the following ways:

O Personal experience with previous work of that expert;
O  Discussions with that expert;

a Discussions with other auditors or others who are familiar with that expert’s
work; and

O Knowledge of that expert’s qualifications, membership of a professional
body or industry association, license to practice, or other forms of external
recognition.
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O  Published papers or books written by that expert.

The objectivity of the expert is probably more of an issue when the expert has
been employed by the audit client, as discussed earlier in this chapter in section
1.2 regarding using the work of management’s expert.
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6 THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S RELIANCE ON THE WORK OF
THE INTERNAL AUDITOR: ISA 610

Section overview

m  Reliance on internal audit: the external auditor’s problem
m |ISA 610: Using the work of internal auditors

6.1 Reliance on internal audit: the external auditor’s problem

In many instances the work of the external auditors and internal auditors may
overlap, particularly when the internal audit department carry out financial audits.
In principle, the external auditors may be able to reduce the amount of testing and
checking they carry out for the external audit, by relying on work that has already
been carried out by the internal auditors. Reliance by the external auditor on the
work of the internal auditors, where it is appropriate to do so, should lead to a more
efficient and cost-effective audit.

However, the external auditor has a problem. The external auditor is responsible
for his opinion on the financial statements, even if he has relied on the work of
others such as internal auditors and external experts. The responsibility for
relying on work done by the internal auditors rests entirely with the external
auditors.

The external auditors must therefore be satisfied that they can rely on the work of
the internal auditors to support the external audit opinion. The external auditors
must therefore decide whether to rely on work done by the internal auditors, and if
so, in what respect?

6.2 ISA 610: Using the work of internal auditors

ISA 610 provides guidance to the external auditor who has decided that the entity’s
internal audit function is likely to be relevant to his audit. The objectives of the
external auditor are then to decide:

4d  whether and to what extent to use specific work of the internal auditors
O if so, whether such work is adequate for the purposes of the external audit.

To determine whether such work is adequate for his purposes, the external auditor
is required to evaluate the internal audit function and its procedures. A decision
can then be taken as to whether the work of the internal auditors can be used as
part of the evidence on which the external audit opinion will be based.

The following factors should be considered by the external auditors in making the
assessment of internal audit:

O  The status of the internal audit department within the entity. In particular, the
objectivity of the internal audit department is important. The external
auditors will be more willing to rely on the internal auditors if the internal audit
department has a considerable degree of operational independence — for
example, in deciding the nature of the audit work it will carry out, and in
reporting to an ‘independent’ senior person or body within the entity, such
as the audit committee (rather than the finance director). The external auditor
will also need to consider the scope of the internal audit work and any
restrictions placed by senior management on the scope of its work and
whether management act on recommendations in internal audit reports.|f
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management ignore recommendations in internal audit reports, the external
auditors cannot have much confidence in the ability of internal audit to ensure
the effectiveness of internal control.

O  The technical competence and due professional care of the internal
auditors. The external auditors must be satisfied that the internal audit staff
have sufficient technical competence and take a professional approach
towards their work.

U There will need to be effective communication between the external and
internal auditors with meetings held at appropriate intervals and each
notifying the other of any significant matters that might affect the other’s
work.

In addition to the general assessment of the internal audit, ISA 610 also requires
the external auditor to evaluate each specific piece of work performed by
internal audit before it is used as external audit evidence.

To determine the planned effect of the work of internal audit on the nature,
timing and extent of the external auditor’s procedures, the external auditor is
required to consider:

O  the nature and scope of specific work performed or to be performed by
internal audit

a the assessed risks of material misstatement at the account
balance/transaction level

O  the degree of subjectivity involved in the evaluation of evidence gathered
by internal audit.

Because the external auditor is fully responsible for the audit opinion, he will need
to test the work performed by the internal auditors. Before using specific work
of internal audit the external auditor is required to evaluate whether:

O the work was performed by internal auditors with adequate technical
training and proficiency

O  the work was properly supervised, reviewed and documented
U adequate audit evidence was obtained

O  appropriate conclusions were reached, consistent with any reports
prepared

O  any exceptions or unusual matters were properly resolved.
Procedures to achieve this might include:

O examining items already examined by internal audit

O examining other similar items

0 observing procedures performed by internal audit.

The external auditor’s evaluation of the internal audit function and its work should
be fully documented in the external auditor’'s working papers.
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7  THE AUDIT OF ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES: ISA 540

Section overview

The nature of accounting estimates and the audit problem
ISA 540: Auditing accounting estimates

IAASB Alert: Challenges in auditing fair value accounting estimates in the current
market environment

7.1 The nature of accounting estimates and the audit problem

In the financial statements, estimated figures are used in situations where it is not
practical or not possible to obtain a more precise measurement of an item. ISA 540
defines an audit estimate as: ‘an approximation of a monetary amount in the
absence of a precise means of measurement.’ Accruals, prepayments and
depreciation are all examples of areas where estimates are widely used. Other
examples are the estimation of deferred tax and provisions for the settlement of
unfinished legal disputes.

Estimates are made for the financial statements by the management of the entity,
using their judgement. The audit problem is therefore fairly clear. How does the
auditor satisfy himself that the estimates made by management for inclusion in the
financial statements are reasonable? The audit risk can be high.

7.2 ISA 540: Auditing accounting estimates

ISA 540 Auditing accounting estimates, including fair value accounting estimates,
and related disclosures is concerned with the audit of all accounting estimates,
including those involving fair values. It requires auditors to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence as to whether:

O accounting estimates (whether recognised or disclosed in the financial
statements) are reasonable, and

O  whether the related disclosures are adequate.

Because of the number of major corporate scandals in recent years about
aggressive ‘earnings management’, ISA 540 (revised and redrafted in accordance
with the IAASB’s clarity project) introduces requirements for greater rigour and
scepticism in the audit of accounting estimates. It encompasses a risk- based
approach, focusing on those estimates that have high estimation uncertainty.

ISA 540 gives the following examples of accounting estimates.
O Allowance for doubtful accounts

Inventory obsolescence

Warranty obligations

Depreciation method or asset useful life

Costs arising from litigation settlements and judgments

0O000O0

Provision against the carrying amount of an investment where there is
uncertainty regarding its recoverability

O

Outcome of long-term contracts
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Additional examples of situations where fair value accounting estimates may be
required include:

a

]
a
]

a

complex financial instruments, which are not traded in an active and open
market

share-based payments
property or equipment held for disposal

certain assets or liabilities acquired in a business combination, including
goodwill and intangible assets

transactions involving the exchange of assets or liabilities.

Audit evidence relating to such estimates is often of relatively poor quality,
because of the nature of the items involved. This means that the auditor will
require a higher volume of this lower quality evidence, particularly where the
estimated item may be material, or the audit risk is relatively high.

Accounting estimates: auditing procedures

As part of his risk assessment procedures ISA 540 requires the auditor to
obtain an understanding of the following.

a

The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework (for
example, international accounting standards) in respect of accounting
estimates, including related disclosures.

How management identify transactions or events that could result in an
accounting estimate being recognised or disclosed in the financial
statements.

The nature of the estimates. In the case of a liability, this involves obtaining
an understanding of the obligation for which an estimate is needed: for
example in the case of a provision for costs of warranties or guarantees,
what are the terms of the warranties or guarantees that have been given by
the client to its customers?

The auditor should also review the procedures used by management to
make their estimates, including:

. the method used for estimating (for example in deciding the estimated
useful lives of non-current assets)

. relevant controls
. the use of experts
. the underlying assumptions

. whether there ought to have been any change in the method used
since the prior period

. whether and how management has assessed the effect of estimation
uncertainty.

If possible, the auditor should check the amount of an estimate against
other known facts, to assess whether the estimated amount seems
reasonable.
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The auditor should also:

a

review the outcome of accounting estimates included in the previous
period’s financial statements (to assess their reliability) and consider
changes in the estimate from one year-end to the next.

evaluate the degree of estimation uncertainty associated with each current
period estimate and, if the risk is high, whether this gives rise to significant
risks.

Having assessed the risks of material misstatement the auditor must then
determine:

a

a

whether management has properly applied the requirements of the
applicable financial reporting framework, and

whether the methods used for making the estimates are appropriate and
have been consistently applied (or whether any change in method since the
previous period is appropriate).

In response to the assessed risks of material misstatement the auditor must then
perform one or more of the following procedures.

a

a

Determine whether events up to the date of the auditor’s report provide
sufficient audit evidence in respect of the estimate. The auditor should
review events after the reporting date, and if possible, find evidence to
confirm the validity of the estimates.

Test how management made the estimate and the data on which it is
based, considering the method used and assumptions made.

Test the controls over management’s procedures for making estimates and
carry out appropriate substantive procedures.

Develop his own estimate or range of estimates and compare to
management’s figure, evaluating any significant differences.

The auditor is also required to:

]
]
a

consider the need for expert evidence
obtain written representations from management, and

document the basis for his conclusions and any indications of management
bias.

The following examples of indicators of possible management bias in estimates
are given in the ISA.

a

a

Changes in an accounting estimate, or the method for making it, where this
is a subjective assessment.

Use of an entity’s own assumptions for fair value accounting estimates
when they are inconsistent with observable marketplace assumptions.

Selection or construction of significant assumptions that yield an estimate
which favours management objectives.

Selection of an unduly optimistic or pessimistic estimate.

© Emile Woolf International 235 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

Auditing of fair value measurements

Issues relating to the audit of fair value measurements are similar to those for the
audit of accounting estimates (and both are covered by ISA540). Balances of items
measured at fair value, such as property and financial instruments, are often
significant items in the statement of financial position.

The auditor needs to recognise the audit risk in fair value measurements:

a Inherent risk: Many fair value measurements are largely subjective and
imprecise, and there is unavoidable inherent risk in their measurement.
Valuation models may be used, but these are often complex and may be
unreliable (for example, in the case of non-marketable financial instruments,
or models to assess the amount of liabilities to a company’s pension fund).
The inherent risk is much less when an open market exists for the items
measured at fair value.

a Control risk: There is some risk that the entity’s systems may fail to prevent
or detect valuation errors. Fair value measurements are often made by
external experts, outside the normal course of routine business operations,
and the controls over the valuation process are therefore likely to be weak.

O  Detection risk: The auditor should try to minimise detection risk, but the
auditor may lack the knowledge and expertise to verify fair value
measurements. This means that the auditor may need to rely on the work of
an external expert, increasing the risk that errors in fair value measurements
will not be discovered.

7.3 IAASB Alert: Challenges in auditing fair value accounting estimates in the
current market environment

The IAASB issued an alert in October 2008 to assist auditors by highlighting
areas within the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) that are particularly
relevant in the audit of fair value accounting estimates in times of market
uncertainty. It was prepared in light of difficulties in the credit markets and
therefore focused on financial instruments.

The alert also refers to related issues concerning whether an entity has the ability
to continue as a going concern.

The alert is relevant to audits of all entities that have investments in financial
instruments, especially those in illiquid markets.

Key matters highlighted in the alert

O  Challenges faced in accounting on the basis of fair value;

O  Requirements and guidance in standards that are particularly relevant to
fair values;

a Other considerations in audits of fair value accounting estimates;
O Initiatives of the International Accounting Standards Board; and

O  Recent revisions to extant standards on auditing accounting estimates and
fair value measurements and disclosures which, while not yet effective, may
be helpful to auditors.
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8 THE AUDIT OF SPECIFIC AREAS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Section overview

Introduction
Auditor’s checklist for specific IASs and IFRSs

ISA 501: Audit evidence — specific considerations for selected items (litigation
and claims)

m  Conclusion: audit papers, audit procedures and audit matters

8.1 Introduction

In your examination, you will be required to apply the general principles of
obtaining audit evidence to specific areas of the financial statements that are
regulated by one or more of the international accounting standards.

In order to deal with exam questions of this type you need to know the details of
the relevant IFRS or IAS. You will then need to consider:

O Materiality: is the item material for the financial statements?

O Key requirements of the IFRS or IAS: what does the auditor need to test to
ensure compliance?

O  How to obtain suitable audit evidence to check compliance with the
accounting standard.

The main areas that you may be required to consider in the examination are set
out below, as a checklist of the main issues that the auditor should consider when
gathering audit evidence.

8.2 Auditor’s checklist for specific IASs and IFRSs

IAS 1: Presentation of financial statements

O Has the going concern basis been adopted? Is the going concern basis
appropriate?

O  If the directors of the client company have decided that the going concern
basis is not appropriate, have the relevant disclosures been made?

O  Ifthere is uncertainty about the going concern status of the company, have
the relevant disclosures been made?

O  Has the accruals concept been complied with?

O Is there consistency in the presentation and classification of items in the
financial statements, between the current and previous financial periods?

O  Has each material class of items been separately presented in the financial
statements?

0 Has offsetting (of assets and liabilities, or income and expense) been
applied only as permitted by an accounting standard?

O Has an appropriate format been adopted for the statement of financial
position, income statement/statement of comprehensive income and
statement of changes in equity?

O  Are appropriate disclosure notes included?
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IAS 2: Inventories

a

a

]
]

Has inventory been consistently valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value, on an item-by-item basis?

Has an acceptable costing method been used for inventory? (Remember
that LIFO is not permitted by 1AS2.)

Has inventory been counted accurately? (What is the evidence for this?)

Has an appropriate method been used for the treatment of overheads?

IAS 7: Statement of cash flows

a

Is the presentation of the statement of cash flows in accordance with the
requirements of IAS 7?

IAS 8: Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors

a

a

a

Have appropriate accounting policies been selected and consistently
applied?

Have any changes in accounting policy permitted under IAS 8 been
correctly accounted for as prior period adjustments?

Have fundamental errors in prior period financial statements been
accounted for as prior period adjustments?

Have changes in accounting estimates been reflected on a prospective
basis?

IAS 10: Events after the reporting period

a

a

a

a

Has the definition of events after the reporting period (as defined by IAS 10)
been properly applied?

Is there a correct distinction between adjusting and non-adjusting events
after the reporting period?

Have adjustments been made correctly for adjusting events, in
accordance with the appropriate IAS/IFRS?

Have non-adjusting events been adequately disclosed?

IAS 12: Income taxes

a
a

u

a

Has the income tax liability been correctly calculated and disclosed?

Has deferred tax been recognised in respect of all material temporary
differences in accordance with IAS 12 guidance?

Has an appropriate rate of tax been used in measuring the amount of the
deferred tax liability (asset)?

Are deferred tax assets recoverable?

IAS 16: Property, plant and equipment

a

a

Q

Has the cost of property, plant and equipment been determined in
accordance with IAS16?

Has cost been correctly allocated to components of an asset in accordance
with IAS 16?

Has post-acquisition expenditure on property, plant and equipment been
properly analysed between capital expenditure and revenue expenditure?
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Has depreciation been properly calculated and accounted for?

Have asset revaluations been performed in accordance with IAS 16 and
accounted for correctly?

Have disposals and the resulting gain or loss on disposal been properly
calculated and recorded?

IAS 19: Employee benefits

a

a

Have appropriate liabilities been recognised correctly when employees have
provided service in exchange for employee benefits to be paid in the future?

Has the expense of the entity consuming the economic benefit arising from
service provided by employees in exchange for employee benefits been
recognised correctly?

IAS 20: Accounting for government grants and disclosure of government
assistance

a

Have revenue-based grants been credited to the income
statement/statement of comprehensive income at the same time as the
related expense?

Have capital-based grants been accounted for in accordance with IAS 20?
The grant should either (1) be credited to the asset account, with
depreciation then on the net cost of the asset, or (2) carried as a deferred
credit which is then amortised to the income statement/statement of
comprehensive income over the life of the asset.

IAS 21: The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates

a

a

a

Have appropriate exchange rates been used in generating exchange
differences and translating from functional to presentation currencies?

Have exchange differences on settlement of monetary items been correctly
calculated and classified within the income statement?

Have exchange differences on foreign currency monetary items in the
statement of financial position at year-end been correctly calculated and
allocated within the income statement (or other comprehensive income if the
asset/liability is a designated hedge)?

Have exchange differences on non-monetary foreign currency
assets/liabilities carried at fair value at year-end been correctly calculated
and allocated within other comprehensive income?

Have appropriate exchange rates been used?

IAS 23: Borrowing costs

a

a

Have borrowing costs been recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred?

If borrowing costs have been capitalised, are they directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset?

Have appropriate disclosures been made of the accounting policy, the
amount of capitalised borrowing costs in the period and the capitalisation
rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation?
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IAS 24: Related party disclosures

a

Have necessary disclosures been made to draw attention to the possibility
that the company’s financial position or profit/loss has been affected by
related parties and related party transactions?

IAS 26: Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans

a

a

Has a suitable valuation method been used to value plan assets? Inputs
to the valuation model will need to be identified - maximising the use of
observable (therefore verifiable) inputs, and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

Has there been consistent use of either the current salary levels or
projected salary levels in forecasting actuarial present value of promised
retirement benefits?

Is the most recent actuarial valuation sufficiently up-to-date to use as a
basis for calculating the actuarial present value of promised retirement
benefits?

Has the reputation, independence and competence of the actuaries been
confirmed?

Is the chosen discount rate an appropriate measure of current economic
circumstances — interest rates generally, liquidity premia, other premia?

IAS 29: Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies

a

a

a

Does the entity’s functional currency satisfy IAS 29’s definition of hyper
inflationary?

Have the financial statements been correctly restated into ‘measuring units’
at the reporting date including non-monetary assets/liabilities and
income/expense items?

Has the gain or loss on monetary items been calculated accurately and
classified appropriately within the income statement?

For group audits does the parent company retain a sufficient level of
control (for a subsidiary) or significant influence (for an associate) to
satisfy the accounting treatment applied?

Does the hyperinflationary entity remain a going concern?

IAS 32: Financial instruments: Presentation and IFRS 7: Financial instruments:

a

a

Disclosures

Have financial instruments (liabilities) been properly classified as debt or
equity based on their substance?

Have compound instruments been properly analysed into their debt and
equity elements?

Have payments to the providers of capital been correctly classified as
borrowing cost or dividend in accordance with the classification of the
instrument to which they relate?

Have appropriate disclosures been made of risk exposures, risk
management and hedging policies?
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IAS 33: Earnings per share

a

a

Has the basic earnings per share been correctly calculated and disclosed
for the current and prior reporting period?

Has diluted earnings per share been properly calculated and disclosed
where relevant?

IAS 34: Interim financial reporting

a

a
a

Have the interim financial reports been prepared in accordance with local
requirements as well as IAS 34?

Do the contents comply with the minimum requirements of IAS 34?
Are appropriate disclosures included in notes to the interim statements?

IAS 36: Impairment of assets

a

Have the directors identified events that may indicate that an impairment
review is necessary?

Have recoverable amounts been calculated in accordance with IAS367?
Where appropriate, have cash-generating units been identified?

If an impairment loss has been recognised, has the loss been allocated to
assets and recorded correctly?

IAS 37: Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

a
a

a

Have all necessary provisions been recorded?

Have contingent liabilities/ contingent assets been disclosed as required by
IAS 37?

As discussed in more detail below, ISA 501 Audit evidence — specific
considerations for selected items covers contingencies relating to litigation
and legal claims. This typically represents the major part of audit work on
contingencies.

IAS 38: Intangible assets

a

a

a

a

Have purchased intangible assets been recognised and measured in
accordance with IAS 38?

Have the useful lives of intangible assets been estimated in a reasonable
way?

Is there evidence to support the non-depreciation of intangibles with an
indefinite useful life?

Have intangible assets been subject to annual impairment reviews?

IAS 39: Financial instruments: recognition and measurement

a

Have financial instruments been recognised and measured in accordance
with IAS 39?

IAS 40: Investment property

]
]

Has the company adopted the cost model or the fair value model?

If the cost model has been adopted, have the principles of IAS 16 been
complied with?
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a

If the fair value model has been adopted, have annual valuations been
performed and the gain or loss correctly accounted for?

IAS 41: Agriculture

a

Have changes in fair value less point-of-sale costs in respect of biological
assets been included in the profit and loss in the period in which they
arose?

Have government grants relating to biological assets been recognised only
when they become receivable and measured as fair value less estimated
point-of-sale costs?

IFRS 1: First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

a

a

Has the company followed the specific Nigerian guidance issued by the FRC
in respect of the IFRS 1 guidance on exemptions and exceptions from full
retrospective restatement on first time adoption?

Has the company adopted a set of accounting policies that are appropriate
and in compliance with IFRSs?

Have all assets and liabilities recognised under IFRS been properly
recognised and classified?

Have all assets and liabilities not recognised under IFRS been removed
from the financial statements?

IFRS 2: Share-based payments

a

Is the calculation of share-based payments correct? (Check the number of
employees granted share options and the number of options per employee;
the official date for the grant of the options; the length of the vesting period;
the required performance conditions attached to the options.)

Has the cost of the share-based payments been spread fairly over the
vesting period?

Are the assumptions used to predict the level of staff turnover reasonable,
based on available evidence? (If not, what assumptions would be
reasonable?) The assumption about staff turnover affects the estimated
cost of the share-based payments.

Is the estimate of the fair value of the equity instrument reasonable, and is
it consistent with any valuation provided by an external expert (such as a
chartered financial analyst)?

IFRS 5: Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

a

a

Has the definition of discontinued operations in IFRS 5 been properly
applied?

Have the results of discontinued operations been properly quantified and
disclosed?

Has the definition of assets held for sale contained in IFRS 5 been
properly applied?

Have assets held for sale been properly valued and disclosed?
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IFRS 6: Exploration for evaluation of mineral resources

O  Where a company has recognised assets as a result of exploration and
evaluation expenditures, and facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying value may exceed the recoverable amount, has an impairment test
of those assets been carried out?

O  Has any impairment loss been measured, presented and disclosed in
accordance with IAS 367

O Has the entity disclosed information that identifies and explains the
amounts recognised in its financial statements arising from the exploration
for and evaluation of mineral resources?

IFRS 8: Operating segments

O  Have the criteria for reportable segments been properly applied?

O  Has all the required information been disclosed?

IFRS 9: Financial instruments

O  Have financial instruments been recognised and measured in accordance
with IFRS 9?

IFRS 13: Fair value measurement

O Has the correct identification of a principal market, or in its absence, the
most advantageous market been made?

O  Is the observed transaction “orderly”, and does it therefore provide relevant
evidence?

O  Has the “highest and best use” for non-financial assets been identified?

IFRS 14: Regulatory deferral accounts

O  Does the entity have activities that put it in scope of IFRS 14, and therefore
which enable it to carry “regulatory deferral balances” that otherwise do
not meet the definitions of assets and liabilities under the IASB Conceptual
Framework?

IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers

a Does a contract with a customer exist?

O Whether modifications to an existing contract require to be treated as an
entirely new contract, or as an amendment to an existing contract and
possible “catch-up” adjustments?

O  What are the performance obligations in the contract, and are there
“distinct” goods or services?

O  Whether a contract includes a significant financing effect, requiring the use
of discounting?

O Whether or not a contract is performed “at an instant” or “over a period of
time”?
IFRS 16: Leases

O  Arethe portfolio groupings of leases that share similar characteristics
appropriate?
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8.3

O  The entity must demonstrate that the application of the Standard to a
portfolio is done on the basis of a reasonable expectation that the effects of
so doing would not differ materially from the application of the rules to
individual leases. This will require the entity to construct representative
samples and evaluation for them to support their assertion. Has the auditor
examined these, perhaps forming their own samples, in order to conclude
whether the materiality of any difference is acceptable?

O  Are those previous determinations of “arrangements” (contracts) that whilst
not legally a lease, are nevertheless in substance, a lease, still applicable
under IFRS 167

O  There is a preference for discounting using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, but as an alternative, if the interest rate implicit is not determinable,
then the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used. Has any such rate
taken into account not just an observable current interest rate, but also
adjusted for factors unique to the lease (e.g. the lessee’s credit standing,
the amount being borrowed, the term of the borrowing, the quality of any
collateral, etc)?

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts
U Have the scope requirements been applied correctly?

a Has the level of aggregation of contracts into portfolios and sub-groups
been checked as this will affect the application of the requirements of the
Standard in a highly material manner?

O Have the skills, qualifications and reputation of the actuary been taken into
account?

ISA 501: Audit evidence - specific considerations for selected items
(litigation and claims)

One section of ISA 501: Audit evidence — specific considerations for selected items
addresses the audit of litigation and claims. ISA 501 states that the auditor shall
design and perform audit procedures in order to identify litigation and claims
involving the entity which may give rise to a risk of material misstatement,
including:

a) Inquiry of management and, where applicable, others within the entity,
including in-house legal counsel;

b)  Reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and
correspondence between the entity and its external legal counsel; an
Reviewing legal expense accounts

If the auditor assesses a risk of material misstatement regarding litigation or claims
that have been identified, or when audit procedures performed indicate that other
material litigation or claims may exist, the auditor shall, in addition to the
procedures required by other ISAs, seek direct communication with the entity’s
external legal counsel. The auditor shall do so through a letter of inquiry, prepared
by management and sent by the auditor, requesting the entity’s external legal
counsel to communicate directly with the auditor.

If law, regulation or the respective legal professional body prohibits the entity’s
external legal counsel from communicating directly with the auditor, the auditor
shall perform alternative audit procedures.
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The auditor shall modify the opinion in the auditor’s report in accordance with ISA
705 if:

O management refuses to give the auditor permission to communicate or meet
with the entity’s external legal counsel, or the entity’s external legal counsel
refuses to respond appropriately to the letter of inquiry, or is prohibited from
responding; and

O the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence by
performing alternative audit procedures.

8.4 Conclusion: audit papers, audit procedures and audit matters

It is highly probable that a question in your examination will ask you to describe the
audit procedures in relation to a specific issue in the financial statements or to
comment on audit matters that should be considered in relation to a particular item.
The question might also ask about the audit evidence you would expect to see on
file in respect of these procedures and matters.

A question may therefore ask any of the following:

O  What audit procedures should be carried out in respect of...? An audit
procedure is an action; for example ‘discuss with management’ or ‘vouch
to invoice’.

O  What audit evidence would you expect to see in relation to...? Audit
evidence will be an item or record; for example a copy of the relevant sales
contract. Remember that discussions with managers about significant
matters should be included in the documentation in the audit working papers,
as audit evidence.

J  What matters would you consider in respect of...? Relevant matters to
consider will include (1) materiality (2) risk and (3) the requirements of any
particular accounting or auditing standards.

Example: Audit procedures
Q Your audit firm is carrying out the audit of ABC Company, which owns the well-
known Halberd brand name for fashion clothes. The brand name was purchased
three years ago and is being amortised.

What audit procedures might be carried out in respect of the useful life of the
Halberd brand name?
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A Answer
Tutorial note
You need to identify a suitable audit procedure. Vouching cost to original purchase

documents would not be relevant to this question. Instead, it is important to
consider how to audit the period over which the brand is being amortised.

Ideas for a solution
Relevant procedures would be as follows.

U Compare the useful life attributed to the Halberd brand with the useful life of
brands of other business entities in the industry.

a Review the annual marketing spend on the brand.

d Review planned future expenditure on the brand, to see if its value is likely
to be maintained.

a Review the results of management’s impairment test on the brand.

Example: Provisions and audit evidence
Q Bitton is a limited liability company. It manufactures and installs drilling equipment.

Its charges for installing equipment were raised by 30% with effect from 1 January
in the financial year just ended (to 31 December Year 9). The increase in
installation charges was made to allow for the fact that from 1 January, Bittong have
a warranty tore-install any of its drilling equipment that did not perform to
specification, due to a fault in the equipment or an error in the installation. The
warranty is given for a two-year period.

The notes to the financial statements contain the following statements.

‘The company guarantees the installation of all its equipment since 1 January Year|
9. No provision for the guarantees has been recognized since the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.’

Installation fees for the year to 31 December Year 9 amounted to #&7.6million of
which &2.1million related to the three months to 31 December Year 9.

Required:
As auditor of Bitton for the year to 31 December Year 9:
(@) State the matters that should be considered in respect of the warranties

(b)  State the audit evidence that you would require in respect of these matters.
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A Answer
Matters to consider are as follows:

Q

Q
Q

a
a
Q

Possible audit evidence includes the following:

The requirements of IAS 37 and whether a warranty provision was required
based on the given facts

The materiality of a best estimate of a warranty provision

Whether the audit report would have to be modified if changes were not
made

The warranty terms offered to customers
Management’s costings in respect of the warranties

Schedules of installations (from which warranties arose) during the relevant
period

Letters of complaint from customers indicating the level of warranties used
Costs of reinstallations from job cards.

Q Example: Development costs and audit evidence

Extracts from the draft financial statements of a company are as follows.

Statement of financial position extract <000
Development costs

At cost 3,400

Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,850)

1,550

Total assets of the company 20,400

Development costs capitalised during the year 700

Income statement extracts

Revenue 5,600
Research costs 180
Amortisation of development costs 900
Profit before tax 2,800
Required

What audit evidence should be obtained to check:
(@) that capitalised development costs are properly recognised
(b) the validity of the amortisation rate for development costs?
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Answer
Materiality

The carrying value of the development costs is 7.6% of total assets and the item is
therefore material.

Development costs capitalised during the year were #700,000. If these had been
written off instead, profit would have been 82,100,000 or 25% lower than reported.
This is also a material amount.

The total spending during the year on research and development costs was
N880,000 (180,000 + #700,000). This is 15.7% of sales revenue: this too is
material.

The auditor therefore should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support
the accounting treatment and the valuation of development costs (and R&D
expenses).

IAS 38 requirements

IAS 38 specifies the conditions that must exist for development costs to be
capitalised. Briefly, these are:

O  Intention to complete the development and either use or sell the developed
item

O Technical feasibility of completing the development and the ability of the
entity to use the developed item or sell it

O Ability to create future economic benefits

O Availability of technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development

O Ability to measure the costs attributable to the intangible asset.

The audit risk is that development costs have been capitalised when not all of the
criteria for capitalisation have been met. The auditor should therefore obtain audit
evidence to confirm that each criterion has been met. For example, in order to test
the technical feasibility, the auditor should look at test results of the project to date.

To assess the amortisation rates used for development costs already capitalised,
the auditor might look for evidence from market research about the likely demand
for the item. In the case of development of a new product, the auditor can look at
actual sales since the product launch and discuss with management whether these
appear to support the estimated amortisation period for the development costs.

© Emile Woolf International 248 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Chapter 8: Audit evidence

In its draft financial statements, a company has included a deferred tax asset of

&5 million. This relates to unused tax losses that have accumulated during the past
three years. Management are confident that that there will be sufficient future
operating profits to claim the benefit of the tax losses in full in future years.

Q Example: Deferred tax asset and audit evidence

The auditor should assess whether it is appropriate to include a deferred tax
assetinthefinancialstatements, and so needs evidence about whether the tax losses
will berecoverable.

d He should start by checking whether the amount is reliable. He should
obtain a copy of the client’s tax computations and should agree the figures
in the calculation to the accounting records.

a He should also review any correspondence about tax that may exist.

Q He needs to make an assessment about whether the tax losses will be
recoverable, by obtaining forecasts from the client of future profitability. The
assumptions used in the forecast should be assessed for reasonableness
in the context of the auditor’s understanding of the client’s business.

a If the forecasts of future profitability are reasonable, the auditor should
assess how long it will be before the losses are recovered in full. Thisperiod
should be checked against tax regulations, to confirm that there is no
statutory limit on carrying forward tax losses.
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9 TRANSACTIONCYCLES

Section overview

Introduction

Revenue and receivables
Purchases and payables
Payroll

Bank and cash
Inventories

Non-current assets

9.1

Introduction

For your examination, you may be expected to apply your auditing knowledge to
the main transaction cycles of an entity. These are:

O  the revenue (sales) and receivables cycle
O  the purchases and payables cycle
O  the payroll cycle.

You may also be required to show an understanding of controls and audit tests in
relation to:

a bank and cash transactions
a  inventory
a non-current assets.

This section of the chapter provides you with checklists, for each of these audit
areas. The checklists set out:

O the control objectives

O  the key internal controls

O  tests of control that might be applied

U substantive tests that might be carried out (usually on a sample basis).

If you are not familiar with the items in the checklists, you should revise tests of
control and substantive testing in your study material for basic audit and
assurance.
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9.2 Revenue andreceivables

Control

Key controls

Tests of control

Substantive tests

objectives
m  There must be

proper
authorisation
and recording
of customer
orders, goods
returned and
allowances
(discounts)
given.

®  Revenue must
be recorded for
all goods or
services
delivered.

m  All documents
and records
must be
recorded
accurately.

m A policyshould
be established
for the
collection of
receivables.

m  Segregation of
duties (order
acceptance/
despatch/
invoicing.)

m Check that a
customer’s
order is within
the customer’s
creditlimit.

m  Authorisation of
orders.

m Use of pre-
numbered
sales order
forms.

m  Despatch notes
should be pre-
numbered and
matched with
sales orders
andinvoices.

m  Authorisation of
despatches
afterchecking.

m |nvoices should
be authorised
for sending to
customers,
after checking
them for
accuracy and
against sales
orders and
despatchnotes.

m Invoices should
be recorded
promptly in the
sales ledger.
Batching of
invoices for
input and batch
totals may be
used as a
control.

m  Sales returns

and allowances
(discounts)
should be
checked and
authorised.

m  Sequence
checks on all
documents.

m Check on
evidence of
authorisationat
each stage in
thecycle.

m  Check for
evidence that
the arithmetic/
calculations in
all documents
and records
have been
checked.

m  Check that
documents
have been
matched,
where
appropriate.

m  Check that
control account
reconciliations
have been
performed and
reviewed, with
appropriate
adjustments
being made to
therecords.

m  Check the
accuracy of the
arithmetic in
books of prime
entry.

m  Check entries
in books of
prime entry
back to the
source
documents.

m  Check the
accuracy of
postings to
ledgers.

m  Check invoices
and credit
notes for
accuracy in the
arithmetic and
pricing.

m  Check that
inventory
records have
been correctly
updated for
despatches of
goods to
customers.

m  Review control
account
reconciliations.

m  Test the sales
cut-off.

m Apply
analytical
procedures,
such as trend
analysis for
sales, and
gross profit
margin.
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Control

Tests of control

Key controls

Substantive tests

objectives

m  Credit notes
must be
recorded
accurately.

m  The control
account for
receivables in
the main ledger
should be
reconciled
regularly with
account
balances in the
receivables
ledger.

m  Statements
should be sent
regularly
(monthly) to
credit
customers.

m  Debt collection
procedures
should be
followed
systematically,
in accordance
with debt
collection
policy.

m  Writing off any
bad debts must
beauthorised.
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9.3 Purchases and payables

Control Key controls Tests of control Substantive tests
objectives
Goods and m  Segregation of m  Sequence Check the
services are duties (ordering, checks on all accuracy of the
purchased: receipt of goods, documents arithmetic in
= with proper _reco_rding (purchase books of prime
authority |nv0|cest, orde_rs, é;oods entry.
= under proper paymen )', ) L%i:lsvf Reck entries
procedures Use of official in .books of
pre-numbered m Checkon prime entry
= forthe documentation evidence of back to the
business (purchage authorisationat source
m from orders). each stage in documents.
authorised m Appropriate the Ipurchasmg Check the
suppliers authorisation cycle. accuracy of
m andare procedures = Check for postings to
inspected for should beused evidence that ledgers.
description, for orders and the arithmetic/
quantity and payments. calculations in
quality. all documents
and records
have been
checked.
Before being m Thereisapolicy m Checkthat Check invoices
recorded purchase for re-ordering documents and credit
invoices are: regular items of have been notes for
m  authorised inventory. matchedwhere accuracy in
a checked for m  Goods received appropriate. z;::gi}r?zletlc and
arithmetic notes (GRNSs) m  Check that :
accuracyand are used, and control_gcgount _Check that
pricing S|gned, as reconciliations inventory
evidence that have been records have
= checked the quantity, performed and been correctly
against quality and reviewed, with updated for
supporting description of all appropriate receipts of
documentation goods received adjustments goods from
(for ehxample, have been being made to suppliers.
g;‘égr:f‘e checked. therecords. Review control
Matching of account
Completeness and documents Note that these reconciliations.
accuracy of (purchase ‘
recording. -1e ests of control are Test purchases
requisitions, essentially the cut-off.
purchaseorders,  game as for the Apply
Gﬁglhsazzd revenue/sales and analytical
!Jnvoices). receivables cycle. procedures.
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Control Key controls Tests of control Substantive tests
objectives
m  Procedures Review other audit
should exist for areas and prior
analysing year working
purchase papers for
invoices and evidence of
recording them possible
in the correct unrecorded
expense or liabilities.
assetaccounts.

m  Use of control
accounts and
batch totals to
ensure
completeness
and accuracy of
processing.

m  Accurate records
should be kept
of purchases
returns, and
these should be
matched with
credit notes from

thesupplier.
9.4 Payroll
Control Key controls Tests of control Substantive tests
objectives
m  Gross pay is m  Segregation of Check: Check:
calculated at duties m that payroll m the accuracy of
the correct (establishing information is the arithmetic
rates. pay rates, reconciled in payroll
m Employees are calculatingpay, between calculations
paid only for recordingpay). periods and and payroll
workdone. m  Maintenance of any changes records
up-to-date between m postings to
personnel periods are ledger
records. explained accounts
m Authorisaton ™ entriesin the m that correct pay
of joiners and wagescontrol rates areused
leavers, pay account, if
rates, overtime, used
voluntary
deductions
frompay.
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Control Tests of control Substantive tests

objectives

Key controls

m  Gross pay, net Regular the accuracy m that correct,
pay and management and authorised
deductions are review of completeness rates are used
recorded overall cost of of ledger for statutory
completely and payroll. accountentries deductions
accurately in Establishment the accuracy of (such as tax)
the payroll, of standard the arithmetic and voluntary
cash records procedures, in payroll deductions
and ledger timetables and records m that overtime,
accounts. systems for that the payroll bonuses and
The correct processing records agree similar
em_ployees are payroll. with cash/bank payments have
paid thecorrect Approval of records been p_roperly
amounts. payroll, once Agree payroll authorised
The correct prepared. amounts to m that joiners are
amount of Use of a bankrecords properly
deductlonsare control account Review payroll authorised
paid to the tax for payroll Tan nusual m that employees
authoritiesand expenses/ arts have not been
Ztnﬁ;rities liabilities. ’ paid for periods

Safe custody of \yhenemployees g?‘;of;grt?ﬁgylom
cash, where are paid incash: leave
employees are
paid incash. che;:k_ tha(th m the pay for
Verification of :,Jvr;(églsrn;e kept grOl;LSt[:\)l\ll,lc'[)rked
the identity of safe and produced
employees, reasons for not should be
when payment claiming wages checked
is incash. areexplained against the
Signature attend and authorised
::g;/elxvide?r observe a documentation
’ o distributionof m that payments
E:Zmem s pay of deductions
compare have been
Custody and names on made to the
investigationof payroll to appropriate
unclaimed pay names on pay authorities
pgclr;eéi,t \-I;h-?]n packets m the signed
gagh. ! examine receipts for
signed receipts wages paid in
Use of a forpay. cash.
separate bank
account for
payroll.
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Control

Key controls

Tests of control

Substantive tests

objectives

9.5 Bankandcash

Control

m  Authorisation
of cheques/
bank transfers,
when
employees are
paid by these
methods.

Key controls

m check that no
employee
receives more
than one pay
packet.

Tests of control

mthat the correct
entries have
been made in
the wages
control
account.
Also:

mVerify the
existence of a
sample of
employees on
the payroll.

m\When wages are
paid in cash,
observe the
distribution of
paypackets.

mCarry out
analytical
procedures,
such as trend
analysis,
average pay
per employee.

Substantive tests

mAll money m Segregationof m Review bank ®m Send bank
belonging to duties. reconciliations confirmation
the companyis g Listing and for unusual letter(s).
received and is prompt items and m Check or
promptly and recording and evidence of prepare bank
accurately banking of all management reconciliation
recorded. receipts. review of statement.
mAll payments are g Aythorisation statements. = Assess audit
properly for all m Review cash significance of
authorisedand payments. book for other
are promptly unusual information in
and accurately ™ Regular entries. the reply from
recorded. reconciliations = Check thebank.
are performed -~ ) Review |
and reviewed. additions in ® Review large
cash book and or round-sum
m There are entries in amounts just
suﬁigient ledgers. before and just
physical . after the
custody = Review reporting
controlsover g\"’/‘i)gﬁgésgfr period.
gggﬂ.uesand authorisation. ™ Carry out
analytical
procedures.
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Substantive tests

Control Key controls Tests of control

objectives

Cash

As forbankabove.  As forbankabove.  mObservethat [ ]
procedures for
opening mail

and handling -
cash are being
followed.

m Check
amounts
recorded as -
receipts
against
remittance
advices from
customers.

m  Check the
amounts in
receipt books
or on till rolls
against paying-
in slips (paying
in cash to the
bank), the cash
book and bank
statements.

m  Check whether
cash is banked
daily.

m Check
payments out
of cash
takings, ifany.

m  Check petty
cash payments
for
authorisation.

m Check the
documents that
support any
cash payments
(for example,
receipts).

Attend/carry
out cash
counts.

Check that
postings are
made correctly
to ledger
accounts.

Analytical
procedures.
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9.6

Inventories

Many of the points listed above in relation to the purchases cycle (for example, in
relation to the receipt of goods) and the sales cycle (for example, in relation to the
despatch of goods) should also apply to the inventory system. For example, the
requirement for authorisation procedures and segregation of duties are the same.

The table below focuses on additionalpoints.

Control

objectives

Inventory in the
inventory
records should
represent
inventory that
physically
exists.

Inventory is
valued at the
lower of cost
and net
realisable
value(NRV).

Inventory
quantities are
maintained at a
level suitable to
thebusiness.

m  There should

be regular
inventory
counts, with
reconciliations
of physical
counts to
inventory
records.
Differences
should be
explained.

Reviews of
inventory for
items where
NRV may be
below cost.

Accurate, up-
to-date
inventory
records are
maintained.

Inventory cut-
offprocedures
are inplace.

Appropriate
physical
custody
procedures
should be in
place.

Tests of control

Review and
observe
inventory
counting
procedures.

Check that any
necessary
changes to
inventory
records are
made.

Check that
NRV reviews
areperformed.

Confirm that
cut-off
proceduresare
operating.

Review
inventorylevels
foradequacy.

Check that
physical
custody
proceduresare
operational (=
applied in
practice).

Substantive tests

m  Attend

inventory

count:
observe
procedures
record test
counts
record cut-off
information.

Check
inventory
valuation, at
lower of cost
and NRV.

Check
inventory cut-
off.

Perform
appropriate
analytical
review
procedures.

Confirm the
existence of
inventory held
at outside
locations.

Check the
treatment of
inventory held
on the client’s
premises but
owned by a
thirdparty.
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9.7 Non-currentassets

Again, some of the controls and tests that are listed above (for example, the
requirement that purchases/expenditure should be properly authorised) are also
relevant here. The table below lists additional points.

Control

Key controls

Tests of control

Substantive tests

objectives

m  Records of
non-current
assets should
be complete
andcorrect.

m  There should
be adequate
controls for the
safe custody of
non-current
assets.

m  Depreciation,
revaluations
and disposals
must be dealt
withcorrectly.

Useof m  Check for the
authorised proper

capital authorisationof
expenditure additions and
budgets and disposals.
project m Check
evaluation reconciliations
techniques, if of ledger

appropriate.
Use of a non-
current asset
register, that is
regularly
checked and
reconciled to
thenon-current
asset accounts
in the main
ledger.
Impairment
reviews are
performed as
necessary.

balances with
the non-current
asset register.

Review the
movement in
non-current
assets for the
period.

Check
additions, and
the calculations
of depreciation
and gain or
loss on
disposals.
Physically
verify a sample
of additions.
Trace
proceeds for
disposals to
cashrecords.
Review for
unrecorded
disposals.
Review
evidence
relating to any
asset
revaluations
during the
period.
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10 CHAPTER REVIEW

Chapter review

Before moving on to the next chapter check that you now know how to:

m  Explain the fundamental requirements of audit testing in the context of ISAs 500,
520, 530 and 230

m Describe the requirements of a number of other fieldwork-driven standards
including ISAs 501, 540, 580, 610 and 620

m  Summarise the audit approach relevant to a number of key IASs and IFRSs

m  Explain how to audit the various transaction cycles such as revenue/receivables
andpurchases/payables
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Quick quiz questions

1

Which financial statement assertions are tested by directional testing?

>

Accuracy and valuation
B Accuracy and existence
C Completeness and existence
D Accuracy and completeness

Which of the following statements about written representations is INCORRECT?

A Too many representations can be seen to be a perceived lack of integrity

B They should only be used when all substantive procedures have been exhausted
C Auditor may request a written representation at any time during the audit
D

If management are willing to provide a written representation it may lead to a
qualified audit opinion on the grounds of disagreement.

Audit evidence must be:

A sufficient and appropriate
B complete and relevant

C qualitative and quantitative
D strategic and operational

Audit tests on assets will focus on which financial statement assertions most?
A occurrence, valuation, classification

B completeness, existence, cut-off

C rights and obligations, completeness, accuracy

D

existence, rights and obligations,valuation

When are analytical procedures UNLIKELY to be a reliable source of audit evidence?
A when internal controls are strong

B when the analysis is applied only to material balances and transactions

C  when there are reliable benchmarks

D  when the relationships between items in the financial statements are predictable
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Quick quizanswers

1 Cc

Directional testing tests debit balances for existence, and credits balances for
completeness.

2 D

If management request that a matter is true, but the auditor believes that it is false, this
could lead to a qualified audit opinion on the grounds of disagreement.

3 A
4 D
5 B

In the other three situations, analytical procedures are likely to be a reliable source of
audit evidence.
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INTRODUCTION

Competencies

Planning and undertaking audit work

C3

Evaluate and draw conclusions on the appropriateness of stated accounting
treatments in the context of a given scenario for public or private sector based
on national and international standards on auditing and international financial
reporting standards(IFRS).

Drawing conclusions and reporting

D1 (a)

D1 (b)

D1 (c)

D1 (d)

Analyse, evaluate and propose how issues identified during the course of an
assignment may be raised and dealt with in communication with management,
directors and those charged with governance, including actions taken when
issues cannot beagreed.

Identify, explain and apply procedures that may be used and considerations
relating to the identification of subsequent events that may require
adjustments ordisclosures.

Identify, apply and explain procedures that may be used and considerations
relating to the identification of risk issues that requiredisclosures.

Evaluate and apply quantitative and qualitative judgments based on the
results of tests and evidenceobtained.

Exam context

So far students have largely focused on the planning and fieldwork stages of the audit. This
section introduces the student in some depth to the completing phase of the audit
incorporating a number of new ISAs.

At the end of this chapter, readers should be able to:

[ ] Describe the process and considerations for evaluating misstatements per ISA450

[ ] Audit opening balances and prior period comparatives in compliance with ISAs 510 and

710

] Explain how to audit subsequent events in accordance with ISA560

n Summarise the concept of going concern and describe how to apply and comply with

ISA570
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1 THE REVIEW STAGE OF THE AUDIT

Section overview

m  The need for a review
m Evaluation of misstatements: ISA 450
m  Other areas for evaluation and review

1.1 The need for areview

Having carried out tests of control and an appropriate amount of substantive
testing, the auditor has reached the stage in the audit where he should carry out
a review and an evaluation of the evidence he has gathered.

O The auditor should back up his detailed testing of controls, transactions and
balances with a broader review of other information and events that may
have an impact on the information presented in the financial statements.

O  Analytical procedures are also used at this review stage, as a final check
that the information contained in the draft financial statements ‘makes
sense’.

1.2 Evaluation of misstatements: ISA 450

It is also at this stage of the audit that the auditor will make an overall evaluation
of the level of errors he has found in the financial statements. Errors found in
individual areas (such as receivables, or inventory) will be summarised and
totalled.

The total amount of the errors will be compared with the materiality thresholds
that were set at the planning stage. This will allow the auditor to reach a
conclusion as to whether the financial statements are materially ‘correct’ — one
aspect of whether the financial statements show a true and fair view.

This area is covered by ISA 450 Evaluation of misstatements identified during the
audit. The objective of the auditor in this area, per ISA 450, is to evaluate the
effect of:

U identified misstatements on the audit, and
O any uncorrected misstatements on the financial statements.

A misstatement could be in relation to the amount, classification, presentation or
disclosure of an item.

ISA 450 requires the auditor to carry out the following procedures:

0 Accumulate all misstatements found during the audit, unless they are
clearly trivial.

O  If the total of misstatements identified during the audit approach (or could
approach) materiality, decide if the overall audit strategy and audit plan
need to be revised.

O  Communicate all misstatements found during the audit to an appropriate
level of management and request that the misstatements be corrected.

O  If management refuse to correct the misstatements obtain the reasons for
this and take those reasons into account when evaluating whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement.
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Prior to evaluating the effect of uncorrected misstatements reassess
materiality per ISA 320.

Decide whether uncorrected misstatements are material, individually, or
when added together. In making this assessment the auditor should take
into account the size, nature and circumstances of the misstatements and
the effect of any uncorrected misstatements from prior periods.

Communicate to those charged with governance the effect that uncorrected
misstatements may have on the audit report.

Request a written representation from management as to whether they
believe the effect of uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, individually,
or in total (see example letter in the previous chapter).

Document:

. the amount below which misstatements would be regarded as clearly
trivial

. all misstatements accumulated during the audit and whether they
have been corrected

. his conclusion as to whether uncorrected misstatements are material,
individually, or in total.

1.3 Other areas for evaluation and review

However, there are also a number of other specific areas which form part of the
overall evaluation and review process, including the auditor’s work on:

a

]
]
]

opening balances and comparative figures
other information published with the audited financial statements
subsequent events

going concern basis.
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2 OPENING BALANCES AND PRIOR PERIOD COMPARATIVES:
ISAS 510 AND 710

Section overview

Opening balances and comparatives
ISA 510: Initial audit engagements — opening balances

ISA 710: Comparative information — corresponding figures and comparative
financial statements

2.1 Opening balances and comparatives

The auditor’s work on this area is regulated by ISA 510 Initial audit engagements
— opening balances and ISA 710 Comparative information — corresponding
figures and comparative financial statements.

In most countries, the financial statements of companies must include
comparative figures for the previous year. To reach the conclusion that the
financial statements present a true and fair view, the auditor therefore needs to
be confident that:

O opening balances brought forward in the accounting records agree with the
audited figures reported in the prior year financial statements

O accounting policies have been applied consistently over the current
financial year and prior years

O  there is consistency of classification and disclosure between the current
financial year and prior years.

Where the current auditor performed the audit in the previous year and issued an
‘unmodified’ opinion, it should be a straightforward exercise for the auditor to
confirm that points listed above have all been complied with.

A different situation arises when an audit firm is carrying out an audit of a client
for the first time.

For example, an auditor may be appointed to carry out his first audit of the
financial statements for the year to 31 December 20X4. To do this, the auditor
cannot ignore the opening statement of financial position, as at 31 December
20X83.

O  The figures in the closing statement of financial position for the previous
period will be presented as prior period comparative figures in the 20X4
financial statements. The new auditor is therefore giving an audit opinion on
published financial statements that include the previous year’s closing
balances.

O Errorsin the opening balances may affect the figures for the current financial
period. For example, if opening inventory is misstated and is over- valued,
the cost of sales in the current period may also be misstated (too high).
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2.2 ISA 510: Initial audit engagements — opening balances

ISA 510 provides guidance on the auditor’s responsibilities in relation to opening
balances where:

]
a

the financial statements for the prior period were not audited, or

the financial statements for the prior period were audited by another auditor
(referred to as the predecessor auditor).

The objective of the auditor when considering such an initial audit engagement
is to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about whether:

a

a

the opening balances contain misstatements that materially affect the
current period’s financial statements, and

appropriate accounting policies reflected in the opening balances have
been consistently applied in the current period (or a change of accounting
policy has been properly accounted for and disclosed).

The following audit procedures are required:

a

a

O

Read the most recent financial statements and audit report, if any, for
information relevant to opening balances.

Check that the prior period’s closing balances have been correctly brought
forward.

Check that opening balances reflect appropriate accounting policies.
One or more of the following procedures:

. Where the prior period financial statements were audited, review the
predecessor auditor's working papers to obtain evidence re opening
balances.

. Consider whether audit procedures carried out in the current period
provide evidence on some of the opening balances. For example,
cash received from customers in the current period gives evidence of
the existence of a receivable at the opening date.

o Carry out specific audit procedures to obtain evidence re opening
balances. A review of the audit report on the financial statements for
the previous period.

If evidence is found that opening balances could contain material
misstatements affecting the current period’s financial statements, perform
appropriate additional procedures to assess the effect, and

if such misstatements do exist, communicate this to those charged with
governance in accordance with ISA 450.

Check that the accounting policies reflected in the opening balances have
been consistently applied in the current period (or a change of accounting
policy has been properly accounted for and disclosed).
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2.3 ISA 710: Comparative information — corresponding figures and comparative
financial statements

ISA 710 Comparative information — corresponding figures and comparative
financial statements also relates to a similar area of the audit work. It deals with
audit work on corresponding amounts and other comparative information for the
preceding financial reporting period. The considerations in ISA 710 apply to all
external audit engagements, whereas ISA 510 focuses particularly on new audit
engagements and opening balances (comparative statement of financial position
figures).

Audit procedures carried out on comparative figures are significantly less than
those carried out on the current year figures. They are normally limited to
ensuring that comparative figures have been:

O  correctly reported as required by the applicable financial reporting
framework, and

U appropriately classified.
ISA 710 therefore requires the auditor to evaluate whether:

O the comparative information agrees with the previous period, or, where
appropriate has been restated, and

O  accounting policies have been consistently applied in the two
periods, or, if there have been changes in accounting policies, whether
those changes have been properly dealt with.

In addition, he is required to:

O perform appropriate additional procedures if he becomes aware of a
possible material misstatement in the comparative information whilst
performing the current period audit

O obtain written representations which cover all periods referred to in his
opinion.
The task set by ISA 710 should not present any problems where the auditor:

O  also audited the client’s financial statements in the previous financial
period, and

O issued an audit report on those financial statements stating that they
showed a true and fair view.

If he did not audit the prior period financial statements, then he should also follow
the guidance set out in ISA 510 (see above).

The audit opinion should not normally refer to the corresponding figures, unless
particular circumstances apply. These circumstances are considered in a later
chapter.
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3 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS: ISA 560

Section overview

IAS 10 and ISA 560
Audit work to check compliance with IAS 10
Events occurring after the reporting period and up to the date of the audit report

Facts discovered after the date of the audit report and before the financial
statements are issued

Facts discovered after the financial statements have been issued

3.1

IAS 10 and ISA 560

It is not possible to prepare financial statements that present a true and fair view
by considering only those events and transactions that take place before the date
at which the statement of financial position is prepared. Material events that occur
after the reporting period should also be considered when preparing the financial
statements for the year.

Purpose of IAS 10
IAS 10 - Events after the reporting period has two main objectives:

O  to specify when an entity should adjust its financial statements for events
that occur after the reporting period, but before the financial statements are
authorised for issue, and

O  to specify the disclosures that should be given about events that have
occurred after the reporting period but before the financial statements were
authorised for issue.

Events after the reporting period are defined in IAS 10 as ‘those events,
favourable and unfavourable that occur between the end of the reporting period
and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.” There are
two types of events after the reporting period:

O Adjusting events. These are events that provide evidence of conditions that
already existed at the end of the reporting period.

O  Non-adjusting events. These are events that have occurred due to
conditions arising after the reporting period.
Accounting for adjusting events after the reporting period

IAS 10 states that if an entity obtains information about an adjusting event after
the reporting period, it should update the financial statements to allow for this
new information.

‘An entity shall adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect
adjusting events after the reporting period.’

IAS 10 gives the following examples of adjusting events:

O  The settlement after the reporting period of a court case, confirming that the
entity had a present obligation as at the end of the reporting period as a
consequence of the case.

O  The receipt of information after the reporting period indicating that an asset
was impaired at the end of the reporting period.
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O  The determination after the reporting period of the purchase cost of an
asset, where the asset had already been purchased at the end of the
reporting period, but the purchase price had not been finally agreed or
decided.

O The discovery of fraud or errors showing that the financial statements are
incorrect

Disclosures for non-adjusting events after the reporting period

Non-adjusting events after the reporting period are treated differently. A non-
adjusting event relates to conditions that did not exist at the end of the reporting
period; therefore the financial statements must not be updated to include the
effects of the event. IAS 10 states quite firmly: ‘An entity shall not adjust the
amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect non-adjusting events
after the reporting period’.

However, IAS 10 goes on to say that if a non-adjusting event is material, a failure
by the entity to provide a disclosure about it could influence the economic
decisions taken by users of the financial statements. For material non-adjusting
events IAS 10 therefore requires disclosure of:

a the nature of the event, and

a an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate
cannot be made.

This information should be disclosed in a note to the financial statements. IAS 10
gives the following examples of non-adjusting events:

O Afallin value of an asset after the reporting period, such as a large fall in
the market value of some investments owned by the entity, between the
end of the reporting period and the date the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

The acquisition or disposal of a major subsidiary.
The formal announcement of a plan to discontinue a major operation.

Announcing or commencing the implementation of a major restructuring.

0O00DO

The destruction of a major plant by a fire after the reporting period.

The role of the auditor: ISA 560

The work of the external auditor in this area is covered by ISA 560 Subsequent
events. The objectives of the auditor, per ISA 560, are to:

O  obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence about whether events occurring
between the date of the financial statements and the date of the audit
report are appropriately reflected in those financial statements,and

O  respond appropriately to facts that became known to him after the date of
the audit report that, had they been known to him at that date, may have
caused him to amend his report.

This means that audit procedures must be planned and performed so as to
consider all significant transactions occurring after the reporting period. This
means that the audit work does not stop with events only up to the end of the
reporting period. There are two key dates after the reporting period: the date of
the audit report and the date that the financial statements are issued.
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O  Before the issue of the audit report, the auditor should actively lookfor
significant subsequent events.

O After the issue of the audit report (and up to the time that the financial
statements are issued), the auditor has to consider the impact of any
significant subsequent events that come to his attention. However, he
does not have to look for these events actively.

3.2 Audit work to check compliance with IAS 10
Audit work to check compliance with IAS 10 can be divided into three phases:
O from the end of the reporting period to the date of the audit report

0 from the date of audit report to the date that the financial statements are
issued

a after the financial statements have been issued.

3.3 Events occurring after the reporting period and up to the date of the
audit report

Between the end of the reporting period and the date of the audit report, the
auditor is required to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence that all events that
require adjustment of or disclosure in the financial statements:

a have been identified, and

O are suitably reported in the financial statements.

Normal audit verification work

The auditor may find sufficient evidence of subsequent events in the course of
normal audit verification work. Where this is the case he is not required to
perform additional audit procedures. Such normal audit verification work will
include looking at sales, invoices and cash transactions after the year-end in
order to verify items in the statement of financial position at the year end. For
example:

4 The audit of receivables will consider whether receivables at the end of the
reporting period are collectable. Cash receipts after the year-end may
indicate a significant non-payment, suggesting the need to write off a debt
as ‘bad’.

O  The audit of inventory procedures includes a review of the net realisable
value of inventory. Sales of inventory after the year-end may indicate that
some inventory in the statement of financial position is over-valued
(because subsequent events have shown that its NRV was less than cost).

O A search for unrecorded liabilities may discover the existence of some
unrecorded liabilities, from invoices received after the reporting period but
relating to the period covered by the financial statements.

O Avreview of the entity’s cash position at the end of the reporting period may
find that a cheque from a customer, recorded as part of the bank balances,
was dishonoured after the reporting period.
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3.4

Procedures aimed specifically at identifying subsequent events

The auditor should also actively look for ‘subsequent events’, up to the time that
he prepares the audit report. Taking into account his risk assessment of this area,
he should:

O  obtain an understanding of management’s procedures for identifying
subsequent events

O inquire of management as to whether any subsequent events have
occurred which might affect the financial statements

a read the entity’s latest subsequent financial statements

O  read minutes of shareholders’ meetings, meetings of the board of directors
and senior management meetings held after the date of the financial
statements and inquire about matters discussed at any such meetings
where minutes are not yet available

O  obtain written representations in respect of subsequent events.

Facts discovered after the date of the audit report and before the
financial statements are issued

Even after the date on which the audit report is signed, the auditor retains some
degree of responsibility for events of which he becomes aware, up to the time
that the financial statements are issued. He is not required, during this period, to
actively look for subsequent events. His level of responsibility is therefore much
reduced compared with the period before the signing of the audit report.

If the auditor becomes aware of a fact that, had it been known to him at the date
of the report, may have caused him to amend his report then he must:

O  discuss the matter with management,
O  determine whether the financial statements need amending, and

O  inquire how management intend to address the matter in the financial
statements.

If the financial statements are amended, the auditor is required to:
a carry out the necessary audit procedures on the amendment(s),and

O  extend his review of subsequent events up to the date of the new audit
report.

{In some jurisdictions management are not prevented from restricting their
amendments to the effects of the subsequent event. In such cases ISA 560 permits
the auditor to restrict his extended review of subsequent events to that amendment
only. In such a case the auditor must draw attention to this restriction in an
emphasis of matter paragraph or other matter paragraph (covered in a later
chapter)}.

If management do not amend the financial statements for the subsequent event,
but the auditor feels that an amendment should be made, the auditor should take
the following action.

O If the audit report has not yet been provided to the entity, modify his opinion
as appropriate.
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a

If the audit report has been provided to the entity:

. instruct management not to issue the financial statements before the
necessary amendments have been made

o if they do so, take appropriate action to prevent reliance on the audit
report, after taking legal advice.

3.5 Facts discovered after the financial statements have been issued

As above, the auditor has no obligation to perform audit procedures or make
inquiries regarding the financial statements after they have been issued.
However, if he becomes aware of a fact that, had it been known to him at the
date of his audit report, may have caused him to amend his report then he

should:

O discuss the matter with management

O  determine how the financial statements need amending, and

O inquire how management intend to address the matter in the financial

statements.

If the financial statements are amended, the auditor is required to:

]
a

carry out the necessary audit procedures on the amendment

extend his review of subsequent events up to the date of the new audit
report (as above)

review the steps taken by management to inform anyone who received the
original financial statements and audit report of the situation

issue a new audit report, containing an emphasis of matter paragraph or
other matter paragraph (covered in a later chapter). This should refer to a
note in the revised financial statements that explains in more detail the
reason for the re-issue of the financial statements.

As usual, in the real examination, you are likely to be asked to apply your
knowledge to a given scenario.

Example: Subsequent events
Q You are the auditor in charge of the audit of Hindsight, which has a 30 June

year end. The subsequent events review for the year ended 30 June Year 5
revealed that, on 1 August Year 5, a receiver was appointed at a major
customer. At 30 June Year 5 that customer owed #200,000 and goods
costing &¥300,000 made to that customer’s specification were held in inventory.
Both these amounts are material.

Required:

List the matters to which you would direct your attention in respect of the
above in relation to the audit for the year ended 30 June Year 5, if the audit
report on the financial statements has not yet been written

Check that the directors are willing to adjust the financial statements for this
adjusting event after the reporting period.

Establish whether any cash has been received from this customer since the
year end.

Review any correspondence from the receiver to establish to what extent
the outstanding debt will be recovered.
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m  Consider whether the goods held in inventory are now valued at the lower of cost
and NRV, given that these goods were made to the customer’ s specification.
This may depend on whether or not those goods can be sold to a different
customer.

m In the light of the above, consider whether any writed owns proposed by the
directors to receivables and/or inventory are reasonable.

m If they are not, or if the directors refuse to adjust the financial statements,
consider the impact on the audit report.

Note

If the event occurs after the date of the audit report but before the financial
statements are issued, the auditor should discuss the matter with the directors of
the client entity and ask what they propose to do.

m  [f the directors intend to amend the financial statements to include or report the
event, the auditor should re-write the audit report accordingly and give it a new
date.

m If the directors say that they do not intend to amend the financial statements,
the auditor must consider the most appropriate course of action. If it is too late
to re-write the audit report the auditor should consider communicating with the
shareholders in another way; for example, by asking to speak at the annual
general meeting of the entity (which is the auditor’s right).

In the longer term, the auditor should also consider resigning from the audit, but
this would not be appropriate as an immediate response to the problem. The
immediate requirement is to convey the auditor’s opinion to the shareholders.

© Emile Woolf International 275 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

4

GOING CONCERN: ISA 570

Section overview

Introduction
Going concern: duties of the directors
Going concern: duties of the auditor (ISA 570)

IAASB Alert: Audit Considerations in Respect of Going Concern in the
Current Economic Environment

4.1

4.2

4.3

Introduction

The going concern assumption (also known as the going concern basis of
accounting) means that the income statement/statement of comprehensive
income and statement of financial position are prepared on the assumption that
the entity will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

If the entity is not a going concern, there will be significant implications for the
financial statements. For example:

a the distinction between ‘current’ and ‘non-current’ for both assets and
liabilities ceases to have any meaning: all assets and liabilities become
‘current’

O  all assets must be carried in the statement of financial position at their net
realisable value, and

O there may be additional liabilities.

The auditor needs to be satisfied that the going concern assumption is appropriate
to the financial statements under audit. This will involve an investigation of the
financial and operating position of the client before the end of the reporting period.
If this review indicates that the going concern assumption may not be appropriate,
further investigation will be needed.

Going concern: duties of the directors

In preparing the financial statements, the directors must satisfy themselves (in
accordance with IAS 1) that the going concern basis is appropriate. In some
countries, there is a requirement for large companies (listed companies) to
disclose the fact that, in the opinion of the directors, the company is a going
concern.

It is therefore the responsibility of management to make the going concern
assessment.

Going concern: duties of the auditor (ISA 570)

The work of the external auditor on the going concern status of an entity is
covered by ISA 570 Going concern. Key points from ISA 570 are set out below.

The objectives of the auditor in this area, according to ISA 570, are to:

O  obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about the appropriateness of
management’s use of the going concern assumption in the preparation and
presentation of the financial statements
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O  conclude whether a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, and

O  determine the implications for the audit report (covered in a later chapter).

This is a subjective area where judgement is usually required to assess the
uncertainties surrounding the assumptions that were made by management in
reaching their conclusion about the going concern status of the entity.

ISA 570 requires that the auditor must perform risk assessment procedures to
consider whether there are events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

If management has already performed such an assessment, the auditor must:
O discuss this assessment with management

O  determine whether the assessment identified any relevant events or
conditions, and, if so

O  determine management’s plans to address them.
If management has not yet performed such an assessment, the auditor must:

O discuss with management the basis for the intended use of the going
concern assumption, and

O  inquire of them whether events or conditions exist that may cast significant
doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In evaluating management’s assessment the auditor must consider the same
time period. If management looked less than 12 months into the future, the
auditor should ask management to make a re-assessment looking at least 12
months into the future. The auditor must also inquire if management is aware of
any relevant events or conditions beyond this time period.

Factors that raise questions about the going concern assumption

The auditor should remain alert throughout the audit process for factors or events
that may indicate that the going concern status could be questionable/doubtful.
ISA 570 gives a number of examples of events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt about the going concern assumption:

Financial
O  Net liability or net current liability position.

O Fixed-term borrowings approaching maturity without realistic prospects of
renewal or repayment; or excessive reliance on short-term borrowings to
finance long-term assets.

a Indications of withdrawal of financial support by creditors.

O Negative operating cash flows indicated by historical or prospective
financial statements.

O  Adverse key financial ratios.

O Substantial operating losses or significant deterioration in the value of
assets used to generate cash flows.

O Arrears or discontinuance of dividends.

O

Inability to pay creditors on due dates.
O Inability to comply with the terms of loan agreements.
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O  Change from credit to cash-on-delivery transactions with suppliers.

O Inability to obtain financing for essential new product development or other
essential investments.

Operating

O  Management intentions to liquidate the entity or to cease operations.

O Loss of key management without replacement.

O  Loss of a major market, key customer(s), franchise, license, or principal
supplier(s).

O  Labour difficulties (e.g. riot, strike or conflict).

O  Shortages of important supplies.

O  Emergence of a highly successful competitor.

Other

O Non-compliance with capital or other statutory requirements.

O  Pending legal or regulatory proceedings against the entity that may, if
successful, result in claims that the entity is unlikely to be able to satisfy.

O  Changes in law or regulation or government policy expected to adversely
affect the entity.

O Uninsured or underinsured catastrophes when they occur.

Going concern assumption: audit procedures

Where events or conditions have been identified that may cast significant doubt on
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern the auditor must obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence to determine whether in fact a material going concern
uncertainty does exist. He does this by performing additional audit procedures.

a

Discussion with management: Management should be asked to explain
the reasons why they consider the going concern assumption to be valid.
They should also be asked about their future plans for the business. If the
entity is expecting to make a loss next year, the possible implications of this
for the going concern assumption should be discussed extensively.

Obtain a cash flow forecast: A cash flow forecast should be obtained from
the entity and this should also be discussed with management. The
assumptions in the forecast should be checked and, if appropriate,
challenged. If there is a forecast of a cash shortage, the auditor should
discuss with management their plans for obtaining the additional financing
that will be required.

Review the sales order book: If this indicates a decline in sales orders,
the issue should be discussed with management.

Review ageing receivables: Check a list of ageing receivables and assess
the average time to pay. If customers are taking longer to pay, this may have
adverse implications for operational cashflow.

Consider whether planned capital expenditure by the entity may be
insufficient to support the business as a going concern in the future.
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O  If akey senior employee has left the business entity in the recent past, the
possible implications (for example, the possibility of losing key customers
with the loss of the key employee) should be discussed.

O  Litigation: If the company is involved in continuing litigation, and faces the
possibility of having to pay a large amount of money to settle the dispute,
the implications should be discussed.

U Information from the client entity’s bank: If the client entity is expecting
to rely on continuing financial support from its bank (for example, a
continuation of its bank overdraft facility) the bank should be asked to
confirm that the finance will remain available.

U After discussing the issues with management, the auditor should obtain a
letter of representation from management confirming their opinion that
the entity is a going concern.

The financial statements are the responsibility of management, and if the auditor
considers that the going concern assumption is invalid whereas management
consider it to be valid, the options available to the auditor are to:

O  discuss the matter with management, having carried out audit procedures
to obtain moreevidence;

O  try to persuade management to change their mind and prepare the financial
statements on a different basis (a break up basis); and

O  if management does not agree to change its view, consider making a
qualified auditreport.

Unless all those charged with governance are also involved in managing the
entity, the auditor must communicate to those charged with governance any
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Such communication must include the following:

O  Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty.
O  Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate.
O Whether the related disclosures in the financial statements are adequate.

If there is a significant delay in the approval of the financial statements,
which the auditor believes is due to events or conditions related to the going
concern assessment, he must:

O perform the additional audit procedures listed above

O consider the effect of this delay on his conclusions.

© Emile Woolf International 279 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Advanced Audit and Assurance

4.4

The audit work relating to the going concern status is summarised below.

Planning and m  Consider whether circumstances exist which cast

assessment doubt on the going concern status.

m If management have already carried out their
assessment, review and evaluate that
assessment.

m  Review management’s plans to deal with any
problems identified.

m If the auditor has identified problems not identified
by management, ask management to prepare
appropriate plans which the auditor then reviews.

m  Seek written representation regarding the
plans/going concern status.

m  Assess whether there are any material
uncertainties relating to the going concern status

of the entity.
Detailed audit These might include the following:
procedures to assess | g Reviewing cash flow, profit and funding forecasts,
the going concern normally for at least one year from the end of the
status reporting period.

Analysing interim or management accounts.

Reviewing loan agreements and other
relationships with providers of finance.

Reviewing minutes of board meetings.

Reviewing current and future order levels and
relationships with customers.

m  Reviewing operating plans and the availability of
future resources.

The impact of the going concern status on the audit report is dealt with in a later
chapter.

IAASB Alert: Audit Considerations in Respect of Going Concern in the
Current Economic Environment

The IAASB issued an alert in January 2009 to raise auditors’ awareness about
matters relevant to the consideration of the use of the going concern assumption
in the preparation of the financial statements in the current environment. In
particular, management, those charged with governance and auditors alike will be
faced with the challenge of evaluating the effect of the credit crisis and economic
downturn on an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether these
effects on the entity ought to be described, or otherwise reflected, in the financial
statements.

Key matters highlighted in the alert

O  The going concern assumption is a fundamental principle in the preparation
of financial statements.

© Emile Woolf International 280 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria



Chapter 9: Evaluation and review

O  The assessment of an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern is the
responsibility of the entity’s management.

O  The appropriateness of the use of the going concern assumption is a
matter for the auditor to consider on every audit engagement.

O International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 570, “Going Concern”, establishes
the relevant requirements and guidance with regard to the auditor’s
consideration of the appropriateness of management’s use of the going
concern assumption and auditor reporting.

O The credit crisis and economic downturn have led to a lack of available
credit to entities of all sizes, which may affect an entity’s ability to continue
as a going concern; this and other factors may be relevant in the auditor’s
evaluation of forecasts prepared by management to support its going
concern assessment.

O  The extent of disclosures in the financial statements is driven by
management’s assessment of an entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern, coupled with the disclosure requirements of the applicable
financial reporting framework.
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5 CHAPTER REVIEW

Chapter review

Before moving on to the next chapter check that you now know how to:

m  Describe the process and considerations for evaluating misstatements per ISA
450

m  Audit opening balances and prior period comparatives in compliance with ISAs
510 and 710

m  Explain how to audit subsequent events in accordance with ISA 560

m  Summarise the concept of going concern and describe how to apply and
comply with ISA 570
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Quick quiz questions

1 Which of the following items might affect the going concern assumption?

O 0O ©® >» & 0N

Use of short-term finance for non-current assets
Reliance on a single product

Lack of market competition

A high gearing ratio

1, 2 and 3 only

1, 3 and 4 only

2,3 and 4 only

1, 2 and 4 only

2 Which of the following periods are considered in the auditing standard ISA 560:
'Subsequent events'?

1

0w > wN

Up to the date of the audit report

After the date of the audit report but before the financial statements are issued
After the financial statements have been issued

Period 1 only

Periods 1 and 2 only

Period 2 only

Periods 1, 2 and 3

3 Which of the following statements is INCORRECT?

A

The audit of opening balances and prior period comparatives should be
straightforward except in the audit of a new audit client.

When other information is published with the financial statements, the auditor
should check that this information is not inconsistent with information in the
financial statements.

When other information published with the financial statements contains a
significant misstatement of fact that does not relate to information in the financial
statements, the auditor is not required to do anything.

Before the audit report is issued, the auditors must look actively for significant
subsequent events.
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4 If, after the financial statements have been issued, an auditor became aware of a fact
that, had it been known earlier, might have affected the audit report, which of the
following measures should the auditor take?

1 Management should be asked to issue amended financial statements
2 The amendments should be audited

3 The auditor should extend the review of subsequent events up to the date of the
revised audit report

4 The auditor should issue a new unmodified audit report.
A 1 only

B 1 and 2 only

C 1, 2 and 3 only

D 1,2,3and 4

5 Who is responsible for making the going concern assessment?
A Management of the client company only
B Audit committee
C The auditor only
D Management of the client and the auditor
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Quick quiz answers

1

D

Lack of market competition should assist the company, not endanger its going concern
status.

D

ISA 560 'Subsequent events' deals with the auditor's responsibilities in all three periods
stated in the question.

C

Even though the information has not been audited and has no direct bearing on the
financial statements, there is often a perception amongst users of financial statements
that the auditors have approved all the published information. The auditor should
therefore discuss the incorrect information with management of the client and advise
them to obtain legal advice (about their potential liability if they do nothing to correct the
error).

C

The auditor should issue a new audit report to go with the amended financial statements,
but the report should be modified to include an emphasis of matter paragraph.

A

Management is responsible for making the going concern assessment. The auditor is
then required to assess the appropriateness of management’s assessment.
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INTRODUCTION

Competencies

Planning and undertaking audit work

C1(l) Develop an audit plan, justifying judgements made on an audit or assurance
engagement based on a business scenario, including considerations relating
to:

C1(iii Reliance on internal audit, specialists and the work of other auditors

C1(l)vi Visits to locations, branches and departments.

C4 ()i Explain the term joint audit.

C4(b)ii Develop a plan for a joint audit.

C 4 (b)iii  Identify circumstances under which a joint audit occurs.

C4 (b)iv  Describe the factors to consider in sharing audit work in joint audits.
C4((b)v Advise management on the merits and demerits of joint audits.
C4 (b)vi Advise on matters to consider by firms engaging in joint audits.

Exam context

Group audit can be complex and confusing. Regulators often identify group audit in their
quality inspections as an area that needs improving. With this in mind a whole chapter is
dedicated to group audit in compliance with the revised ISA 600.

At the end of this chapter, readers should be able to:
n Summarise the core components and considerations of group audit

(] Describe how component auditors are used and the various communications that they
will partake in

[ ] Explain the responsibilities and tasks involved in performing a group audit in
compliance with ISA 600 including planning, performing and reporting.

] Explain what a joint audit is and when it may be necessary
(] Discuss the benefits and drawbacks of a joint audit
] Discuss practical considerations when undertaking a joint audit
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1

INTRODUCTION TO GROUP AUDITS

Section overview

Introduction